
 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE STATE OF OREGON 

 FOR MULTNOMAH COUNTY 

 DAVID KOENIG 

 Plaintiff 

 vs 

 EVANS CLINCHY 

 JENNIFER CLINCHY  and 

 BRIANNA (LOLA) McKISSEN 

 Defendants 

 Case No.: 23CV15424 

 PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO 

 DEFENDANTS’ SPECIAL 

 MOTION TO STRIKE 

 INTRODUCTION 

 All three defendants have made anti-SLAPP motions to dismiss charges against them. 

 This response addresses all of the issues in all of their motions except those in the category of 

 bad faith litigation conduct. Only the Clinchys have accused me of bad faith litigation conduct in 

 their motion, so those particular issues will be addressed in a supplemental response to the 

 Clinchys’ motions to strike only. 

 BACKGROUND 

 I have been playing competitive board games in tournaments  for 34 years. I began 

 playing tournament chess in 1989 when I was 12 years old, and throughout my middle school 

 and high school years I was usually ranked in the top ten players in the country in my age group. 

 Starting when I was in high school, I have also taught chess to children as young as kindergarten, 

 retired adults, and every age in between, as part of afterschool programs and summer camps as 
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 well as in private and group lessons. When I later began competing in Scrabble tournaments, I 

 expanded my lessons to include Scrabble as well as chess. I have loved both of these games for 

 almost all of my life, and I have loved sharing that passion with others. 

 I became a FIDE Master of chess, which puts me in the top 3% or so of chess players in 

 the world, but for at least a decade it has only been my second best game. In over 20 years of 

 competing in tournament Scrabble, I have become one of the best players in the world. I have 

 achieved rankings in the top 5 in both the USA and the UK, and top 20 globally. I am also the 

 first American to earn the Grandmaster title from the Association of British Scrabble Players 

 (ABSP). I finished in the top 11 in the World Scrabble Championship in all four years from 2016 

 to 2019, until Scrabble tournaments went on hiatus because of the pandemic. It has been my 

 biggest life goal for many years to become World Scrabble Champion. 

 Tournament Scrabble is a small world, much smaller than chess. Once a player rises high 

 up in the rankings, one challenge is that it is hard to get games with people who can give you a 

 good match. There are only a few handfuls of people in the USA who are worthwhile sparring 

 partners for me, and over the two decades I have played the game, many of us have become 

 friends and formed social circles that have gathered frequently to play games and have traveled 

 to tournaments together. 

 Evans Clinchy is another top American Scrabble player who is very close to me in 

 ranking and playing strength, and we were part of many of the same social circles since we first 

 met in 2008 up until late 2016. Our mutual friends were a veritable who’s who of many of 

 America’s top Scrabble players. Evans and I were both among a group of Scrabble players who 

 shared housing at the 2013 World Scrabble Championship in Prague. Among our roommates was 
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 Dave Wiegand, a multi-time US National Champion, as well as Chris Lipe, who is currently the 

 President of the World English-language Scrabble Players Association. (WESPA) 

 Evans has disliked me for far longer than either he or I have known the other two 

 defendants. At first we were friends, but sometime around 2011 or 2012 his opinion of me 

 changed. Since Evans and Jennifer began dating in late 2016/early 2017, he has been disparaging 

 me behind my back to other Scrabble players and behaving in underhanded and unethical ways 

 to reduce my opportunities to play in tournaments and even to get casual games with many of the 

 other top Scrabble players who used to be our mutual friends. From the beginning, Jennifer 

 joined him in behaving in underhanded and unethical ways to cut off my opportunities to play 

 Scrabble. However, Jennifer’s personal dislike of me and participation in the disparagement of 

 me, for the most part, did not begin until significantly later. I believe that there were two primary 

 motivations for Jennifer’s animosity: (1) To create a cover story for Evans’s outsize anger and 

 vindictiveness toward me. (2) Retaliation for both the personal embarrassment and the damage to 

 their new brand CoCo that was done by the July 2020 publication of my first two blog posts on 

 splenetic.net, The Crucible and The Fallout. 

 The Clinchys’ crusade against me escalated to new levels in early 2022 because of how 

 Lola became involved in this story. Although the Clinchys’ personal animosity toward me 

 stretched back significantly earlier, there was never any thought of me being a risk for violence 

 prior to 2022. However, once Lola put this idea in their heads, the Clinchys decided to rewrite 

 history, not only telling lies about me and my relationship with them during the time they were 

 mistreating me, but also going all the way back to my dating relationship with Jennifer from 

 2014 to 2016. 
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 Prior to 2022 the disparagement of me and techniques  by which the Clinchys interfered 

 with my ability to compete at Scrabble were mostly done behind my back and in secret. In the 

 spring of 2022 all three defendants put false accusations against me in writing, which led to a 

 chain reaction of events in the Scrabble world that got me completely banned from playing 

 tournaments in North America and which also interferes with my ability to compete 

 internationally. 

 The Clinchys’ bullying behavior and the ways in which they had damaged my friendships 

 with many other people in the community had already done a great deal of psychological damage 

 to me prior to 2022. I had already only worked sporadically since late 2019 and not at all since 

 mid-2021, in no small part because of the anxiety and stress that they had been causing in my 

 life. The ways that McKissen and numerous people in the leadership of various Scrabble 

 organizations joined their campaign to drive me out of the game have drastically accelerated the 

 psychological and physical toll on me since early 2022. I got a long overdue diagnosis of PTSD 

 in April 2023. In the last two years I spent many months screaming my lungs out while I was 

 alone in my home or car, to the point of significant vocal cord inflammation that left me on 

 multiple occasions unable to speak for days at a time and necessitated voice therapy. 

 DOCUMENTS DEMONSTRATING DEFAMATION 

 At the core of this motion is the question of whether  there is sufficient evidence to take 

 these claims to trial. Before addressing anything else, we should identify the defamatory 

 documents and the documents that prove that they are defamatory. 

 On April 14th, 2022 plaintiff received statements written by all three defendants (Exhibits 

 1-3) as attachments to emails from Steven Pellinen of WGPO and Judy Cole of NASPA. 

 Throughout this document the phrases “NASPA incident report” or just “incident report” refers 
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 to that email from NASPA and the NASPA disciplinary process that began that day. Additionally, 

 defendant J. Clinchy included as her attachment B (Exhibit 4) an undated letter from defendant 

 McKissen that defendant J. Clinchy alleged in her statement was sent on March 1st, 2022. 

 On September 6th, 2022, plaintiff submitted his response to the incident report, which 

 thoroughly demonstrated the falseness of all accusations and the defamatory nature of all of the 

 accusing documents. (Exhibit 5, with corroborating screenshots in Exhibit 6) On September 23, 

 2022, NASPA banned plaintiff for three years anyway. (Exhibit 7) 

 On November 15, 2022, NASPA emailed plaintiff the September 9th, 2022 letters of 

 defendants J. Clinchy and McKissen, (Exhibits 8 and 9) which included a large amount of 

 additional defamatory material. 

 On May 26, 2023 plaintiff sent an appeal to NASPA, (Exhibit 10) which thoroughly 

 demonstrated the falseness of all accusations and the defamatory nature of the September 9th 

 documents, as well as the unethical behavior of the Scrabble associations toward me. NASPA 

 continues to delay hearing the appeal. 

 The best summary of the impact these defamatory statements caused plaintiff with the 

 Scrabble associations is in the splenetic.net blog post The Scapegoat. (Exhibit 11) Plaintiff 

 requests that the court keep in mind that although the Scrabble associations are a third party in 

 this suit, understanding the extent of the associations’ mistreatment of him is necessary to 

 properly evaluate the damages that the defendants have done to plaintiff. 

 The Scapegoat (as well as the following blog post, The Conspiracy) was not written with 

 any intention of advancing or hindering plaintiff’s legal case in Multnomah County. The contents 

 were all written and at first given to the leaders of Scrabble associations in order to advance his 
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 quasi-legal case in the “Scrabble courts,” a case which has been going on for a year longer than 

 the legal case. 

 Plaintiff only decided to publish those documents on splenetic.net, not to hold the 

 defendants in this legal case accountable, but to hold the leaders of the Scrabble associations 

 accountable for their corrupt behavior toward plaintiff. 

 STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ISSUES 

 All of the defendants have addressed statute of limitations issues in their motions to 

 strike, though they are different issues. The Clinchys’ motions claim that the initial round of 

 defamatory documents were published in March 2022. Although, McKissen’s statement has a 

 date of March 3rd, 2022, J. Clinchy’s has a date of March 24, 2022, and E. Clinchy’s is undated, 

 (Exhibits 1-3) none of these statements were published in any public way that I am aware of. 

 They were handled behind closed doors by the leadership of NASPA, WGPO, and CoCo, and the 

 first time that I ever had access to them was when they were emailed to me on April 14th, 2022. 

 Hence the filing date of the initial complaint to the court on April 14th, 2023 is within the statute 

 of limitations. 

 McKissen’s motion argues that the complaint was not delivered to defendant properly. 

 My understanding of the argument is that defendant McKissen did receive the initial complaint 

 and the two amended complaints in time but that there were procedural flaws in how they were 

 delivered. Any procedural flaws were the fault of my inexperienced former attorney, Mr. Mohan, 

 and neither he nor I had any knowledge of them until McKissen’s attorney Ms. Vaughn first 

 contacted us on June 21st, 2023. I make no excuses for any procedural flaws and apologize to the 

 court, to defendant McKissen, and to Ms. Vaughn for whatever errors were made. Since taking 
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 over my case  pro se  I have not yet had time to correct whatever gaps were in this area, but I hope 

 that these purely procedural issues will not get in the way of this case getting a fair hearing. 

 Ms. McKissen also wrote another statement on September 9, 2022 which echoed many of 

 the ideas in her earlier statements and which added new defamatory material. Since we are still 

 well within the statute of limitations for this latter statement, these issues should not be sufficient 

 reason to dismiss the claims against defendant McKissen. 

 LACK OF APPLICABILITY OF ANTI-SLAPP 

 All of the defendants have argued that their defamatory writings about me should be 

 protected as free speech. Defendant McKissen’s motion states “Anti-SLAPP laws were enacted 

 to protect free speech from the chilling effect of lawsuits just like this one, that aim to bully 

 individuals into silence.”  1  Framing their writing  as an exercise in free speech is specious 

 reasoning that disregards the facts. None of the defendants published their defamatory statements 

 in any kind of public forum. Their writings were specifically designed, intended, and used for 

 behind the scenes consumption by complicit leaders of Scrabble organizations to oust me from 

 tournaments worldwide while keeping what they were doing out of the public purview as much 

 as possible. 

 In fact, the  first paragraph  that the CoCo conduct  team wrote to me about the matter 

 attempted to intimidate me into silence and prevent the public proliferation of their accusations: 

 “These attachments are provided to you ‘for your eyes only’ (including your own attorney, if 

 any) and are NOT to be published or publicly distributed in any manner.” (Exhibit 12) 

 Defendant McKissen’s motion alleges that “she understood, and indeed, intended for her 

 statement to be made public, as is evidenced from its plain language.”  2  This is the opposite of the 

 2  DEFENDANT MCKISSEN’S SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE, p.6, l.19-20 
 1  DEFENDANT MCKISSEN’S SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE, p.4, l.8-9 
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 truth. First of all, the name of the file with Lola’s statement in both of the April 14th, 2022 

 emails I received from Steven Pellinen and Judy Cole was “LolaToWooglesAndWGPO.pdf” 

 (Exhibit 13) As I analyzed in my response to the incident report (Exhibit 5: Bates #156-157): 

 However, it is telling that the statement is addressed to the Woogles team and to WGPO, 

 and not to NASPA, which was the sanctioning organization of the only tournament we 

 were both at, the 2022 New Orleans event. My best guess is that she did not intend to 

 submit this as part of an incident report, in which I would have an opportunity to read it 

 and disprove the massive amount of falsehood in it. I think  she intended the statement 

 for behind-the-scenes consumption by people on the Woogles team and in WGPO  in 

 hopes that they would take other action to keep me away from those spheres. However, 

 Evans and Jennifer then submitted it as part of this incident report. 

 My analysis is supported by the opening sentence of defendant McKissen’s follow-up 

 statement: “The statements that Steve [Pellinen] included in his complaint were not written for 

 this audience.” (Exhibit 9: Bates #244) 

 Furthermore, defendant McKissen’s previous statement from the April 14th, 2022 emails 

 included these lines at the end of page 4: “[defendant McKissen’s] point of view, that if the truth 

 about what [plaintiff Koenig] is and said got out, I would be the only possible source of that 

 information, and I was terrified I’d become the center of Dave’s conspiracy theories. They 

 agreed to do whatever I needed to feel safe and NOT tell everyone what happened.” (Exhibit 2: 

 Bates #16) 

 Defendant McKissen’s March 1st, 2022 letter to defendant J. Clinchy, which she wrote 

 before her other statements and which is what inspired the incident report against me in the first 

 place, mentions the [July 2022 WGPO/CoCo] Word Cup in the second sentence, (Exhibit 4: 
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 Bates #30) giving a big hint that a major motivation for this communication was to prevent me 

 from attending that tournament, as I theorized in my first email response to NASPA about the 

 incident report. (Exhibit 14) 

 Finally, the defendants have criticized me for publishing my most recent splenetic.net 

 post The Conspiracy, although the entirety of the contents are simply the accusations of the 

 defendants that were passed along to me from the Scrabble associations and the entirety of the 

 communications that I have had with those Scrabble associations. The NASPA Executive 

 Committee, WESPA Executive Committee, and ABSP Committee were already in possession of 

 virtually everything in that blog post.  3  All that  I did by publishing The Conspiracy was to 

 democratize the information, so that the rest of the Scrabble tournament playing public could see 

 the same things the leaders of their organizations were looking at. 

 I hope it is clear by now that the defendants wanted anything but for the truth of their 

 secretive communications with complicit Scrabble leaders to be shown to the world, and that 

 they were the ones who attempted to bully me into silence. For them to claim that this lawsuit is 

 chilling their free speech is laughable. I would much rather be having this entire Scrabble 

 political battle in a completely transparent way with the public able to view all of their 

 statements, my statements, and the Scrabble associations’ statements. To quote defendant 

 MicKissen’s motion on this topic, “such hypocrisy should not be sanctioned.”  4 

 4  DEFENDANT MCKISSEN’S SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE, p.4 l.2 

 3  I had intended for the defendants to already be in possession of all of those documents through 
 responses to requests for production. The only reason that there were some gaps was that my former 
 attorney Marc Mohan had failed to pass along some documents, which I corrected when I served them 
 the PLAINTIFF’S THIRD SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT EVANS CLINCHY’S 
 REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION on August 8th, 2023. More detail about Mr. Mohan’s failure to serve the 
 documents is in the DECLARATION OF DAVID KOENIG filed on August 10, 2023. 
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 DEFAMATION 

 Defendants have alleged that the entire case for defamation rests on only two statements 

 and that these statements are merely matters of opinion. There were far more than two 

 defamatory statements, and those statements were matters of fact, not opinion. Plaintiff admits 

 that his former attorney Mr. Mohan did not do a thorough enough job of indicating the 

 defamatory statements in his initial responses to requests for production, so plaintiff has served 

 on August 14th, 2023 a fourth supplemental request for production that addresses exactly this 

 issue. (Exhibit 15) 

 Furthermore, all three defendants have committed a mix of defamation  per se  and 

 defamation by implication in their statements to the Scrabble associations. Some obvious 

 examples of defamation  per se  from defendant E. Clinchy  are: Plaintiff is “a man who abuses 

 women,” and who “has spent hours and hours discussing his intent to kill me.” Examples from 

 defendant J. Clinchy: “David Koenig has: 1. Coerced me to have sex with him after I repeatedly 

 told him No.; 2. Harassed, threatened, and stalked multiple women.” Examples from defendant 

 McKissen: Plaintiff “forced me to listen to all of the ways and how badly he wanted the deaths of 

 Jennifer and Evans for over a hundred hours,” and plaintiff “was stalking” “this other married 

 girl.” 

 All three defendants have also used insinuation as a further means of assassinating the 

 plaintiff’s character. The most egregious insinuations have been by defendant J. Clinchy who 

 (1)  wrote her incident report statement (Exhibit 3) in a way that causes a reasonable reader to 

 infer that plaintiff stalked defendant McKissen by following her to Portland, Oregon, 

 even though plaintiff moved there long before defendant McKissen, and 
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 (2)  included her 2018 letter to Jason Idalski (Exhibit 8: Bates 237; defendant’s highlighting) 

 and a paragraph about it (Exhibit 8: Bates #233; plaintiff’s highlighting) in her follow-up 

 statement to insinuate that she had reported in 2018 that I had sexually abused her, even 

 though the letter is not about me at all. 

 Defendant McKissen insinuated that my temporarily moving in with her in Salt Lake City 

 was coercive and that she was trying to placate me: e.g., “staying on the monster’s good side,” 

 “he does not move the fuck on,” (Exhibit 2: Bates #14) even though she texted me in a very 

 romantic way for more than a month before I moved to Salt Lake City, and practically begged 

 me to come, including by telling me that the move had the endorsement of her friends and 

 family. These insinuations led one reader to ask “ Is she alleging something analogous to 

 Stockholm Syndrome?” (Exhibit 16) 

 Defendant E. Clinchy insinuated that he and defendant J. Clinchy were directors of their 

 online club when they were not, to make it seem like I had violated their arbitrary and vindictive 

 rule that I could only play in events of their organization that they did not direct. On the surface, 

 this may not seem defamatory, but this came after WESPA President Chris Lipe, had publicly 

 defended the Clinchys’ exclusionary behavior of me on the basis that I still had the opportunity 

 to play in events of their organization that were directed by other people. (Exhibits 17-18) 

 In summary, there is a great deal of defamatory material in all of the defendants’ 

 statements, and a reductionary analysis of which particular sentences include defamatory 

 material misses defamation that happened in between the lines. 
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 INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS 

 Defendants made two arguments against the claim of Intentional Infliction of Emotional 

 Distress. The first argument was “One incident is generally not actionable–there must be 

 repeated conduct.”  5 

 In the case of the Clinchys, there have been many incidents of intentional infliction of 

 emotional distress since 2017. Many are described in great detail in the splenetic.net blog 

 postings and my September 6th, 2022 response to the incident report. A pre-publication reader of 

 the first two blog posts, The Crucible and The Fallout, summarized thus: “If you think there was 

 a whisper campaign to blacklist you, I can offer some confirmation that there probably was.” 

 (Exhibit 19) 

 In the case of defendant McKissen, she wrote three documents defaming me, dated 

 March 1st, 2022, March 3rd, 2022, and September 9, 2022. 

 Closely related to this last point is the other argument made against the Intentional 

 Infliction of Emotional Distress claim, which applies only to defendant McKissen. Her motion 

 claims that plaintiff “does not believe Ms. McKissen acted intentionally or maliciously”  6  based 

 on a quotation from my September 6th, 2022 response to NASPA’s incident report. 

 I wrote the lines she quoted in response to the incident report and before defendant 

 McKissen doubled down on defaming me with her September 9th, 2022 statement. I updated my 

 views when I saw the later statement. To be more precise, when I read her statement from the 

 incident report, I considered two possible interpretations to be possible: (1) defendant McKissen 

 was intentionally and maliciously trying to drive me out of Scrabble, or (2) defendant McKissen 

 6  DEFENDANT MCKISSEN’S SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE, p.15, l.7 
 5  DEFENDANT MCKISSEN’S SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE, p.14, l.22-23 
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 had misinterpreted our interactions so badly–perhaps at least partly due to her own self-admitted 

 craziness (Exhibit 6: Bates #224)–that she thought she had to lie for her own protection. 

 If the second interpretation was correct, I assumed that my thorough explanation of what 

 had really happened from my point of view at the January 2022 New Orleans tournament 

 (Exhibit 5: Bates #160-163) and my explanation that her seeing me on the Woogles Discord 

 group in February 2022 had nothing to do with her (Exhibit 5: Bates #163-164), which was well 

 corroborated (Exhibit 6: #189-190), would have been enough for defendant McKissen to stop 

 burying herself deeper in lies and instead to admit her mistake by retracting her statement. 

 Once defendant McKissen opted not to relent but instead to double down, despite the 

 massive evidence that had already been presented that she was lying, I no longer considered the 

 second interpretation plausible. I can now only interpret her defamation of me as an intentional 

 and malicious act, especially in her September 9th, 2022 statement. 

 INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH ECONOMIC RELATIONS 

 Defendant McKissen’s motion states, “plaintiff cannot present substantial evidence that 

 he earned any economic advantage from the Scrabble tournaments.” On August 11th, 2023, I 

 filed PLAINTIFF’S DECLARATION OF ESTIMATED SCRABBLE PRIZE WINNINGS, 

 which demonstrates that I have earned at least $21,602 in prize winnings in my 20 year Scrabble 

 career, and that $1500-$2000 per year is a reasonable estimate for my winnings in the last several 

 years, if defendants had not interfered with my ability to compete in tournaments. 

 I am not going to argue that this is a lot of money. Especially in more recent years as I 

 have played overseas a lot, the costs of travel and other expenses have often been as large or 

 greater than the winnings. However, it is still the case that a significant portion of my travel costs 

 have been offset by the Scrabble winnings, and that some overseas trips have paid for 
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 themselves. For example, my trip to Warrington, England to compete in the first ever Grand 

 Slam tournament was a very inexpensive one for me. Frequent flier miles paid for my airfare, 

 and I stayed at the home of a friend in Manchester. The £825 (approximately $1046) I won for 

 finishing in first place in the tournament ended up being slightly more than all of my expenses 

 for the trip. I did not make much of a profit, but my winnings paid for an entire vacation to 

 England. That is a quality of life issue that defendants have interfered with. 

 Furthermore, I have needed to travel long distances by air for almost all of my 

 tournaments in recent years,  specifically because  of the Clinchys’ interference in my ability to 

 play in tournaments that were more local to me. As I explained in the splenetic.net blog post The 

 Fallout, the Clinchys have blackballed me from nearly all large tournaments in the Pacific 

 Northwest since 2018, both when they were directing NASPA events and under their new CoCo 

 organization. It is highly likely that if they had not been interfering with my ability to compete in 

 tournaments I would have had lower total travel costs for my tournament schedule. 

 CONSPIRACY 

 I have already uncovered enough evidence to suggest that there was a civil conspiracy 

 involving all three defendants and Steven Pellinen. More discovery may show that other 

 Scrabble association leaders may also have been accomplices, and I have already stated in a 

 previous filing that one of the reasons my former attorney withdrew was his failure to vigorously 

 pursue that discovery.  7 

 In the numbered subsections below, I will outline some of the circumstantial evidence 

 that suggests further discovery may prove fruitful to prevailing on conspiracy claims. An 

 important takeaway of this section is that the economic and reputational damage that the 

 defendants have done to me is not just about my relationship with NASPA. The defendants have 

 7  DECLARATION OF DAVID KOENIG, filed August 10th, 2023, items 15 and 37(c) 
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 potentially damaged my relationship with WESPA, which sanctions tournaments worldwide, and 

 the degree to which they have both poisoned WGPO to me and used false stories about me to 

 help WGPO and CoCo poach tournaments from NASPA also interferes with my ability to make 

 money from Scrabble. 

 1.  The Frying Pan Story 

 In her statement in the incident report, defendant J. Clinchy alleged: 

 On March 2, 2022, Lola spoke with me by phone. She recounted that Dave had 

 consistently told her that he wanted to kill my husband by hitting him in the head with a 

 cast iron frying pan.  (Exhibit 3: Bates #24) 

 Nowhere in any of defendant McKissen’s statements does she mention anything about a 

 frying pan. Without any record of that phone conversation, who is to say whether this story was 

 told to defendant J. Clinchy exactly as she alleges, whether defendant J. Clinchy embellished it, 

 or whether both defendants collaborated in constructing it? 

 I do not remember a conversation with defendant McKissen that matches this description. 

 I know that we talked about our cast iron frying pans several times, usually in the context of 

 cooking with them and how to clean them properly. I do not remember saying it, but I can 

 believe in a moment of anger that I might have said something about wanting to smack some 

 sense into defendant E. Clinchy with a frying pan, but that is a far cry from using it as a murder 

 weapon. If I did say anything along those lines, I doubt I said it more than once. 

 The fact that this embellished or fabricated story originated from a dialog between the 

 two defendants rather than a writing by one of them increases the likelihood that it was a product 

 of conspiracy. 

 2.  The CoCo/WGPO connection, Steven Pellinen, and Michael Tang 
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 As mentioned above, defendant McKissen’s mention of the Word Cup in her March 1st, 

 2022 letter to defendant J. Clinchy (Exhibit 4: Bates #30) suggests that the defendants’ 

 motivation for filing the incident report was at least partially to preemptively stop me from 

 registering for the July 2022 Word Cup, a tournament that had originally been planned by 

 WGPO and that CoCo had latched onto as a co-organizer. (Exhibit 10: Bates #397) Furthermore, 

 the person who spearheaded the entire incident report against me, Steven Pellinen, was acting as 

 both President of WGPO and a Board Member of CoCo, as he himself wrote at the top of his 

 April 14th letter to me attached to the incident report. (Exhibit 20) 

 On August 8th, 2022, before I had submitted a defense to the NASPA incident report but 

 after both CoCo and WGPO had suspended me for five years, Singaporean tournament director 

 Michael Tang made the announcement that the 2024 Alchemist Cup (essentially the World Cup 

 of Scrabble) would not allow American players who were banned by two out of three national 

 associations, counting NASPA, WGPO, and CoCo as national associations, (Exhibit 21) a rule 

 that targeted me and no one else in the world. Neither WGPO nor CoCo had WESPA recognition 

 and had ever been involved in international qualifying before. Who or what motivated Michael 

 Tang to do this? It seems likely that someone communicated with him who at least had an 

 interest in supporting one or both of WGPO and CoCo, and/or in excommunicating me. 

 3.  The New Orleans tournament and Lila Kay Crotty 

 Prior to me submitting my September 6th, 2022 response to the NASPA incident report, 

 the organizers of the New Orleans Scrabble tournament, which had been sanctioned by NASPA 

 for over a decade, announced that the January 2023 edition would instead be sanctioned by 

 WGPO and CoCo. The New Orleans tournament has historically been one of the strongest 
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 tournaments in the USA aside from our National Championship, and losing it is a significant 

 blow to NASPA. 

 How much did the story about what was going on with my disciplinary case play a role, 

 particularly because I had been the tournament victor in 2022, the only accusations in the 

 incident report that took place at a Scrabble tournament happened specifically at the New 

 Orleans tournament, and the main organizer of the New Orleans tournament, Lila Kay Crotty, is 

 on the NASPA Advisory Board  8  that suspended me in  2022? 

 I do not know Lila Kay Crotty well, but I can confirm that she greeted me warmly the 

 first time I attended the New Orleans tournament in 2013 and coldly in more recent years after 

 2017. This makes sense, since Jennifer revealed in her statement in the incident report that she 

 “shared Dave’s email threats with the directors of the [2017] New Orleans tournament.” (Exhibit 

 3: Bates #22) 

 I wrote more in the “Political Background” section of my May 26, 2023 appeal to 

 NASPA (Exhibit 10: Bates #396-400) explaining how my reputation and ability to compete in 

 Scrabble tournaments has gotten entangled with the power politics between NASPA, WGPO, 

 and CoCo. The fact that so many people in WGPO rushed to judgment of me before I wrote my 

 defense and that NASPA has been so secretive about the rationale for my suspension suggest to 

 me that there may be people in both organizations who have conspired with the defendants to 

 push me out, beyond Steven Pellinen, whom we already know about. The fact that Sue Tremblay, 

 who has been sympathetic to my plight, was kept out of the loop, contrary to usual procedure, 

 also raises alarm bells. (Exhibit 10: Bates #395) 

 4.  The CoCo/WESPA connection and Chris Lipe 

 8  Lila Kay Crotty has been on the NASPA Advisory Board since 2018, was reelected recently even though 
 she defected her New Orleans tournament to WGPO/CoCo, and is still in a term to serve until 2025. 
 (Exhibit 22) 
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 Evans Clinchy was the Best Man of Chris Lipe, the President of WESPA, at his July 17, 

 2018 wedding in Aruba. That wedding is the last time that the Clinchys and I were ever in the 

 same place. (Exhibit 5: Bates #147) 

 After I published The Crucible and The Fallout, Chris Lipe wrote on several social media 

 posts, both mine and other people’s, to criticize me for publishing the blog to deflect accusations 

 of impropriety against the Clinchys. (Exhibits 17-18) Cesar del Solar, in the addendum to his 

 statement of support in my response to the incident report, also mentioned the relationship 

 between defendant E. Clinchy and Lipe and how it is different than that between E. Clinchy and 

 the rest of the WESPA Executive Committee. (Exhibit 23: Bates #334) 

 My current status with WESPA is that they are refusing to hear an appeal of my case with 

 NASPA as long as NASPA delays hearing my appeal. (Exhibit 24) ABSP has said that this will 

 prevent me from playing in WESPA rated tournaments even outside of North America, which 

 excludes me from most of the larger international tournaments around the globe. (Exhibit 25) 

 This means that the defendants have interfered with my ability to play in Scrabble tournaments 

 and to make money from them even outside of North America. 

 Considering that Lipe is my current contact person at WESPA for my appeal; that he has 

 played in the majority of tournaments that the Clinchys have kept me out of; that his wife Randi 

 Goldberg has been organizing tournaments for CoCo; and that Lipe’s public statements about my 

 relationship with CoCo have sometimes suggested that he might have a conflict of interest with 

 regards to WESPA and CoCo, there is at least circumstantial reason to believe that Lipe may be 

 in possession of communication relevant to this case that neither plaintiff nor the court yet have 

 access to. 

 RESPONSE TO MOTIONS TO STRIKE  - Page  18  of  24 

 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 



 VIOLATIONS OF THE NASPA CODE OF CONDUCT 

 The Clinchys’ motions say, “the [NASPA] Advisory Board determined that at least three 

 of the plaintiff’s actions were in violation of Section 2 of the Association’s Code of Conduct. 

 Notably, the Advisory Board decided that plaintiff had violated the Code of Conduct based 

 largely through plaintiff’s own submissions.”  9 

 This is what NASPA said to me in their email giving me a three year ban, (Exhibit 26) 

 but it is not plausible. NASPA did not give me or WESPA any specifics on what the supposed 

 three violations were, even when WESPA complained to them about this issue, according to 

 non-voting WESPA board member Eric Kinderman. (Exhibit 27) They refused to give any more 

 justification of their rationale, and at this point they seem to have put my appeal into an infinite 

 holding pattern.(Exhibits 28-29) Furthermore, last I heard from my former attorney Mr. Mohan, 

 NASPA was refusing to comply with the subpoena that Mr. Fuller ordered on them. 

 MY REPUTATION IN THE MEDIA 

 Defendant McKissen has alleged that I have an “already-tanked  reputation” because of a 

 2008 article in  New Jersey Monthly  . All three defendants  have used this fifteen year old article as 

 their only media evidence that I have a bad reputation. The other article that the defendants 

 included in their evidence, the  Sports Illustrated  story by Alex Prewitt, does not mention me. 

 I have been mentioned in the media for reasons related to Scrabble many other times, and 

 none of them have said anything negative about me. Exhibit 30 shows three articles in which I 

 am mentioned or quoted as a Scrabble expert, from Reader’s Digest in 2022, Slate in 2010, and 

 Slate in 2014. Here is a  news video clip  from the NBC affiliate in Orlando, Florida in which I 

 was interviewed during the 2012 National Scrabble Championship and spoke about the integrity 

 and honesty of the players. 

 9  EVANS CLINCHY’S SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE, p.4 l.8-12 
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 The  New Jersey Monthly  article is very old and is such a minor issue that it is almost not 

 worth responding to. If you take the time to read it, you will see that there is very little in the 

 article to support the anonymous quote that I was “the most despised player in Scrabble.” The 

 author was a journalism student who was trying to stir the pot and get his article noticed by 

 making me sound much more controversial than I was. In 2008, I also was far from famous 

 enough in the Scrabble world to be the “the most (anything).” 

 The phrase in the article, “Koenig’s arrogance, a character flaw to which he freely 

 admits,” is a misrepresentation of what I said to the reporter. It was the single line of the article 

 that bothered me most when it came out, and the memory has stuck with me 15 years later. I 

 admitted to the writer that I had sometimes behaved arrogantly, not that it was a character flaw. I 

 was also 30 years old at the time and am 45 now. 

 The article also came out around the time I met Evans, and it did not stop us from 

 becoming friends for the first few years that we knew each other. Both Jennifer and Lola knew 

 about the article when we started dating, and it did not get in the way of either of them having a 

 romantic relationship with me. The extent to which they have harped on this irrelevant article 

 when they all knew very well for a long time that its prominent sound bite was not a fair 

 reflection of me, in their motions to strike and even in Jennifer’s requests for admission, is one 

 more way that they are doing everything they can to assassinate my character. 

 DARRELL DAY INCIDENT 

 Plaintiff has already explained many times in his response to NASPA’s incident report 

 and his appeal to NASPA, that the Darrell Day incident is not relevant to the defendants, and 

 they only keep bringing it up to assassinate his character. The Clinchys did not mention it in their 

 motion to strike, but defendant McKissen did, in order to justify that her “fear is reasonable.”  10 

 10  DEFENDANT MCKISSEN’S SPECIAL MOTION TO STRIKE, p. 7, l.3 
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 Plaintiff is not defending his behavior toward Darrell Day. He has accepted NASPA’s 

 disciplinary decision and publicly stated that he will not make the same mistake again. However, 

 plaintiff is skeptical of defendant McKissen’s claims that the Darrell Day story is the real source 

 of her concerns about the plaintiff for a number of reasons. 

 Defendant McKissen helped plaintiff write his defense to NASPA about the Darrell Day 

 incident before they ever moved in together. After it happened, plaintiff and defendant McKissen 

 lived together for five weeks in Salt Lake City and then two weeks in Seattle, and plaintiff and 

 defendant continued very friendly relations for more than a month after that. 

 Defendant McKissen’s letter to Jennifer on March 1st, 2022 (Exhibit 4) does not mention 

 Darrell Day at all. Her incident report statement only mentions him once in a parenthetical, and 

 does not even claim that I talked about him in person when we were living together. (Exhibit 2: 

 Bates #15) His name was only mentioned in passing as a basis for comparison with other angry 

 things I said when we were alone. 

 It was only  after  I triggered defendant McKissen’s  memory about our communications by 

 including other texts and emails that we sent each other regarding Darrell Day in my September 

 6th, 2022 response to the NASPA incident report, that she  then  decided to give the first draft of 

 my email to NASPA and to include in her September 9th statement entirely fabricated stories 

 about conversations we never had about Darrell Day. (Exhibit 9: Bates #246) 

 This suddenly becoming a big issue when it was not in her earlier writings about me is a 

 clear a sign to me that her intent in the September 9th statement was to maliciously assassinate 

 my character and throw everything at NASPA that she thought could possibly get me banned, 

 even things that were not on her mind and that she did not remember when she wrote her earlier 

 statements. 
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 BAD FAITH LITIGATION CONDUCT 

 As explained in the introduction, this topic is addressed in a supplemental response to the 

 motion. However, let me reiterate just one of the findings in that response here: To date plaintiff 

 has served 460 pages of responsive documents to defendants in responses to requests for 

 production, and defendants have served 0 pages of responsive documents to plaintiff in responses 

 to requests for production. 

 CONCLUSION 

 Plaintiff has already presented much evidence and argumentation to demonstrate a 

 possibility of prevailing on all claims. Further discovery from both the defendants and third 

 parties increases the likelihood of plaintiff prevailing on all claims. 

 Plaintiff apologizes for all procedural issues which caused the initial complaint and 

 amended complaints to be delivered improperly. Since beginning to represent  pro se  , plaintiff has 

 made it a priority to catch up on gaps in discovery that Mr. Fuller wanted to be addressed and to 

 respond fully to the anti-SLAPP motions, but the next priority will be addressing the procedural 

 issues. 

 Statute of limitations issues should not prevent this case from being heard, especially 

 because defendants continued to defame plaintiff on September 9th, 2022. 

 Anti-SLAPP motions are a bad fit for this case, because the defamation committed by the 

 defendants was not in a public forum, but instead behind closed doors with the intention of 

 influencing the few people in leadership of Scrabble associations, and it is the defendants who 

 are trying to chill free speech about the topic in public forums–NOT the plaintiff. 

 Other background topics that defendants brought up have also been addressed, and none 

 of those stand out as issues that should prevent the hearing of this case. 
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 August 15, 2023. 

 /s/ David Koenig 

 Plaintiff, representing  pro se 

 RESPONSE TO MOTIONS TO STRIKE  - Page  23  of  24 

 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 



 PROOF OF SERVICE 
 I certify that I caused this document to be served via e-mail on: 

 Defendants Jennifer and Evans Clinchy 
 ℅ Atty: Michael Fuller 
 Olsen Daines 
 US Bancorp Tower 
 111 SW 5th Ave., Suite 3150 
 Portland, Oregon 97204 
 michael@underdoglawyer.com 

 Defendant BriAnna (Lola) McKissen 
 ℅ Atty: Ashley L. Vaughn 
 Dumas & Vaughn 
 3835 NE Hancock St., Suite GLB 
 Portland, Oregon 97212 
 Ashley@DumasandVaughn.com 

 August 15, 2023. 
 /s/ David Koenig 

 Plaintiff, representing  pro se 
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 TR DOO OHDGHUV RI WKH SFUDEEOH FRPPXQLW\: 

 I ZRXOG OLNH WR VHW WKH UHFRUG VWUDLJKW DERXW VRPHWKLQJ. I XQGHUVWDQG WKDW WKHUH'V D QDUUDWLYH RXW 
 WKHUH LQ WKH SFUDEEOH FRPPXQLW\ WKDW I KDYH VRPHKRZ WXUQHG RWKHU SOD\HUV DJDLQVW DDYLG 
 KRHQLJ - WKDW EHFDXVH RI VRPH GHHS-VHDWHG DQJHU RU KDWUHG WKDW I IHHO, I'YH OHG VRPH VRUW RI 
 FDPSDLJQ RI RVWUDFLVP WR NHHS KLP RXW RI WKH SFUDEEOH FRPPXQLW\. 

 TKDW QDUUDWLYH LV IDOVH. I ZRXOG OLNH WR XQHTXLYRFDOO\ VWDWH IRU WKH UHFRUG ZKDW I KDYH GRQH WR DK 
 FRQVLVWHQWO\ RYHU WKH ODVW ILYH \HDUV: 

 NRWKLQJ. 

 TKH WUXWK LV, I KDYH WULHG YHU\ KDUG WR DYRLG GRLQJ DQ\WKLQJ DW DOO WR DQWDJRQL]H DK. I'YH JUDSSOHG 
 IRU WKH ODVW ILYH \HDUV ZLWK WKH IDFW WKDW KH GHOLEHUDWHO\ DQG PDOLFLRXVO\ VRXJKW WR KDUDVV DQG 
 WKUHDWHQ P\ RQFH-SDUWQHU, QRZ-ZLIH, JHQQLIHU - EHKDYLRU WKDW KH'V RSHQO\ DGPLWWHG WR LQ ZULWLQJ, LQ 
 IDFW. BXW UDWKHU WKDQ PDOLJQ KLP IRU WKLV EHKDYLRU, SXEOLFO\ RU SULYDWHO\, I KDYH KHOG EDFN IRU ILYH 
 \HDUV. I'YH DYRLGHG DWWDFNLQJ KLV FKDUDFWHU; I'YH DYRLGHG H[SRVLQJ KLV PLVGHHGV WR WKH ZRUOG. I'YH 
 DYRLGHG ZHLJKLQJ LQ RQ WKH SHWW\ VTXDEEOHV RQ FDFHERRN DERXW ZKR ZDV XQIDLU WR ZKRP. I 
 PDGH D FRQVFLRXV FKRLFH \HDUV DJR QRW WR GLJQLI\ DQ\ RI LW ZLWK DQ DQVZHU. I'YH QHYHU FDUHG 
 DERXW ZLQQLQJ WKLV DUJXPHQW; DOO I'YH HYHU ZDQWHG LV IRU P\ ZLIH DQG P\VHOI WR EH OHIW DORQH. 

 TKH PRVW KRVWLOH WKLQJ I'YH GRQH WR DK, LI \RX FRXOG HYHQ FDOO LW WKDW, LV UHPDLQ VLOHQW. I PDGH D 
 GHFLVLRQ LQ HDUO\ 2017 WKDW I ZRXOG QR ORQJHU H[FKDQJH SOHDVDQWULHV RU VKDNH KDQGV ZLWK DK 
 ZKHQ I VDZ KLP DW SFUDEEOH WRXUQDPHQWV. M\ UHDVRQLQJ IRU WKLV ZDV VLPSOH, DQG LW'V WKH H[DFW 
 VDPH UHDVRQLQJ WKDW I DSSO\ WR SDP KDQWLPDWKL - I UHVHUYH SOHDVDQWULHV DQG KDQGVKDNHV RQO\ IRU 
 SHRSOH I UHVSHFW, DQG I KDYH QR UHVSHFW IRU D PDQ ZKR DEXVHV ZRPHQ. TKHUH LV ]HUR GRXEW LQ 
 P\ PLQG WKDW DK LV WKDW. 

 M\ KRSH DOO DORQJ KDV EHHQ, LI I MXVW LJQRUHG DK IRU ORQJ HQRXJK, KH ZRXOG HYHQWXDOO\ ORVH 
 LQWHUHVW DQG JR DZD\. TKLV KDV QRW WXUQHG RXW ZHOO. 

 Ɣ  IQ 2018, KH DWWHPSWHG WR UHJLVWHU IRU D KRXVH WRXUQDPHQW WKDW JHQQLIHU DQG I ZHUH
 KRVWLQJ. JHQQLIHU UHIXVHG KLV HQWU\, FLWLQJ KLV KLVWRU\ RI KDUDVVPHQW DQG WKUHDWV. I
 UHPDLQHG VLOHQW.

 Ɣ  IQ 2019, KH WKUHDWHQHG WR JR SXEOLF ZLWK KLV JULHYDQFHV DJDLQVW JHQQLIHU DQG PH, VHQGLQJ
 PHVVDJHV WKURXJK LQWHUPHGLDULHV VXFK DV SWHYH PHOOLQHQ. I UHPDLQHG VLOHQW.

 Ɣ  IQ 2020, KH DFWXDOO\ GLG JR SXEOLF ZLWK KLV JULHYDQFHV, SXEOLVKLQJ D 24,000-ZRUG UDQW WKDW
 ZDV ILOOHG ZLWK GLVWRUWLRQV DQG OLHV DERXW P\ DFWLRQV DQG P\ FKDUDFWHU. I UHPDLQHG VLOHQW.

 Ɣ  IQ 2021, ZKHQ SFUDEEOH ZDV YLUWXDO GXH WR WKH SDQGHPLF, KH WULHG WR SOD\ LQ RXU RQOLQH
 SFUDEEOH FOXE, HYHQ WKRXJK KH NQRZV KH LV QRW ZHOFRPH WR SOD\ SFUDEEOH HYHQWV WKDW ZH
 GLUHFW. TKUHH RWKHU FR-GLUHFWRUV RI WKDW FOXE (QRW JHQQLIHU RU P\VHOI) XQDQLPRXVO\ FDPH
 WRJHWKHU WR EDQ KLP. I UHPDLQHG VLOHQW.

 Ɣ  IQ 2022, I OHDUQHG WKDW KH KDV VSHQW KRXUV DQG KRXUV GLVFXVVLQJ KLV LQWHQW WR NLOO PH,
 LQFOXGLQJ VSHFLILF GHWDLOV DERXW WKH ZHDSRQ KH'G XVH DQG WKH PHWKRG KH'G HPSOR\.
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 I UHIXVH WR EH VLOHQW DQ\ ORQJHU. 

 M\ KRSH ZDV WKDW VWD\LQJ TXLHW ZRXOG GHIXVH WKH VLWXDWLRQ - WKDW HYHQWXDOO\, WKLV ZRXOG DOO MXVW 
 IL]]OH RXW. TR P\ KRUURU, WKH RSSRVLWH KDV KDSSHQHG. TKH VLWXDWLRQ KDV HVFDODWHG WR WKH SRLQW 
 ZKHUH WKLV PDQ LV QRZ RSHQO\ GLVFXVVLQJ KRZ WR PXUGHU PH LQ FROG EORRG. AQG DOO WKLV WLPH, 
 ZKDW I'YH GRQH WR SURYRNH WKLV LV... QRWKLQJ. 

 TKH WUXWK LV, I KDYH ZRUNHG KDUG WR DYRLG SURYRFDWLRQ. AW HYHU\ RSSRUWXQLW\, I'YH VKLHG DZD\. I 
 UHJXODUO\ LJQRUH HPDLOV DQG WH[WV IURP IULHQGV ZKR PHQWLRQ DK - I GRQ'W ZDQW WR WDON DERXW KLP. 
 :KHQ I KHDU KLV QDPH PHQWLRQHG LQ DQ LQ-SHUVRQ VHWWLQJ, I OHDYH WKH URRP. AOO I'YH HYHU GRQH LV 
 VWD\ RXW RI WKLV FRQIOLFW. AQG IRU WKDW, I'P UHSDLG ZLWK WKH NQRZOHGJH WKDW KH PD\ NLOO PH. 

 I'P QRW DORQH, HLWKHU. I'YH EHHQ DURXQG WKLV PDQ IRU 14 \HDUV QRZ, DQG I'YH VHHQ FRXQWOHVV 
 H[DPSOHV RI KLP WXUQLQJ QDVW\, WKUHDWHQLQJ, RU GRZQULJKW KRUULI\LQJ LQ FRQIURQWDWLRQV ZLWK RWKHU 
 SFUDEEOH SOD\HUV. I'P VWLOO VKRFNHG WR WKLV GD\ E\ WKH YLOH WKUHDWV KH LVVXHG WR DDUUHOO DD\ LQ 
 2020. 

 I DP QRW LQWHUHVWHG LQ KHDULQJ KLV H[SODQDWLRQ IRU DQ\ RI WKLV. I DOUHDG\ NQRZ WKDW KH'OO UHVSRQG 
 ZLWK D FRPELQDWLRQ RI OLHV, GLVWRUWLRQV, DQG H[FXVHV. 

 I'P QRW LQWHUHVWHG LQ DQ DSRORJ\, HLWKHU. I DOUHDG\ NQRZ LW ZRXOGQ'W EH VLQFHUH - WKH UDQW KH 
 SXEOLVKHG LQ 2020 UHYHDOHG WKDW WKH ODVW DSRORJ\ KH VHQW JHQQLIHU ZDV D OLH DQG KH ZDVQ'W 
 DFWXDOO\ VRUU\. 

 II WKLV PDQ FRQWLQXHV WR EH DOORZHG DQ\ZKHUH QHDU SFUDEEOH, KH LV D FOHDU WKUHDW QRW RQO\ WR P\ 
 ZLIH DQG WR P\VHOI, EXW WR HYHU\RQH HOVH LQ WKH JDPH DV ZHOO. 

 AIWHU DOO, KH'V H[SUHVVHG KLV XUJH WR VKRRW XS D SFUDEEOH WRXUQDPHQW. :KDW PRUH QHHGV WR EH 
 VDLG? 

 RHVSHFWIXOO\, I DP DVNLQJ IRU KLV EDQLVKPHQW IRU OLIH IURP RXU FRPPXQLW\. I WUXO\ EHOLHYH WKDW LV 
 WKH RQO\ ZD\ WR GHDO ZLWK WKLV WKUHDW RQFH DQG IRU DOO. 

 TKDQN \RX IRU \RXU FRQVLGHUDWLRQ. 

 EYDQV COLQFK\ 
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March 3, 2022

When I reali]ed this that I can¶t feel safe here until everyone knows the whole

story of what happened with Koenig, and that this conversation needed to happen soon,

I knew I needed to first tell the other involved parties and get their permission. I have

that permission now. In writing everything down for Jennifer Clinchy, who I had never

brought this up with, I also reali]ed that writing everything down was the only way I

could tell you guys the whole story, without breaking down and stopping, skipping

around erratically, or smoothing it over and pretending it¶s not that bad when I detect

you guys getting scared or uncomfortable. This is extremely difficult for me.

In 2019, I broke up with my fiance after 7 years. I had known Dave online for

about 10 years. He¶d started sending me private messages and flirting with me when I

was still married, and I had always assumed all of the mutual friends he listed were

actually friends of his while he hovered and flirted. We¶d met once in person, in 2018 at

a trivia night with my then boyfriend and other friends when he moved to Seattle. When

my relationship ended, he started back up with the flirting immediately, we face timed

and got to know each other during the months leading into 2020, then  he asked if he

could come visit me in Utah. I ended up cancelling that. I thought that sounded very

uncomfortable and a bit creepy, so we made plans to go to San Juan instead, get a suite

with separate beds for the beginning and figure it out from there.

We arrived in Puerto Rico on March 12, 2020. This seemed really safe at the time.

I wasn¶t counting on: a global pandemic, him being an actual psychopath, or how I

would react to that. I was abused pretty severely as a young child by a similar type of

person, and that very first day in Puerto Rico we were having a bottle of wine after
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dinner and he lost his temper and went into a long rant about how Jennifer and Evans,

who I had only vaguely heard of, were trying to ruin his life. It was horrifying. I don¶t

know if any of you have seen him angry, but he was completely out of control. When he¶s

like this he is yelling loudly, does not care who can hear him, his eyes go all dark and

bulgy and unfocused and he shakes violently. It ends with ³I¶m writing a book proving it,

and what I really want is for her to be so humiliated that she kills herself.´

I don¶t know if you can understand why I reacted the way I did, but I really want

you to, so I will keep typing. As a six year old, I could not escape or in any way stop what

was happening to me. What I learned to do, was do a really good job of staying on the

monster¶s good side, to the extent that I believed I was responsible for keeping them

from getting angry. If I set them off, very bad things would happen to me. It was literally

the only way I had to stay alive, and it worked. I got better, and was better for a long

time. That didn¶t help me not snap right back in that state, it in fact made me vulnerable

to people like him. Normal girls just run.

The trip was strange and punctuated by the world shutting down, and us being

stuck together in a hotel with no open restaurants, etc. I assumed this would be the end

of it all. Other than the obsessive need to help him calm the fuck down, I found I really

didn¶t like him much in person. He showed ]ero interest in me as a human being, and

was annoyingly self-centered and controlling. I honestly don¶t think he cared much for

me either, other than this person makes me looks good and doesn¶t run away while I flip

out and say evil, cra]y things.

When we get home to our respective apartments and a sudden unending

lockdown, he does not move the fuck on. He continues to call me to cry and whine and
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rant, and I am incredibly anxious about the world and everything, and continue to text

him. I become increasingly sure it¶s my job to help him stop being this way. We¶re both

already exposed to each other, so we decide he¶ll drive down and stay with me in Salt

Lake.

The next 8 weeks were a surreal nightmare. In the beginning, in the daytime, he

was the charming person I thought I was going on that trip with, but every night when

he got tired he would turn into a whole other person, who I'd describe in my journal as

Mr. Hyde, the shaking, shouting one, and I¶d have to lie there listening for hours and

hours while he shouted about how much this woman and her husband deserved to die

and how he would want to carry that out. Sometimes the people who needed to die were

the people who must have told lies about him last time he noticed that people don¶t like

him, in DC. Sometimes it was his mother. Once it was a whole random tournament of

Scrabblers he wanted to shoot down, because they didn¶t stop the Clinchys from lying

about him or excluding him. I inquired if the people he considered his best friends were

included, when they certainly weren¶t responsible, but he said they also deserved to die

for not stopping Jenn and Evans. At one point, every single person who voted for Trump

deserved death. Publicly and viciously, no matter why they decided to do that. [This part

is not dissimilar to the Facebook threat against Darrel Day, which I think you¶re all

familiar with.] He was never in control of himself during any of this, and would even yell

this way at himself in the shower.  He's incredibly delusional, and there¶s no arguing

with any of it, but I kept believing I could make him see where the gaps were in his logic.

He's supposed to be an exceptionally logical person.
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I have listened to at least a hundred hours of insane murder fantasies at top

volume right next to me. I could not make it stop, and I am not okay.

In the very last argument, he was insisting with absolute certainty that his moral

judgment is infallible, which seals his place as the scariest person I¶ve ever met. I won¶t

let it go this time, because I NEED him to understand he does not have a right to

torment others because of how he feels, but he can not get around it. He finally declares

he is not in love with me.

This seemed like a really lucky break. I could just go, he could assume I was

heartbroken, and he would just gradually forget I exist. I am still pretty sure he¶s going

to kill someone someday, and all I could do was make sure it wasn¶t me. I was still

looking at the whole thing as a story about this bad guy, Dave, and his victim, Jennifer.

Like I was a bystander that, at best, had just witnessed something horrible, or at worst,

was responsible for not stopping him.

Two  years have gone by of me telling him to leave me alone, and that I do not

want to be friends with him. He finds a new way to get access to me over and over again.

Every few months, I think it¶s over and he contacts me again.

I told Conrad when we let CoCo club ban Dave, because I was afraid I would be

blamed for not fixing it and making them let him play. He panicked and we had to bring

Jesse in to help him see my point of view, that if the truth about what he is and said got

out, I would be the only possible source of that information, and I was terrified I¶d

become the center of Dave¶s conspiracy theories. They agreed to do whatever I needed to

feel safe and NOT tell everyone what happened.
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In New Orleans, I was pretty anxious, particularly because only those two

Scrabblers understood any of this. Conrad wouldn¶t be on site, and Jesse Day had to

cancel due to Covid at the last minute. On the first day, I started to relax significantly

when I reali]ed Dave wasn¶t acknowledging my existence at all. Unfortunately, I was

coming back into the hotel after lunch and held the door open for someone coming up

the stairs behind me. It was him, and he said ³Oh! I didn¶t recogni]e you with that hair.´

This sounded promising, like he must not be concerned about me at all, if he

doesn¶t remember what I look like. But after that he started hovering wherever I was

talking to friends, like we were friends and he was waiting for me. Or trying to convince

people we were still friends? I couldn¶t tell what in the hell he was doing other than

making me scared. On Sunday, I won a game too fast and headed out to the hallway to

watch the Twitch stream. He followed me out, made a little small talk, and then

launched into a rant, accusing me of all kinds of things, it was the same rage with the

shaking and bulging eyes, but he was keeping his volume low.

I am now responsible for the way people avoid him, because I¶ve been playing

CoCo tournaments, because I¶ve supposedly been spreading the lies that this other

married girl after/during me that he was stalking was supposedly spreading, for turning

Conrad against him when he was sure they were such great friends after he posted his

blog about Jenn, that I¶m responsible for Woogles allowing CoCo club to exist, for letting

them ban him from it, and so on.

I told him that I believe Conrad is protecting me, I tell him that I do think he¶s an

actual psychopath, that I¶m terrified of him, that I owe him absolutely nothing, and I

asked him again to leave me alone.
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At this point, his posture changed completely. He relaxed and sat back. I feel like

he smiled, but who knows through a mask. ³So you know. I feel more betrayed by you

than by anything Jennifer and Evans did.´ Which is the most terrifying thing he could

possibly say to me. This is the threat. And I know it doesn¶t sound like a threat out of

context. And he knows that. And that¶s why it was necessary that you hear all the back

story.

I¶ll say that again, so you understand it as I heard it and as I feel certain he

intended it. It is very carefully worded: he forced me to listen to all of the ways and how

badly he wanted the deaths of Jennifer and Evans for over a hundred hours. And then

he told me to my face, that he now thinks that what I have done is worse.

I reali]ed that I¶ve been afraid for my life for 2 years, over and over certain I'm

going to die at his hands, and have been dissociating for most of the time you've known

me, telling myself this is a story about a psychopath, Dave, and his victim, Jennifer, and

that it wasn¶t about me. It would just go away if I ignored it long enough.

It will not. I immediately made an appointment with a trauma counselor from the

airport, told Jesse and Conrad what happened, told you guys I need a break, and talked

to Cesar. But I feel like I wasn¶t clear, and he didn¶t understand me, which is part of why

I¶ve written this all down and need to tell you all together. I¶m still looking into a

restraining order, but it¶s very complicated and scary and involves a hearing WITH him

every six months.

Which leads us to where we are today.
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A couple weeks after I talked to Cpsar, Conrad, and Jesse, Dave is suddenly being

added to the Friends of Woogles channel and submitting pull requests. I think that¶s

resolved for now, but I have ]ero confidence it won¶t happen again. He WILL try to get

you to make me let him have access to me. He WILL try to make it look like we're on

good terms and it'll be fine, as he did last time. He's been doing it for years.

I need you to know what to do. If you don't feel willing, I cannot feel safe here and

I need to know that now.

I am not asking that you believe that he is delusional and unhinged, that he¶s a

psychopath, or that he will ever actually physically harm me, Jennifer, Evans, or anyone

else. I'm not a psychologist, and I can't see the future.

If you consider me a friend, what I need you to believe is that -I- believe it. He is

the scariest person I've ever met, and that includes my childhood abuser, who did not

have the means to terrori]e adults or get away with it.

If he reaches out, I do not care if you tell him you think I¶m nuts, as long as that

ends with ³but she IS afraid of you, and it¶s NOT happening, man.´ PLEASE do not help

him get access to me.

If you don¶t consider me a friend, but care about Woogles, I need you to

understand that I cannot be working on this project in any way if he¶s associated with it.

I believe this last try is an attempt to undermine my credibility and prove that I must

not ACTUALLY be being terrori]ed if I continue to act civilly. But I¶m pretty done acting

civilly.
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Woogles is extremely important to me. When I say I think it¶s how I can try to

save the world, it is not hyperbole. I believe it. However, I know what we've built, the

impact it's had already, and I know what we have done here cannot be undone.

Moreover, I know what I contributed personally and I know this would not exist if I

hadn¶t been part of it. Those of you who were here for the initial building and planning

know this too. I will continue to work on the mission no matter what, but will be very,

very sad if I cannot do that with you guys anymore. I can walk away to feel safe. I can

also walk away if you think the potential drama and attention is hurting Woogles and

the mission. Please let me know what you decide. I will send you each a link to the

document I am reading from.

I¶m remarkably okay with looking cra]y. I¶m not okay with being afraid forever.

Thank you all for listening.
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March 24, 2022 

To the Leaders of Scrabble Organizations: 

As a player, director, and member of the North American Scrabble community, I write to report 

information about a player whom I believe to pose a threat to the public safety of our 

community. Specifically, I write to report that David Koenig (Dave) has engaged in the following 

behavior: 

1. Coerced me to have sex with him after I repeatedly told him No.

2. Harassed, threatened, and stalked multiple women.

3. Orally expressed homicidal intent, including a desire to kill my husband and commit a

mass shooting at a Scrabble tournament.

4. Published a written threat to commit explicit acts of physical violence.

5. Written and published a 164-page manifesto that intentionally discloses private

information and documents his own acts of harassment.

WKaW IROORZV LV a VXPPaU\ RI DaYe¶V UeOeYaQW cRQdXcW LQ eacK RI WKeVe aUeaV. AWWacKed LV 
documentation to support the information provided in this report.  

I am separately reporting this information to the police. I have submitted this information 

under penalty of perjury, knowing that I could be disbarred as an attorney and lose my 

job if I knowingly make a false statement here. 

Some of the events in this report date back more than six years. I am reporting this information 

now because I recently learned that Dave has explicitly stated that he wants me dead, wants to 

kill my husband, and wants to shoot up a Scrabble tournament. I am particularly concerned 

about the safety risk to all members of the Scrabble community if Dave commits a mass 

shooting at a tournament.  

I have not risked reporting Dave until now because I feared that reporting him would enrage and 

provoke him into committing an act of violence against me. Now that he is threatening the lives 

of other people, I believe I am obligated to report this information. 

1. Sexual Coercion

I first met Dave at a Scrabble tournament in 2013 or 2014. From 2014 through 2016, I casually 

dated Dave while I resided in Washington, D.C. and he resided in Falls Church, VA. Though this 

was not a committed relationship and he was not my boyfriend, he was controlling. He strongly 

discouraged me from having relationships with other men in the Scrabble community.  

000021

000021

David Koenig
Exhibit 3

David Koenig



Page 2 of 8 
 

For two years, we had an intermittent, on-and-off consensual sexual relationship. On more than 

one occasion, however, he coerced me to have sex with him after I had explicitly told him that I 

did not want to have sex. 

 

On one occasion that I remember vividly, I repeatedly and unambiguously told him that I did not 

want to have sex because I knew it would hurt. He responded by trying to pull my clothing off 

aQd IRQdOe Pe. He dLdQ¶W VWRS KLV adYaQceV deVSLWe Pe UeSeaWedO\ Va\LQJ I dLdQ¶W ZaQW WR KaYe 
sex. After fighting his advances for thirty minutes, I got exhausted of telling him No and 

concluded that he would not stop until he got what he wanted. I stopped saying No and lay 

down defeated while he penetrated me. It hurt. I dissociated from my body and lay like a dead 

fish staring blankly up at the ceiling until he was done. 

 

 

2. Harassment and Stalking 

 

I attempted to end my informal relationship with Dave on at least five occasions, the last attempt 

being in person in September 2016. About two months later, Dave started suspecting that I was 

dating another Scrabble player, and began to email and text me harassing messages. At that 

point, I had not seen him in months and we had not had any sexual relations for even longer. I 

was therefore baffled to learn that he regarded us as being in a relationship that required a 

breakup conversation before he would permit me to move on and date someone new. 

 

On December 19, 2016, Dave sent me an email demanding that I meet with him (alone) in 

SeUVRQ. I ZaV aIUaLd RI DaYe¶V WePSeU aQd ZKaW Ke PLJKW dR LI I PeW KLP LQ SeUVRQ. I Kad 
witnessed his anger before and endured him yelling at me many times during the time when we 

dated. In his email, he wrote, ³I aP QRW JRLQJ WR be aQJU\ RU \eOO RU aUJXe RU WU\ WR cRQYLQce \RX 
WR dR WKLQJV RWKeUZLVe.´ DeVSLWe WKLV SURPLVe, WKe VSeecK DaYe LQWeQded to give me in person²
reprinted in full in his manifesto²is unmistakably angry and demeaning. 

 

Because I did not accede to his demands, Dave then escalated his threats. Specifically, he 

threatened that he would publicly embarrass and humiliate me at an upcoming event in January 

2017 if I did not give in to his demands. I found his communications disturbing and blocked his 

emails, phone calls, and text messages. I later learned when he published his manifesto that he 

continued sending harassing text messages to me after I blocked him, including a message on 

CKULVWPaV Da\, 2016, VWaWLQJ, ³I KaYe beeQ YeU\ XSVeW aQd aQJU\ aQd VRPeWLPeV ILOOed ZLWK 
hatred because you have not taken down the Facebook profile picture of you on my balcony as I 

aVNed \RX WR.´ 
 

WheQ I dLd Iace DaYe LQ JaQXaU\ 2017, I ZaV WeUULILed. I Kad VKaUed DaYe¶V ePaLO WKUeaWV ZLWK 
the directors of the New Orleans tournament in advance because I was scared about what he 

might do. I was physically shaking with fear throughout my game against him. He writes in his 

manifesto that he delighted in watching me suffer in front of him. Immediately after the game, I 

walked into the hallway outside the playing room and started sobbing in a corner. This was the 

first time my now-husband saw me cry. 
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In September 2017, I moved across the country, in part to get far away from Dave. I relocated 

from Washington, D.C. to Tacoma, WA. Approximately six months later, Dave moved to Seattle, 

WA, WaNLQJ XS UeVLdeQce OeVV WKaQ aQ KRXU¶V dULYe IURP P\ QeZ KRPe. PULRU WR moving to 

Seattle, Dave had lived in Virginia for many years. At the time that he moved, he had joint 

custody of a minor child who also lived in Virginia, which made his move seem all the more 

strange and alarming to me. 

 

For the next few years, Dave communicated threats to me via third parties that he would make 

me regret it if I did not agree to talk to him and give him closure about our relationship. An 

example is the message I received from Steve Pellinen on December 16, 2019 (Attachment A). 

I received this message more than three and a half years after I had last been in anything 

resembling a relationship with Dave. By that point, I hoped that Dave had moved on. Instead, 

DaYe¶V WKUeaWV aQd KaUaVVPeQW IXUWKeU eVcaOaWed LQWR KLV SXbOLcaWLRQ RI a 164-page manifesto in 

July 2020. In his manifesto, described in more detail later in this report, Dave details his 

harassment of me, including his continuous attempts to contact me after I had blocked his 

communications. 

 

SWaONLQJ LV ³A SaWWeUQ RI beKaYLRU dLUecWed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable 

SeUVRQ WR IeaU IRU WKe SeUVRQ¶V VaIeW\ RU WKe VaIeW\ RI RWKeUV, RU VXIIeU VXbVWaQWLaO ePRWLRQaO 
dLVWUeVV.´ 
 

For years, I have experienced intense emotional distress and feared that Dave will try to hurt or 

kill me or my husband. I have specifically sought out therapists with specialized training in 

trauma counseling. I have spent hundreds of hours and thousands of dollars in therapy trying to 

overcome my fear of Dave. Three different therapists have each independently diagnosed me 

with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. I experience insomnia, nightmares of Dave attacking me, 

and flashbacks from the time I spent with him. When I see someone who looks like him, I at 

times become paralyzed by tonic immobility (freezing) and am unable to move. 

 

TR SURWecW P\VeOI, I KaYe LQYeVWed VXbVWaQWLaO PRQe\ LQ XSJUadLQJ P\ KRPe¶V VecXULW\ V\VWeP. I 
subscribed to a video security surveillance service and replaced an exterior door in our home. I 

installed a peephole in our front door. Upon learning that Dave wants me and my husband dead 

and wants to shoot up a tournament, I immediately removed the street addresses for CoCo 

Scrabble tournaments posted online because I am afraid that Dave will try to physically attack 

me or other attendees at those events. I quit all social media and refrain as much as possible 

from posting any personal information or photos of myself online because I fear that Dave or a 

person sympathetic to his grievances will identify me and commit an act of violence. I knowingly 

sacrificed income by delaying the launch of a website for my small business because I knew I¶d 
have to publish my name and photo online. 

 

Separate from my own personal experience with Dave, I recently learned that he has harassed 

and stalked another woman within the Scrabble community. Her name is Lola McKissen. Lola 

told me that she dated Dave from approximately March through July of 2020. Lola stated in a 

UeceQW OeWWeU WR Pe WKaW aIWeU KeU UeOaWLRQVKLS ZLWK DaYe eQded, ³LW¶V beeQ 2 \ears of me telling 
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him to leave me alone, and that I do not want to be friends with him. He tries again every couple 

PRQWKV.´ 
 

In 2020 or 2021, Dave moved to Portland, OR, where Lola also lives. In January 2022, Dave 

confronted and threatened Lola in person at a Scrabble tournament in New Orleans, LA; more 

information about his threat to Lola appears in her letter (Attachment B). In her letter, Lola states 

that she fears Dave will kill her. Like me, she is also in trauma counseling as a result of her fear 

of Dave. 

 

 

3. Homicidal Statements 

 

On March 1, 2022, Lola electronically sent me a letter. In her letter, she describes Dave as 

³XQVWabOe´ aQd UecRXQWV KRZ Ke ZRXOd becRPe aQJU\ aQd IO\ LQWR a UaJe. SKe UecRXQWV WKaW 
when she dated Dave in spring 2020: 

 

³We lived together for 8 horrific weeks. Every night when he got tired he would turn into 

a ZKROe RWKeU SeUVRQ aQd I¶d KaYe WR OLe WKeUe OLVWeQLQJ IRU KRXUV aQd KRXUV ZKLOe Ke 

shouted about how much you and Evans deserved to die and how he would want to 

carry that out. Sometimes the people who needed to die were the people who must have 

WROd OLeV abRXW KLP OaVW WLPe Ke QRWLced WKaW SeRSOe dRQ¶W OLNe KLP, LQ DC. SRPeWLPeV LW 
was his mother. Once it was a whole random tournament of Scrabblers he wanted to 

sKRRW dRZQ, becaXVe WKe\ dLdQ¶W VWRS \RX IURP O\LQJ abRXW KLP RU e[cOXdLQJ KLP. AW RQe 

point, every single person who voted for Trump deserved death. He was never in control 

of himself during any of this, and would even yell this way at himself in the showeU.´ 
 

LROa VXPPaUL]eV, ³I KaYe OLVWeQed WR aW OeaVW a KXQdUed KRXUV RI LQVaQe PXUdeU IaQWaVLeV, aQd I 
aP QRW RNa\.´ SKe cRQcOXdeV b\ QRWLQJ, ³I¶P SUeWW\ VXUe Ke¶V JRLQJ WR NLOO VRPeRQe VRPeda\.´  
 

DaYe¶V e[SUeVVed deVLUe WR VKRRW dRZQ a WRXUQaPeQW RI ScUabble players is particularly 

concerning given that large Scrabble tournaments have hundreds of people in attendance. 

These mass events often take place in large, open hotel ballrooms with no security. A mass 

shooting of the kind that Dave has envisioned would be relatively simple to execute and difficult 

to prevent. 

 

On March 2, 2022, Lola spoke with me by phone. She recounted that Dave had consistently told 

her that he wanted to kill my husband by hitting him in the head with a cast iron frying pan. 

When I noted that Dave had at least not taken active steps to kill me or my husband, she 

disagreed. Lola had contemporaneous conversations with Dave when he published his 

PaQLIeVWR LQ JXO\ 2020. SKe UeOa\ed WKaW DaYe¶V LQWeQW aQd e[SecWaWLRQ LQ SXbOLVKLQJ KLV 
manifesto was that he would so thoroughly humiliate me that I would kill myself. 

 

HaUaVVPeQW LV a cULPe. APRQJ WKe cRQdXcW TXaOLI\LQJ aV KaUaVVPeQW LV WR ³PaOLcLRXVO\ dR aQ\ 
act which is intended to substantially harm the person threatened with respect to his or her 
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SK\VLcaO RU PeQWaO KeaOWK RU VaIeW\.´ HaUaVVeUV ZKR SRVW WKUeaWeQLQJ PeVVaJeV RQOLQe, RU 
ZKRVe KaUaVVPeQW UeVXOWed LQ WKeLU WaUJeW¶V VXLcLde, KaYe beeQ cRQYLcWed RI IeORQ\ KaUaVVPeQW 
and imprisoned for years. 

 

 

4. Written Threat to Commit Violence 

 

Dave¶V e[SUeVVLRQV RI KRPLcLdaO LdeaWLRQ aUe QRW KLV RQO\ WKUeaWV RI YLROeQce. PULRU WR SXbOLcaWLRQ 
of his manifesto in July 2020, Dave published several explicit posts on Facebook in which he 

threatened violence against another Scrabble player, Darrell Day. Among his many threats of 

violence are the following posts, which he publicly posted on Facebook: 

 

³DaUUeOO Da\ I KRSe Ze PeeW aJaLQ. I KaYe QR deVLUe IRU LQWeOOLJeQW RU WKRXJKWIXO 
cRQYeUVaWLRQ. I MXVW ZaQW WR beaW WKe OLYLQJ VKLW RXW RI \RX.´ 
 

³II I bashed your fucking skull in, it would probably improve your brain, and your 

aSSeaUaQce.´ 
 

³AIWeU I baVK \RXU VNXOO LQ aQd OeaYe \RX bOeedLQJ RQ WKe JURXQd, I'P JRQQa dLaUUKea LQ 
your fucking mouth and chop your balls off and stuff them in there too for good measure. 

AQd WKeQ WaNe SLcWXUeV aQd VeQd WKeP WR \RXU NLdV.´ 
 

Dave has admitted to authoring this post. He received a formal disciplinary warning from a 

national Scrabble association for threatening another member of the Scrabble community. 

 

 

5. Manifesto Disclosing Private Information and Documenting Harassment 

 

On July 15, 2020, Dave published online a 164-page manifesto (Attachment E) in which he 

disclosed my private information and documented his own acts of harassment. The manifesto 

details his perception of events that occurred primarily from 2015 through 2017. He also 

describes how he believes others have wronged him by causing him to become ostracized.  

 

Dave published his manifesto as a two-part blog series, available online at https://splenetic.net/. 

AURXQd WKe WLPe ZKeQ Ke SXbOLVKed KLV PaQLIeVWR, Ke ZURWe RQ KLV SeUVRQaO FacebRRN SaJe, ³I 
recognize that I am incredibly privileged. I had the financial resources to take a year off of work 

and better than aveUaJe ZULWLQJ VNLOOV WR KeOS Pe WeOO P\ VWRU\ eIIecWLYeO\.´ 
 

a. Disclosure of Private Information  

 

The information that Dave published in his manifesto includes direct reproductions of numerous 

private communications that I had shared with him under a full and reasonable expectation of 

privacy. In a Facebook post in July 2020, Dave provided the following justification for his 

decision to publish my private text messages in his manifesto: 

000025

000025

David Koenig
Exhibit 3



Page 6 of 8 
 

 

³SeYeUaO SeRSOe KaYe JLYeQ IeedbacN abRXW Pe LQcOXdLQJ We[W PeVVaJeV ZLWh Jennifer in 

the appendices. I have heard this feedback, and I thought deeply before I did it. You may 

feel differently, but let me say a few things about why I felt it was necessary. 

 

The text messages corroborate many things in my story, including my mother's surgery, 

my flu and mouth sore outbreak, my inability to get games with anyone but Vince. The 

email exchange with Jennifer also corroborates my sexual dysfunction. I felt it was 

necessary to give contemporaneous evidence to show that I was not exaggerating 

any of this for sympathy. November 2016 was truly the worst month of my life, 

independently from anything happening with Jennifer. In comparison, there is very little 

SeUVRQaO deWaLO abRXW KeU cRQWaLQed LQ WKRVe PeVVaJeV.´ 
 

Contrary to his descriptLRQ RI WKe LQIRUPaWLRQ aV cRQWaLQLQJ ³YeU\ OLWWOe SeUVRQaO deWaLO´ abRXW Pe, 
the messages that Dave published contain personal information about my location, 

employment, finances, mental health, political views, alcohol consumption, family, and sex life. 

He published all of this information without my knowledge or consent. Some people choose to 

disclose private information about themselves online; I do not. I am a private person who 

chooses not to use social media or publish personal information about myself, which makes his 

publication of my personal information all the more distressing. 

 

b. Harassment 

 

In his manifesto, Dave documents his own harassment of me. After emailing me on December 

16, 2016, promising to not be angry or yell at me, here is how he describes his actual state of 

mind and his attempts to continue harassing me after I blocked his communications: 

 

³I VWLOO ZaQWed WR WeOO KeU RII IRU ZKaW VKe Kad dRQe. I ZaQWed WR KaYe WKaW RQe OaVW 
breakup conversation to create closure, but this time I didn¶W Qeed WR KeaU aQ\WKLQJ IURP 
her. I just wanted to communicate how unkind she had been in ghosting me and not 

taking the picture down, and I believed that I could say things in just the right way that 

would make her cry in front of me. This time I wanted to talk in person, because I wanted 

to see those tears on her face, and I knew that if we talked on the phone, she would just 

hang up on me. I also knew that if I asked her again for a meeting, she was highly likely 

to just continue ghosting me. So I decided I had to give her an incentive to make the 

meeting happen. I sent her one more email on January 5th, and I copied it to both of her 

ePaLO accRXQWV, MXVW LQ caVe VKe Kad bORcNed WKe RQe I XVed SUeYLRXVO\.´ 
 

In the email he sent me on January 5, 2017, he escalates his threats, writing: 

 

³I WKLQN LW ZRXOd be beVW WR KaYe WKLV cRQYeUVaWLRQ LQ SULYaWe, bXW I QR ORQJeU KaYe aQ\ 
compunctions about holding back in front of other Scrabble players we know. So if you 

do not meet with me before New Orleans, I will say what I need to say to you directly to 

your face across the Scrabble board in the tournament room with all the other players 
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able to hear. I am almost certain that if that happens you will regret not having had this 

cRQYeUVaWLRQ LQ SULYaWe.´ 
 

In his Facebook posts promoting publication of his manifesto, Dave writes: 

 

³B\ WKe WLPe I Kad JRWWeQ WR WKe NeZ OUOeaQV WRXUQaPeQW [LQ PLd-January 2017], I was 

aOUead\ LQ a PXcK caOPeU SOace.´ 
 

Here is how his manifesto deVcULbeV WKaW ³PXcK caOPeU SOace,´ as I sat across from him shaking 

with fear:  

 

³I deOLJKWed LQ ZaWcKLQJ JeQQLIeU VXIIeU LQ IURQW RI Pe. SKe SXQLVKed KeUVeOI IRU KeU 
behavior in a better way than I ever could have. I saw it as karmic justice for how much 

pain she had caused me in the last couple months. But at the same time, I did not do it 

to her. She did it to herself. She did it by coming to a tournament where she already 

knew I was going to be, by insisting on not communicating with me prior to the 

tournament, by avoiding a conversation that would have made things better, by building 

up so much tension in her own head that just being there with me was such a terrible 

e[SeULeQce, eYeQ WKRXJK I ZaVQ¶W dRLQJ aQ\WKLQJ.´ 
 

Back on Facebook, Dave responds to a cRPPeQWeU¶V cULWLcLVP WKaW Ke LV VWLOO dLVPLVVLQJ KLV RZQ 
³WUXO\ dLVWXUbLQJ beKaYLRU,´ ZULWLQJ: 
  

³I¶P QRW PaNLQJ OLJKW RI LW. I dRQ¶W deQ\ WKaW I KaQdOed WKLQJV SRRUO\ aQd VcaUed JeQQLIeU.´ 
 

In one of his last posts about the manifesto in July 2020, Dave summarizes publication of his 

manifesto as follows: 

 

³I dR KaYe WR[Lc aVSecWV RI P\ SeUVRQaOLW\ aQd aQJeU LVVXeV « I e[SRVed WR WKe ZRUOd WKe 
ZRUVW ePaLOV aQd We[W PeVVaJeV I VeQW aW WKe ZRUVW PRPeQW LQ P\ OLIe. I¶P ZLOOLQJ WR be 
held accountable for theP. I KRSe \RX¶OO aOVR UecRJQL]e WKe bUaYeU\ aQd WKe deVLUe IRU 
self-LPSURYePeQW WKaW ZaV LQKeUeQW LQ SXWWLQJ WKeP RXW WKeUe.´ 
 

 

 

Attachments 

A. Message from Steve Pellinen, dated December 16, 2019 

B. Letter to me from Lola McKissen, transmitted electronically on March 1, 2022 

C. Facebook post published by Dave, threatening Darrell Day, published in 2020 

D. Facebook posts published by Dave acknowledging authorship of his manifesto and 

defending his decision to publish private information, published in July 2020 

E. FXOO We[W RI DaYe¶V PaQLIeVWR, aOVR aYaLOabOe RQOLQe aW https://splenetic.net/ 
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Page 8 of 8 
 

 

I CERTIFY UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 
WASHINGTON THAT THE FOREGOING IS TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY 
KNOWLEDGE.  

 

EXECUTED ON: March 24, 2022 

 

 
___________________________________________ 

JENNIFER CLINCHY 
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DHDU JHQQLIHU,

I KDYH EHHQ DYRLGLQJ WDONLQJ WR \RX EHFDXVH VR PXFK RI ZKDW KDSSHQHG WR PH LV DERXW

\RX. I FDQ¶W H[SODLQ WKH WKUHDW WR WKH WRUG CXS GLUHFWRUV RU DQ\RQH HOVH ZLWKRXW EULQJLQJ

\RX LQWR LW, DQG I FDQ¶W EHDU WR KDYH \RX KHDU LW VHFRQG KDQG. I DP ILOOHG ZLWK GUHDG DW

KDYLQJ WR EH WKH EHDUHU RI WKLV QHZV, EXW KH¶V EHHQ WU\LQJ WR JHW DW PH WKURXJK WRRJOHV

DQG I¶P RXW RI WLPH WR DW OHDVW H[SODLQ LW WR WKHP, VR I PXVW QRZ H[SODLQ LW WR \RX.

I GRQ¶W NQRZ KRZ XQVWDEOH KRHQLJ ZDV ZKLOH \RX ZHUH GDWLQJ, EXW E\ WKH WLPH I GLG, KH

ZDV YHU\ QRW RND\. I KDG NQRZQ KLP RQOLQH IRU DERXW 10 \HDUV, DVVXPLQJ DOO RI WKH

PXWXDO IULHQGV KH OLVWHG ZHUH DFWXDOO\ IULHQGV RI KLV ZKLOH KH KRYHUHG, DQG ZH¶G PHW RQFH

LQ SHUVRQ, DW D WULYLD QLJKW ZLWK P\ ER\IULHQG DQG RWKHU IULHQGV ZKHQ KH PRYHG WR

SHDWWOH. WKHQ P\ UHODWLRQVKLS HQGHG, KH DVNHG LI KH FRXOG FRPH YLVLW PH LQ UWDK. I

WKRXJKW WKDW VRXQGHG XQFRPIRUWDEOH DQG ZH PDGH SODQV WR JR WR SDQ JXDQ LQVWHDG, JHW D

VXLWH ZLWK VHSDUDWH URRPV IRU WKH EHJLQQLQJ DQG ILJXUH LW RXW IURP WKHUH.

WH DUULYHG RQ MDUFK 12, 2020. TKLV VHHPHG UHDOO\ VDIH DW WKH WLPH. I ZDVQ¶W FRXQWLQJ RQ:

D JOREDO SDQGHPLF, KLP EHLQJ DQ DFWXDO SV\FKRSDWK, RU KRZ I ZRXOG UHDFW WR WKDW. I ZDV

DEXVHG SUHWW\ VHYHUHO\ DV D \RXQJ FKLOG E\ D VLPLODU W\SH RI SHUVRQ, DQG WKDW YHU\ ILUVW

GD\ LQ PXHUWR RLFR I ZHQW LPPHGLDWHO\ LQWR IUHH]H DQG IDZQ WR WU\ WR SOD\ QLFH DQG QRW

EHFRPH KLV WDUJHW. II \RX GRQ¶W KDYH H[SHULHQFH ZLWK WKLV NLQG RI WKLQJ, I¶P QRW VXUH I FDQ

H[SODLQ P\VHOI, RWKHU WKDQ GLVDVVRFLDWLQJ DQG WU\LQJ WR JHW RQ KLV JRRG QHZV LV WKH ZD\

P\ EUDLQ OHDUQHG WR NHHS PH DOLYH DV D FKLOG.

I¶P FHUWDLQ \RX¶YH VHHQ WKH DQJHU. I FDQ¶W LPDJLQH WKDW SDUW LV QHZ. HH IOHZ LQWR D UDJH

ODWH WKDW QLJKW DERXW KRZ \RX DQG EYDQV KDYH UXLQHG KLV OLIH WHOOLQJ OLHV DERXW KLP, DQG
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KH WROG PH KH ZDV ZULWLQJ D ³ERRN´ WR SURYH LW LQ KRSHV WKDW \RX ZRXOG EH VR KXPLOLDWHG

\RX¶G NLOO \RXUVHOI.

TKH WULS ZDV VWUDQJH DQG SXQFWXDWHG E\ WKH ZRUOG VKXWWLQJ GRZQ. I DVVXPHG WKLV ZRXOG

EH WKH HQG RI LW DOO. WKHQ ZH JHW KRPH WR RXU UHVSHFWLYH DSDUWPHQWV DQG D VXGGHQ

XQHQGLQJ ORFNGRZQ, KH FRQWLQXHV WR FDOO PH WR FU\ DQG ZKLQH DQG UDQW DQG ZH GHFLGH KH

VKRXOG GULYH GRZQ WR SLC VR ZH FDQ EXEEOH WRJHWKHU.

WH OLYHG WRJHWKHU IRU 8 KRUULILF ZHHNV. EYHU\ QLJKW ZKHQ KH JRW WLUHG KH ZRXOG WXUQ LQWR

D ZKROH RWKHU SHUVRQ DQG I¶G KDYH WR OLH WKHUH OLVWHQLQJ IRU KRXUV DQG KRXUV ZKLOH KH

VKRXWHG DERXW KRZ PXFK \RX DQG EYDQV GHVHUYHG WR GLH DQG KRZ KH ZRXOG ZDQW WR

FDUU\ WKDW RXW. SRPHWLPHV WKH SHRSOH ZKR QHHGHG WR GLH ZHUH WKH SHRSOH ZKR PXVW KDYH

WROG OLHV DERXW KLP ODVW WLPH KH QRWLFHG WKDW SHRSOH GRQ¶W OLNH KLP, LQ DC. SRPHWLPHV LW

ZDV KLV PRWKHU. OQFH LW ZDV D ZKROH UDQGRP WRXUQDPHQW RI SFUDEEOHUV KH ZDQWHG WR

VKRRW GRZQ, EHFDXVH WKH\ GLGQ¶W VWRS \RX IURP O\LQJ DERXW KLP RU H[FOXGLQJ KLP. AW RQH

SRLQW, HYHU\ VLQJOH SHUVRQ ZKR YRWHG IRU TUXPS GHVHUYHG GHDWK. HH ZDV QHYHU LQ FRQWURO

RI KLPVHOI GXULQJ DQ\ RI WKLV, DQG ZRXOG HYHQ \HOO WKLV ZD\ DW KLPVHOI LQ WKH VKRZHU.  IW¶V

LQFUHGLEO\ GHOXVLRQDO, DQG WKHUH¶V QR DUJXLQJ ZLWK DQ\ RI LW, EXW I NHSW KRSLQJ I FRXOG

PDNH KLP VHH ZKHUH WKH JDSV ZHUH LQ KLV ORJLF.

I KDYH OLVWHQHG WR DW OHDVW D KXQGUHG KRXUV RI LQVDQH PXUGHU IDQWDVLHV, DQG I DP QRW

RND\.

IQ WKH YHU\ ODVW DUJXPHQW, KH ZDV LQVLVWLQJ ZLWK DEVROXWH FHUWDLQW\ WKDW KLV PRUDO

MXGJPHQW LV LQIDOOLEOH, ZKLFK VHDOV KLV SODFH DV WKH VFDULHVW SHUVRQ I¶YH HYHU PHW. HH DOVR

GHFODUHV DW WKH HQG RI WKLV WKDW KH¶V QRW LQ ORYH ZLWK PH.
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TKLV VHHPHG OLNH I FRXOG MXVW JR, KH FRXOG DVVXPH I ZDV KHDUWEURNHQ, DQG KH ZRXOG MXVW

JUDGXDOO\ IRUJHW I H[LVW. I¶P SUHWW\ VXUH KH¶V JRLQJ WR NLOO VRPHRQH VRPHGD\, DQG DOO I

FRXOG GR ZDV PDNH VXUH LW ZDVQ¶W PH. I ZDV VWLOO ORRNLQJ DW WKH ZKROH WKLQJ DV D VWRU\

DERXW WKLV EDG JX\, DDYH, DQG KLV YLFWLP, JHQQLIHU. LLNH I ZDV D E\VWDQGHU WKDW, DW EHVW,

KDG MXVW ZLWQHVVHG VRPHWKLQJ KRUULEOH, RU DW ZRUVW, ZDV UHVSRQVLEOH IRU QRW VWRSSLQJ

KLP.

IW¶V EHHQ 2 \HDUV RI PH WHOOLQJ KLP WR OHDYH PH DORQH, DQG WKDW I GR QRW ZDQW WR EH IULHQGV

ZLWK KLP. HH WULHV DJDLQ HYHU\ FRXSOH PRQWKV.

IQ NHZ OUOHDQV, I ZDV SUHWW\ DQ[LRXV, SDUWLFXODUO\ EHFDXVH RQO\ WZR SFUDEEOHUV

XQGHUVWRRG DQ\ RI WKLV: CRQUDG ZRXOGQ¶W EH RQ VLWH, DQG JHVVH DD\ KDG WR FDQFHO ODVW

PLQXWH. OQ WKH ILUVW GD\, I VWDUWHG WR UHOD[ ZKHQ I UHDOL]HG KH ZDVQ¶W DFNQRZOHGJLQJ P\

H[LVWHQFH DW DOO. I ZDV FRPLQJ EDFN LQWR WKH KRWHO DIWHU OXQFK DQG KHOG WKH GRRU RSHQ IRU

VRPHRQH FRPLQJ XS WKH VWDLUV EHKLQG PH. DDYH VD\V ³OK! I GLGQ¶W UHFRJQL]H \RX ZLWK

WKDW KDLU.´

AIWHU WKDW KH KRYHUHG ZKHUHYHU I ZDV WDONLQJ WR IULHQGV, OLNH ZH ZHUH IULHQGV DQG KH ZDV

ZDLWLQJ IRU PH. OQ SXQGD\, I ILQLVKHG D JDPH WRR IDVW DQG KHDGHG RXW WR WKH KDOOZD\ WR

ZDWFK WKH TZLWFK VWUHDP. HH IROORZHG PH RXW, PDGH D OLWWOH VPDOO WDON, DQG WKHQ

ODXQFKHG LQWR D UDQW, DFFXVLQJ PH RI DOO NLQGV RI WKLQJV, VKDNLQJ ZLWK UDJH EXW NHHSLQJ

KLV YROXPH ORZ.

I DP QRZ UHVSRQVLEOH IRU WKH ZD\ SHRSOH WUHDW KLP, IRU SOD\LQJ CRCR WRXUQDPHQWV, IRU

VSUHDGLQJ WKH OLHV WKDW WKLV RWKHU JLUO DIWHU/GXULQJ PH WKDW KH ZDV VWDONLQJ ZDV

VXSSRVHGO\ VSUHDGLQJ [DV DOZD\V, QR FOXHV DUH SURYLGHG IRU ZKDW WKH OLHV FRXOG SRVVLEO\
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EH], IRU WXUQLQJ CRQUDG DJDLQVW KLP ZKHQ WKH\ ZHUH JUHDW IULHQGV DIWHU KH SRVWHG KLV

EORJ DERXW \RX, IRU WRRJOHV DOORZLQJ CRCR FOXE WR H[LVW DQG WR SUHYHQW KLP IRU SOD\LQJ.

I WROG KLP WKDW I WKLQN KH¶V DQ DFWXDO SV\FKRSDWK, WKDW I¶P WHUULILHG RI KLP, WKDW I RZH

KLP DEVROXWHO\ QRWKLQJ, DQG I DVN KLP DJDLQ WR OHDYH PH DORQH.

AW WKLV SRLQW, KH UHOD[HG, VDW EDFN, DQG VDLG ³SR \RX NQRZ. I IHHO PRUH EHWUD\HG E\ \RX

WKDQ E\ DQ\WKLQJ JHQQLIHU DQG EYDQV GLG.´ WKLFK LV WKH PRVW WHUULI\LQJ WKLQJ KH FRXOG

SRVVLEO\ VD\ WR PH. TKLV LV WKH WKUHDW. AQG I NQRZ LW GRHVQ¶W VRXQG OLNH D WKUHDW RXW RI

FRQWH[W. AQG VR GRHV KH. HH ORRNV HFVWDWLF RQ WKH TZLWFK YRG, UHWXUQLQJ WR WKH JDPHV. I

UHDOL]HG WKDW I¶YH EHHQ DIUDLG IRU P\ OLIH IRU 2 \HDUV, DQG KDYH EHHQ GLVVRFLDWLQJ.

AV I WROG \RX, I DP VHHLQJ D WUDXPD FRXQVHORU. I DP VWLOO ILOOHG ZLWK JXLOW DQG VKDPH: WKDW

I VKRXOGQ¶W KDYH EHHQ VWXSLG HQRXJK WR JR RXW ZLWK KLP LQ WKH ILUVW SODFH, WKDW I VKRXOG

KDYH EHHQ DEOH WR WDON KLP RXW RI SXEOLVKLQJ KLV EORJ, WKDW I VKRXOG KDYH EHHQ DEOH WR WDON

VRPH VHQVH LQWR KLP, WKDW I VKRXOG KDYH EHHQ DEOH WR ILJXUH RXW KRZ WR JHW RXW RI WKDW

IDVWHU.

I WDONHG WR CpVDU DERXW WKLV DIWHU I JRW KRPH, VR KH FRXOG XQGHUVWDQG ZK\ I ZDV WDNLQJ D

EUHDN IURP WRRJOHV DQG GLGQ¶W IHHO VDIH WKHUH EHFDXVH RI WKHLU IULHQGVKLS, WR WU\ WR JLYH

KLP D FKDQFH WR EH D IULHQG WR PH. SRPHKRZ WZR ZHHNV ODWHU, CpVDU WULHG WR DGG KLP DV D

YROXQWHHU WR DOO RI RXU DLVFRUG FKDQQHOV DQG VXFK. CRQUDG JRW H[WUHPHO\ SLVVHG, DQG

CpVDU EDFNHG RII, FODLPLQJ KH KDGQ¶W XQGHUVWRRG PH, EXW LW LVQ¶W UHDOO\ UHVROYHG \HW, LQ

P\ PLQG. I GRQ¶W WKLQN WUXVWLQJ JHVVH WR NHHS PDNLQJ CpVDU GR WKH ULJKW WKLQJ LV TXLWH

JRRG HQRXJK VDIHW\-ZLVH, DQG I VWLOO GRQ¶W WKLQN CpVDU VHHV P\ SRLQW RI YLHZ DW DOO.
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WRRJOHV LV H[WUHPHO\ LPSRUWDQW WR PH, DQG I QHHG WKHP DOO WR XQGHUVWDQG I DEVROXWHO\

FDQQRW KDYH ANY LQWHUDFWLRQ ZLWK KLP, VR I QHHG WR WHOO WKHP DOO WKLV ZKROH VWRU\, EXW I

NQHZ I QHHGHG \RX WR EH LQIRUPHG RI HYHU\WKLQJ ILUVW. I ZLOO ZDON DZD\ LI WKH\ GRQ¶W

XQGHUVWDQG, ZKDW I¶YH EXLOW DQG GRQH FDQQRW EH XQGRQH.

I QRZ EHOLHYH WKDW, OLNH ZKHQ I ZDV D OLWWOH JLUO, I¶P RQO\ VDIH ZKHQ I VWRS NHHSLQJ WKH EDG

JX\¶V VHFUHWV. I EHOLHYH SHRSOH OLNH WKLV JHW DZD\ ZLWK WRUPHQWLQJ RWKHUV EHFDXVH WKH\

NQRZ WKH\ EHOLHYH WKH\ FDQ IUDPH HYHU\WKLQJ WR PDNH WKH YLFWLPV ORRN K\VWHULFDO, DQG

WKH\ GR D SUHWW\ JRRG MRE RI FRQYLQFLQJ WKH YLFWLPV RI WKDW. I¶P UHPDUNDEO\ RND\ ZLWK

ORRNLQJ FUD]\. I¶P QRW RND\ ZLWK EHLQJ DIUDLG IRUHYHU.

I DP VR VRUU\ IRU DQ\ SDLQ WKLV LV FDXVLQJ \RX,

LROD
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InWUodXcWion
The VWoU\ WhaW ZaV laid oXW in Whe incidenW UeSoUW VXbmiWWed againVW me in ASUil 2022 iV
comSleWel\ falVe. I Zill demonVWUaWe noW onl\ WhaW WheUe iV no meUiW Wo Whe accXVaWionV bXW alVo
WhaW all WhUee of EYanV, JennifeU, and Lola knoZingl\ and inWenWionall\ VXbmiWWed falVe
infoUmaWion1 ZiWh Whe e[SUeVV SXUSoVe of defaming m\ chaUacWeU, dUXmming XS aV mXch haWUed
in Whe ScUabble commXniW\ foU me aV SoVVible, and SeUmanenWl\ banning me fUom Whe game.

The VSaUk WhaW igniWed WhiV coXUVe of acWion ZaV Lola¶V SeUceSWion of oXU inWeUacWionV aW Whe
JanXaU\ 2022 WoXUnamenW in NeZ OUleanV. HeU deVcUiSWion of ZhaW haSSened aW WhaW WoXUnamenW
iV oXW of line ZiWh UealiW\ and inclXdeV claimV WhaW I Vaid WhingV WhaW ZeUe Whe e[acW oSSoViWe of
ZhaW I Vaid. FXUWheUmoUe, Vhe inclXded in heU VWaWemenW a comSleWel\ falVe hiVWoU\ of oXU
UelaWionVhiS, Zhich I haYe WhoUoXgh maWeUial eYidence Wo SUoYe.

Lola alVo gaYe a falVe VWoU\ of oXU SUiYaWe conYeUVaWionV Zhile Ze liYed WogeWheU in SSUing 2020
Wo EYanV and JennifeU in oUdeU Wo fXUWheU WheiU agenda of bXilding a falVe caVe WhaW I haYe been
haUaVVing Whem, Zhen Whe WUXe VWoU\ iV WhaW Whe\ haYe been haUaVVing me foU Whe laVW Vi[ \eaUV.
EYanV and JennifeU When Siled on WheiU oZn XnWUXWhV in WheiU VWaWemenWV Wo echo ZhaW Lola ZUoWe
and make an eYen biggeU chaUacWeU aVVaVVinaWion.

EYanV and JennifeU ZeUe alUead\ haUaVVing and bXll\ing me and doing man\ XneWhical WhingV in
Whe ScUabble ZoUld foU WhUee and a half \eaUV, fUom 2017 Wo JXl\ 2020, Zhen I SXbliVhed Whe blog
aW VSleneWic.neW UeYealing WheiU ZUongdoing. AfWeU I SXbliVhed Whe blog I ZaV done ZiWh Whe VWoU\. I
did noW Whink aboXW oU inWeUacW ZiWh EYanV oU JennifeU aW all foU Whe ne[W WZo \eaUV, XnWil Whe\ again
eVcalaWed againVW me b\ VXbmiWWing WhiV chaUacWeU aVVaVVinaWion in ASUil 2022.

Lola and I had alVo VWoSSed daWing b\ mid-2020, and Ze had a minimal amoXnW of inWeUacWion
oYeU Whe ne[W coXSle \eaUV, inclXding no conWacW ZhaWVoeYeU beWZeen AXgXVW 2021 and Whe
JanXaU\ 2022 NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW. OXU inWeUacWion aW Whe NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW ZaV
alWogeWheU no moUe Whan 15 minXWeV oYeU Whe coXUVe of Whe WhUee da\ WoXUnamenW.

BeWZeen JXl\ 2020 and ASUil 2022 Whe onl\ SeoSle in WhiV VWoU\ Zho ZeUe Zeighing on m\ mind
in an\ Za\ ZeUe ChUiV LiSe, Geoff TheYenoW, PeWeU AUmVWUong, Beck\ D\eU, DaYe Wiegand,
ConUad BaVVeWW-BoXchaUd, and JeVVe Da\.

BecaXVe of WheiU oZn naUciVViVm and/oU inWenWional deceSWion, EYanV, JennifeU, and Lola haYe
Uead ZhaW liWWle Whe\ knoZ aboXW m\ acWionV aV being aboXW Whem, Zhen Whe\ ZeUe noW aW all.

1 SSecificall\, JennifeU lied aboXW daWeV in UegaUdV Wo m\ UelaWionVhiSV ZiWh boWh heU and Lola, Wo make iW Veem like
JennifeU had loVW inWeUeVW in me VooneU Whan Vhe had, and Wo SainW a falVe SicWXUe WhaW I had folloZed Lola Wo PoUWland,
OUegon, Zhen I Ueall\ moYed WheUe a \eaU eaUlieU Whan Lola. EYanV lied aboXW diVSaUaging me and aboXW Zho diUecWed
WheiU online ScUabble clXb on WoogleV Wo SainW a falVe SicWXUe WhaW I had YiolaWed WheiU aUbiWUaU\ and YindicWiYe UXleV.
Lola lied aboXW almoVW eYeU\Whing in heU VWaWemenW. HeUe I am onl\ UefeUUing Wo WhingV Whe\ Vaid oU inVinXaWed WhaW aUe
SUoYabl\ falVe, and noW Wo oWheU falVe WhingV Whe\ VWaWed ZiWh ]eUo VXSSoUWing eYidence, VXch aV JennifeU¶V coeUcion
claim.
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I Zill noW VimSl\ go on Whe defenViYe, UebXWWing WheiU falVe VWoU\ bXW alloZing iW Wo Uemain Whe
SUimaU\ naUUaWiYe. The ScUabble ZoUld needV Wo knoZ Whe Ueal VWoU\ of ZhaW haV haSSened fUom
2017 Wo 2022, Whe VWoU\ WhaW Whe\ aUe doing eYeU\Whing SoVVible Wo diVWUacW \oX fUom and geW \oX
Wo diVbelieYe b\ VaboWaging m\ chaUacWeU.

The UeVW of WhiV docXmenW iV VWUXcWXUed aV (A) an oYeUYieZ, (B) a VWaWemenW aboXW Zho I Ueall\
am, (C) Whe fXll VWoU\ of m\ inWeUacWionV ZiWh EYanV¶V, JennifeU¶V, and Lola¶V ciUcleV fUom 2017 Wo
2022, (D) a coUUoboUaWed VXmmaU\ of ZhaW Ueall\ haSSened in m\ UelaWionVhiS ZiWh Lola, (E) a
SoinW-b\-SoinW UebXWWal of EYanV¶V VWaWemenW, and (F) a SoinW-b\-SoinW UebXWWal of JennifeU¶V
VWaWemenW.

FoU claUiW\, I defeUUed diVcXVVion of m\ 2020 UelaWionVhiS ZiWh Lola and oXU inWeUacWionV aW Whe
2022 NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW XnWil Whe end of SaUW (C). I WUied Wo giYe jXVW enoXgh conWe[W aboXW
Whe UelaWionVhiS foU Whe UeadeU Wo XndeUVWand ZhaW haSSened aW Whe WoXUnamenW. The moUe
comSleWe Welling and coUUoboUaWion of Whe UelaWionVhiS ZiWh Lola, Zhich WhoUoXghl\ UefXWeV heU
VWaWemenW, comeV in SaUW (D).

All coUUoboUaWing VcUeenVhoWV aUe in a VeSaUaWe docXmenW.

(A) OYeUYieZ
EYanV Clinch\, Zho ZaV alUead\ SUediVSoVed noW Wo like me foU \eaUV SUeYioXVl\, haV haWed me
eYeU Vince eaUl\ 2017, SUeciSiWaWed b\ commXnicaWionV WhaW I VenW Wo JennifeU Lee (noZ JennifeU
Clinch\) in Whe monWh befoUe Whe 2017 NeZ OUleanV ScUabble WoXUnamenW. I haYe fXll\ admiWWed
Wo WhoVe commXnicaWionV and made Whem SXblic Wo Whe ZoUld, and I acceSW fXll accoXnWabiliW\ foU
Whem. If he chooVeV Wo haWe me foU Whe UeVW of hiV life, I haYe eaUned WhaW, and I haYe no SUoblem
ZiWh iW.

HoZeYeU, he and JennifeU haYe WXUned a SeUVonal gUXdge inWo a ScUabble SoliWical maWWeU oYeU
Whe laVW Vi[ \eaUV, XVing WheiU gUXdge aV a jXVWificaWion foU UeSeaWedl\ bUeaking Whe UXleV of
NASPA foU liWeUall\ eYeU\ WoXUnamenW Whe\ diUecWed XndeU iWV banneU fUom 2017 Wo 2019 in Za\V
WhaW XnleYeled Whe Sla\ing field, noW onl\ b\ e[clXding me and oWheU Sla\eUV Whe\ did noW like, bXW
alVo b\ aUbiWUaUil\ faYoUing WheiU fUiendV in WheiU UegiVWUaWion SUoceVVeV. LiWeUall\ eYeU\one Zho
Vigned XS foU WheiU WoXUnamenWV XVing WheiU VecUeW SUe-UegiVWUaWion SUoceVV ZaV comSliciW in
bUeaking Whe UXleV, inclXding WESPA PUeVidenW ChUiV LiSe.

TheUe aUe a Vmall nXmbeU of CSW ScUabble Sla\eUV in NoUWh AmeUica, alWhoXgh among Whem aUe
man\ of Whe conWinenW¶V beVW Sla\eUV. FXUWheUmoUe, WheUe aUe feZ WoXUnamenWV Zhich inclXde
man\ of WhoVe WoS Sla\eUV, and Vince 2017 Whe eYenWV UXn b\ EYanV and JennifeU haYe been a
VXbVWanWial SeUcenWage of WhoVe WoXUnamenWV. BecaXVe of hoZ oXU ScUabble UaWing V\VWemV
ZoUk, Sla\eUV Zho haYe moUe oSSoUWXniWieV Wo Sla\ in eYenWV like WheVe haYe a VignificanW
adYanWage Zhen iW comeV Wo geWWing inWo Whe WoS WieUV of Whe UaWing V\VWem oU mainWaining VXch
SoViWionV, Zhich helSV ZiWh TXalif\ing foU majoU inWeUnaWional eYenWV VXch aV Whe AlchemiVW CXS.
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EYanV and JennifeU bUoke Whe UXleV ZiWh Whe VSecific inWenWion of keeSing me oXW of WoXUnamenWV,
and I am noW Whe onl\ one Zho ZaV diVadYanWaged b\ WheiU WacWicV. OWheU WoS CSW Sla\eUV Zho
ZeUe noW SaUW of WheiU ³in gUoXS,´ VXch aV JaVon KelleU, alVo had feZeU oSSoUWXniWieV Wo eaUn
VXfficienW TXalif\ing UaWingV foU eYenWV VXch aV Whe AlchemiVW CXS. In VhoUW, EYanV and
JennifeU²and all of WheiU fUiendV Zho XVed WheiU VecUeW SUe-UegiVWUaWionV²cheaWed.

Then EYanV and JennifeU cUeaWed a Uenegade aVVociaWion, Soaching Sla\eUV, diUecWoUV, and
eYenWV fUom NASPA¶V Vmall CSW Vcene. The\ haYe conWinXed XnSUofeVVional, XneWhical, and
bXll\ing WacWicV, and b\ making WhemVelYeV leadeUV of WhiV oUgani]aWion Whe\ aUe aYoiding
accoXnWabiliW\ Wo an\one.

Since eaUl\ 2017, EYanV haV UeSeaWedl\ diVSaUaged me Wo man\ membeUV of Whe ScUabble
commXniW\, Zhile Whe\ alVo haYe done man\ XndeUhanded WhingV in a SUeemSWiYe aWWemSW Wo
keeS me oXW of WheiU WoXUnamenWV and Wo fUame me foU haUaVVmenW. The iUon\ of WhiV iV WhaW I
haYe had no deViUe Wo Sla\ in WheiU WoXUnamenWV and ZaV making no aWWemSW Wo do Vo. The\ aUe
liYing XndeU a SaUanoid and naUciVViVWic delXVion WhaW I am SUeVenWing an\ VoUW of SUoblem foU
Whem and WhaW I ZanW Wo be in WheiU liYeV in an\ Za\, Zhile I am doing m\ beVW Wo ignoUe Whem,
ZoUk aUoXnd Whem, and geW ZhaW CSW ScUabble gameV I can againVW Whe UeVW of Whe beVW
Sla\eUV, boWh in NoUWh AmeUica and aUoXnd Whe ZoUld.

I aSSUoached Whe ViWXaWion aV an inYeVWigaWiYe UeSoUWeU. I dealW ZiWh Whem Wo Whe baUe minimXm
neceVVaU\ in Whe handfXl of WimeV Ze Sla\ed aW WoXUnamenWV in 2017 and 2018. I XVed m\
connecWionV and UelaWionVhiSV ZiWh Whe UeVW of Whe ScUabble commXniW\ Wo collecW eYidence of
ZhaW ZaV haSSening. I bleZ Whe ZhiVWle on Whem b\ SXbliVhing Whe VSleneWic.neW blog in JXl\
2020, and I haYe UeceiYed a gUeaW deal of bloZback fUom Whem and WheiU fUiendV in Whe WZo \eaUV
Vince WhaW Wime, bloZback Zhich inclXded doXbling doZn on bXilding an enWiUel\ falVe caVe WhaW I
haYe haUaVVed Whem.

YoX can UighWl\ cUiWici]e Whe ZoUding of m\ commXnicaWionV Wo JennifeU in DecembeU 2016 Wo
JanXaU\ 2017. I VWill belieYe WhaW Whe\ ZeUe Zell-inWenWioned aWWemSWV Wo cUeaWe a diVVolXWion of
WenVion befoUe Ze meW aW Whe NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW Uoom, a diVVolXWion WhaW ZoXld haYe
aYoided Whe laVW Vi[ and a half \eaUV of agon\ foU all of XV, and I alVo acceSW WhaW Whe\ ZeUe
ineffecWiYe and had WeUUibl\ XnfoUWXnaWe XninWended conVeTXenceV of SXVhing EYanV oYeU Whe
edge and conWUibXWing Wo bad behaYioU b\ him and JennifeU eYeU Vince When. The\ aUe alVo Whe
onl\ Whing I haYe done ZUong in WhiV enWiUe VWoU\.

EYanV and JennifeU haYe alVo dUagged m\ ASUil 2020 Facebook inWeUacWion ZiWh DaUUell Da\ inWo
WhiV caVe aV an aWWemSW Wo dUiYe XS haWUed WoZaUd me and geW \oX Wo belieYe Whe oXWlandiVh VWoU\
Whe\ WU\ Wo ZeaYe aboXW me. The ViWXaWion ZiWh DaUUell Da\ iV iUUeleYanW Wo WhiV VWoU\,2 and
fXUWheUmoUe iW iV one Zhich NASPA haV alUead\ had a heaUing aboXW. I haYe acceSWed NASPA¶V
UXling ZiWh no comSlainWV, and I leaUned m\ leVVon fUom Whe eYenW. IW iV Whe onl\ Wime in m\ life
WhaW I haYe e[SUeVVed YiolenW WhoXghWV aboXW a SeUVon WoZaUd WhaW SeUVon, and iW iV VomeWhing
WhaW I Zill noW do again.

2 e[ceSW foU Whe Za\V in Zhich iW inflXenced Lola¶V change in aWWiWXde WoZaUd me, Zhich I Zill e[Slain laWeU
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I haYe had eVVenWiall\ no SeUVonal inWeUacWion ZiWh EYanV and JennifeU Vince Whe end of 2016.
The YeU\ limiWed nXmbeU of WimeV WhaW Ze ZeUe in Whe Vame Slace and VSoke aW all haYe been
fXll\ docXmenWed aW VSleneWic.neW. AlVo docXmenWed WheUe ZeUe all ZUiWWen commXnicaWionV Ze
haYe had in Whe Wime SeUiod, ZiWh Whe onl\ e[ceSWion being a feZ oUgani]aWional emailV foU
SeaWWle aUea CSW ScUabble geW-WogeWheUV WhaW Whe WZo of Whem ZeUe VimSl\ cc¶ed on.3 NoW onl\
WhaW, bXW I haYe had ]eUo inWeUacWion oU commXnicaWion ZiWh EYanV oU JennifeU Vince Whe
SXblicaWion of Whe VSleneWic.neW blog in JXl\ 2020. In facW, Whe ceaVing of commXnicaWion ZiWh
Whem goeV back VignificanWl\ eaUlieU Whan WhaW. The laVW Wime I eYeU emailed Whem SeUVonall\ ZaV
SeSWembeU 17, 2018, in UeVSonVe Wo JennifeU¶V email banning me fUom Whe Hood RiYeU
WoXUnamenW. The laVW Wime I eYeU coSied Whem on an email ZaV MaUch 26, 2019, and Whe laVW Wime
Ze eYeU ZeUe in Whe Vame Slace ZaV JXl\ 17, 2018, aW Whe Zedding of ChUiV LiSe and Randi
GoldbeUg in AUXba.

Since Whe SXblicaWion of Whe blog, Whe onl\ Za\ WhaW m\ life haV eYen WangenWiall\ inWeUVecWed
WheiUV ZaV Zhen I Sla\ed in a handfXl of online ScUabble clXb VeVVionV on Whe WoogleV SlaWfoUm
aW Whe clXb ZiWh WheiU oUgani]aWion¶V name in JanXaU\ and FebUXaU\ 2021. I neYeU Sla\ed ZiWh oU
inWeUacWed ZiWh EYanV oU JennifeU aW WhoVe VeVVionV; Whe WZo of Whem ZeUe noW eYen SUeVenW aW
moVW of Whe VeVVionV I ZaV aW. I ZaV WalkaWiYe in Whe clXb chaWUoom aW Vome of WhoVe VeVVionV,
and m\ chaWV ZeUe enWiUel\ aboXW Whe jo\ of ZoUdV. I onl\ menWioned EYanV once, in UeVSonVe Wo
a TXeVWion fUom diUecWoU Beck\ D\eU. ThaW ZaV enoXgh foU Whem Wo decide Wo ban me fUom WheiU
online clXb inWo SeUSeWXiW\. I neYeU UeVSonded Wo WheiU commXnicaWion aboXW Whe banning and
neYeU ZenW back Wo Whe online clXb.

Since Whe ban fUom WheiU online clXb on FebUXaU\ 26, 2021, WheUe iV liWeUall\ no VWoU\ of an\Whing
beWZeen XV. EYeU\Whing WhaW Whe\ haYe done Vince When, and WhaW Whe\ claim haV haSSened Vince
When, iV VimSl\ a SUodXcW of WheiU goVViSSing aboXW and badmoXWhing me WogeWheU ZiWh WheiU
fUiendV and bXilding a VWoU\ in WheiU oZn headV.

I am faU moUe V\mSaWheWic Wo Lola, and iW iV e[WUemel\ Vad WhaW Vhe haV goWWen caXghW XS in WhiV
meVV. I haYe done abVolXWel\ noWhing ZUong WoZaUd Lola, and I haYe neYeU had an\ ill Zill oU
angeU WoZaUd heU foU a momenW of m\ life. HoZeYeU, Vhe haV badl\ miVXndeUVWood Whe ViWXaWion
beWZeen heU and me and haV decided comSleWel\ XnneceVVaUil\ Wo VXbmiW an eaVil\ diVSUoYable
aVVaVVinaWion of m\ chaUacWeU aV SaUW of WhiV UeSoUW. I am chaUiWabl\ inWeUSUeWing WhaW heU SoinW of
YieZ ZaV WhaW iW ZaV neceVVaU\ Wo lie aboXW me becaXVe Vhe Ueall\ felW in dangeU, UaWheU Whan
inWeUSUeWing heU acWionV aV a malicioXV aWWemSW Wo deVWUo\ m\ life. HoZeYeU, iW doeV noW change
Whe facW WhaW heU WeVWimon\ iV enWiUel\ falVe, Zhich I Zill VhoZ ZiWh no haUd feelingV Wo heU. IW iV m\
VinceUe hoSe WhaW Vhe Zill Uecogni]e Whe WUXWh of m\ UecoXnWing of oXU hiVWoU\ and UecanW heU
VWaWemenW, aV I haYe a maVViYe amoXnW of maWeUial eYidence Wo SUoYe ZhaW I Va\. I haYe Vome
oSWimiVm WhaW Xnlike EYanV and JennifeU Vhe haV enoXgh maWXUiW\ Wo admiW WhaW Vhe ZaV ZUong
and Wo do Whe UighW Whing.

3 WalkeU Willingham VenW moVW of WheVe emailV, bXW I occaVionall\ filled in foU him.
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I ZoXld like Wo Wake a liWWle Wime Wo Walk aboXW Zho I Ueall\ am, and ZhaW I haYe Ueall\ been doing
in Whe ScUabble ZoUld foU Whe laVW Vi[ \eaUV.

(B) Who I Am
I haYe been Sla\ing in ScUabble WoXUnamenWV foU WZo decadeV afWeU WhiUWeen \eaUV of comSeWiWiYe
cheVV. ComSeWiWiYe boaUd gameV haYe been a laUge SaUW of m\ life foU WhUee TXaUWeUV of iW.

I haYe e[celled noW onl\ in cheVV and ScUabble bXW alVo in maWhemaWicV and comSXWeU
SUogUamming, all fieldV Zhich UeTXiUe a laUge amoXnW of objecWiYiW\ and XnbiaVed Whinking. I ZaV
alVo a maWh WeacheU foU man\ \eaUV, and one of m\ SaVVionV ZaV Weaching m\ VWXdenWV hoZ Wo
XVe VWaWiVWicV and daWa anal\ViV Wo oYeUcome WheiU biaVeV and Vee Whe ZoUld moUe objecWiYel\.
One of m\ biggeVW SoliWical conceUnV iV Whe fighW foU fUee and faiU elecWionV, defeaWing
geUU\mandeUing and oWheU foUmV of elecWoUal coUUXSWion and malfeaVance WhaW XndeUmine oXU
abiliW\ Wo chooVe oXU leadeUV faiUl\.

I haYe ]eUo hiVWoU\ of YiolenW behaYioU in m\ life. I haYe neYeU been in a fighW ZiWh anoWheU hXman
being. I haYe neYeU SXnched oU kicked oU oWheUZiVe hiW Vomeone, ZiWh Whe e[ceSWion of VSaUUing
VeVVionV in Tae KZon Do claVVeV WhaW I Wook Zhen I ZaV XndeU Wen \eaUV old. I haYe neYeU eYen
held a gXn, leW alone fiUed oU oZned one, and I do noW eYeU Slan Wo.

The onl\ ZeaSonV WhaW I ZoXld XVe on WhiV commXniW\ oU an\ oWheU aUe WUXWh-bombV. I belieYe in
holding oXU SoliWical leadeUV accoXnWable foU WheiU behaYioU and VSeaking Whe XncomfoUWable
WUXWhV.

I haYe neYeU been an\Whing bXW a SoViWiYe Vocial foUce in SeUVon aW an\ ScUabble WoXUnamenW I
haYe eYeU aWWended, and I haYe alZa\V been Zell-behaYed in eYeU\ WoXUnamenW Uoom.
FXUWheUmoUe, Vince I Sla\ed aW Whe 2011 WoUld ChamSionVhiSV, I haYe been an adYocaWe of
Xnif\ing oXU WoXUnamenW Sla\ in NoUWh AmeUica ZiWh Whe UeVW of Whe ZoUld b\ geWWing oXU conWinenW
Wo Sla\ ZiWh Whe CSW le[icon aV Whe UeVW of Whe ZoUld doeV. I ZoUked behind Whe VceneV ZiWh
John CheZ in adYance of Whe 2012 US NaWional ChamSionVhiS Wo enVXUe a good and faiU
UegiVWUaWion V\VWem foU oXU fiUVW CSW eYenW aW NaWionalV and Wo incUeaVe Whe likelihood of Whe
eYenW haSSening, Zhich iW did. AW Whe WoXUnamenW, I Wook ShoWoV of eYeU\ one of m\ oSSonenWV
and VhaUed VWoUieV aboXW all of Whem on Vocial media in celebUaWion of Whe moVW inWeUnaWional
eYenW WhaW had eYeU haSSened aW US NaWionalV.

When leading SingaSoUean Sla\eU Weibin Toh moYed Wo WaVhingWon DC, I Sicked him XS aW Whe
aiUSoUW and bUoXghW him Wo hiV domicile eYen WhoXgh Ze had neYeU meW in SeUVon befoUe. We
became faVW fUiendV and I inWUodXced him inWo oXU Vmall DC CSW commXniW\.

I haYe Sla\ed ScUabble on foXU conWinenWV, inclXding UeSUeVenWing Whe USA aW mXlWiSle WoUld
ChamSionVhiSV, aW Whe Can-Am ChamSionVhiS, and aW Whe King¶V CXS in Bangkok, and WhUoXgh
Whe game I haYe befUiended SeoSle all oYeU Whe ZoUld.
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I haYe been immenVel\ VXcceVVfXl in WoXUnamenWV, inclXding ofWen being Uanked in Whe WoS 5 oU
10 Sla\eUV in NoUWh AmeUica and eaUning Whe GUandmaVWeU WiWle fUom Whe AVVociaWion of BUiWiVh
ScUabble Pla\eUV. Since I became a WoS Uanked Sla\eU, Zhen I haYe Sla\ed WoXUnamenW ScUabble
an\ZheUe in Whe ZoUld ZiWh an\ gUoXS oWheU Whan Whe cloVe fUiendV of EYanV and JennifeU, I haYe
been WUeaWed gUacioXVl\ and enWhXViaVWicall\ b\ Whe WoXUnamenW oUgani]eUV and b\ Whe localV aW
Whe eYenW. OUgani]eUV haYe Wold me WhaW m\ name on Whe UegiVWUaWion liVW haV incUeaVed Whe
SUeVWige of WheiU eYenWV and helSed dUaZ in oWheU Sla\eUV. In facW, oUgani]eU Pegg\ Fehil\ Vaid
jXVW WhaW aW m\ moVW UecenW WoXUnamenW, Whe 2022 ConWinenWal ScUabble ChamSionVhiS in BeUlin.

I knoZ m\ ZoUWh, and I onl\ ZanW Wo Sla\ ScUabble noW jXVW ZheUe I am alloZed bXW ZheUe I am
YalXed. I haYe ]eUo inWeUeVW in WU\ing Wo fighW m\ Za\ inWo an\ VXbVeW of Whe commXniW\ WhaW doeV
noW YalXe me. JXVW Whe oSSoViWe, Whe coVW of diVUeVSecW Wo me iV \oX loVing m\ VXSSoUW and
adYocac\ foU \oXU WoXUnamenWV.

In addiWion Wo VXSSoUWing man\ WoXUnamenW diUecWoUV and eYenWV, I haYe been inflXenWial in SXlling
man\ NoUWh AmeUican ScUabble Sla\eUV inWo Whe CSW fold oYeU Whe \eaUV. Among WhoVe haYe
been ScoWW ASSel, GX\ IngUam, BaUU\ KeiWh, JennifeU Clinch\, and Lola McKiVVen.

FoU a feZ \eaUV I Uan an Xnofficial CSW clXb in Whe DC aUea, and I alVo SXlled WogeWheU Whe CSW
Sla\eUV in Whe SeaWWle aUea foU caVXal ScUabble geW-WogeWheUV Zhen I made bXVineVV WUiSV WheUe
beWZeen 2014 and 2017, befoUe I ZaV liYing in Whe aUea. I meW BhaUaWh BalakUiVhnan aW a
WoXUnamenW in Chicagoland in 2017, and Zhen I leaUned he ZaV in SeaWWle, I inWUodXced him Wo
Whe oWheU CSW Sla\eUV WheUe, Zhich led Wo him becoming SaUW of WhaW commXniW\.

Man\ of Whe SeoSle in EYanV¶V and JennifeU¶V ciUcleV oYeU Whe laVW VeYeUal \eaUV aUe SeoSle ZiWh
Zhom I had longWime fUiendVhiSV, SUedaWing EYanV and JennifeU UXnning an\ ScUabble eYenWV,
and JennifeU eYen being in oXU ScUabble Vcene. When EYanV and JennifeU VWaUWed diVSaUaging
me, I WUied Wo giYe WheVe mXWXal fUiendV Whe benefiW of Whe doXbW and conWinXe good UelaWionVhiSV
and ScUabble geW-WogeWheUV ZiWh Whem, WhoXgh iW became moUe aZkZaUd oYeU Whe laVW feZ \eaUV.
One of Whe SUimaU\ UeaVonV I ZUoWe Whe VSleneWic.neW blog ZaV Wo WU\ Wo cleaU m\ name and Whe
aiU ZiWh WheVe SeoSle. I SeUhaSV naiYel\ aVVXmed WhaW Zhen Whe\ VaZ Whe WUXWh of Whe VWoU\, Whe\
ZoXld Uecogni]e WhaW I had done noWhing ZUong and ZoXld ZanW Wo Sla\ ScUabble ZiWh me.

When a nXmbeU of WhoVe SeoSle doXbled doZn b\ cUiWici]ing oU oWheUZiVe diVUeVSecWing me on
accoXnW of an\Whing Wo do ZiWh Whe VWoU\ beWZeen EYanV and JennifeU and me, I VWaUWed inVWiWXWing
a one-VWUike-\oX¶Ue-oXW Solic\. If SeoSle ZeUe going Wo acW aV if I did an\Whing ZUong be\ond WZo
SooUl\ ZoUded We[WV and WZo SooUl\ ZoUded emailV beWZeen DecembeU 2016 and JanXaU\ 2017
oU aV if I ZaV an\Whing oWheU Whan Whe YicWim of bXll\ing Vince WhaW Wime, I ZaVn¶W going Wo ZaVWe
m\ Wime Veeking WheiU aSSUoYal.

I ZoUked aUoXnd WhiV Zhole ViWXaWion aV beVW aV I coXld b\ WUaYeling faU and Zide Wo geW aV man\
CSW ScUabble gameV againVW VWUong Sla\eUV aV I coXld. While I haYe been liYing in Whe Pacific
NoUWhZeVW Vince 2018, WhiV haV inclXded fl\ing Wo WoXUnamenWV in San FUanciVco, CA;
Chicagoland, IL; AXVWin, TX; NeZ OUleanV, LA; Alban\, NY; MonWclaiU, NJ; NiagaUa FallV, ON;
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KingVWon, ON; BoUdeaX[, FUance; BeUlin, GeUman\; EdinbXUgh, ScoWland; MilWon Ke\neV,
England; ToUTXa\, England; WaUUingWon, England; BUiVWol, England; KXala LXmSXU, Mala\Via;
and Bangkok, Thailand. I haYe been e[WUemel\ bleVVed WhaW foU mXch of WhiV Wime I haYe had
lXcUaWiYe and fle[ible enoXgh jobV WhaW haYe affoUded me Whe UeVoXUceV Wo be able Wo do Vo mXch
WUaYel and geW man\ WoXUnamenW gameV aUoXnd Whe ZoUld.

BXW iW haV been e[haXVWing, in WeUmV of eneUg\, Wime, and financeV, WhaW I haYe ofWen had Wo geW
on a Slane foU nine oU moUe hoXUV VimSl\ Wo be able Wo Sla\ Whe game I loYe. IW haV alVo been
Vaddening and fUXVWUaWing WhaW iW haV been Vo difficXlW Wo geW local gameV becaXVe of Whe Za\V
WhaW EYanV and JennifeU haYe SoiVoned Whe Zell, eYen WhoXgh Whe Pacific NoUWhZeVW haV one of
Whe VWUongeVW concenWUaWionV of high Uanked CSW Sla\eUV in NoUWh AmeUica, inclXding DaYe
Wiegand, PeWeU AUmVWUong, ConUad BaVVeWW-BoXchaUd in PoUWland; ChUiV GUXbb in SeaWWle; and
JeVVe MaWWheZV and Dean Saldanha in VancoXYeU.

I haYe neYeU ZanWed Wo Sla\ in a Vingle WoXUnamenW ZiWh diUecWoUV Zho WUeaW me WeUUibl\. All WhaW I
haYe eYeU ZanWed in Whe Pacific NoUWhZeVW ScUabble Vcene iV Wo be able Wo Sla\ caVXal gameV
ZiWh man\ of Whe gUeaW Sla\eUV in Whe aUea, if Whe\ aUe Zilling Wo WUeaW me UeVSecWfXll\ and noW acW
aV if I am a bad SeUVon becaXVe WZo SeoSle in WheiU commXniW\ aUe miVWUeaWing me.

The WUeaWmenW I haYe UeceiYed fUom WhiV commXniW\ (and fUom a feZ SeoSle Zho liYe fXUWheU
aZa\ bXW aUe alVo cloVel\ connecWed ZiWh EYanV and JennifeU) afWeU I SXbliVhed Whe VSleneWic.neW
blog VWandV in VWaUk conWUaVW Wo ZhaW I haYe UeceiYed fUom jXVW aboXW eYeU\ oWheU coUneU of Whe
ScUabble XniYeUVe. The\ haYe made me loVe all deViUe Wo Sla\ ScUabble oU be fUiendV ZiWh an\ of
WheVe SeoSle. The\ haYe been comSliciW in bXll\ing, and noZ I haYe no deViUe oWheU Whan
VhoZing hoZ WeUUibl\ WhiV VXbVeW of Whe ScUabble commXniW\ haV WUeaWed me, in hoSeV of ZaUning
eYeU\one elVe WhaW WheVe bXllieV aUe an abVolXWe SoiVon foU Whe laUgeU ZoUld of comSeWiWiYe
ScUabble.

I belieYe WhaW Whe Za\V I Vhine a lighW on WhiV aUe foU Whe beWWeUmenW of Whe UeVW of Whe ScUabble
ZoUld, UegaUdleVV of ZhaW haSSenV Wo me.

(C) The FXll SWoU\
When I VaZ EYanV and JennifeU Vign XS foU Whe JanXaU\ 2017 NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW, I
VXVSecWed Whe\ ZeUe daWing, and I emailed JennifeU on DecembeU 19, 2016, aVking foU a
diVcXVVion befoUe Whe WoXUnamenW, in an aWWemSW Wo aYoid Whe aZkZaUd ViWXaWion of XV Veeing
each oWheU foU Whe fiUVW Wime in VeYeUal monWhV acUoVV Whe boaUd aW Whe ScUabble WoXUnamenW ZiWh
Whe WenVion of oXU SeUVonal UelaWionVhiSV looming. She ignoUed m\ email, and I became angU\
and Vad. I VenW WZo We[W meVVageV oYeU Whe ne[W Zeek, aVking foU a UeSl\ Wo Whe email, and Vhe
conWinXed noW Wo UeVSond. I VenW one moUe email on JanXaU\ 5Wh, 2017, aVVeUWing WhaW if Vhe did
noW meeW ZiWh me befoUehand, I ZoXld VSeak m\ mind Zhile Ze ZeUe ViWWing acUoVV Whe boaUd.
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ThaW ZaV eighW da\V befoUe Whe WoXUnamenW. I When calmed m\Velf and foXnd Seace and cloVXUe
on m\ oZn. I did noW conWacW heU again SUioU Wo XV ViWWing doZn Wo Sla\ in Whe Vecond UoXnd, and
befoUe Whe game Whe onl\ Whing I Vaid Wo heU ZaV ³LeW¶V Sla\ ScUabble.´

JennifeU ZaV YiVibl\ XSVeW Zhen I Sla\ed heU, and Vo ZaV EYanV Zhen Ze Sla\ed a da\ laWeU.
EYanV UefXVed Wo Vhake m\ hand oU Walk Wo me, and he UXdel\ jXmSed XS and doZn VhoXWing
³YES!´ in Whe middle of Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom afWeU Zinning a challenge.

I Uecogni]e WhaW m\ commXnicaWionV, Zhich ended moUe Whan a Zeek befoUe Whe WoXUnamenW,
conWUibXWed Wo WheiU emoWional UeacWionV in Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom. I acceSW fXll UeVSonVibiliW\ foU
WhaW. I did noW miVbehaYe in an\ Za\ in Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom, and I did noW do an\Whing Wo
e[aceUbaWe Whe ViWXaWion.

FoU Whe ne[W Vi[ \eaUV, I haYe done noWhing XnWoZaUd Wo EYanV and JennifeU. I VaZ Whem onl\
UaUel\ aW ScUabble WoXUnamenWV in 2017 and 2018, and I did noW inWeUacW ZiWh Whem an\ moUe Whan
ZaV neceVVaU\ Wo Sla\ oXU ScUabble gameV. MeanZhile, EYanV fUeTXenWl\ diVSaUaged me Wo
oWheU ScUabble Sla\eUV, Zhich I haYe amSle eYidence Wo VhoZ.4 EYanV and JennifeU alVo VWaUWed
oUgani]ing WoXUnamenWV, fiUVW a one-off in TenneVVee in AXgXVW 2017 and When nXmeUoXV
one-da\V and holida\ Zeekend eYenWV in Whe Pacific NoUWhZeVW beginning in SeSWembeU 2017. I
alUead\ ZUoWe in Whe oYeUYieZ aboXW hoZ Whe\ bUoke NASPA UXleV foU eYeU\ WoXUnamenW Whe\ Uan
Vince AXgXVW 2017, and hoZ iW imSacWed me and oWheU Sla\eUV. I did noW, hoZeYeU, Va\ oU do
an\Whing aboXW WhiV XnWil JXl\ 2020.

I moYed Wo SeaWWle in ASUil 2018, foU a SoViWion aW a comSan\ I had been ZoUking aW Vince 2013. I
had been making bXVineVV WUiSV WheUe Vince 2014 and had alUead\ oUgani]ed ScUabble
geW-WogeWheUV ZiWh WalkeU Willingham, JXd\ Romann, ChUiV GUXbb, BhaUaWh BalakUiVhnan, and
JeVVe MaWWheZV Zhen I had been in Whe aUea. In Whe monWh befoUe I moYed, I leaUned fUom boWh
ChUiV GUXbb and WalkeU Willingham WhaW EYanV had been badmoXWhing me Wo Whe SeaWWle aUea
Sla\eUV and WhaW he and JennifeU had VSecificall\ Wold Whe oWheU Sla\eUV noW Wo inYiWe me Wo caVXal
ScUabble geW-WogeWheUV.5

I e[Slained Whe enWiUe back-VWoU\ Wo WalkeU, Zho had been Vending oXW emailV Wo oUgani]e
eYenWV. I eYen VhoZed him Whe emailV Zhich had XSVeW JennifeU a \eaU and a half eaUlieU. He
agUeed ZiWh me WhaW WhiV ZaV noW a UeaVonable gUoXndV Wo e[clXde an\one. WalkeU decided Wo
inYiWe eYeU\one Yia email Wo Whe ne[W SeaWWle ScUabble geW-WogeWheU, and EYanV immediaWel\
UeVSonded Wo him, ³WaV WhiV a VliS XS?´, bUoZbeaWing him foU coS\ing me on Whe email. WalkeU
aWWemSWed Wo make Seace and VWand XS foU inclXViYiW\ in oXU Vmall SeaWWle aUea CSW ScUabble
commXniW\, and EYanV and JennifeU choVe Wo VWoS UeVSonding and coming Wo Whe geW-WogeWheUV
enWiUel\. WalkeU and I VhaUed email dXWieV on Vending oXW inYiWeV foU geW-WogeWheUV, and Ze
conWinXed coS\ing EYanV and JennifeU on WhoVe emailV foU a Zhile, bXW Ze eYenWXall\ UemoYed
Whem fUom Whe cc-liVW becaXVe of XnUeVSonViYeneVV.

5 hWWSV://VSleneWic.neW/Whe-falloXW/#figXUe7 iV fUom m\ UeleYanW conYeUVaWion ZiWh ChUiV GUXbb. TheUe iV alVo moUe deWail
in Whe blog aboXW m\ diVcXVVionV ZiWh WalkeU Willingham aboXW WhiV.

4 FigXUeV 32-35. A moUe comSleWe liVW of eYidence WhaW EYanV haV diVSaUaged me iV in VecWion (E).
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AW one of Whe geW-WogeWheUV in SSUing 2018, JXd\ Romann Wold me WhaW Vhe had aVked JennifeU in
Whe UeVWUoom a feZ ZeekV eaUlieU ZhaW Whe SUoblem ZaV ZiWh Sla\ing ScUabble ZiWh me. JennifeU
Wold heU WhaW Vhe did noW haYe a SUoblem ZiWh me, bXW EYanV did. ThiV coUUeVSonded ZiWh m\
e[SeUience ZheneYeU Ze cUoVVed SaWhV aW WoXUnamenWV beWZeen MaUch 2017 and Ma\ 2018.6

ThingV ZeUe alZa\V ciYil beWZeen me and JennifeU, and Ze Sla\ed ScUabble ZiWh no SUoblemV.
HoZeYeU, EYanV alZa\V UefXVed Wo VSeak Wo me, UefXVed Wo make e\e conWacW, and VhoZed a
maVViYe amoXnW of angeU in hiV bod\ langXage. He ZoXld alVo look aZa\, WXUn hiV head doZn,
oU leaYe Whe Uoom aV Voon aV he VaZ me in a WoXUnamenW Uoom.

The laVW Wime I ZaV eYeU in Whe Vame Slace aV EYanV and JennifeU ZaV Whe Zedding of ChUiV LiSe
and Randi GoldbeUg in AUXba in JXl\ 2018. A coXSle da\V befoUe Whe Zedding I inWUodXced m\
daWe Emil\, Zho ZaV noW a ScUabble Sla\eU, Wo a gUoXS of ScUabble Sla\eUV Zho ZeUe Sla\ing a
boaUdgame in Whe lobb\ of Whe UeVoUW. EYanV ZaV SUeVenW, and JennifeU ZaV noW. EYanV inVXlWed
m\ daWe b\ UefXVing Wo VWand XS oU eYen look in heU diUecWion oU Va\ hello. He VimSl\ mXWWeUed
hiV name in a baUel\ aXdible Yoice Zhen iW ZaV hiV WXUn Wo make an inWUodXcWion. I had no
inWeUacWion ZiWh EYanV on Whe WUiS.

AW Whe Zedding UeceSWion, I did noW aWWemSW Wo inWeUacW ZiWh JennifeU oU EYanV aW all. I VWa\ed aW
Whe baU aUea, and aW Whe dance flooU, and aW a Wable on Whe oSSoViWe Vide fUom ZheUe JennifeU
ZaV ViWWing. AW a momenW Zhen m\ daWe lefW Wo go Wo Whe baWhUoom, JennifeU Zalked acUoVV Whe
UeceSWion WoZaUd me and aWWemSWed Wo VWaUW a conYeUVaWion ZiWh me. I ZaV XncomfoUWable ZiWh
WhiV and VimSl\ gaYe a one line UeSl\ befoUe Vhe lefW. This Zas Whe lasW Wime Ze eYer inWeracWed in
person, and Ze haYe neYer been in Whe same place since WhaW da\, JXl\ 18, 2018.

JennifeU ZaV laWeU elecWed Wo Whe NASPA AdYiVoU\ BoaUd and aWWemSWed Wo change NASPA UXleV
Wo giYe heU and EYanV moUe leYeUage Wo keeS SeoSle oXW of WoXUnamenWV.

In SeSWembeU 2018, I VenW EYanV an enWU\ fee Yia Pa\Sal foU Whe 2019 Hood RiYeU WoXUnamenW,
Whe onl\ Wime I haYe eYeU VXbmiWWed an enWU\ Wo one of WheiU WoXUnamenWV. I alVo VenW him a WhUee
VenWence coXUWeoXV email noWif\ing him. LaWeU WhaW Vame da\, EYanV UefXnded m\ enWU\ and
JennifeU VenW an email back Wo me.

In Whe email Vhe gaYe aV a UaWionale WhaW m\ JanXaU\ 5Wh, 2017 email inclXded ³a ZUiWWen WhUeaW
fUom \oX WhaW \oX ZoXld Wake acWion Wo inWenWionall\ caXVe me emoWional diVWUeVV aW a ScUabble
WoXUnamenW in Whe Sla\ing Uoom.´ I XndeUVWood and acceSWed WhaW Vhe VaZ iW WhaW Za\, bXW Vhe
ZaV ZUong aboXW m\ inWenWion. I ZaV noW WU\ing Wo caXVe heU emoWional diVWUeVV; I ZaV aWWemSWing
Wo alleYiaWe m\ oZn emoWional diVWUeVV. FXUWheUmoUe, m\ SUefeUence, aV I had made cleaU in WhaW
email, and Whe one fUom WhUee ZeekV eaUlieU, ZaV Wo haYe a diVcXVVion oXWVide of Whe WoXUnamenW
Uoom, VSecificall\ Wo aYoid embaUUaVVmenW.

6 The PoUWland one-da\ in Ma\ 2018 ZaV Whe laVW Wime Ze ZeUe all aW Whe Vame WoXUnamenW and Whe laVW Wime I eYeU
Sla\ed a ScUabble game ZiWh eiWheU of Whem.
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IUonicall\, Vhe alVo accXVed me of diVSaUaging heU. I had been doing no VXch Whing, bXW heU
SaUWneU had been diVSaUaging me foU neaUl\ WZo \eaUV.

On SeSWembeU 17, 2018, I UeSlied ZiWh a bUief email aSologi]ing foU m\ VSecific offending ZoUdV
in Whe JanXaU\ 5Wh, 2017 email. I UeVSecWed WheiU deciVion noW Wo alloZ me Wo enWeU Whe
WoXUnamenW, and I VSecificall\ Vaid I ZoXld noW eVcalaWe Wo NASPA. I did noW aVk foU a UeVSonVe
noU an\Whing elVe fUom Whem. The enWiUeW\ of WhiV email coUUeVSondence iV in Whe blog aW
VSleneWic.neW, along ZiWh a longeU dUafW of Whe UeVSonVe email WhaW iV conWemSoUaneoXV eYidence
WhaW m\ inWenWion in Vigning XS foU Whe WoXUnamenW all along ZaV VimSl\ Wo oSen a line of
commXnicaWion and alloZ Whem Wo addUeVV WheiU gUieYance ZiWh me. (FigXUeV 37-38)

I neYeU aWWemSWed Wo Vign XS foU anoWheU WoXUnamenW of WheiUV again. The aSolog\ email iV Whe
laVW Wime I SeUVonall\ commXnicaWed Wo Whem in an\ Za\.

In JXl\ 2019, neaUl\ a \eaU afWeU being denied enWU\ Wo Hood RiYeU, I began Wo ZUiWe Whe VWoU\ of
Whe WUaXma I had alUead\ been e[SeUiencing foU Whe laVW feZ \eaUV. MoVW of iW ZaV ZUiWWen in
SSUing 2020. The fiUVW dUafW ZaV foU m\ oZn WheUaSeXWic SXUSoVeV, jXVW Wo geW oXW ZhaW ZaV
boWheUing me Vo mXch. HoZeYeU, I kneZ fUom Whe beginning WhaW I needed Wo Well Whe mXWXal
fUiendV of EYanV, JennifeU, and me Vome of m\ VWoU\, in hoSeV of ValYaging m\ UelaWionVhiSV ZiWh
Whem.

I had noW commiWWed Wo SXbliVhing an\Whing Wo Whe ZoUld aW WhaW Wime. I WhoXghW I mighW jXVW Vend
Whe VWoU\ Wo a SaUWicXlaU ciUcle of fUiendV. HoZeYeU, EYanV and JennifeU Wook VeYeUal moUe poliWical
acWions ZiWhin oXU ScUabble commXniW\ oYeU Whe ne[W \eaU WhaW conYinced me WhaW Whe enWiUe
ScUabble ZoUld needed Wo heaU m\ VWoU\.

AW Whe end of 2019, EYanV and JennifeU lefW NASPA and cUeaWed a Uenegade aVVociaWion. The\
enliVWed fUiendV in oWheU SaUWV of Whe coXnWU\ Wo UXn WoXUnamenWV XndeU WheiU neZ banneU. I haYe
conViVWenWl\ adYocaWed foU XniW\ in oXU ScUabble ZoUld and cUiWici]ed WGPO foU foUming neaUl\ a
decade eaUlieU. A WhiUd oUgani]aWion ZaV a biggeU VWeS in Whe ZUong diUecWion. FXUWheUmoUe,
EYanV and JennifeU ZeUe aWWemSWing Wo SXW WhemVelYeV in a SoViWion ZheUe Whe\ did noW haYe Wo
anVZeU Wo an\one. The\ coXld conWinXe XneWhical and YindicWiYe SUacWiceV againVW oWheU
ScUabble Sla\eUV XnabaWed.

I alVo VXVSecWed, baVed on Whe UXmoU mill, WhaW Whe\ inWended Wo foiVW all of Whe WoXUnamenWV XVing
Whe CSW dicWionaU\ in NoUWh AmeUica aZa\ fUom NASPA, and Wo geW UecogniWion fUom WESPA aV
anoWheU official aVVociaWion foU NoUWh AmeUica. If Whe\ goW WheiU Za\, I ZoXld SoWenWiall\ haYe no
WoXUnamenWV Wo Sla\ on m\ enWiUe conWinenW. ThiV ZaV Whe UeaVon WhaW I decided WhaW I needed Wo
go SXblic. ThiV ZaV no longeU jXVW a SeUVonal YendeWWa, bXW VomeWhing WhaW imSacWed Whe enWiUeW\
of NoUWh AmeUican comSeWiWiYe ScUabble.

While I ZaV SUeSaUing Whe blog, EYanV and JennifeU eVcalaWed eYen fXUWheU againVW me and gaYe
me anoWheU jXVWificaWion foU going SXblic. ShoUWl\ afWeU Whe 2020 AlchemiVW CXS ZaV canceled dXe
Wo Whe Sandemic, Whe\ VWeSSed in and Uan an online WoXUnamenW Whe\ called Whe ViUWXal WoUld
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CXS. I had alUead\ aVVXUed m\Velf TXalificaWion foU Whe 2020 AlchemiVW CXS. EYanV and JennifeU
XVed a diffeUenW TXalificaWion V\VWem foU Whe ViUWXal WoUld CXS, bXW b\ WheiU foUmXla I alVo VhoXld
haYe TXalified foU Weam USA aW WhaW eYenW. HoZeYeU, Whe\ inWenWionall\ b\SaVVed me and
VelecWed DaYe Wiegand foU Whe Weam, eYen WhoXgh he had a loZeU TXalif\ing UaWing Whan I.

M\ laVW diUecW commXnicaWion Wo Whem had been an XnTXalified aSolog\ (FigXUe 37) moUe Whan a
\eaU and a half eaUlieU, and noZ Whe\ ZeUe deSUiYing me of oSSoUWXniWieV Wo Sla\ againVW man\ of
Whe ZoUld¶V beVW Sla\eUV aW ZhaW ZaV—in Whe e\eV of moVW comSeWiWiYe ScUabbleUV—a SUeVWigioXV
inWeUnaWional ScUabble eYenW. EYanV¶V and JennifeU¶V gUXdge ZaV no longeU jXVW a SeUVonal
YendeWWa, bXW VomeWhing WhaW imSacWed Whe enWiUeW\ of inWeUnaWional comSeWiWiYe ScUabble.

I did noW aWWack oU cUiWici]e Whem in an\ SeUVonal Za\V in Whe enWiUe blog. I Wold ZhaW haSSened
leading XS Wo and aW Whe 2017 NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW in Whe moVW chaUiWable and faiU Za\ WhaW I
coXld. The cUiWiciVmV WhaW I leYeled againVW Whem ZeUe enWiUel\ SoliWical in naWXUe, foU UeSeaWed
and inWenWional acWionV WhaW Whe\ Wook conWinXoXVl\ foU a SeUiod of WhUee and a half \eaUV, (fUom
2017 Wo mid-2020 Zhen I SXbliVhed Whe blog.) TheVe acWionV haUmed m\ UeSXWaWion and
deSUiYed me—and noW onl\ me—of eTXal acceVV Wo ScUabble gameV ZiWh man\ of Whe ZoUld¶V
beVW Sla\eUV. MeanZhile, Whe onl\ WhingV WhaW I had done ZUong ZeUe WZo emailV and WZo We[W
meVVageV WhaW ZeUe Woo haUVhl\ ZoUded in a WhUee Zeek SeUiod beWZeen DecembeU 19, 2016
and JanXaU\ 5, 2017.

MoVW UeadeUV of m\ blog had Whe UighW WakeaZa\V fUom m\ VWoU\. The SoViWiYe feedback faU
oXWnXmbeUed Whe negaWiYe feedback, and eYen WhoXgh I didn¶W ZUiWe aboXW Whe ViUWXal WoUld CXS,
oWheUV connecWed Whe doWV and dUeZ Whe SUoSeU conclXVionV aboXW iW. (FigXUe 1) AlmoVW all of Whe
cUiWiciVm I UeceiYed ZaV fUom fUiendV of EYanV and JennifeU, VimSl\ becaXVe Whe\ did noW ZanW Wo
Vee WheiU fUiendV and WhemVelYeV aV being Whe bad gX\V, in defiance of ZheUe all of Whe facWV
SoinWed.

I had a Shone call in JXl\ 2020 ZiWh ConUad BaVVeWW-BoXchaUd, VhoUWl\ afWeU I SXbliVhed Whe blog.
He ZaV V\mSaWheWic and ciYil, Welling me WhaW I ZoXld alZa\V be Zelcome aW hiV WoXUnamenWV.
FXUWheUmoUe, he confided in me WhaW he ZaV Voon moYing Wo PoUWland, OUegon, cloVe Wo ZheUe
DaYe Wiegand and PeWeU AUmVWUong ZeUe liYing. He eYen encoXUaged me Wo moYe Wo Whe Vame
aUea Vo WhaW Ze coXld all Sla\ ScUabble WogeWheU. ThiV ZaV Whe laVW conYeUVaWion Ze had.

HoZeYeU, I Voon goW ZoUd WhaW ConUad ZaV behaYing diffeUenWl\ behind m\ back, alVo aWWemSWing
Wo VaboWage m\ UeSXWaWion and Wo VXSSoUW XneWhical WhingV WhaW EYanV, JennifeU, and fUiendV ZeUe
doing Wo e[clXde me.

AW Whe end of OcWobeU 2020, I moYed fUom SeaWWle Wo PoUWland, OUegon, (long befoUe Lola did.)
M\ SUimaU\ moWiYaWionV ZeUe noW UelaWed Wo ScUabble. I haYe a cloVe SeUVonal fUiend heUe Zho
ZaV m\ neighboU on Whe EaVW CoaVW, and Ze aUe neighboUV again. ThiV ZaV dXUing Whe
SUe-Yaccine Wime of Whe Sandemic, and Whe ZeaWheU ZaV VWill bad foU man\ monWhV, Vo I did noW
UXVh Wo geW in-SeUVon ScUabble gameV.
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In laWe 2020, I Sla\ed ScUabble on WoogleV in LaXUie Cohen¶V WedneVda\ clXb and Mike
JohnVon¶V ThXUVda\ clXb. M\ VWUongeVW comSeWiWion ZaV fUom BUian BoZman, Geoff TheYenoW,
PeWeU AUmVWUong, and Beck\ D\eU.

In JanXaU\ 2021, I had a VchedXle change and ZaV looking foU moUe gameV aW oWheU WimeV. I
VWaUWed Sla\ing aW Whe WoogleV clXb affiliaWed ZiWh EYanV¶V and JennifeU¶V aVVociaWion. I did noW
ZanW Wo VXSSoUW WheiU aVVociaWion, bXW none of WheVe gameV ZeUe SaUW of official UaWed
WoXUnamenWV. IW ZaV jXVW caVXal online Sla\. The UeaVon I ZenW Wo WheiU clXb ZaV Wo geW gameV
VSecificall\ ZiWh Geoff TheYenoW, PeWeU AUmVWUong, and Beck\ D\eU, Zho ZeUe Vome of m\ beVW
comSeWiWoUV aYailable and Whe diUecWoUV of Whe clXb.

I Sla\ed aV an eYeneU aW Whe end of one TXeVda\ VeVVion and When in WZo oU WhUee fXll SaWXUda\
VeVVionV ZiWh no SUoblemV. The diUecWoUV Zelcomed me coUdiall\, SaiUed me, and SXW m\ UeVXlWV
on WheiU oUgani]aWion¶V ZebViWe afWeU each VeVVion. I Walked in Whe chaWUoom onl\ aboXW Whe jo\ of
ZoUdV. EYanV and JennifeU ZeUe noW aW WheVe VeVVionV.

On FebUXaU\ 23, 2021, I Sla\ed a fXll TXeVda\ VeVVion aW WheiU WoogleV clXb foU Whe onl\ Wime.
BefoUe Whe fiUVW UoXnd, diUecWoU Beck\ D\eU Vaid Whe coXnW of Sla\eUV ZaV off. I checked Whe liVWing
of Sla\eUV in Whe Uoom and did noW Vee EYanV¶V oU JennifeU¶V name. JennifeU did noW come XnWil
laWeU, bXW Vomeone elVe in Whe chaWUoom VXggeVWed WhaW EYanV ZaV WheUe. I made a one line
commenW, ³I do noW Vee EYanV. IV he blocking me?´ Beck\ Vaid WhaW Vhe did noW Vee EYanV
eiWheU, bXW Voon WheUeafWeU anoWheU Sla\eU confiUmed WhaW he ZaV WheUe. (The ZebViWe ZaV VWill in
iWV alSha VWageV, Vo iW iV SoVVible WhaW ZhaWeYeU blocking oU chaW oSW-oXW mechaniVm ZaV in Slace
ZaV noW fXll\ ZoUking \eW.) I Sla\ed Whe enWiUe nighW XneYenWfXll\. The UeVW of m\ chaW ZaV jXVW
aboXW Whe jo\ of ZoUdV.

On FUida\, FebUXaU\ 26, 2021, I UeceiYed an email fUom info@cocoVcUabble.oUg banning me fUom
WheiU online clXb inWo SeUSeWXiW\. (FigXUe 2) No jXVWificaWion foU WhiV banning ZaV giYen, and no
aSSeal SUoceVV ZaV offeUed. The leWWeU imSlied WhaW I ZaV a haUaVVeU and ended ZiWh ³NoWe WhaW
direcWors for Whe CoCo haYe discreWion Wo consider all releYanW informaWion for decisions of Whis
naWXre, noW jXsW eYenWs WhaW happen dXring clXb sessions.´ The nameV aW Whe end of Whe email
ZeUe Whe WhUee diUecWoUV Beck\ D\eU, Geoff TheYenoW, and PeWeU AUmVWUong.

I neYeU UeVSonded Wo Whe email and neYeU aWWemSWed Wo go Wo Whe clXb again. CeVaU YeUified WhaW I
did noW do an\Whing XnWoZaUd in Whe online clXb, and he ZaV XnhaSS\ ZiWh WheiU oUgani]aWion
XVing hiV WoogleV SlaWfoUm foU WhiV kind of inaSSUoSUiaWe e[clXVion. He Wold me laWeU WhaW Zhen
he bUoXghW WhiV XS ZiWh Whe WoogleV Weam, ConUad aUgXed YocifeUoXVl\ WhaW WoogleV VhoXld noW
do an\Whing Wo VWoS WhiV oUgani]aWion fUom e[clXding me. FXUWheUmoUe, Mina emailed Beck\ D\eU
SUoWeVWing ZhaW had been done, and Beck\ VenW back a naVW\ and XnSUofeVVional email,
aVVeUWing WhaW Whe deciVion ZaV confidenWial and WhaW an\one Zho TXeVWioned iW ZaV diVSaUaging
WheiU oUgani]aWion. (Beck\¶V email iV TXoWed in fXll in FigXUe 2.)

B\ Whe end of ASUil 2021, I ZaV YaccinaWed againVW COVID-19 and Uead\ Wo Veek oXW in SeUVon
ScUabble gameV again. I did noW Ueach oXW eiWheU Wo ConUad, becaXVe of Whe Za\V he had been
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behaYing behind m\ back, oU Wo PeWeU, becaXVe hiV name ZaV on WhiV offenViYe leWWeU banning
me fUom Whe online clXb. InVWead, I Ueached oXW Wo DaYe Wiegand, Whe onl\ WoS CSW ScUabble
Sla\eU in PoUWland Zho had noW miVWUeaWed me, aV faU aV I kneZ.

We Sla\ed WZice, in Ma\ and JXl\ 2021. On Whe fiUVW occaVion Ze jXVW Sla\ed ScUabble and didn¶W
Walk aboXW mXch elVe. The Vecond Wime, I bUoXghW XS ZiWh DaYe hoZ Whe oWheU PoUWland ScUabble
Sla\eUV, SaUWicXlaUl\ ConUad, ZeUe WUeaWing me. DaYe ZaV moVWl\ XnhaSS\ Wo Walk aboXW iW, bXW I
did leaUn fUom him WhaW ConUad had decided WhaW he did noW ZanW Wo meeW ZiWh oU Sla\ ZiWh me aW
all an\moUe, noW jXVW in WoXUnamenWV bXW aW caVXal geW-WogeWheUV Woo. I SoinWed oXW WhaW WhiV
conWUadicWed Whe laVW conYeUVaWion I had ZiWh ConUad, and DaYe Vaid iW ZaV becaXVe of
VomeWhing WhaW ConUad had leaUned aboXW me moUe UecenWl\. DaYe claimed noW Wo knoZ ZhaW iW
ZaV. I VXVSecWed WhaW ConUad¶V change in aWWiWXde aboXW me ZaV UelaWed Wo hiV fUiendVhiS ZiWh
Lola.

I Ueached oXW Wo DaYe WZo moUe WimeV looking foU gameV in SUeSaUaWion foU Whe 2022 NeZ
OUleanV WoXUnamenW, bXW he ignoUed boWh m\ NoYembeU 4Wh and DecembeU 9Wh We[WV. When I
VaZ him again oYeU Whe boaUd aW Whe NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW on JanXaU\ 16Wh, 2022, he aW fiUVW
Sla\ed dXmb aV if he hadn¶W Veen m\ We[WV. BXW Zhen I aVked him SoinW blank if he ZaV
inWenWionall\ ignoUing m\ We[WV, he admiWWed iW. He When cUiWici]ed me foU alienaWing Vo man\ oWheU
SeoSle and aWWemSWed Wo mock m\ ScUabble UeVXlWV, Va\ing ³ZhaW haYe \oX eYeU Zon?´

DaYe¶V behaYioU ZaV YicWim blaming. I had ]eUo inWeUacWion of an\ kind ZiWh ConUad Vince oXU
laVW fUiendl\ conYeUVaWion in JXl\ 2020, Zhen he had encoXUaged me Wo come Wo PoUWland Wo Sla\
ScUabble ZiWh him, bXW I ZaV blamed foU alienaWing him.

²

I mXVW UeZind Wo Well Whe VWoU\ of m\ UelaWionVhiS ZiWh Lola. Lola and I had a YeU\ fUiendl\
UelaWionVhiS fUom a diVWance oYeU We[W meVVageV, Shone callV, and Yideo chaWV VWaUWing in laWe
2019. OXU UelaWionVhiS became UomanWic aV Ze made a WUiS Wo PXeUWo Rico WogeWheU on MaUch
10Wh-17Wh, 2020. FoU moUe Whan a monWh afWeUZaUd Ze ZeUe UomanWic fUom a diVWance, XnWil I
WemSoUaUil\ moYed in ZiWh heU in SalW Lake CiW\ fUom ASUil 25Wh Wo Ma\ 29Wh. Then Vhe WUaYeled
back Wo SeaWWle ZiWh me and liYed WheUe VWaUWing on Ma\ 30. On JXne 14Wh Ze decided Whe
UelaWionVhiS had UXn iWV coXUVe, and Vhe fleZ back Wo SalW Lake CiW\ Whe ne[W da\. We Uemained
good fUiendV and conWinXed Wo Vociali]e fUeTXenWl\ oYeU Google MeeWV ZiWh oWheU fUiendV and Wo
haYe cloVe conYeUVaWionV oYeU We[W foU moUe Whan a monWh afWeU WhaW, XS Wo JXl\ 23Ud. On JXl\
24Wh, Vhe decided WhaW Vhe needed Wo cUeaWe moUe diVWance fUom me, and Vhe ZaV YeU\ diUecW in
commXnicaWing WhaW Wo me oYeU email. We had a ciYil and kind conYeUVaWion in Zhich I UeVSecWed
heU need foU VSace.

OXU UelaWionVhiS and heU VWaWe of mind aboXW iW aW Whe Wime ZaV noWhing like ZhaW heU VWaWemenW
Va\V. FXUWheUmoUe, iW iV VWUange WhaW Vhe ZoXld VXbmiW a VWaWemenW ZiWh Vo man\ lieV, aV WheUe iV
a hXge amoXnW in iW WhaW I can eaVil\ diVSUoYe fUom oXU We[W meVVage and email hiVWoU\. HoZeYeU,
iW iV Welling WhaW Whe VWaWemenW iV addUeVVed Wo Whe WoogleV Weam and Wo WGPO, and noW Wo
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NASPA, Zhich ZaV Whe VancWioning oUgani]aWion of Whe onl\ WoXUnamenW Ze ZeUe boWh aW, Whe
2022 NeZ OUleanV eYenW. M\ beVW gXeVV iV WhaW Vhe did noW inWend Wo VXbmiW WhiV aV SaUW of an
incidenW UeSoUW, in Zhich I ZoXld haYe an oSSoUWXniW\ Wo Uead iW and diVSUoYe Whe maVViYe amoXnW
of falVehood in iW. I Whink Vhe inWended Whe VWaWemenW foU behind-Whe-VceneV conVXmSWion b\
SeoSle on Whe WoogleV Weam and in WGPO in hoSeV WhaW Whe\ ZoXld Wake oWheU acWion Wo keeS
me aZa\ fUom WhoVe VSheUeV. HoZeYeU, EYanV and JennifeU When VXbmiWWed iW aV SaUW of WhiV
incidenW UeSoUW.

I am highl\ V\mSaWheWic Wo Lola¶V ViWXaWion. I XndeUVWand Zh\ Vhe felW WhaW Vhe needed Wo lie.
TheUe ZaV a SeUiod of Wime fUom eaUl\ 2020 XnWil mid-JXne Zhen I e[SoVed a loW of m\ inneU
WUaXma Wo heU. I admiWWed man\ angU\ WhoXghWV Wo heU. None of iW ZaV diUecWed aW heU, and none
of iW ZaV a WhUeaW Wo do an\Whing. IW ZaV VimSl\ off-Whe-cXff YenWing.7 Lola UeceiYed Whe agon\ of
m\ WUaXma in a VXSSoUWiYe, V\mSaWheWic, and loYing Za\, bXW iW ZaV a loW Wo beaU.

She alVo Wook an acWiYe Uole in m\ gUieYing and healing SUoceVV b\ helSing me ZiWh m\ ZUiWing
SUojecW WhaW eYenWXall\ became Whe VSleneWic.neW blog, a SUojecW Vhe kneZ aboXW long befoUe Ze
moYed in WogeWheU. IW ZaV oXU Slan all along WhaW Zhen I ZenW Wo liYe ZiWh heU in SLC I ZoXld ZoUk
on m\ ZUiWing Zhile Vhe ZoUked on heU da\ job.

Lola iV Whe onl\ SeUVon beVideV me Zho Uead Whe fiUVW dUafW of Whe ZUiWing, and in Vo doing Vhe did
a laUge amoXnW of emoWional laboU and Wook on a loW of m\ ZoUld YieZ. She ZaV m\ fiUVW ediWoU,
helSing me figXUe oXW ZhaW VXbVeW of Whe VWoU\ I needed Wo Well m\ ScUabble commXniW\, and
making concUeWe VXggeVWionV foU hoZ Wo UeVhaSe and UeoUdeU SaUWV Wo commXnicaWe iW moUe
effecWiYel\.

I SXbliVhed Whe blog a monWh afWeU Ze VWoSSed daWing, on JXl\ 14Wh and 15Wh, 2020. We ZeUe VWill
on YeU\ good WeUmV, and Vhe gaYe me SoViWiYe feedback aboXW iW Voon afWeUZaUd. On m\
Facebook SoVWV aboXW iW, Vhe made nXmeUoXV commenWV WhaW ZeUe highl\ V\mSaWheWic and
VXSSoUWiYe of m\ ViWXaWion, and Vhe defXVed VeYeUal of Whe cUiWiciVmV WhaW deWUacWoUV ZUoWe.

I do noW belieYe WhaW heU oSinion aboXW an\ of WhiV had changed Zhen Vhe Vaid WhaW Vhe needed
Wo cUeaWe moUe diVWance on JXl\ 24Wh. HeU UeaVonV ZeUe XnUelaWed. HoZeYeU, noW long afWeUZaUd,
heU oSinion aboXW me and Whe ViWXaWion ZiWh oWheU ScUabble Sla\eUV began Wo change, WhoXgh I
did noW leaUn aboXW WhiV XnWil almoVW Whe end of 2020.

An e[WUemel\ XnfoUWXnaWe Whing haSSened a Zeek oU WZo afWeU Lola and I agUeed Wo incUeaVe
diVWance. A Zoman fUom MaU\land Zho ZaV in a Google MeeW Vocial gUoXS ZiWh XV heaUd a
UXmoU fUom a man named Kenn\ I had SUeYioXVl\ Vociali]ed ZiWh in Whe WaVhingWon DC aUea.

In DecembeU 2014, Kenn\ had VenW me a We[W meVVage oXW of Whe blXe WhUeaWening Yiolence on
me and alleging WhaW I had Waken adYanWage of Zoman named SaUah, ZiWh Zhom I had been in a

7 FXUWheUmoUe, EYanV and JennifeU ZeUe UaUel\ eYeU Whe objecWV of m\ YenWing. She SUoYided one alleged TXoWe aboXW
EYanV and one alleged TXoWe aboXW JennifeU, and WhiV ZaV WZiVWed inWo a comSleWel\ falVe allegaWion aboXW VSending
hXndUedV of hoXUV SloWWing an\Whing. The onl\ Whing I SloWWed ZaV Whe ZUiWing of a blog.
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conVenVXal Ve[Xal UelaWionVhiS oYeU Whe SeUiod of VeYeUal monWhV. I immediaWel\ foUZaUded
Kenn\¶V meVVage Wo SaUah. She Wold him I had done noWhing Wo hXUW heU and confiUmed WhaW ZiWh
me Yia email and a Shone call. (FigXUeV 3 & 4) Then Kenn\ changed hiV VWoU\, Va\ing iW did noW
maWWeU WhaW I hadn¶W done iW, becaXVe he kneZ WhaW I had done WhingV Wo oWheU Zomen. He neYeU
named anoWheU Zoman and conWinXed VSUeading YicioXV UXmoUV, eYen WhoXgh Whe onl\ Zoman
he eYeU menWioned e[SliciWl\ denied Whe chaUge. I haYe had no connecWion ZiWh Whe man Vince
2014, bXW he ZaV VWill VSUeading WheVe lieV Vi[ \eaUV laWeU.

Some Wime UighW aUoXnd Whe end of JXl\ oU beginning of AXgXVW 2020, WhiV MaU\land Zoman
VXddenl\ blocked me on Facebook and made aW leaVW one Facebook SoVW VSUeading WheVe
Vame lieV WhaW Kenn\ had been Va\ing in 2014. BecaXVe WhiV MaU\land Zoman had been SaUW of
m\ Google MeeW Vocial gUoXS ZiWh VeYeUal ScUabble Sla\eUV, inclXding Lola, Mina Le, and CeVaU
del SolaU, a nXmbeU of Whem VaZ a Facebook SoVW inclXding WhiV hoa[ VWoU\. I WhoXghW WheUe ZaV
a good chance WhaW Lola VaZ WhiV and WhaW iW mighW haYe affecWed heU YieZ of me.

I had been UeVSecWing Lola¶V ZiVheV, and Ze had no commXnicaWion fUom Whe end of JXl\ XnWil
DecembeU 2020. She blocked me on Facebook aW Vome SoinW in beWZeen. In eaUl\ DecembeU,
Mina oUgani]ed a gUoXS Wo do an online Ueading of a Sla\, and boWh Lola and I YolXnWeeUed Wo
SaUWiciSaWe. Mina and CeVaU ZeUe conceUned becaXVe Whe\ kneZ WhaW Vhe had blocked me on
Facebook, and dXUing WoogleV ZoUk Lola had e[SUeVVed Wo CeVaU being XSVeW aboXW m\
incidenW ZiWh DaUUell Da\.

On Mina¶V UecommendaWion, I emailed Lola on DecembeU 11, checking Wo make VXUe iW ZaV
going Wo be oka\ foU XV boWh Wo SaUWiciSaWe in Whe Sla\ Ueading. Lola goW back Wo me TXickl\, and
Ze had a ciYil email e[change. She commXnicaWed WhaW heU conceUn ZaV noW Whe 2014 hoa[
VWoU\ bXW VcUeenVhoWV Vhe had Veen of m\ Facebook meVVageV Wo DaUUell Da\. (FigXUe 28)

I had Wold Lola immediaWel\ aboXW Whe incidenW UeSoUW WhaW ZaV filed Wo NASPA foU Whe commenWV I
made Wo DaUUell Da\ Zhen I UeceiYed iW on ASUil 17Wh, 2020. (FigXUe 22) AW Whe Wime I ZaV feeling
Velf-UighWeoXV in m\ angeU and ZaV WemSWed Wo ZUiWe a UeVSonVe WhaW ZoXld haYe fanned Whe
flameV and likel\ giYen me a biggeU SXniVhmenW. Lola adYiVed me on hoZ Wo ediW doZn ZhaW I
Vaid and be moUe ciUcXmVSecW. NASPA had noW VenW me Whe VcUeenVhoWV of Whe commenWV, and
neiWheU Lola noU I had Veen Whem aW Whe Wime. She ZaV onl\ going on m\ deVcUiSWion of Whe
incidenW and Whe one WhaW John KaUUiV had VenW me fUom NASPA.

I had foUZaUded eYeU\Whing I had UeceiYed fUom NASPA Wo Lola back in ASUil 2020. HoZeYeU,
Zhen Vhe laWeU VaZ Whe VcUeenVhoWV, Vhe ZaV Vhocked and XSVeW. I belieYe Vhe felW gXilW\ aboXW
helSing me ZiWh m\ defenVe Wo WhaW incidenW UeSoUW, and WhiV SeUhaSV led Wo heU feeling gXilW\
aboXW helSing me ZiWh Whe VSleneWic.neW blog Woo. I Whink Vhe alVo mighW haYe felW deceiYed b\
me, alWhoXgh WheUe ZaV no inWenWional deceiW on m\ SaUW. I had UecoXnWed ZhaW had haSSened aV
beVW aV I coXld UemembeU aW Whe Wime, and I m\Velf neYeU VaZ Whe VcUeenVhoWV XnWil Whis incidenW
UeSoUW ZaV filed almoVW e[acWl\ WZo \eaUV laWeU, in ASUil 2022.

Lola ended heU DecembeU 11, 2020 email ZiWh: (FigXUe 28)
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I am noW reall\ inWeresWed in Walking on Whe phone Wo \oX aW Whis Wime. I Zill hoZeYer
Xnblock \oX as Wo minimi]e Zeird confXsion in Whings like Xs boWh commenWing on a
friend's posW. I am also oka\ ZiWh \oX emailing me Zhen \oX feel iW's necessar\, like noZ.

We are noW enemies, and \oX don'W need Wo Zorr\ aboXW Whings like Whe pla\ reading
groXp, or Woogles, or WoXrnamenWs if WhaW eYer is a Whing again. We are also noW friends.

We conWinXed Whe email e[change ZiWh a feZ moUe meVVageV WhaW ZeUe jXVW aboXW
commXnicaWing WhaW WheUe ZaV no inWenWional deceSWion on m\ SaUW Zhen iW came Wo Whe DaUUell
Da\ commenWV, and Ze boWh ended b\ ZiVhing Whe oWheU one Zell. ThaW ZaV Whe laVW Wime Ze
eYeU emailed each oWheU.

She Xnblocked me on Facebook aV Vhe Vaid Vhe ZoXld, and Ze boWh SaUWiciSaWed in Mina¶V Sla\
Ueading a coXSle ZeekV laWeU ZiWh no iVVXeV. We neYeU aW WhiV Wime oU laWeU had an\ inWeUacWion
on Facebook, oWheU Whan making a coXSle of commenWV on Mina¶V SoVWV aboXW Whe DecembeU
Sla\ Ueading and one laWeU Sla\ Ueading in FebUXaU\ WhaW Ze alVo SaUWiciSaWed in.8

Lola When UeiniWiaWed commXnicaWion ZiWh me b\ gifWing me a VXbVcUiSWion Wo Will AndeUVon¶V
TZiWch channel on FebUXaU\ 12, 2021. I VenW heU a TXick We[W Whanking heU foU Whe VXbVcUiSWion
and Va\ing I didn¶W knoZ ZhaW iW did. She fiUVW e[Slained ZhaW iW ZaV, and When iW WXUned inWo a
caWch-XS conYeUVaWion beWZeen XV ZiWh eighW VcUeenfXlV of We[W. (FigXUe 29) We Wold each oWheU
aboXW oXU liYeV and familieV, and she menWioned WhaW she Zas liYing in Florida and going Wo be a
digiWal nomad laWer WhaW \ear.9 She alVo Wold me WhaW Vhe ZaV Slanning on VWaUWing heU oZn TZiWch
bUoadcaVWing Whe YeU\ ne[W da\. She VaZ WhaW I ZaV noW alUead\ folloZing heU, Vo Vhe gaYe me
heU XVeUname and Wold me Whe Wime of Whe bUoadcaVW Vo WhaW I coXld WXne in.

I ZaWched heU debXW bUoadcaVW on FebUXaU\ 13, 2021. She ZaV neUYoXV. I SaUWiciSaWed acWiYel\ in
Whe chaW, alZa\V fUom a SeUVSecWiYe of WU\ing Wo be VXSSoUWiYe and calming, bXW I SeUceiYed afWeU
a Zhile WhaW m\ inYolYemenW SUobabl\ made heU moUe an[ioXV, Vo I did noW WXne inWo an\ moUe of
heU bUoadcaVWV afWeU WhaW.

AV faU aV I kneZ, Ze ZeUe on UelaWiYel\ good WeUmV aW WhaW SoinW, eYen WhoXgh Ze didn¶W keeS XS
commXnicaWing. The laVW Wime I eYeU We[Wed heU ZaV on Ma\ 2nd, 2021, becaXVe iW ZaV looking
like I mighW make a bXVineVV WUiS Wo SalW Lake CiW\. LaVW I had knoZn Vhe ZaV noW liYing in SLC,
bXW I jXVW figXUed I ZoXld check if Vhe ZaV in Whe aUea and inWeUeVWed in meeWing XS. She did noW
UeVSond Wo WhaW We[W, and I made no aWWemSWV Wo folloZ XS. (FigXUe 30)

Lola ZaV oXW of m\ life and oXW of m\ mind foU Whe UeVW of 2021, e[ceSW foU one Wime Vhe
accidenWall\ came inWo m\ SXUYieZ. On AXgXVW 4Wh, 2021, m\ Shone InVWagUam aSS
Uecommended Wo me an accoXnW of Vomeone I mighW knoZ. The accoXnW ZaV

9 I had moYed Wo PoUWland in OcWobeU 2020, and I menWioned I ZaV liYing WheUe in Whe conYeUVaWion.

8 MXch laWeU in 2021, Lola Veemed Wo go back and foUWh beWZeen blocking and Xnblocking me on Facebook, bXW I haYe
no idea ZhaW WhaW ZaV aboXW.

000159

000159

David Koenig
Exhibit 5



@WheVeSeoSleinm\\aUd, and iW VhoZed Whe name Lola McKiVVen on Whe VcUeen. I ZaV VXUSUiVed
Wo Vee iW, becaXVe I kneZ WhaW Lola had alUead\ blocked me on InVWagUam long befoUe, bXW WhiV
ZaV a neZ accoXnW ZiWh a Vingle ShoWo. IW VhoZed Whe YieZ fUom heU aSaUWmenW and menWioned
WhaW Vhe ZaV liYing in PoUWland, OUegon. I VenW a TXick meVVage: ³I don¶W ZanW Wo be inWrXsiYe, bXW
InsWagram jXsW recommended Whis accoXnW. YoX¶re liYing in PorWland? Welcome Wo WoZn!´

A da\ laWeU Vhe ZUoWe a UeVSonVe:

Thanks. WiWh m\ childhood hisWor\, I am noW reall\ menWall\ sWable enoXgh Wo haYe
friends ZiWh bXll\ing/anger issXes. I jXsW geW sXcked in and oYerl\ idenWif\ and placaWe and
geW sWressed oXW. The lasW Wime I Wried, \oX kinda Wook oYer m\ TZiWch chaW and made WhaW
Woo sWressfXl for me. I XndersWand WhaW \oXr inWenW Zas Wo be sXpporWiYe and friendl\, and
m\ reacWion is MY cra]\. I reall\ hope \oX are doing Zell, and WhaW \oX can respecW and
accepW WhaW I can noW haYe \oX in m\ life (ZiWh Whe XndersWanding Ze¶re going Wo oYerlap
oYer Whe \ears on mXWXal friends and Scrabble.)

I heaUWed heU UeVSonVe and ZUoWe back, ³Thank \oX for ZhaW \oX said. I Zish \oX peace.´ She
heaUWed WhaW UeVSonVe, and WhaW ZaV Whe end of Whe conYeUVaWion. (FigXUe 31) I did noW folloZ Whe
InVWagUam accoXnW and did noW look back aW iW again.10 Lola and I neYeU had an\ conWacW again
XnWil Ze cUoVVed SaWhV aW Whe NeZ OUleanV ScUabble WoXUnamenW in mid-JanXaU\ 2022.

I VWill Whink highl\ of Lola, and I ZaV comSleWel\ fine ZiWh noW haYing heU in m\ life. Going inWo Whe
NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW, I ZanWed Wo haYe one conYeUVaWion ZiWh heU, bXW iW ZaV noW aboXW heU
and me aW all. IW ZaV aboXW ConUad.

I UecUXiWed Lola foU Whe WoogleV Weam Zhen Ze ZeUe liYing WogeWheU. I kneZ Vhe ZaV an
e[SeUienced fUonW-end deYeloSeU and WhaW CeVaU needed Vomeone ZiWh WhoVe VkillV foU Whe
ZebViWe. She began ZoUk on Whe Weam Zhile Ze ZeUe VWill daWing, and I had knoZn WhaW Vhe had
become fUiendl\ ZiWh ConUad Zhile Whe\ collaboUaWed on Whe XVeU inWeUface. I VXVSecWed WhaW Vhe
ZaV in UegXlaU commXnicaWion ZiWh him noZ WhaW Vhe ZaV liYing in PoUWland and WhaW Vhe mighW
haYe Wold him VomeWhing aboXW me, VXch aV Whe 2014 hoa[ VWoU\, WhaW e[Slained Zh\ he did noW
ZanW Wo Vee me. ThiV ZaV faU fUom m\ higheVW SUioUiW\ aW Whe WoXUnamenW, bXW I figXUed if a good
oSSoUWXniW\ foU a conYeUVaWion came along, I ZoXld aVk.

When I ZaV Zalking back inWo Whe WoXUnamenW hoWel fUom lXnch in Whe middle of Whe fiUVW da\, a
Zoman Zho ZaV Zalking in Whe Vame diUecWion aV me Vaid hello. Lola had changed heU haiU
coloU and ZaV dUeVVed conVideUabl\ diffeUenWl\ Whan I had eYeU Veen heU befoUe. IW Wook me a feZ
VecondV Wo Uecogni]e heU. AV Ze Zalked Wo Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom, Ze e[changed a feZ
SleaVanWUieV, and I aVked hoZ heU WoXUnamenW gameV ZeUe going.

We had one e[Wended conYeUVaWion. IW SUobabl\ haSSened laWeU on Whe fiUVW da\. We ZeUe boWh in
Whe hallZa\ oXWVide Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom, and I aVked heU if Ze coXld Walk foU a biW. She agUeed

10 XnWil I had Wo chaVe doZn eYidence UeleYanW Wo WhiV incidenW UeSoUW
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and SoinWed Wo Vome WableV WhaW ZeUe fXUWheU doZn Whe hallZa\, aZa\ fUom Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom
and VXggeVWed Ze go WheUe. So Ze VaW aW one of Whem and Walked foU aboXW 10 minXWeV.

I aVked aboXW heU famil\. She Whanked me foU aVking and gaYe me an XSdaWe. Then I aVked heU
if Vhe had Wold ConUad aboXW WhiV 2014 hoa[ VWoU\ oU VomeWhing elVe WhaW mighW haYe caXVed him
noW Wo like me. She admiWWed WhaW ConUad ZaV heU cloVeVW fUiend Vince Vhe moYed Wo PoUWland.
She did noW Whink WhaW Vhe had Wold him WhaW SaUWicXlaU VWoU\, WhoXgh Vhe Veemed XnVXUe.
HoZeYeU, Vhe did Whink WhaW WhingV Vhe Vaid aboXW me mighW haYe been Whe laVW VWUaZ foU him
Zhen iW came Wo me.

We Walked aboXW Whe Pacific NoUWhZeVW CSW ScUabble ViWXaWion. She made cleaU WhaW Vhe VWill
WhoXghW EYanV and JennifeU ZeUe doing Whe ZUong Whing b\ e[clXding me, bXW Zhen I SoinWed oXW
WhaW Vhe ZaV Sla\ing ZiWh WheiU gUoXS and imSliciWl\ VXSSoUWing Whem, Vhe admiWWed a biW of
h\SocUiV\. She ZanWed Wo geW gameV and WhaW¶V ZheUe Whe\ ZeUe.

I When commXnicaWed WhaW Zhen Vhe Uead Whe fiUVW dUafW of m\ blog, heU iniWial UeacWion of ³\oX did
noWhing ZUong, and I haWe Whem foU ZhaW Whe\ did Wo \oX´ ZaV highl\ YalidaWing foU me. I Vaid Whe
facW WhaW Vhe ZaV noZ effecWiYel\ SaUW of WheiU gUoXS felW like a beWUa\al. I VSecified WhaW iW ZaV a
³lighW beWUa\al,´ noW aV bad aV I had goWWen fUom oWheU SeoSle in EYanV¶V and JennifeU¶V ciUcleV
Zho ZeUe noW commXnicaWing ZiWh me aW all, and WhaW I UeVSecWed heU foU VWill Walking Wo me and
being VWUaighW ZiWh me.

I ZaV noW angU\ aW all Zhen I Vaid WhiV, and I did noW UaiVe m\ Yoice. I ZaV jXVW Vad. M\ VilenW
WhoXghWV ZeUe WhaW Lola ZaV noW in faYoU of m\ e[clXVion noU inWenWionall\ UeinfoUcing iW, bXW heU
connecWion ZiWh ConUad ZaV conWUibXWing Wo Whe SUoblem.

Lola did noW UeVSond and jXVW goW XS and Zalked aZa\. She did noW aSSeaU diVWUeVVed, and Vhe
did noW hXUU\. I jXVW gaWheUed WhaW Whe conYeUVaWion had goWWen Woo heaY\ and WhaW Vhe did noW
ZanW Wo conWinXe an\moUe, Zhich ZaV fine. I had alUead\ goWWen Whe infoUmaWion I ZanWed aboXW
ConUad, Zhich ZaV Whe main Whing Wo me.

All of oXU inWeUacWionV in Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom ZeUe bUief and XneYenWfXl. I belieYe Ze VSoke
WhUee WimeV. Once, Zhen Ze SaVVed b\ each oWheU in Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom, I jXVW Whanked heU foU
Whe longeU conYeUVaWion Ze had eaUlieU and Vaid Ze did noW need Wo Walk aboXW iW an\moUe. On
WZo occaVionV, I aVked aboXW heU WoXUnamenW UeVXlWV. One of WhoVe ZaV again aV Ze SaVVed
each oWheU Zhile Zalking Wo oXU boaUdV. The oWheU ZaV VhoUWl\ afWeU Vhe had finiVhed a game
ZiWh GX\ IngUam. I had Zalked XS Wo GX\¶V Vide of Whe boaUd and VSenW a coXSle minXWeV WheUe,
moVWl\ Walking Wo GX\ and looking aW Whe boaUd, bXW aW one SoinW I WXUned Wo Lola and aVked hoZ
heU gameV in WhaW VeVVion had gone. I Whink Lola and I boWh Vaid one VenWence Wo each oWheU
dXUing Whe enWiUe Wime I ZaV Walking Wo GX\.

AfWeU WhoVe bUief inWeUacWionV WheUe ZeUe WZo oWheU WimeV I VaZ Lola dXUing Whe UeVW of Whe
WoXUnamenW. NeiWheU of Whem inYolYed an\ diVcXVVion beWZeen XV.
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The fiUVW one ZaV neaU Whe end of UoXnd 15, Whe SenXlWimaWe game on SXnda\. I had finiVhed m\
game and ZaV Zalking aZa\ fUom Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom, WoZaUd Whe fUonW of Whe hoWel and Whe
e[iWV Wo oXWVide. I ZaV inWending Wo jXVW VWeS oXWVide and geW Vome fUeVh aiU beWZeen UoXndV, bXW
I came XSon an Xne[SecWed ViWXaWion. The VeWXS in WhiV hallZa\ had changed Vince Whe laVW Wime
I had noWiced iW. A TV had been VeW XS along Whe Zall Wo m\ UighW, and iW ZaV VhoZing Whe liYe
TZiWch bUoadcaVW of Whe dUamaWic conclXVion of AXVWin Shin¶V 477-470 comeback YicWoU\ oYeU
PXneeW ShaUma. FXUWheUmoUe, boWh a Wable and a WUee in a SoW ZeUe VeW XS in Whe middle of Whe
hallZa\, in fUonW of Whe TV and blocking mXch of Whe SaVVageZa\. Lola ZaV VWanding Wo Whe lefW of
Whe Wable, looking oYeU iW and aW Whe TV on Whe oSSoViWe Zall. DaYe Wiegand ZaV VWanding
be\ond Whe Wable, cloVeU Wo Whe UighW Zall. He ZaV alVo inWenWl\ ZaWching Whe WeleYiVion.

I ZaVn¶W e[SecWing an\ of WhiV. I accidenWall\ haSSened XSon boWh of WheVe Sla\eUV and WhiV TV,
and like Whem I TXickl\ goW diVWUacWed inWo ZaWching Whe gUiSSing game on Whe TV. BecaXVe of Whe
aZkZaUdneVV of Whe VeWXS ZiWh Whe Wable and Whe WUee, I ended XS VWanding ne[W Wo Lola and alVo
ZaWching Whe TV fUom oYeU Whe Wable foU VeYeUal minXWeV. We ZeUe aboXW aUm¶V lengWh aZa\, bXW
WheUe ZaV no Sh\Vical conWacW and no conYeUVaWion. We boWh jXVW ZaWched Whe TV and lefW a feZ
minXWeV laWeU.

On Whe final da\ of Whe WoXUnamenW, I Zon all of m\ gameV and finiVhed in fiUVW Slace. Then I ZenW
back oXW Wo Whe hallZa\ Wo do an inWeUYieZ on Whe liYeVWUeam ZiWh Will AndeUVon. AfWeU WhaW I
UeWXUned Wo Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom VhoUWl\ befoUe Whe SUi]e ceUemon\, afWeU moVW of Whe Sla\eUV
had alUead\ filed in. Lola ZaV one of Whe fiUVW SeoSle I VaZ aV I enWeUed Whe Uoom. I ZaV noW
looking foU heU. She ZaV ViWWing in one of Whe fUonW UoZ VeaWV WhaW ZaV cloVeVW Wo Whe enWUance of
Whe Uoom. TheUe ZeUe no aYailable VeaWV neaU heU, and I had no inWenWion of ViWWing in Whe aUea.
HoZeYeU, I figXUed I ZoXld Zalk XS Wo heU and make a biW of caVXal conYeUVaWion befoUe I moYed
on and VaW VomeZheUe elVe. SSecificall\, I ZaV going Wo menWion WhaW I had Ueall\ liked a TV
VhoZ WhaW Vhe had Uecommended Wo me a coXSle \eaUV eaUlieU.

HoZeYeU, I did noW geW an oSSoUWXniW\ Wo Va\ an\Whing. AfWeU I Wook WZo VWeSV in heU diUecWion, a
Zoman Zho ZaV ViWWing ne[W Wo heU and Zhom I did noW knoZ loXdl\ e[claimed, ³I¶m bleeding and
need Wo go Wo Whe baWhUoom UighW noZ!´ aV Vhe gUabbed Lola b\ Whe aUm and Whe\ made a haVW\
e[iW. IW ZaV highl\ aZkZaUd and Xne[SecWed. IW ZaV cleaU Wo me WhaW WhiV Zoman WhoXghW I ZaV
VWalking Lola and WhaW Vhe needed Wo UeVcXe Lola fUom me.

I ZaV flabbeUgaVWed and immediaWel\ Zalked aV faU aZa\ fUom WheUe aV I coXld, Waking a VeaW in
Whe back faU coUneU of Whe Uoom foU Whe SUi]e ceUemon\. NoWhing aboXW m\ inWeUacWionV ZiWh Lola
dXUing Whe enWiUe WoXUnamenW Veemed Wo jXVWif\ VXch an e[WUeme UeacWion, and WhaW ZaV Whe fiUVW
and onl\ Vign I UeceiYed WhaW an\Whing had gone VeUioXVl\ ZUong fUom heU SoinW of YieZ. IW ZaV
alVo Whe laVW Wime I VaZ heU.

ConWUaU\ Wo ZhaW Lola VeemV Wo Whink, I ZaV noW VWalking heU aW Whe WoXUnamenW. She ZaV baUel\
on m\ mind foU moVW of iW. I had faU biggeU WhingV Wo deal ZiWh. I ZaV Sla\ing Whe beVW ScUabble
Sla\eUV in Whe coXnWU\ and in conWenWion Whe Zhole Za\. IW Wook moVW of m\ focXV and eneUg\ Wo
Zin Whe WoXUnamenW. The fiUVW Wime I VaZ heU, Vhe iniWiaWed a VhoUW caVXal conYeUVaWion ZiWh me.
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LaWeU, I ZanWed Wo haYe one conYeUVaWion Wo geW claUiW\ aboXW Whe ConUad ViWXaWion, Zhich Vhe
ZaV YeU\ Zilling Wo haYe and eYen VXggeVWed a locaWion foU. I goW Whe infoUmaWion I needed and
ZaV done ZiWh Whe VXbjecW. OYeU Whe WhUee da\V of Whe WoXUnamenW Ze Walked foU jXVW a momenW
XnconWUoYeUViall\ in Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom WhUee WimeV. Then Ze had an accidenWal (and SoVVibl\
aZkZaUd fUom heU SoinW of YieZ) encoXnWeU ZheUe Ze boWh ZaWched TV VilenWl\ foU a feZ
minXWeV. And Whe ne[W Wime I VaZ heU on Whe folloZing da\, Whe Zoman ne[W Wo heU ZaV acWing like
I ZaV VWalking heU.

The UeacWion of Whe oWheU Zoman VXggeVWed WhaW VomeWhing ZaV amiVV fUom Lola¶V SoinW of YieZ,
and I leaUned moUe a monWh laWeU Zhen I aWWemSWed Wo helS CeVaU ZiWh a WoogleV iVVXe.

On JanXaU\ 13, 2022, a feZ da\V befoUe Whe NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW, CeVaU made a Facebook
SoVW aVking foU addiWional deYeloSeU VXSSoUW foU Vome WoogleV back-end UefacWoUing ZoUk WhaW
ZaV in m\ ZheelhoXVe. I ZUoWe Wo him WhaW da\ Va\ing WhaW I coXld helS bXW WhaW iW ZoXld haYe Wo
be afWeU Whe NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW. (FigXUe 5) I ZaV Woo bXV\ Wo geW inYolYed foU neaUl\ a
monWh, and finall\ on Monda\ afWeUnoon, FebUXaU\ 7Wh, 2022, I Ueached oXW Wo CeVaU Wo folloZ
XS. CeVaU aVked me Wo join a ³FUiendV of WoogleV´ DiVcoUd channel WhaW he XVed foU
commXnicaWing ZiWh SeoSle Zho ZoUked on Whe codebaVe. I folloZed hiV diUecWionV and made
jXVW a coXSle of chaWV in Whe channel WhaW ZeUe diUecWl\ Wo CeVaU. He SoinWed me Wo Whe locaWionV
of Whe codebaVe and  Whe bXild inVWUXcWionV, and I Vaid I ZoXld geW Wo iW Whe ne[W moUning. I Zoke
XS Whe ne[W moUning Wo Vee a meVVage fUom CeVaU: (FigXUe 5)

Hi DaYe, I don¶W knoZ if Whis is going Wo Zork. SeYeral people on Whe core Weam are Woo
XncomforWable ZiWh \oX conWribXWing Wo Whe poinW WhaW Whe\ acWXall\ WhreaWened Wo leaYe Whe
Weam. I spoke Xp for \oX bXW iW doesn¶W seem Wenable. LeW me knoZ if \oX ZanW Wo chaW
aboXW iW

M\ fiUVW UeVSonVe ZaV ³I am diVgXVWed.´ I Walked on Whe Shone ZiWh boWh CeVaU and Mina laWeU
WhaW da\. I leaUned WhaW Lola had Wold Whe WoogleV Weam WhaW aW Whe NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW I
had Vaid WhaW Vhe beWUa\ed me Zorse Whan an\one elVe in ScUabble and WhaW I had WhUeaWened
heU. ThiV ZaV Whe oSSoViWe of Whe WUXWh. I VSecificall\ Vaid WhaW iW ZaV a ³lighW beWUa\al´ and WhaW iW
ZaV noW aV bad aV ZhaW oWheU SeoSle had done Wo me. I had noW WhUeaWened heU in an\ Za\,
VhaSe, oU foUm. FXUWheUmoUe, I leaUned WhaW ConUad and JeVVe Da\ had WhUeaWened Wo leaYe Whe
Weam if I ZaV alloZed Wo SaUWiciSaWe in VXSSoUWing Whe WoogleV codebaVe.

M\ aWWemSW Wo helS CeVaU ZiWh Whe WoogleV codebaVe had noWhing Wo do ZiWh Lola. IW VWaUWed ZiWh
a conYeUVaWion ZiWh CeVaU before Whe NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW, aW a Wime Zhen I hadn¶W had an\
commXnicaWion ZiWh Lola foU neaUl\ half a \eaU. FXUWheUmoUe, I kneZ WhaW Whe back-end ZoUk WhaW
I ZaV YolXnWeeUing Wo aVViVW ZiWh ZaV WoWall\ VeSaUaWe fUom Whe fUonW-end codebaVe WhaW Vhe
ZoUked on. I did noW Whink iW ZoXld inYolYe an\ inWeUacWion ZiWh Lola oU ConUad aW all. I ZaV meUel\
WU\ing Wo helS m\ fUiend CeVaU in UeVSonVe Wo hiV UeTXeVW foU aVViVWance.

I had ]eUo knoZledge oU e[SecWaWion WhaW YolXnWeeUing Wo do WhiV ZoUk ZoXld SXW me in a DiVcoUd
channel ZiWh WheVe oWheU SeoSle. IW ZaV enWiUel\ CeVaU¶V idea foU me Wo join Whe channel, becaXVe
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he ZaV jXVW WU\ing Wo WUeaW me in Whe noUmal Za\ he WUeaWed an\one Zho ZoUked on Whe WoogleV
codebaVe.

I ZaV diVgXVWed and angU\, noW aW Lola aW all, and noW Ueall\ aW ConUad, becaXVe I kneZ he ZaV
alUead\ a loVW caXVe Zho had UeSeaWedl\ been SoiVonoXV behind m\ back. I ZaV angU\ aW JeVVe
Da\, becaXVe I had alZa\V Veen him aV a UeaVonable hXman being Zho had WUeaWed me Zell.
We had a Shone call noW long afWeU I SXbliVhed Whe blog in Zhich he called oXW EYanV¶V and
JennifeU¶V SooU WUeaWmenW of me. NoZ, he ZaV Uead\ Wo go on a moUal cUXVade againVW me and
UeVign hiV SoViWion aV manageU and VSokeVSeUVon of Whe WoogleV Weam ZiWhoXW eYen heaUing m\
Vide of Whe VWoU\.

PaUW of me ZanWed Wo ZUiWe an email Wo JeVVe and ConUad UighW When and cheZ Whem oXW foU WheiU
behaYioU. BXW I SeUceiYed WhaW UeacWing angUil\ ZoXld Sla\ inWo Whe abVXUd lieV WhaW I ZaV
haUaVVing a Zoman. CeVaU had Wold me WhaW he WUied Wo adYocaWe on m\ behalf Wo Whem, bXW iW
ZaV boWh hiV imSUeVVion and Mina¶V WhaW WhiV gUoXS of SeoSle ZeUe UeSeaWedl\ SoiVoning each
oWheU¶V mindV aboXW me. CeVaU Vaid he ZaV Vo diVWXUbed b\ ZhaW he heaUd fUom Whem WhaW he
loVW VleeS aboXW iW. CeVaU and Mina ZeUe alVo conceUned WhaW oXU coXnWU\ and oXU ScUabble
commXniW\ had goWWen Vo caXghW XS in WhiV #MeToo feUYoU WhaW WheUe ZaV no Za\ Wo moYe
foUZaUd ZiWh me doing WoogleV coding ZoUk ZiWhoXW looking bad.

IW ZaV noW eYen WhaW big a deal Wo me Wo ZoUk on Whe WoogleV code baVe. I ZaV jXVW offeUing Wo
helS aV a faYoU Wo CeVaU, and Whe facW WhaW Vo mXch of Whe Weam ZaV WUeaWing me Vo SooUl\ UighW
off Whe baW made me XnenWhXViaVWic aboXW VXSSoUWing Whe SUojecW an\Za\. So I jXVW Wold CeVaU,
foUgeW aboXW iW, I Zon¶W ZoUk on WoogleV, and I ignoUed Lola¶V, JeVVe¶V, and ConUad¶V behaYioU.

I had no oWheU conWacW ZiWh an\one in ScUabble UelaWed Wo an\ of WhiV XnWil I UeceiYed WhiV incidenW
UeSoUW ZiWh VWaWemenWV fUom EYanV, JennifeU, and Lola in ASUil 2022.

(D) SXmmaU\ of RelaWionVhiS ZiWh Lola
There is a hXge amoXnW of We[W message hisWor\ beWZeen Lola and me. (oYer 400 screenshoWs)
If \oX read Whe Zhole Whing, iW clearl\ shoZs WhaW noWhing she sa\s aboXW Whe hisWor\ of oXr
relaWionship and her aWWiWXde WoZard iW aW Whe Wime is credible. HoZeYer, a sXrplXs of informaWion is
noW necessaril\ Whe besW Za\ Wo commXnicaWe Whe main ideas. FXrWhermore, Where are parWs of
oXr We[W message hisWor\ Zhich inclXde priYaWe and poWenWiall\ embarrassing informaWion aboXW
XnrelaWed Whird parWies, inclXding boWh of oXr sons, and I ZoXld feel an obligaWion Wo redacW sXch
Whings before releasing a Zider sZaWh of oXr We[W commXnicaWion.

InsWead, I Zill giYe Whe highlighWs, Zhich esWablish ZhaW oXr d\namic Zas reall\ like and Zhich
direcWl\ refXWe man\ falsehoods in her WesWimon\. AnWicipaWing Whe poWenWial coXnWerargXmenW WhaW
I am cherr\-picking oXr We[W message hisWor\ Wo painW Whe relaWionship in a Za\ WhaW Zas differenW
from Whe big picWXre, I proclaim WhaW eYer\Whing I Zill shoZ is e[acWl\ in line ZiWh Whe big picWXre. If
NASPA has an\ doXbW aboXW Whis, I am Zilling Wo do Whe Zork of redacWing and releasing Whe
enWire We[W message hisWor\ Wo demonsWraWe WhaW Where is no decepWion in m\ accoXnW.
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In eaUl\ DecembeU 2019, Lola and I began Walking aboXW Whe SoVVibiliW\ of me YiViWing SalW Lake
CiW\ and Veeing heU, a WUiS Ze did noW end XS VchedXling XnWil JanXaU\ 30Wh-31VW 2020. She
VhoZed no heViWanc\ aboXW WhaW SoVVibiliW\ and ZaV eYen SUoacWiYe in making VXggeVWionV aboXW
meWhodV of WUaYel and SlaceV Wo VWa\ Zhile I ZaV WheUe. She canceled Whe WUiS aW Whe laVW minXWe,
on JanXaU\ 29, 2020, becaXVe Vhe became ill, bXW Vhe TXickl\ iniWiaWed diVcXVVionV of XV making
a WUiS elVeZheUe WogeWheU, Zhich UeVXlWed in XV going Wo PXeUWo Rico WogeWheU fUom MaUch 10Wh Wo
17Wh. We had a ZondeUfXl Wime WogeWheU, and afWeUZaUd oXU We[Wing became mXch moUe UomanWic.
She lobbied haUd foU me Wo come Wo SalW Lake CiW\, inclXding Welling me of endoUVemenWV of Whe
idea fUom heU famil\ membeUV and fUiendV. We alVo joked dXUing WhiV SeUiod aboXW m\ SUocliYiW\
foU going on angU\ UanWV WhaW Vhe had Veen a liWWle biW of Zhile Ze ZeUe WogeWheU in PXeUWo Rico.

On ASUil 17Wh, I conWacWed heU aboXW Whe incidenW UeSoUW UegaUding Whe Facebook conYeUVaWion
ZiWh DaUUell Da\, and Vhe helSed me comSoVe a calm UeVSonVe Zhich I VXbmiWWed Wo NASPA.
She ZaV noW SXW off b\ m\ angeU and ZaV highl\ V\mSaWheWic and VXSSoUWiYe.

We liYed WogeWheU in SalW Lake CiW\ fUom ASUil 24Wh Wo Ma\ 29Wh. DXUing WhiV Wime I ZUoWe Whe YaVW
majoUiW\ of Whe fiUVW dUafW of Whe VSleneWic.neW blog, and Lola ZaV m\ iniWial UeadeU and ediWoU. I
conWinXed Wo go on laWe nighW angU\ UanWV Zhile Ze liYed WogeWheU, and Zhile WhiV XndoXbWedl\
Zeighed SV\chicall\ on Lola, Vhe neYeU commXnicaWed feeling in dangeU ZiWh me. She onl\
commXnicaWed V\mSaWh\ and VXSSoUW. She felW Vafe and haSS\ enoXgh ZiWh me WhaW Vhe
decided Wo dUiYe back Wo SeaWWle ZiWh me fUom Ma\ 29Wh Wo 31VW.

We liYed WogeWheU in SeaWWle fUom Ma\ 31VW Wo JXne 15Wh, aW Zhich SoinW Ze decided Whe
UelaWionVhiS had UXn iWV coXUVe, and Vhe fleZ back Wo SalW Lake CiW\. We conWinXed Wo be on good
WeUmV foU oYeU a monWh afWeU WhaW, WhUoXgh JXl\ 23Ud. DXUing WhaW Wime SeUiod, Vhe conWinXed Wo
SaUWiciSaWe in man\ Google MeeW geW-WogeWheUV ZiWh me and m\ fUiendV Wo Sla\ gameV and
Vociali]e, and Ze conWinXed Wo engage in man\ We[W conYeUVaWionV. When I SXbliVhed Whe
VSleneWic.neW blog on JXl\ 14Wh and 15Wh, Vhe ZaV highl\ VXSSoUWiYe, boWh b\ Vending me
SeUVonal comSlimenWV aboXW Whe blog and b\ ZUiWing commenWV on m\ Facebook SoVWV WhaW
VXSSoUWed m\ Vide and diVaUmed VeYeUal of Whe cUiWiciVmV of deWUacWoUV.

On JXl\ 24Wh, Vhe emailed me aboXW needing Wo cUeaWe moUe diVWance, and Ze had a UeVSecWfXl
conYeUVaWion. I comSlied ZiWh heU ZiVheV and onl\ conWacWed heU again almoVW half a \eaU laWeU
on DecembeU 11Wh, on Whe UecommendaWion of Mina Le, becaXVe of a Sla\ Ueading eYenW WhaW
Lola and I ZeUe boWh aWWending. We had anoWheU UeVSecWfXl email conYeUVaWion in a VeUieV of
DecembeU 11Wh emailV, in Zhich Vhe e[SliciWl\ Vaid WhaW iW ZaV noW a SUoblem foU XV Wo SaUWiciSaWe
in Whe Vame eYenWV ZiWh mXWXal fUiendV, VXch aV Whe Sla\ UeadingV and ScUabble WoXUnamenWV,
and WhaW iW ZaV alVo no SUoblem foU me Wo conWacW heU if Whe UeaVon ZaV imSoUWanW.

I didn¶W iniWiaWe conYeUVaWion afWeU WhaW, bXW Vhe did, on FebUXaU\ 12Wh, 2021, b\ gifWing me a
VXbVcUiSWion Wo Will AndeUVon¶V TZiWch channel. We When had a lengWh\ We[W conYeUVaWion
caWching XS on each oWheU¶V liYeV, Zhich inclXded her Welling me WhaW she Zas liYing in Florida
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Zhile I Zas alread\ liYing in PorWland, Oregon. She alVo aVked me Wo ZaWch heU TZiWch ScUabble
bUoadcaVW Whe ne[W da\, Zhich I did on WhaW one occaVion bXW neYeU again.

We boWh SaUWiciSaWed in Mina Le oUgani]ed Sla\ UeadingV in DecembeU 2020 and FebUXaU\ 2021
and e[changed fUiendl\ We[WV aboXW Whe Vecond one.

I WhoXghW Ze ZeUe on imSUoYing WeUmV, and I We[Wed heU on Ma\ 2nd, 2021 aboXW a SoVVible
bXVineVV WUiS Wo SalW Lake CiW\ Wo Vee if Vhe ZaV in Whe aUea and ZanWed Wo meeW. When Vhe did
noW UeSl\, I neYeU We[Wed heU again.

The onl\ laWeU non-in-SeUVon commXnicaWion Ze had ZaV Zhen I accidenWall\ came acUoVV a
neZ InVWagUam accoXnW of heUV on AXgXVW 4Wh, 2021, Zhich VhoZed WhaW Vhe had moYed Wo
PoUWland. I VenW heU a WZo VenWence meVVage VimSl\ Zelcoming heU Wo WoZn. She VenW a longeU
UeVSonVe, in Zhich Vhe admiWWed WhaW m\ inWeUacWionV ZiWh heU dXUing Whe TZiWch bUoadcaVW had
been VXSSoUWiYe and fUiendl\ and confeVVed WhaW Whe\ ZeUe VWUeVVfXl foU heU becaXVe of heU oZn
cUa]ineVV. I UeSlied ZiWh a Whank \oX and ZiVhed heU Seace, and I neYeU conWacWed heU in an\
Za\ again.

Timeline and Inde[ of CoUUoboUaWing EYidence foU RelaWionVhiS
WiWh Lola
ElemenWs in iWalics in Whe Wimeline do noW haYe an associaWed screenshoW, bXW are simpl\ Wo make
Whe chronolog\ of Whe relaWionship clearer.

When I daWed Lola she ZenW b\ Whe name BriAnna McKissen, and Lola Zas an infreqXenWl\ Xsed
nickname. IW is m\ XndersWanding WhaW she noZ mosWl\ goes b\ Lola, and in ZriWing Whis
docXmenW I haYe defaXlWed Wo Xsing WhaW oXW of respecW for ZhaW she ZanWs Wo be called.
HoZeYer, in emails and oWher ZriWWen soXrces, I almosW alZa\s addressed her as BriAnna or Bri.

DecembeU 11, 2019: Lola fiUVW menWionV Whe SoVVibiliW\ of me coming Wo SLC, afWeU Ze had been
We[Wing foU WZo monWhV. (FigXUe 6)

JanXaU\ 9, 2020: I SUoSoVe JanXaU\ 30Wh-31VW daWeV foU a YiViW, Zhich Vhe agUeeV Wo. Lola makeV
VeYeUal VXggeVWionV aboXW WhingV Ze can do in SLC and diVcXVVeV WUanVSoUWaWion oSWionV ZiWh
me. (FigXUe 7)

JanXaU\ 23Ud & 27Wh, 2020: MoUe We[WV Slanning WUiS, inclXding UecommendaWionV fUom heU aboXW
hoWelV. (FigXUe 8)

JanXaU\ 29Wh & 30Wh, 2020: AfWeU I had alUead\ begXn m\ dUiYe fUom SeaWWle Wo SalW Lake CiW\,
Vhe canceled Whe YiViW dXe Wo illneVV, and I UediUecWed m\ WUaYelV Wo BXWWe, MonWana. (FigXUe 9)

We also Walked on Whe phone aW WhaW Wime, and she soXnded sick. WiWhin Whe ne[W feZ da\s, she
sXggesWed on Whe phone WhaW Ze boWh fl\ someZhere else insWead of aWWempWing a road Wrip.
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FebUXaU\ 7Wh, 2020: She bUingV XS in We[W meVVage WhaW Ze VhoXld fl\ VomeZheUe elVe and Ze
begin Wo diVcXVV SoVVibiliWieV. (FigXUe 10)

FebUXaU\ 13Wh, 2020: I SUoSoVe PXeUWo Rico, and Vhe We[WV ³Oooh, I Yer\ mXch like WhaW idea.´
(FigXUe 11)

FebUXaU\ 14Wh, 2020: She confiUmV PXeUWo Rico WUiS foU MaUch 10Wh-17Wh and immediaWel\ SXWV in
Whe YacaWion Wime aW ZoUk. (FigXUe 12)

MaUch 8Wh-9Wh, 2020: Amid man\ UomanWic We[WV, Vhe We[WV me aboXW SlaceV Wo YiViW in PXeUWo
Rico. (FigXUe 13)

MaUch 17Wh, 2020: AfWeU Ze boWh UeWXUned Wo oXU oZn homeV fUom PXeUWo Rico, Vhe We[WV, ³I
VhoXld haYe come Wo SeaWWle.´ (FigXUe 14)

MaUch 19Wh, 2020: I VhaUe a SicWXUe of me in m\ kiWchen and Vhe ZUiWeV ³ Wish I Zere Where´
(FigXUe 15)

MaUch 28Wh, 2020: We joke aboXW m\ Wendenc\ foU making angU\ UanWV, Zhile I ZaV VWUeVVed WhaW
I mighW haYe caXghW COVID. (FigXUe 16)

ASUil 2nd, 2020: She VendV We[WV WU\ing Wo coa[ me Wo come Wo SalW Lake CiW\, inclXding a SicWXUe
of a joke SaSeUback coYeU enWiWled, ³Come Be M\ FUiend.´ (FigXUe 17)

ASUil 9Wh, 2020: She WellV me heU fUiend JoUdan VXSSoUWV me coming Wo SLC. (FigXUe 18)

ASUil 10Wh, 2020: She WellV me heU fUiend Joel VXSSoUWV me coming Wo SLC. (FigXUe 19)

ASUil 12Wh, 2020: She WellV me heU famil\ VXSSoUWV me coming Wo SLC. I jokingl\ aVk heU if heU
famil\ knoZV I¶m a SV\choSaWh, and Vhe Va\V heU Von knoZV. (FigXUe 20)

ASUil 14Wh, 2020: She VendV me a long We[W Va\ing ³YoX haYe made me caUe YeU\ deeSl\ aboXW
\oX.´ (FigXUe 21)

ASUil 17Wh, 2020: She helSV me dUafW m\ UeVSonVe Wo Whe DaUUell Da\ incidenW UeSoUW and When
Va\V ³ Sending YirWXal hXgs (and s\mpaWheWic rage).´ (FigXUe 22)

ASUil 20Wh, 2020: She WalkV aboXW oUdeUing a deVk Vo Ze ZoXld boWh haYe ZoUkVSaceV and
VhoZV me WhaW Vhe haV emSWied cloVeW VSace foU me. (FigXUe 23)

ASUil 22nd, 2020: She VendV a UomanWic We[W, Va\ing Vhe iV looking foUZaUd Wo me being WheUe.
(FigXUe 24)
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April 24Wh Wo Ma\ 29Wh, 2020: Lola and I liYe WogeWher in her aparWmenW in SLC.

Ma\ 30Wh Wo JXne 15Wh, 2020: AfWer a WZo da\ driYe from SLC Wo SeaWWle WogeWher, Lola and I liYe
WogeWher in m\ aparWmenW in SeaWWle. We sWopped daWing on JXne 15Wh.

JXne 15Wh Wo JXl\ 23rd, 2020: Each of Xs liYing in oXr separaWe homes bXW conWinXing Wo be on
good Werms.

JXne 29Wh, 2020: She We[WV me aboXW hoZ Vhe ZaV XVing coffee beanV WhaW I had boXghW heU aV
a gifW in SeaWWle. (FigXUe 25)

JXl\ 2nd, 2020: She comSlimenWV me on a ScUabble VWUeam on TZiWch. (FigXUe 26)

JXl\ 24Wh, 2020: She emailV me WhaW Vhe needV Wo make diVWance. I email heU back UeVSecWfXll\
and Ze ceaVe all commXnicaWion foU neaUl\ half a \eaU. (FigXUe 27)

OcWober, 2020: I moYe from SeaWWle, WashingWon Wo PorWland, Oregon.

DecembeU 11Wh, 2020: On Mina Le¶V VXggeVWion, I email Lola becaXVe of an XScoming Sla\
Ueading WhaW Ze aUe boWh SaUWiciSaWing in. Lola ZUiWeV back TXickl\, and Ze haYe a VhoUW and
UeVSecWfXl email e[change in Zhich Vhe Va\V iW iV noW SUoblem foU XV Wo be in Whe Sla\ Ueading
gUoXS WogeWheU, and WhaW Vhe Zill Xnblock me on Facebook, and WhaW iW iV oka\ foU me Wo email
heU if iW¶V imSoUWanW. (FigXUe 28)

December 26, 2020: Lola and I boWh parWicipaWe in Mina Le¶s pla\ reading.

FebUXaU\ 12Wh, 2021: Lola UeiniWiaWeV conWacW b\ gifWing me a VXbVcUiSWion Wo Will AndeUVon¶V
TZiWch channel. I Vend a We[W Whanking heU and aVking ZhaW iW doeV. She e[SlainV, and When Ze
haYe an e[Wended caWch-XS conYeUVaWion aboXW oXU liYeV, in Zhich Vhe UeYealV Vhe iV liYing in
FloUida, Zhile I am liYing in PoUWland, OUegon. She When inYiWeV me Wo ZaWch heU ScUabble
liYeVWUeam Whe folloZing da\. (FigXUe 29)

FebrXar\ 13Wh, 2021: I ZaWch Lola¶s Scrabble liYesWream for Whe onl\ Wime eYer.

FebUXaU\ 27Wh, 2021: E[change of comSlimenWaU\ We[WV aboXW Vecond Mina Le Sla\ Ueading WhaW
Ze boWh aWWended. (FigXUe 29, aW Whe end)

Ma\ 2nd, 2021: LaVW We[W Wo Lola, aboXW SoVVibl\ meeWing in SLC dXUing a bXVineVV WUiS. (FigXUe
30)

AXgXVW 4Wh, 2021: ConYeUVaWion on heU neZ InVWagUam accoXnW afWeU Vhe moYed Wo PoUWland.
(FigXUe 31)
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(E) ReYieZ of EYanV Clinch\¶V SWaWemenW

EYanV and JennifeU haYe been haUaVVing me foU Vi[ \eaUV and doing eYeU\Whing Whe\ can Wo
ZUiWe a falVe naUUaWiYe WhaW I haYe been haUaVVing Whem. I Zill noZ UeYieZ WheiU VWaWemenWV, noW
onl\ Wo demonVWUaWe WhaW WheiU chaUgeV hold no ZaWeU, bXW alVo Wo highlighW all of Whe Za\V in
Zhich Whe\ aUe inWenWionall\ deceiYing \oX in oUdeU Wo aVVaVVinaWe m\ chaUacWeU.

EYanV¶V SoinW #1: He iV noW WU\ing Wo oVWUaci]e me, FALSE
BefoUe he leYelV an\ chaUgeV againVW me, EYanV VWaUWV oXW b\ den\ing WhaW he iV aWWacking me
and WhaW he haV been diVSaUaging me foU a long Wime. He iV XVing Whe ³black iV ZhiWe´ UheWoUical
WechniTXe of Va\ing Whe e[acW oSSoViWe of Whe WUXWh. AW Whe beginning of hiV VWaWemenW he Va\V

³I XndersWand WhaW Where's a narraWiYe oXW Where in Whe Scrabble commXniW\ WhaW I haYe
somehoZ WXrned oWher pla\ers againsW DaYid Koenig - WhaW becaXse of some
deep-seaWed anger or haWred WhaW I feel, I'Ye led some sorW of campaign of osWracism Wo
keep him oXW of Whe Scrabble commXniW\. ThaW narraWiYe is false.´

He conclXdeV hiV VWaWemenW ZiWh Whe comSleWel\ conWUadicWoU\,

³RespecWfXll\, I am asking for his banishmenW for life from oXr commXniW\. I WrXl\ belieYe
WhaW is Whe onl\ Za\ Wo deal ZiWh Whis WhreaW once and for all.´

He iV liWeUall\ Va\ing, ³I am noW WU\ing Wo oVWUaci]e DaYid Koenig. I am WU\ing Wo oVWUaci]e DaYid
Koenig!´ And he hoSeV WhaW he haV WhUoZn enoXgh obfXVcaWion and lieV in beWZeen WhaW \oX
Zon¶W noWice Whe blaWanW h\SocUiV\.

EYanV¶V SoinW #2: He iV ignoUing me and noW aWWacking m\
chaUacWeU, FALSE

He Va\V ³I haYe Wried Yer\ hard Wo aYoid doing an\Whing aW all Wo anWagoni]e DK.´ HeUe iV a liVW of
docXmenWed and obVeUYed Za\V in Zhich WhiV iV a lie:

(1) Man\ SeoSle in Whe 2017 NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW Uoom VaZ him jXmS XS and doZn, SXmS
hiV fiVW, and childiVhl\ VhoXW ³YES!´ In Whe middle of Whe WoXUnamenW Uoom afWeU he Zon a
challenge againVW me.

(2) Well in adYance of me moYing Wo SeaWWle in ASUil 2018, boWh WalkeU Willingham and ChUiV
GUXbb diYXlged Wo me WhaW EYanV had Vaid haWefXl WhingV aboXW me and WhaW he acWiYel\
aWWemSWed Wo inWeUfeUe ZiWh me geWWing WogeWheU foU caVXal ScUabble geW-WogeWheUV ZiWh Whem. I
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had been making bXVineVV WUiSV Wo SeaWWle and geWWing WogeWheU Wo Sla\ ScUabble ZiWh Whem foU
\eaUV befoUe EYanV moYed Wo Whe aUea. MoUe deWail iV in Whe VSleneWic.neW blog.

(3) In an email fUom JXne 18, 2018 WalkeU Willingham ZUoWe Wo me: (FigXUe 32)

I had a similar inWernal reacWion Zhen I oYerheard EYans Walking Wo someone else in a
pXblic seWWing WhaW \oX Zere "an aZfXl, aZfXl hXman being."  IW Zas especiall\ jarring
becaXse iW seemed oXW of characWer for EYans, and iW sWicks Whe lisWener in Whe
XncomforWable posiWion of Zondering "is Where reall\ someWhing WhaW bad?"  EYans'
commenW Zas Zorse becaXse iW Zas sWaWed so pXblicl\.  IW ma\ haYe made me Zonder
ZhaW iW Zas aboXW \oX, bXW iW cerWainl\ redoXnded poorl\ on EYans in m\ e\es.

(4) TeUU\ Kang Wold me in EdinbXUgh in 2019 WhaW EYanV had SUeYioXVl\ come XS Wo heU and
VSecificall\ aVked heU noW Wo menWion m\ name in fUonW of him. AccoUding Wo TeUU\, WhiV ZaV oXW of
Whe blXe. ASSaUenWl\, EYanV¶V haWUed of me ZaV Vo inWenVe he coXldn¶W eYen VWand heaUing m\
name.

(5) ShoUWl\ afWeU I SXbliVhed Whe VSleneWic.neW blog, BUian BoZman ZUoWe in a commenW on m\
Facebook Zall daWed JXl\ 16Wh, 2020: (FigXUe 33)

And iW pissed me off a liWWle Wo see Jennifer claim WhaW DaYe Zas "acWiYel\ disparaging" her
and hXrWing her repXWaWion Zhen I kneZ WhaW EYans aW leasW had been doing WhaW Wo DaYe
for \ears.

(6) In anoWheU commenW daWed ThXUVda\ JXl\ 16Wh, 2020, WinWeU alVo WeVWified Wo fiUVWhand
knoZledge WhaW JennifeU and/oU EYanV ZeUe diVSaUaging me. (RefXWing MaUWin DeMello¶V
VWaWemenW. FigXUe 34.)

MarWin De Mello: in all Whe \ears WhaW I¶Ye knoZn Jen and EYans I haYe noW heard Whem
sa\ a single Whing againsW or eYen aboXW DaYe. and likeZise I Zas aroXnd for Whe sWarWing
of coco and m\ percepWions align ZiWh Melissa¶s.

WinWer: I knoZ for a facW (becaXse I Zas in Whe room Zhere iW happened) WhaW MarWin is
misWaken (noW in his e[perience, bXW his leYel of knoZledge), and I haYe posWed ZhaW
happened on m\ oZn Wimeline earlier Whis \ear, so I¶m noW going Wo rehash iW here.

(7) In a commenW daWed WedneVda\ JXl\ 15Wh, 2020, Shelle\ SWeYenV alVo WeVWified Wo fiUVWhand
knoZledge WhaW JennifeU and EYanV ZeUe diVSaUaging me: (FigXUe 35)

HaYe \oX eYer been in an XncomforWable siWXaWion ZiWh anoWher person in \oXr
commXniW\ WhaW \oX KNOW FOR A FACT is badmoXWhing \oX Wo mXWXal friends and
making Whings aZkZard?
I haYe.
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IW sXcks and aW leasW he is oZning Xp Wo his oZn parW in all of iW. EmoWions someWimes
driYe people Wo do XnsWable Whings, bXW I can Well \oX WhaW eYen as a WangenWial member of
Whis commXniW\, I am personall\ s\mpaWheWic Wo ZhaW he¶s going WhroXgh, mainl\ becaXse
I barel\ knoZ [Jennifer and EYans] and I haYe heard Whem badmoXWh him and I kneZ
Where Zas some sorW of issXe afWer haYing like one dinner ZiWh Whem once.

ThiV enWiUe liVW UefeUV Wo behaYioU of EYanV WoZaUd and aboXW me in Whe WhUee and a half \eaU
SeUiod fUom JanXaU\ 2017 Wo JXl\ 2020, befoUe Whe SXblicaWion of Whe VSleneWic.neW blog.

FUom m\ inWeUacWionV ZiWh man\ oWheU SeoSle in Whe ScUabble commXniW\, I haYe inWXiWed WhaW
EYanV haV diVSaUaged me man\ moUe WimeV Whan I haYe obVeUYed. The liVW aboYe iV VimSl\ Whe
caVeV WhaW I obVeUYed foU m\Velf oU goW WeVWimon\ fUom oWheUV aboXW.

EYanV¶V SoinW #3: In hiV mind, I am a man Zho abXVeV Zomen,
PURELY AD HOMINEM ATTACK WITH NO SUBSTANCE
EYanV makeV an XnVXbVWanWiaWed claim WhaW I abXVe Zomen and a meaningleVV comSaUiVon of
me Wo Sam KanWimaWhi. The onl\ connecWion beWZeen XV WhaW he makeV iV WhaW he haV ]eUo
UeVSecW foU eiWheU of XV. TheUe iV noWhing of VXbVWance aboXW me in WhiV enWiUe SaUagUaSh, and all
he iV doing iV WU\ing Wo dUXm XS haWUed foU me. IW¶V noW eYen ZoUWh UeVSonding Wo.

EYanV¶V SoinW #4: I aWWemSWed Wo UegiVWeU foU a ³hoXVe WoXUnamenW´,
FALSE, IT WAS A FULLY RATED NASPA TOURNAMENT
On ZhaW gUoXndV doeV EYanV cUiWici]e me foU Vigning XS foU ZhaW he callV a ³hoXVe WoXUnamenW´
(Whe 2019 Hood RiYeU WoXUnamenW, foU Zhich I VenW him an enWU\ fee in SeSWembeU 2018) eYen
WhoXgh iW ZaV a NASPA UaWed eYenW feaWXUing a nXmbeU of Whe beVW WoXUnamenW ScUabble Sla\eUV
in Whe coXnWU\ Zhen all of Whe folloZing aUe WUXe?

(1) NeiWheU he noU JennifeU had eYeU been Zilling Wo VSeak Wo me aboXW ZhaW WheiU gUieYanceV
ZeUe ZiWh me.
(2) I had alUead\ behaYed ciYill\ Wo Whem foU a SeUiod of 21 monWhV afWeU Whe 2017 NeZ OUleanV
WoXUnamenW, eYen in Whe face of diVgXVWing behaYioU b\ EYanV WoZaUd me and behind m\ back.
(3) I had noW eYen aWWemSWed Wo enWeU noU conWacW Whem aboXW an\ of Whe man\ WoXUnamenWV Whe\
had UXn in WhaW neaUl\ WZo \eaU SeUiod befoUehand, and I had made no comSlainWV Wo Whem oU
an\one elVe aboXW Whe Za\V in Zhich Whe\ ZeUe bUeaking NASPA UXleV Wo make Whe UegiVWUaWion
liVWV e[clXViYe Wo WheiU fUiendV.
(4) I made no comSlainWV Zhen Whe\ denied m\ enWU\ and VimSl\ VenW a goodZill aSolog\ ZiWh no
e[SecWaWion of a UeVSonVe. (FigXUe 37)
(5) I neYeU aWWemSWed Wo enWeU a WoXUnamenW of WheiUV again.

FXUWheUmoUe, aV I UeYealed in Whe VSleneWic.neW blog, m\ inWenWion all along in Vending in an enWU\
fee ZaV noW Wo aWWend Whe WoXUnamenW, bXW UaWheU Wo oSen XS a line of commXnicaWion Vo WhaW
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EYanV and JennifeU coXld addUeVV WheiU gUieYanceV ZiWh me. ThiV ZaV demonVWUaWed b\ Whe fiUVW
dUafW of Whe aSolog\ email, Zhich I VenW Wo ChUiV LiSe and JeUem\ Cahnmann, Zhich inclXded
WheVe lineV: (FigXUe 38)

I don¶W eYen reall\ care aboXW ZheWher I go Wo Whis WoXrnamenW or noW; ZhaW is mXch more
imporWanW is resolYing Whe Wension in Whis siWXaWion«

I signed Xp for Whis WoXrnamenW, noW oXW of an\ desire Wo make life difficXlW for Whe WZo of
\oX, bXW simpl\ becaXse iW is ZhaW I ZoXld haYe done if \oX WZo Zere noW behaYing Whe
Za\ \oX Zere, and I WhoXghW iW mighW proYide an opporWXniW\ for \oX Wo acWXall\ address
\oXr problems ZiWh me. I am glad WhaW \oX haYe done so.

EYanV¶V SoinW #5: I XVed SWeYe Pellinen aV an inWeUmediaU\ Wo
WhUeaWen Wo go SXblic ZiWh gUieYanceV, FALSE
FiUVW, EYanV and JennifeU aUe aWWemSWing Wo be SoliWical leadeUV and WoXUnamenW oUgani]eUV ZiWhin
oXU ScUabble WoXUnamenW commXniW\. TheUe iV abVolXWel\ noWhing ZUong ZiWh making SXblic
VWaWemenWV WhaW cUiWici]e Whem foU WheiU SoliWical UecoUd, Zhich iV Whe onl\ Whing I cUiWici]ed Whem foU
in Whe blog.

Second, iW¶V noW eYen WUXe WhaW I XVed SWeYe Pellinen aV an inWeUmediaU\. SWeYe miVXndeUVWood
ZhaW I Vaid Wo him, and I had no deViUe foU him Wo SaVV an\Whing I Vaid back Wo EYanV. AW Whe Wime
I Walked Wo SWeYe, I had baUel\ VWaUWed ZUiWing ZhaW ZaV When onl\ a fiUVW dUafW of m\ VWoU\ foU m\
oZn WheUaSeXWic SXUSoVeV, and I had made no deciVionV Wo SXbliVh an\Whing.

In Whe beginning, m\ SUimaU\ moWiYaWion foU Welling Whe VWoU\ Wo oWheUV ZaV Wo Zin back SeoSle
Zho had been mXWXal fUiendV of mine and of EYanV and JennifeU, and I coXld haYe mXch moUe
effecWiYel\ done WhaW b\ Vending Whe VWoU\ onl\ Wo a VelecW gUoXS of WhoVe fUiendV.

I onl\ became conYinced WhaW Whe VWoU\ needed Wo be made SXblic Zhen EYanV and JennifeU VSliW
off fUom NASPA aW Whe end of 2019. I did Vo foU WZo UeaVonV, boWh enWiUel\ SoliWical: (1) Wo cXUWail
Whe gUoZWh of WheiU oUgani]aWion and Whe XndeUmining of NASPA and (2) becaXVe of Whe Za\ Whe\
coUUXSWed Whe Weam USA VelecWion SUoceVV foU WheiU ViUWXal WoUld CXS.

EYanV¶V SoinW #6: M\ VSleneWic.neW blog ZaV a UanW filled ZiWh
diVWoUWionV and lieV aboXW him, PURELY OPINION
I Wold Whe enWiUe VWoU\ in a UeVSonVible Za\ WhaW ZaV aV chaUiWable Wo EYanV and JennifeU aV I
coXld be. I cUiWici]ed Whem onl\ on SoliWical gUoXndV, and I belieYe WhaW iW ZaV in Whe beVW inWeUeVW
of Whe enWiUe inWeUnaWional ScUabble commXniW\ WhaW I made Whe VWoU\ SXblic. B\ cUeaWing a
Uenegade oUgani]aWion, EYanV and JennifeU eYaded Whe oYeUVighW and diVciSlinaU\ SUoceVVeV of
NASPA and cUeaWed a ViWXaWion ZheUe indiYidXal ScUabble Sla\eUV needed Wo make infoUmed
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choiceV aboXW ZhaW oUgani]aWionV Wo VXSSoUW. I ZaV a ZhiVWlebloZeU, e[SoVing Whe Za\ Whe\
bUoke NASPA UXleV foU liWeUall\ 100% of Whe WoXUnamenWV Whe\ Uan, in Za\V WhaW e[clXded me
(and Vome oWheUV) and Zhich XnleYeled Whe Sla\ing field.

FXUWheUmoUe, aV faU aV I can Vee, eYeU\Whing I VSecXlaWed aboXW EYanV¶V and JennifeU¶V oSinionV
and moWiYaWionV ZaV comSleWel\ accXUaWe. EYeU\Whing Whe\ haYe done in Whe WZo \eaUV Vince WhaW
Wime, inclXding Whe VXbmiVVion of WhiV chaUacWeU-aVVaVVinaWion and admiWWed aWWemSW Wo oVWUaci]e
me, SoVing aV an incidenW UeSoUW, iV comSleWel\ conViVWenW ZiWh Whe VWoU\ WhaW I haYe Wold.

EYanV¶V SoinW #7 (inVinXaWed): I Sla\ed in an online WoogleV clXb
diUecWed b\ him and JennifeU, FALSE
When I Sla\ed aW Whe online WoogleV clXb UXn b\ WheiU oUgani]aWion fUom JanXaU\ Wo FebUXaU\
2021, neiWheU EYanV noU JennifeU ZeUe diUecWoUV of Whe clXb. The onl\ diUecWoUV ZeUe PeWeU
AUmVWUong, Beck\ D\eU, and Geoff TheYenoW. ThiV iV coUUoboUaWed b\ Whe email WhaW BUian
BoZman ZUoWe Wo me on MaUch 4Wh, 2021, in UeVSonVe Wo me Welling him aboXW Whe banning.
(FigXUe 2, aW Whe end)

Look cloVel\ aW EYanV¶V ZoUdV in WhiV bXlleW SoinW. IW iV obYioXV WhaW he iV inWenWionall\ WU\ing Wo
miVlead \oX ZiWhoXW Welling an oXWUighW lie. He Va\V, ³he Wried Wo pla\ in oXr online Scrabble clXb,
eYen WhoXgh he knoZs he is noW Zelcome Wo pla\ Scrabble eYenWs WhaW Ze direcW. Three oWher
co-direcWors of WhaW clXb (noW Jennifer or m\self)´ Wo aWWemSW Wo geW \oX Wo jXmS Wo a falVe
conclXVion WhaW he and JennifeU ZeUe diUecWing Whe clXb aW Whe Wime.

EYanV¶V and JennifeU¶V MaUch 2020 deciVion Wo alloZ me Wo Sla\ onl\ in eYenWV diUecWed b\ oWheU
SeoSle in WheiU oUgani]aWion ZaV aUbiWUaU\, YindicWiYe, and bXll\ing. IW ZaV alVo a comSleWel\
SUemediWaWed aWWemSW Wo e[clXde me, Vince I had neYeU aWWemSWed Wo noU indicaWed an\ inWeUeVW in
Sla\ing in an\Whing UXn b\ WheiU oUgani]aWion. EYen if \oX coXld VomehoZ make Whe caVe WhaW iW
ZaV a UeaVonable deciVion, iW ZaV alVo comSleWel\ XnSUofeVVional Wo Well WhiV deciVion Wo m\
SeUVonal fUiendV Mina Le and CeVaU del SolaU UaWheU Whan Welling iW Wo me diUecWl\.

FXUWheUmoUe, UegaUdleVV of hoZ XnSUofeVVional and YindicWiYe Whe\ ZeUe, I ZaV noWhing bXW
SUofeVVional and UeVSecWfXl in UeVSonVe. I folloZed WheiU XnUeaVonable demandV Wo Whe leWWeU,
onl\ Sla\ing in an online clXb Zhich ZaV noW diUecWed b\ Whem, and m\ behaYioU in WhoVe clXb
VeVVionV ZaV imSeccable, aV CeVaU del SolaU, head deYeloSeU of Whe WoogleV SlaWfoUm, aWWeVWed
Wo in hiV email UeVSonVe Wo me Welling him aboXW Whe ban. (FigXUe 2) When Whe diUecWoUV VenW me
WheiU leWWeU banning me and inVinXaWing WhaW I ZaV a haUaVVeU, ZiWh no e[SlanaWion oU jXVWificaWion
foU WheiU ban and no UecoXUVe Wo aSSeal, I made ]eUo UeVSonVe and neYeU UeWXUned Wo Whe clXb.

The diUecWoUV PeWeU AUmVWUong, Beck\ D\eU, and Geoff TheYenoW ZeUe fine ZiWh me Sla\ing in
Whe clXb foU VeYeUal ZeekV, and Veemingl\ Whe onl\ Whing WhaW haSSened in beWZeen WhaW mighW
haYe inflXenced WheiU change in Solic\ ZaV me making one UeleYanW commenW in UeVSonVe Wo a
diUecWoU¶V TXeVWion WhaW mighW haYe dUaZn aWWenWion Wo Whe facW WhaW EYanV ZaV blocking me on
Whe ZebViWe.
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ThiV folloZV a cleaU SaWWeUn. AV faU aV I can Vee, Whe Whing WhaW EYanV haWeV moVW fUom me iV me
holding him accoXnWable foU Whe bad and haWefXl WhingV WhaW he haV acWXall\ done. AV I
menWioned in Whe VSleneWic.neW blog, WhiV VWaUWed a decade ago Zhen I UeYealed in a Facebook
aUgXmenW WhaW he had made anon\moXV bXll\ing meVVageV on JaVon IdalVki¶V LiYeJoXUnal and
had alloZed oWheU SeoSle in Whe ScUabble commXniW\ Wo Whink WhaW Whe\ ZeUe fUom me. He alVo
haWeV Whe VSleneWic.neW blog becaXVe iW e[SoVeV Whe coUUXSW and XneWhical behaYioU WhaW he did
aV a WoXUnamenW diUecWoU and oUgani]eU, aV Zell aV hiV YindicWiYe and bXll\ing behaYioU WoZaUd
me. And he liWeUall\ VWaUWed hiV VWaWemenW in WhiV incidenW UeSoUW WU\ing Wo den\ WhaW he haV
behaYed angUil\ and haWefXll\ WoZaUd me, deVSiWe a SUeSondeUance of eYidence VhoZing WhaW
WhiV iV a lie.

EYanV¶V SoinW #8: I haYe homicidal inWenW WoZaUd him, FALSE
I don¶W blame EYanV foU WhiV one. I belieYe him and JennifeU WhaW Lola SainWed Whe VWoU\ of oXU
SaVW UelaWionVhiS Wo conYince Whem WhaW I had YiolenW inWenWionV WoZaUd EYanV and WoZaUd oWheU
ScUabble Sla\eUV. I haYe alUead\ addUeVVed all of Whe Za\V in Zhich Lola¶V VWaWemenW iV a lie.

FXUWheUmoUe, aV he and JennifeU admiW WhemVelYeV, Whe fiUVW Wime Whe\ had eYeU goWWen Whe falVe
idea inWo WheiU headV WhaW I ZaV aW an\ kind of UiVk of Yiolence ZaV in 2022. So hoZ doeV WhaW
e[Slain oU jXVWif\ WheiU XneWhical and bXll\ing behaYioU WoZaUd me foU Whe SaVW Vi[ \eaUV?

The UeVW of EYanV¶V VWaWemenW iV VimSl\ an aWWemSW Wo ZeaYe Whe lieV WhaW he haV alUead\ Wold
inWo conYincing \oX moUe Wo haWe me.

M\ Facebook aUgXmenW ZiWh DaUUell Da\ iV noW onl\ XWWeUl\ iUUeleYanW Wo him, JennifeU, oU an\one
elVe in Whe ScUabble commXniW\. IW haV alVo alUead\ been UeYieZed b\ NASPA, Zho haYe
alUead\ come Wo a diVciSlinaU\ deciVion aboXW iW. The onl\ UeaVon foU inclXding iW iV, again, Wo
dUXm XS moUe haWUed foU me.

(F) ReYieZ of JennifeU Clinch\¶V SWaWemenW
JennifeU allegeV WhaW Vhe haV VXbmiWWed VomeWhing Wo Whe Solice. I haYe heaUd noWhing fUom laZ
enfoUcemenW in Whe VeYeUal monWhV Vince I UeceiYed WhiV incidenW UeSoUW. If WheUe ZaV a Solice
inYeVWigaWion inWo me, Whe laZ ZoXld UeTXiUe me Wo be noWified. ThiV meanV WhaW eiWheU JennifeU iV
l\ing aboXW VXbmiWWing VomeWhing Wo Whe Solice, oU WhaW Whe Solice conVideUed heU VXbmiVVion Wo
haYe no legal meUiW.

A gUeaW deal of ZhaW JennifeU Va\V iV comSleWel\ oXWVide Whe boXndV of ZhaW a ScUabble
oUgani]aWion VhoXld be haYing an\ VoUW of heaUing on. HoZ good oU bad a bo\fUiend I ZaV iV
iUUeleYanW and noW Whe bXVineVV of an\one Ueading WhiV VWaWemenW. HeU enWiUe UeaVon foU making
WhiV VWaWemenW iV a chaUacWeU aVVaVVinaWion. EYeU\Whing Vhe Va\V aboXW me iV falVe. FUankl\, I
YalXe m\ good name aV a hXman being and being a good SaUWneU in UelaWionVhiSV moUe Whan I
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YalXe eYeU being able Wo Sla\ in a ScUabble WoXUnamenW again, and I belieYe WhaW SeoSle Zho
VXbmiW diVgXVWingl\ diVhoneVW and bXll\ing WeVWimon\ like WhiV in a naked aWWemSW Wo deVWUo\
anoWheU SeUVon¶V life mXVW be held accoXnWable. TheUefoUe, I Zill addUeVV all of iW.

PaUW 1 of JennifeU¶V SWaWemenW
I haYe ]eUo memoU\ of an\ kind of Ve[Xal coeUcion eSiVode VXch aV ZhaW Vhe deVcUibeV. NoW
onl\ WhaW, bXW Wo m\ knoZledge Vhe neYeU Vaid an\Whing aboXW VXch an eSiVode Wo me noU Wo
an\one elVe Zhile Ze ZeUe daWing oU in an\ of Whe \eaUV Vince WhaW Wime. AV faU aV I can Well, Vhe
fabUicaWed WhiV VWoU\ in ASUil 2022, Vi[ \eaUV afWeU Ze had an\ VoUW of UelaWionVhiS.

I XndeUVWand WhaW Ueading Lola¶V falVe WeVWimon\ in eaUl\ 2022 mighW haYe SXW enoXgh of a VcaUe
inWo JennifeU WhaW Vhe felW Vhe had Wo lie in oUdeU Wo e[Sel me fUom ScUabble, bXW heU behaYioU
eYen in Whe \eaUV beWZeen 2017 and 2021 iV comSleWel\ inconViVWenW ZiWh iW. TheUe ZeUe VeYeUal
\eaUV dXUing Zhich JennifeU Veemed Wo haYe no SUoblem ZiWh me aW all, and all of Whe haWUed I
UeceiYed ZaV fUom EYanV. She liWeUall\ Wold JXd\ Romann in Whe UeVWUoom aW a caVXal ScUabble
geW-WogeWheU WhaW Vhe did noW haYe a SUoblem Sla\ing aW ScUabble geW-WogeWheUV ZiWh me and onl\
EYanV did. The laVW Wime Ze Sla\ed ScUabble, aW Whe Ma\ 2018 PoUWland one-da\ WoXUnamenW, Ze
had a fUiendl\ conYeUVaWion and laXghed a biW afWeU Whe game. And Whe laVW Wime Ze ZeUe eYeU in
Whe Vame Slace, on JXl\ 17, 2018 aW ChUiV LiSe¶V Zedding in AUXba, Vhe Zalked acUoVV Whe
beach Wo me and aWWemSWed Wo VWaUW a conYeUVaWion ZiWh me, Zhich I ZaV XncomfoUWable ZiWh.
DoeV an\ of WhiV VoXnd like Whe behaYioU of Vomeone fUom Zhom I coeUced Ve[?

FXUWheUmoUe, Zh\ iV WhiV VWoU\ coming oXW noZ? Since 2017, JennifeU and EYanV haYe been
doing man\ XneWhical WhingV ZiWhin Whe ScUabble commXniW\ Wo XndeUmine faiU and eTXal acceVV
Wo WoXUnamenW UegiVWUaWionV in a SUemediWaWed and XnneceVVaU\ aWWemSW Wo keeS me oXW of WheiU
eYenWV. If WhiV VWoU\ ZaV noW a bUand neZ concocWion in 2022, Zh\ ZoXld Vhe noW haYe Vaid
an\Whing aboXW iW VooneU?

PaUW 2 of JennifeU¶V SWaWemenW
³I aWWempWed Wo end m\ informal relaWionship ZiWh DaYe on aW leasW fiYe occasions, Whe lasW
aWWempW being in person in SepWember 2016,´ iV a blaWanW miVUeSUeVenWaWion of oXU hiVWoU\. We
Sla\ed Whe makeXS/bUeakXS game oYeU Whe SeUiod of WZo \eaUV, and Ze boWh alWeUnaWed being
Whe one Zho WUied Wo geW Whe oWheU one back. In Whe VXmmeU and eaUl\ fall of 2016, Vhe ZaV moUe
ofWen Whe one chaVing me. She VenW me a biUWhda\ gifW in Whe mail in OcWobeU 2016 ZiWh a VZeeW
noWe WhaW ZaV an obYioXV aWWemSW Wo VWa\ emoWionall\ connecWed Wo me, eYen WhoXgh Ze had
baUel\ Veen each oWheU in Whe Vecond half of Whe \eaU. Looking back aW oXU We[W meVVage hiVWoU\,
Vhe alVo VWaUWed We[W conYeUVaWionV ZiWh me on OcWobeU 2nd, 8Wh, 15Wh, 16Wh, 18Wh, 29Wh, and
31VW, inclXding aVking me Wo geW WogeWheU Wo Sla\ ScUabble on Whe 18Wh, Zhich I did noW do.
(FigXUe 36)
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I haYe alUead\ been oYeU Whe emailV and We[W meVVageV leading XS Wo 2017 NeZ OUleanV. M\
inWenWion ZaV geWWing Whe Seace of mind I needed in oUdeU Wo Sla\ ScUabble Zell aW Whe eYenW. I
XndeUVWand WhaW JennifeU ZaV VcaUed b\ m\ ZoUdV, and I haYe acceSWed accoXnWabiliW\ foU WhaW.

RegaUding Whe ³VSeech,´11 I neYeU deliYeUed noU aWWemSWed Wo deliYeU iW Wo heU. I VhaUed iW in Whe
blog aV conWemSoUaneoXV eYidence of m\ WhoXghWV, VSecificall\ Wo VhoZ WhaW I haYe had no
inWeUeVW in being in heU life oU heU being in mine, and WhaW I¶Ye been comSleWel\ conViVWenW on WhaW
Vince 2017.

LiWeUall\ eYeU\Whing elVe in SaUW 2 of heU VWaWemenW, VWaUWing fUom ³When I did face DaYe in
JanXaU\ 2017«´ iV a VWoU\ aboXW ZhaW ZaV going on in heU head, noW aboXW an\Whing WhaW I did.
The commXnicaWionV WhaW I made Wo JennifeU SUioU Wo Whe NeZ OUleanV WoXUnamenW, XSVeWWing aV
Whe\ admiWWedl\ ZeUe, ceaVed on JanXaU\ 5Wh, 2017, moUe Whan a Zeek befoUe Whe WoXUnamenW.
B\ Whe Wime I VaZ heU aW Whe WoXUnamenW I ZaV calm, and I did noW miVbehaYe in an\ Za\ in Whe
WoXUnamenW Uoom. I alVo goW Wo a menWal Slace ZheUe I did noW need Wo Va\ an\Whing aboXW Whe
ViWXaWion acUoVV Whe boaUd, and I did noW.

I e[Slained in Whe VSleneWic.neW blog12 WhaW m\ moYe Wo SeaWWle had noWhing Wo do ZiWh JennifeU
and EYanV. (emShaViV added)

AroXnd Whe NeZ Year, I learned aboXW an opporWXniW\ on a differenW Weam aW m\ compan\
WhaW Zas a good maWch for m\ inWeresWs and skills and had YirWXall\ no on-call
responsibiliW\. This Weam Zas locaWed aW m\ compan\¶s headqXarWers in SeaWWle.

I had been Zorking aW Whis compan\ for foXr \ears²longer Whan I had knoZn
Jennifer²and I had alread\ made man\ bXsiness Wrips Wo SeaWWle. I liked Whe ciW\. I had
organi]ed Scrabble geW-WogeWhers ZiWh Whe handfXl of pla\ers in Whe area Zho pla\ed
CSW.

I Zas also Wired of Zorking in oXr office in sXbXrban NorWhern Virginia WhaW kepW me Woo far
oXW of WashingWon DC for so mXch of Whe Wime. As I Walked aboXW in Whe preYioXs parW,
mosW of m\ opporWXniWies Wo pla\ CSW Scrabble aroXnd DC had eYaporaWed oYer Whe lasW
WZo \ears.

As soon as Whe possibiliW\ of Whe SeaWWle job arose, I immediaWel\ kneZ Where coXld be
some problems. Tacoma and SeaWWle aren¶W righW ne[W Wo each oWher. The\¶re like DC and
BalWimore. BXW Whe CSW Scrabble scene is small. If I liYed Where, I Zas sXre Wo cross
paWhs ZiWh Jennifer and EYans, and Ze ZoXld ZanW Wo pla\ ZiWh Whe same pla\ers and aW
Whe same eYenWs. FXrWhermore, Jennifer and EYans Zere qXickl\ filling a YacXXm and
sWarWing Wo become Whe preeminenW CSW organi]ers in Whe area, noW jXsW ZiWh Whe Hood
RiYer eYenW bXW also a nXmber of one-da\ WoXrnamenWs.
«

12 hWWSV://VSleneWic.neW/Whe-falloXW/
11 hWWSV://VSleneWic.neW/Whe-cUXcible/#figXUe5
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ShorWl\ afWer Whe [2018 NeZ Orleans] WoXrnamenW, I inWerYieZed ZiWh seYeral people on
Whe Weam in SeaWWle, and iW became clear WhaW iW Zas a good career fiW. The\ ZanWed Wo
Zork ZiWh me, and I ZanWed Wo Zork ZiWh Whem. EYeU\WhiQg iQ P\ Oife VXggeVWed WhaW
WhiV ZaV a gRRd diUecWiRQ WR gR iQ, e[ceSW fRU Whe ViWXaWiRQ ZiWh EYaQV aQd
JeQQifeU. IQ Whe eQd I decided I ZaVQ¶W gRiQg WR OeW WheiU behaYiRU geW iQ Whe Za\ Rf
PakiQg Whe UighW deciViRQ fRU Pe.

FXUWheUmoUe, JennifeU haV VXUel\ alUead\ Uead WhiV on Whe blog and knoZV iW Wo be WUXe. I made
man\ bXVineVV WUiSV Wo SeaWWle Zhile Ze ZeUe daWing in 2015 and 2016, and I had Wold heU WhaW I
mighW moYe WheUe eYenWXall\. The UeaVon Vhe ZUiWeV aboXW m\ moYe Wo SeaWWle iV becaXVe Vhe
ZanWV Wo SainW a falVe VWoU\ in Whe mindV of Whe UeadeUV WhaW I am a VWalkeU, and in SaUWicXlaU
becaXVe Vhe ZanWV Wo lead Whe UeadeU inWo Whe falVe inVinXaWion WhaW I VWalked Lola Wo PoUWland,
Zhich Vhe doeV in Whe final SaUagUaSh of WhiV SaUW.

I moYed Wo PoUWland in OcWobeU 2020, long befoUe Lola did. ScUeenVhoWV fUom Whe We[W
conYeUVaWion Lola and I had in FebUXaU\ 2021 coUUoboUaWe WhaW I ZaV alUead\ liYing in PoUWland
and Vhe ZaV liYing in FloUida, ZiWh inWenWionV of becoming a digiWal nomad oYeU Whe ne[W \eaU.
(FigXUe 29)

MonWhV befoUe I made m\ moYe fUom ViUginia Wo SeaWWle in VSUing 2018, I made a Facebook SoVW
menWioning WhaW I ZoXld be moYing WheUe. JeUem\ Cahnmann laWeU admiWWed Wo me WhaW Zhen he
VaZ m\ SoVW, he immediaWel\ Wook a VcUeenVhoW and foUZaUded iW Wo EYanV. ThiV in WXUn led Wo Whe
bXll\ing behaYioU of EYanV and JennifeU WoZaUd Whe oWheU SeaWWle-aUea CSW Sla\eUV Wo WU\ Wo
SUeemSWiYel\ ban me fUom caVXal ScUabble geW-WogeWheUV Zell in adYance of me moYing Wo Whe
aUea.13

TheVe SeoSle haYe had an obVeVViYe SaUanoid delXVion of me aV a VWalkeU foU \eaUV (oU aW leaVW
aUe inWeUeVWed in ZUiWing WhaW VWoU\) and haYe, along ZiWh WheiU fUiendV, been WUacking m\ moYeV
on Vocial media and Ueading WheiU oZn VWoU\ inWo iW. When I moYed Wo PoUWland aW Whe end of
OcWobeU 2020, I am VXUe WhaW EYanV and JennifeU kneZ aboXW iW YeU\ TXickl\, conVideUing hoZ
man\ oWheU ScUabble Sla\eUV Whe\ Walk Wo UegXlaUl\ folloZ me on Vocial media, inclXding VeYeUal
Zho liYe in PoUWland: PeWeU AUmVWUong, ConUad BaVVeWW-BoXchaUd, and DaYe Wiegand.

TheUe iV no doXbW in m\ mind WhaW JennifeU kneZ WhaW I moYed Wo PoUWland befoUe Lola did, bXW
Vhe inWenWionall\ eTXiYocaWeV aboXW daWeV ZiWh Whe VenWence ³In 2020 or 2021, DaYe moYed Wo
PorWland, OR, Zhere Lola also liYes,´ Wo WU\ Wo geW Whe UeadeU Wo jXmS Wo a falVe conclXVion WhaW I
folloZed Lola Wo PoUWland.

We noZ haYe specific senWences in boWh EYans¶s and Jennifer¶s accoXnWs Zhich Zere
iQWeQWiRQaOO\ ZriWWen Wo mislead readers and caXse Whem Wo belieYe false Whings aboXW me.

13 hWWSV://VSleneWic.neW/Whe-falloXW/#figXUe7 iV fUom m\ UeleYanW conYeUVaWion ZiWh ChUiV GUXbb. TheUe iV alVo moUe
deWail in Whe blog aboXW m\ diVcXVVionV ZiWh WalkeU Willingham aboXW WhiV.
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JennifeU¶V VWoUieV aboXW WheUaS\ and heU home VecXUiW\ V\VWem aUe noW aboXW an\Whing I did.
The\ aUe aboXW Whe falVe menWal VWoU\ Vhe haV ZUiWWen aboXW me and Whe e[WUeme UeacWionV Vhe
haV had (oU ZanWV \oX Wo Whink Vhe haV had) Wo heU oZn naUciVViVm.

HoZ aboXW Whe facW WhaW eYeU Vince JanXaU\ 5Wh, 2017, m\ onl\ commXnicaWionV ZiWh heU ZeUe
cc-ing boWh heU and EYanV on infoUmaWional emailV aboXW SeaWWle aUea ScUabble geW-WogeWheUV?
EYen Zhen I Vigned XS foU Whe 2019 Hood RiYeU WoXUnamenW in SeSWembeU 2018, I onl\ VenW m\
UegiVWUaWion email Wo EYanV, noW heU. She emailed me in UeVSonVe, coS\ing him, and Whe onl\
SeUVonal commXnicaWion I haYe eYeU made Wo heU in Whe laVW Vi[ \eaUV ZaV m\ bUief aSolog\
email on SeSWembeU 17, 2018 in response to her email. (FigXUe 37) IW iV VimSl\ XnWUXe WhaW I
haYe been VWalking JennifeU in an\ Za\, VhaSe, oU foUm, no maWWeU hoZ mXch Vhe lieV Wo ZUiWe
WhaW VWoU\.

PaUW 3 of JennifeU¶V SWaWemenW
AV I Vaid in Whe UeVSonVe Wo EYanV¶V VWaWemenW, I belieYe JennifeU and EYanV WhaW Lola deSicWed
WhingV in WhiV Za\ Wo Whem, bXW heU deSicWion ZaV falVe. I do noW blame JennifeU oU EYanV foU Whe
diVinfoUmaWion WhaW Lola fed Whem.

FXUWheUmoUe, ZhaW I ma\ oU ma\ noW haYe Vaid Zhile YenWing SUiYaWel\ Wo a UomanWic SaUWneU in
oXU VhaUed domicile doeV noW conVWiWXWe a WhUeaW Wo do an\Whing. Lola gUoVVl\ diVWoUWed oXU
UelaWionVhiS and inWeUacWionV in heU WeVWimon\. EYen When iW iV onl\ a diVWoUWed deSicWion of ZheUe
m\ mind ZaV aW moUe Whan WZo \eaUV ago. Lola has been out of m\ life since mid-2020, and
EYans and Jennifer haYe been out of m\ life since late 2016. None of them are in a
position to make an\ kind of judgments about Zhere m\ mind is at or has been at for the
last tZo \ears. BXW ZhaW Whe\ haYe done foU Whe laVW VeYeUal \eaUV iV (a) goVViSed ZiWh each
oWheU and a nXmbeU of WheiU oWheU fUiendV Zho do noW like me, (b) Waken eYeU\ Win\ VniSSeW of
conYeUVaWion oU Whing Whe\ haYe obVeUYed fUom a diVWance, and (c) WUied Wo bXild iW inWo a
dXSliciWoXV accoXnW of me aV VWalking Whem, Zhile I haYe been ignoUing Whem.

PaUW 4 of JennifeU¶V SWaWemenW
The DaUUel Da\ ViWXaWion iV iUUeleYanW Wo WhiV VWoU\. IW haV alUead\ been heaUd b\ NASPA. A
diVciSlinaU\ deciVion ZaV alUead\ Ueached. TheiU onl\ UeaVon foU inclXding iW iV Wo fXUWheU SoiVon
\oXU mindV aboXW me.

PaUW 5 of JennifeU¶V SWaWemenW
RegaUding SaUW (b), WheUe iV onl\ one TXoWe in WhiV VecWion WhaW I commXnicaWed Wo JennifeU. IW iV
SUeciVel\ ZhaW I aSologi]ed Wo heU foU. (FigXUe 37)

EYeU\Whing elVe Vhe Va\V in SaUW (b) iV Volel\ aboXW WU\ing Wo Uead m\ VWaWe of mind, noW aboXW m\
acWionV. The onl\ Whing Vhe iV accXVing me of heUe iV WhoXghWcUime. ThaW iV noW haUaVVmenW.
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RegaUding Whe alleged inYaVion of JennifeU¶V SUiYac\ in SaUW (a), Vhe and EYanV haYe decided Wo
be leadeUV in oXU ScUabble commXniW\, boWh b\ UXnning WoXUnamenWV and b\ leading an
aVVociaWion. AV VXch, iW iV comSleWel\ ZiWhin Whe boXndV of SUoSUieW\ foU ScUabble Sla\eUV Wo hold
Whem SXblicl\ accoXnWable foU WheiU acWionV Zhich affecW Whe ZoUld of ScUabble SoliWicV, Zhich
inclXdeV UegiVWUaWionV V\VWemV foU WoXUnamenWV and eTXal acceVV foU WoXUnamenW Sla\eUV boWh Wo
Sla\ in eYenWV and Wo haYe Whe oSSoUWXniWieV Wo TXalif\ foU inWeUnaWional eYenWV VXch aV Whe
AlchemiVW CXS. When JennifeU and EYanV XVe WheiU SeUVonal gUXdge againVW me and WheiU
WZiVWed inWeUSUeWaWionV of oXU SeUVonal hiVWoU\ aV gUoXndV foU keeSing me oXW of WoXUnamenWV,
Whe\ chooVe Wo Wake a SeUVonal iVVXe and WXUn iW inWo a SoliWical one.

EVSeciall\ Zhen Whe\ VeSaUaWe fUom Whe official ScUabble aVVociaWionV and make a Uenegade
aVVociaWion, Whe\ cUeaWe a ViWXaWion ZheUe iW iV in Whe SXblic inWeUeVW of Whe enWiUe ScUabble ZoUld
Wo knoZ Whe facWV of WheiU SoliWical malfeaVance Vo WhaW Sla\eUV can make WheiU beVW deciVionV.

If JennifeU and EYanV choVe Wo diVband WheiU oUgani]aWion and neYeU UXn anoWheU ScUabble
WoXUnamenW, I ZoXld gladl\ SXW all of WhiV behind me, Wake doZn Whe blog, and neYeU VSeak of iW
again. BXW I loYe ScUabble, and I ZanW Whe WoXUnamenW ZoUld Wo be faiU and Wo enVXUe WhaW neiWheU
I—noU an\ oWheU ScUabble Sla\eU in Whe fXWXUe—VXffeUV Whe kind of YindicWiYe and bXll\ing
WUeaWmenW Whe\ haYe been diVhing oXW. I Zill conWinXe inWo SeUSeWXiW\ Wo hold Whem accoXnWable foU
all of WheiU SoliWical acWionV Zhich diVadYanWage me in Whe ScUabble ZoUld, and WhaW iV 100% a
good acW of ZhiVWlebloZing.
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Figure 1: Facebook post b\ Mina Le on Jul\ 16, 2020 summari]ing Evans¶s and Jennifer¶s unethical behavior
while creating their renegade organi]ation and organi]ing the Virtual World Cup.
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Here's my distillation of my friend Dave Koenig's posts (splenetic.net/the-

crucible and splenetic.net/the-fallout), along with my responses to the 

criticisms: 

There was a messy breakup 1 with bad behavior on both sides. Evidence is 

presented so that you know he's not a monster. No, it's not ideal to 

publish private communications, but he could see no other way to clear 

his name, and truly intimate details about the other party have been 

omitted. No he's not still hung up on the events of 2016-17; he's just 

going into this level of detail in order to set the record straight. 

Now that we've established in Part I that Dave is not a monster, we get to 

the meat of this story in Part 1111 namely that IDave has paid 

disproportionate social consequences in the Scrabble world as though he 

*were* some kind of monster .. *llt is because of these disproportionate 

social consequences that he wrote these essays, aimed at the Scrabble 

community.* 

coco has monopolized Collins Scrabble play in his part of the country 1 

and they have crystallized a rule that he may not play unless neither Jenn 

nor Evans is organizing or directing. How could this rule possibly be 

justified? We know, from reading Part 1111 that Jenn is no longer afrraid of 

Dave. If she can come up to him unbidden at the cocktail hour for a 

mutual friend's wedding, when she could have just remained on the other 

side of the beach, then she can tolerate him at a tournament. It is also 

evident,. from reading Part Ill if from nothing else, that Dave would pose no 

plausible threat to Jenn or IE:vans at future tournaments. So the only 

reason for his express exclusion would be Evans' personal resentment .. Is 

this reasonable? Do you like the premises of such a Scrabble 

organization? 

Dave was excluded a pr"ori (meaning, whether he would have liked to join 

or not) from coco's Virtual World Cup .. This online tournament has been 

touted as a replacement for the Alchemist Cup. But Dave wou d have 

qua ified to represent the U.S. at the Alchemist Cup. You can't argue with 

a straight face that he could possibly poison the atmosphere at an online 

tournament. INow do you want to support the Virtual World Cup? 

David Koenig
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Figure 2: Email banning me from pla\ing in the online Woogles club run b\ Jennifer¶s and Evans¶s
organi]ation, and follow-up discussion with Cesar del Solar, Mina Le, and Brian Bowman. Included in this email
chain is the entiret\ of an email that Beck\ D\er sent to Mina Le in response to Mina questioning the ban.
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Coco club participation 

Collins Coalition <info@coc-oscrabble.org> 

tome• 

February 26th, 2021 

Dave, 

lnbmc >< 
I\ 

V 

Feb 26, 2021, 9:30 AM * 

We are sending this email on behalf of the CoCo online clubs. After discussion, it was unanimously decided that continuing 

to allow you to participate in CoCo online club play would not be consistent with our organization's commitment to providing 

our players a safe and harassment-free environment. 

You will no longer be permitted to attend any CoCo online clubs, specifically the two occurring on Tuesday and Saturday. If 

you do attempt to attend any CoCo online clubs, the director will not enter you into the pairings. This goes into effect now, 

and is effective indefinitely. 

One of the CoCo's founding principles is the importance of creating a welcoming and harassment-free environment. As 

stated in our mission, we are committed to fostering a safe community. That commitment means that we take action to 

protect members of our community from harassment and threats made by other players. See the CoCo website; specifically, 

sections titled "Who We Are" and "Policies." 

Note that directors for the CoCo have discretion to consider all relevant information for decisions of this nature, not just 

events that happen during, club sessions. 

Sincerely, 

Becky Dyer, Geoff Thevenot, and Peter Armstrong 

Online club directors for the CoCo 

Dave Koenig 

to Mina, cesar • 

Hi Cesar, 

Feb 26, 2021, 9:37 AM * +-i 

Do you have records of the club room chats and games from the CoCo clubs on Woogles to be able to see if anything 

untoward happened in the club sessions I attended? I'm not aware of anything I did to provoke this. 

Sincerely, 

Dave 

David Koenig
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Mina Le Feb 26, 2021, 9:51 AM * 
to me, cesar ,.. 

This is completely batshit insane, Dave! I wonder ifWoogles could inform Coco that they are not al1owed to use Woogles as 

a platform for discrimination against people they don't like. Will brainstorm other solutions ... do you have ideas? 

Mad on your behalf, 

Mina 

Dave Koenig 

to Mina, c,esar ,.. 

Feb 26, 2021, 10:13 AM * 
I think the only member of the club I've even had any private messages with was Becky, and in my memory they have been 

totally benign, as has my chat in the club room and the games (the latter of which has been very little.) In the club room, I've 

just talked about Scrabble games and I have never addressed Jennifer or Evans. I played in just one game on a Saturday 

session (against Cesar!) the first time, and then I went back to I think just one more Saturday session, and neither Jennifer 

or Evans were even in attendance at those two. 

This Tuesday was my first lime ever playing in a Tuesday session, and I played eight of the ten games but had to step out 

for a couple of games in the middle. When the directors were figuring out pairings in, the beginning, they said something 

about missing a player. I clicked on the button to see who was in the room, and I didn't see Evans listed there, but someone 

had said something earlier in the chat suggesting that he was there. So I said, "I don't see Evans. is he blocking me?• That's 

literally the only thing I said about it. Someone else said that he was there. I didn't respond, never addressed it, and just 

played my games. 

The group chats are public for anyone who goes to the club room anyway, though there's a limit to how far bac-k you can 

scroll. I would be fine with openly publishing all of the CoCo club group chat during all of the time that I went to sessions as 

well as all of my chats with, my opponents from every g,ame I played in the club and all of my private cliats with Becky 

(which I don't think included anything private or personal nor even anything about CoCo club) as well as the full contents of 

that email to the world. 

A.s far as I can see, the case of me harassing anyone here is completely nonexistent, and I'd be happy to hold up a mirror 

so they and the rest of the world can see the full extent of their behavior. 

Sincerely, 

Dave 

David Koenig
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----- Forwarded messages -----

from: Mina Le 

to: Becky Dyer 

bee: david 

date: Feb 28, 2021, 11:33 AM 

subject: Unjust exclusion 

Dear Becky, 

I was aggrieved to learn that Dave Koenig has been banned from CoCo club in perpetuity, presumably because he arid Jennifer 

Clinchy had a bad breakup and Evaris continues to hold a grudge about ii. 

The circumstances that led to Dave being deemed a "harasser" have been publicly published. What is clear to readers of the full 

story is that his actions -- those of an angry, desperate, spumed off-and-on lover -- did not meet the legal definition of harassment. 

He does not deserve to be branded as one or treated as one. 

I have trouble imagining how anyone could feel urisafe wtiile sitting in the same onlirie club room as Dave, where he could not so 

much as broach anyone's physical personal space or look at them askance. His behavior in CoCo club to date has also been 

spotless, and as his personal friend I can vouch for his character. 

Won't ii bring CoCo PR trouble, as well, when people learn that the directors are banning players simply because they personally 

dislike them? 

Thank you for your consideration, 

Mina 

mtm 
Thanks for our note. The discussion within our directors' rou is considered confidential; therefore I can't 

comment on it. It's interestin that ou are takin it u on ourself to make assum tions about this matter. We 

understand that there are eo le who have alread chosen to dis ara e our or anization and therefore are 

likel to continue to do so. I'm sorr that ou feel that is a ood use of our valuable time. I would res ectfull 

ask ou to consider whether there mi ht be better activities to undertake. 

al 
---- End forwarded messages ----

I have no desire to fight this, but I do think that what they did to me should be a matter of public record. I am still pondering how and 

when I am going to deal with it, but I wanted to loop you both in on the conversation sooner. I am just beginning to think about writing a 

pan 3 of my Splenetic blog in which I address this, though I'm thinking that I might be able to approach this with a much more 

humorous tone than my previous blog entries. 

Mina and I were also pondering the idea of starting a Monday evening Collins Scrabble club on Woogles, and I proposed the name 

"Don't be a Dictionary" for the name of the club. 

I'm curious to get your thoughts and insights into this, and I'd welcome a phone or video chat from either of you if you think it's worth it, 

or even a group one ifwe could schedule it. I do not want to get into a pissing contest with them, but I do want to have a place to play 

with other Collins Scrabble players, and I want other people to have a place to go if they do not want to support CoCo. 

Sincerely, 

Dave 

David Koenig
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Dave Koenig 

to Mina, c,esar ,.. 

Feb 26, 2021, 10:17 AM * 
I might be miscounting the sessions. I definitely played only one game against Cesar the first time I went to their club, but 

that might have been on a weeknight, and then I might have gone to two Saturday sessions. But this week was definitely my 

first time at a Tuesday session beyond just a one-off game against Cesar, and I don't think I've attended more than four in 

total. Not that any of this is salient, but I just didn't want to say anything inaccurate. 

Cesar Del Solar 

tome, Mina,.. 

Feb 26, 2021, 1:25 PM * f--i 

Hi Dave, we on,ly have records of the last 100 chats in the club room (we can go further back a bit more in the backend but 

the chat is ephemeral) and game chats expire after a few days. I'm sure you have not done anything untoward at club, this 

whole thing is messed up - I really don't like this. In the email they specifically say "all relevant information" and not just 

events that happen during club, so I'm sure it's still from the grudge. I think we played one game on a Tuesday, yes, a few 

weeks ago, as part oftt,e club, and it counted in the club standings (which are now scrubbed of your user id ... ). I'll bring up 

this situation to the team but I don't think we can force them to let you play in their club honestly. The large majority of 

people in that club are probably fine with playing you. I would honestly just try to start another club and continue playing in 

the other weekly clubs. 

Cesar 

Dave Koenig 

to Cesar, Mina ,.. 

Feb 26, 2021, 1:28 PM * f--i 

I don't want to force them to let me play in their club. I don't want to play in their club specifically because they have done 

this. I just want everyone to know what tt,ey have done. 

Cesar Del Solar 

tome, Mina,.. 

I agree - from my look at the chats there's nothing harassing you. did. 

Feb 26, 2021, 1:31 PM * f--i 

David Koenig
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Dave Koenig Mar 2, 2021, 7:55 PM * 
tom, , Brian, cesar, Mina • 

Dear Marsha, Brian, Cesar, and Mina, 

I'm pulling both Marsha and Brian into a conversation that I've already been having with Mina and Cesar, so let me catch you up on the 

story. 

I've been playing online on a few different clubs on Woogles, mostly on Wednesdays at the Valley Virtual club and Thursdays at the 

Channel 275 club. CoCo is running a Woogles club on Saturdays during the day and Tuesday evenings. I stopped by near the end of a 

Tuesday session several weeks ago and played one game against Cesar. I believe that at least one of Jennifer or Evans might have 

been in attendance at that time, but I had no interaction with them. I just spoke up in the chat room about getting paired and that was all. 

It was a bit of an after the fact pairing as we were originally odd and then Cesar joined in so I could get a game, but they did include it on 

the standings on their website. 

I lt1en played in a couple of Sunday sessions for what I think was the full session. Neither Evans nor Jennifer were in attendance for 

those Sunday sessions. Last Tuesday for the first time I played most of a Tuesday session, though I did have to depart for a couple of 

games in the middle. I was chattier in the club chat room on these occasions, but all of my talk was very pleasant and just about 

Scrabble games. I never addressed Evans or Jennifer in any way. The only exception to ttiis was that al the beginning of the Tuesday 

session, the director said somelt1ing about lt1ere not being enough players. I clicked on the list to see who was in the room, and I did not 

see Evans's name there, but someone else in the room had shortly before said something about him playing. So I said, "I don't see 

Evans, is he blocking me?" That was it. I never addressed it again. One of the directors even followed up by saying that they didn't see 

Evans there either, and then some other people said lt1at he was there. He played during the evening, and I could see his games in 

progress in the list, but I couldn't ever see him in the chat room. Jennifer wasn't even there at that point, though I believe she showed up 

to the club later. I reiterate, I had no interaction wilt1 either of lt1em, and my one question was lt1e only time I said anytt,ing pertinent to 

them. The rest of my chatter was just about Scrabble games. 

On Friday I received the email I have forwarded below, banning me from CoCo's Woogles club. I'm embedding that email here and will 

continue my narrative after it. 

----- Forwarded message -----

From: Collins Coalition <info@cocoscrabble.org> 

Date: Fri, Feb 26, 2021 at 9:30 AM 

Subject: CoCo club participation 

To: Dave Koenig 

----- End Forwarded Message -------

After I received that email, I forwarded it to Mina and Cesar and had some conversation with them. Mina was incensed. At my request, 

Cesar looked back through all of lt1e chat records he had from CoCo club, and he judged that I did absolutely nothing untoward or 

harassing in the club room. 

Independently, Mina wrote an email to Becky Dyer, one of the Woogles tournament directors, and got a very nasty response. She has 

given me permission to share them wilt1 you. 

David Koenig
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Brian Bowman Mar 4, 2021, 12:11 PM * t---i 
to makadabo, cesar, Mina, me ,.. 

Very disappointing. I was hoping that the detenle of "Dave can play CoCo events as long as Evans or Jen are not directing" would hold, 

and neither are listed as directors on the Coco page (you might want to screenshot that). If they are going to formally ban you they 

should just do it instead of leaning on their friends to informally blackball you. 

I would be glad to join a Collins club on Mondays, though I would strongly prefer a more neutral name. 

Sent from my iPad 

On Mar 2, 2021, at 10:55 PM, Dave Koenig <davidewkoenig@gmail.com> wrote: 

David Koenig
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Figure 3: Text from Kenn\ threatening violence on me based on false accusations in December 2014.
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Figure 4: Immediatel\ after receiving the text from Kenn\, I forwarded it via email to Sarah, who wrote me this
response. After this email, we followed up with a phone call in which she confirmed to me that she told Kenn\
that I did nothing to hurt her, but he said, ³it didn¶t matter because he knew I did things to other women´ though
he never named another woman. He continued to spread false rumors in 2020, though I had no connection to
him since 2014. These rumors were spread to Lola in late Jul\ or earl\ August 2020, ver\ shortl\ after she and
I had agreed to ³make distance.´
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Sarah D. Coleman 

tome• 

Ah jeez. 

Sat, Dec 6, 2014, 10:14 AM * f--, 

Although I didn't complain to anyone about you I think r know how this happened. Your recent interaction with a friend of mine on Thursday rubbed 

him the wrong way and he must have talked to Kenny about it, who already doesn't favor you from some things he says he's heard about. 

I'll try to smooth things over ... 

Sarah Coleman 

Graphic Designer 

C: 

~Please consider the environment before printing this email. 

On Fri, Dec 5, 2014 at 9:41 PM, Dave Koenig <davidewkoenig@gmail.com> wrote: 

Kenny just sent me this text: 

Hey, Dave, this is Kenny. Standupcomedyoke is in a public bar, so I can't stop you from going, but you are not allowed to perform there as long as I'm hosting. I have 

list of names of guys, some who have military training, others who have connections to drug dealers, all of whom are stronger than me and better fighters than me, and 

all who have expressed their enthusiasm for beating the living shit out of you if you ever try to lay a hand on Sarah again. I got a guy in Florida willing to fly up here to 

beat your ass if you ever mess wijh Sarah again. Or any other woman who is too drunk to give enthusiastic consent to the pleasure of your company. Yes, this is a 

threat. And when you tell people about this threat, tell them it's because we believe, as do a number of other people, that you sexually take advantage of drunk women. 

Something most of us, and the law, consider to be rape. This is not a discussion. It's not a debate. I'm not going to respond to your messages. I'm just telling you how 

it is 

Sent from my iPhone 

David Koenig
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Figure 5: Facebook conversation with Cesar about doing Woogles development work, which started a few da\s
before the 2022 New Orleans Scrabble tournament.
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Figure 6: Text from December 11, 2019, first mention of possibilit\ of me visiting in Januar\, more than a month
before I made the trip.
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Figure 7: Texts from Januar\ 9th, 2020 showing planning of trip to SLC.

There was a bit of overlapping conversation because of rapid texting here. ³Hahaha´ is a response to m\ joke
in the previous text, and ³Probabl\. I don¶t have«´ is the response to m\ questions about visiting two texts
earlier. (The text in the last couple of screenshots is not important, but including them was the onl\ wa\ I could
get m\ phone to show the datestamp of these messages.)
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Figure 8: Texts from Januar\ 23rd & 27th showing planning of trip.
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Figure 9: Texts from Januar\ 29th-Januar\ 30th showing her canceling trip for illness after I was alread\ en
route.
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Figure 10: Texts from Februar\ 7th about making a trip elsewhere together after we had called off the Januar\
30th SLC trip to illness.
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Figure 11: Texts from Februar\ 13, showing proposal of Puerto Rico trip.
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Figure 12: Texts from Februar\ 14th confirming Puerto Rico trip.
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Figure 13: Texts from March 8th-9th, showing us planning our trip to Puerto Rico shortl\ before we left, which
includes romantic emojis from both of us. She¶d been using romantic emojis with me since Februar\ 20th.
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Figure 14: Texts from immediatel\ after returning to our homes after Puerto Rico trip. The screenshot was
about a COVID outbreak in her apartment building.
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Figure 15: Texts from March 19th, two da\s after returning from Puerto Rico trip.
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Figure 16: March 28th texts featuring us joking about m\ angr\ rants, while I was worried I had caught a cough
that might have been COVID.

There is no context either in this screenshot nor in man\ pages before or afterward to indicate that I was
talking about an\one specific when I said ³somebod\.´ There is no discussion about Scrabble an\where near
this part of our text message histor\ and onl\ discussion about COVID and our stress from it. It¶s clear from
context both (a) that I am poking fun at the absurdit\ of things I have said in anger when I clearl\ value human
life enough that I am taking social distancing measures ver\ seriousl\ and (b) that Lola saw the humor in m\
deliver\.
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Figure 17: Texts from April 2nd indicating she wanted me to come to SLC.
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Figure 18: Texts from April 9th, sa\ing her friend Jordan supports us getting together.
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Figure 19: Text from April 10th indicating that her friend Joel also supports us getting together.
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Figure 20: Texts from April 12th, telling me her famil\ wants me to go to SLC to see her.
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Figure 21: Long text from April 14th sa\ing how much she cares about me.
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Figure 22: Text conversation on April 17 in which she helped me draft m\ response to the NASPA incident
report about the Facebook conversation with Darrell Da\.
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Figure 23: Texts from April 20th, talking about ordering a desk so that we would both have workspaces at her
apartment and showing that she had emptied closet space for me.
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Figure 24: Texts from April 22nd, the da\ before I began the drive from Seattle to SLC.

000211

000211

David Koenig
Exhibit 6



Figure 25: Texts from June 29th, two weeks after we had stopped dating and she had returned to SLC from
Seattle. We were still on ver\ good terms, and she is telling me about how she is using coffee beans that I had
bought her as a gift while she was in Seattle.
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Figure 26: Texts from Jul\ 2nd where she compliments me on a Scrabble stream, three weeks after we had
stopped dating.
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Figure 27: Our ³making distance´ email exchange on Jul\ 24th. We had been texting regularl\ up until and
including Jul\ 23rd. We had a brief text exchange on Jul\ 27th just about whether she had accidentall\ taken a
phone charger from m\ place. But after that, per her wishes I did not contact her again for five months, until
Mina recommended that I did so.
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Goodbye 

Bri.Arma McKisse

to me,.. 

Dave, 

V 

A 

Jul 24, 2020, 4:23 AM * 

So ... I don't think you're actually in a place to be anyone's friend. At least with me, you use me as free therapy because you 

need someone to talk about yourself to. I've tried to explain that friendships are two way things, and I don't feel like yoo're 

ever willing to show any interest in my lile or the things that are important to me. Friends offer support to each other. Friends 

care about the things that the other person cares about because it's important to their friend. 

I've tried to reiterate this on the phone a few times, but it's not getting through. 

It's incredibly frustrating to know you know about what's happening with my sister, and it still doesn't even flicker as 

something to check in on. It's incredibly frustrating when I try to talk about the things I'm excited about, like 

Woogles/Macondo, and you immediately tum the conversation back to whether the people are talking about you. 

I'm thoroughly exhausted. 

Every time we talk I end up wondering if you even had any interest at me as a human being, as opposed to a tool that could 

solve various needs you had ... And I don't like feeling, that way. I tend to find almost universally that if I'm a good friend to 

people, that kindness is returned. You're altogether something else, and I'm done. 

I hope it's just the dynamic we set up, and not something1 broken about you. I hope you don't make the other women you're 

interested in now feel th.is way. I suspect the isolation over the last few years has made you inc-redibly self-centered. 

At any rate, when you have things you need to talk at someone about, when you need someone to reassure you, and you 

need someone to offer advice, I suggest you pay a therapist 

I'm not any angrier then I've ever been, and I don't hate you. But th,is is damaging me and my faith in humanity. I don't like 

being awake all night being frustrated and annoyed, wondering what happened to the good mood I had all day. I won't be 

coming to game night anymore, and I won't be answering the phone when, you call for quite some time. 

Please take care of yourself, 

BriAnna 

David Koenig
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Dave Koenig 

to Br,IAnna ,.. 

Jul 24, 2020, 6:12 AM * 
I'm sorry, BriAnna. I leaned on you too heavily and wasn't able to give your problems enough of my thought and attention. I 

am sorry that your sister is having such a bad time and that it is hurting you so much,. I am starting with my old therapist 

again in a week, and I agree that I should be relying more on him than on my friends for things like that. 

I'm very thankful that you helped me through a very dark time. And I hope that me bringing you into the Macondo/Woogles 

project is going to bring other good things into your life. I totally get you needing to make some distance from me right now, 

and I respect you telling me in a straightforward way. 

I don't know how much better things can get with your sister. When I have heard you talk about it, it sounds like a pretty 

hopeless situation. But I hope you find a way to get peaoe with where things are at, even if you can't change it. And I hope 

you can find the friends you need to hear what you're going through in the ways you need where I have failed you. 

With love, 

Dave 

On Jul 24, 2020, at 4:23 AM, BriAnna McKissen wrote: 

David Koenig
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Figure 28: Email chain with Lola on December 11th, precipitated b\ Mina Le¶s pla\ reading that we were both
attending and Mina¶s recommendation that I contact Lola.

000216

000216

Dave Koenig 

to BriAnna T 

Hi BriAnna, 

Dec 11, 2020, 4:56 PM 

* 

It's difficult for me to know how to begin a conversation with you. The last time you wrote to me you said you didn't want to talk to me for 

a while, because as you rightly pointed out I was taking a lot more than I was giving, and ii was exhausting you. I want to respect your 

desire for distance, and I wouldn't be contacting you now if I didn't think it was important that we talked. 

I know that you blocked me on Facebook and lnstagram a few months ago, and I'm fairly sure of what precipitated that. Chel had 

blocked me shortly before that and posted things on Facebook with heinous allegations that I was a rapist. I was aware that this 

happened shortly after Chel did this, and I've gotten some indications through other sources about some of what Chel said, but I still 

have never been able to see the full extent of what was alleged about me. 

What pieces I know of what Chel alleged are categorically false. It's not even a question of gray area and different people's 

interpretations of ambiguous events. The story was a complete fabrication by a jealous ex-boyfriend of a woman with whom I had a 

consensual sexual relationship with over the course of several months in 2014. Furthermore, this man, who is very autistic and has lots 

of other personal issues, sent me a text message out of the blue making physical threats on me. The very first thing I did was to send 

his text message to the woman to let her know what he said. She told him that I did nothing to hurt her, and then he said that it didn't 

matter, claiming that I had done things to "other women· although who these other women were was never specified. 

I still have the text message from him and email exchange with her that proves all of this beyond any shadow of a doubt. I am the only 

victim in this story. This man called me a rapist and threatened violence on me, and the only woman he named explicitly denied the 

charge. There literally is no female victim, alleged or otherwise. Unfortunately, this man was very connected with a lot of the karaoke 

community in DC, and I believed that there was no way to deal with this situation head-on that would not have made things worse. So I 

decided to be the bigger man and walk away. I slopped associating with that man, that woman, and virtually the entire karaoke scene 

that I had been hanging out with in DC for several years before that. 

I believe that Chel knows this man through other karaoke circles, and he told her these heinous allegations about me, which she started 

blasting on social media. I had already decided a long time ago that I didn't need that particular community in my life, and I wasn't going 

to fight against or deal with their terrible misperceplions of me. However, because of the friendship I made with Chel and the way I 

connected her to other friends of mine in our online gaming group, she has started spreading these false allegations lo other friends of 

mine beyond my old karaoke circles, which has been hurtful to me. 

I've had extended conversations with Charley and with Mina and Cesar explaining much more detail of the story I've outlined above. By 

far the most damage that Chel and this man have done in my life by spreading these false allegations about me is in my relationships 

with two people, you and Maya. I have felt distraught for the last few months that this hand grenade was thrown into my relationships 

with both of you, and that I have not known how to have a productive conversation to move things to a better place. 

I still care about you deeply and consider you a beloved friend, even if you do not want to talk lo me anymore. I want to respect 

whatever need for distance you have, but you have entered my circle of friends through your involvement with Woogles. Mina talked to 

me about the Arcadia event she is planning and told me that you had signed up for ii too. We both thought it was a good idea for me to 

try to have a conversation with you ahead of time. She and Cesar know that you have blocked me on social media and that I am 

concerned about my relationship with you. 

I would very much like to talk to you to sort this out, but in the end this is in your hands. I hope dearly that you are healthy and happy, 

and that your life and relationships with your family and everyone else around you are going well. 

Sincerely, 

Dave 
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BriAnna McKissen 

to me• 

Dec 11, 2020, 5:24 PM * 
No, I blocked you because I saw a screenshot Seth Lipkin posted with the actual text of what you said to Darrell Day. It upset me more 

than I can describe, and I felt really bad about helping you defend it to NASPA, despite knowing they also didn't get the actual text. 

This was on top of the realization we discussed before that: that our friendship is completely one sided, and does not benefit me. As a 

result, I chose to minimize your presence in my life_ I do this because it adds stress to my life every time we interact, and I end up angry 

again that I put so much energy into trying to help someone who showed no interest in my well being - not because of whatever 

anyone else thinks or says about you. 

I know that I can not minimize it to zero. We have more overlapping friends now, and I have too much peer pressure to quit Scrabble 

again this lime. Because Mina posted her "cast signups" I saw that you had also joined that group. I am okay with that. 

I am not really interested in talking on the phone to you at this time. I will however unblock you as to minimize weird confusion in things 

like us both commenting on a friend's post. I am also okay with you emailing me when you feel it's necessary, like now. 

We are not enemies, and you don1 need to worry about things like the play reading group, or Woogles, or tournaments if that ever is a 

thing again. We are also not friends. 

BriAnna 

Dave Koenig 

to BriAnna • 

Thank you, BriAnna, 

Dec 11, 2020, 5:31 PM * 

I appreciate your response. I am sorry that reading my words to Darrell Day upset you. I don~ understand what you said about NASPA. 

To my knowledge they did get complete screenshots of the discussion that Darrell and I had. 

You're free to judge me however you want about my words to Darrell. But I do want you to know that I was not attempting to deceive 

you about what happened in any way. 

I will continue to like you and be grateful for the ways in which you have been a positive force in my life, even if you don't want to be 

friends. I wish you the best. 

Sincerely, 

Dave 

BriAnna McKissen 

to me• 

Thanks. I also wish you well. I forwarded back the email you sent me for your reference. 

Dec 11, 2020, 5:38 PM * 
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Figure 29: After no text conversation between us since Jul\ 2020, our onl\ communication was the email
conversation on December 11, 2020, until Lola initiated contact b\ gifting me a subscription on Twitch, which
led to our Februar\ 12, 2021, conversation over the first eight and a half screenfuls here. (Of note, she
revealed she was living in Florida, while I had alread\ been living in Portland, Oregon for four months.) Then
we exchanged compliments about our contributions to a pla\ reading organi]ed b\ Mina Le on Februar\ 27.
This was the last dialogue we had over text message.
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Figure 30: The last time I reached out to Lola via text message was on Ma\ 2nd, 2021, checking whether she
wanted to meet in SLC during a business trip I might make. She did not respond, and I never texted her again.
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Figure 31: On August 4th, 2021, I accidentall\ came across this Instagram account which Lola made that
showed she was living in Portland. The short conversation we had here is the last conversation we have ever
had, except for our brief interactions in-person at the New Orleans Scrabble tournament in Januar\ 2022.
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Figure 32: Snippet of email from Walker Willingham on June 17, 2018, revealing that Evans had publicl\ called
me ³an awful, awful human being.´
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Walker Willingham <walkerwillingham@gmail.com> 

tome• 

Hi Dave, 

Jun 17, 2018, 10:07 PM 

* 

I really appreciate your clarifications here, and thank you also for your acknowledgement that my taking this on was emotional labor for me. I hadn't 

thought of ii in those terms exactly, but that's a very good descriptor. 

internal reaction when I overheard Evans talking to someone else in a public setting that you were "an awful, awful human being." It was especially 

jarring because ii seemed out of character for Evans, and ii slicks the listener in the uncomfortable position of wondering "is there really something 

that bad?" Evans' comment was worse because it was stated so publicly. It may have made me wonder what it was about you, but it certainly 

redounded poor1y on Evans in my eyes. Central to my terrible judgment of 45, known to me as "his heinousness" is his incessant bad mouthing of 

anyone who might throw him in a bad light, and he consistently inaccurately accuses people of terrible attributes of which HE is so obviously guilty. 

Anyway, you get it. 

Your Scrabble friend, 

Walker 

David Koenig
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Figure 33: Facebook comment from Brian Bowman on Jul\ 16, 2020, shortl\ after the publication of the
splenetic.net blog, sa\ing that he knew Evans had been disparaging me for \ears.
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Figure 34: Facebook comment from Winter on Jul\ 16, 2020, shortl\ after the publication of the splenetic.net
blog, sa\ing that he also knew Jennifer and/or Evans were disparaging me.
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,~-1j;~ Martin DeMello 

for what it's worth that has been my experience 

too; in all the years that I've known Jen and Evans 

I have not heard them say a single thing against 

or even about Dave. and likewise I was around for 

the starting of coco and my perceptions align 

with Melissa's. 

Like Reply 1y 

Winter 

I know for a fact (because I was in the room 

where it happened) that Martin is mistaken (not in 

his experience, but his level of knowledge), and I 

have posted what happened on my own timeline 

earlier this year, so I'm not going to rehash it here. 

Like Reply 1y Edited 
,i; 2 
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Figure 35: Facebook comment from Shelle\ Stevens on Jul\ 15, 2020, shortl\ after the publication of the
splenetic.net blog, sa\ing that she personall\ witnessed Jennifer and Evans badmouthing me at a dinner.
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Shelley Stevens 

Cecilia Le have you ever been ghosted or 

heartbroken? Have you ever been in an 

uncomfortable situation with another person in 

your community that you KNOW FOR A FACT is 

badmouthing you to mutual friends and making 

things awkward? 

I have. 

It sucks and at least he is owning up to his own 

part in all of it. Emotions sometimes drive people 

to do unstable things, but I can tell you that even 

as a tangential member of this community, I am 

personally sympathetic to what he's going 

through, mainly because I barely know Jevans 

and I have heard them badmouth him and I knew 

there was some sort of issue after having like one 

dinner with them once. (I didn't pry and can't 

remember specifics because I try to avoid drama) 

So, clearly if they are going to get to sway 

everyone's opinion of him, surely at some point 

he is allowed to get off the high road and prove 

his case? 
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Figure 36: Contradicting Jennifer¶s statement, ³I attempted to end m\ informal relationship with Dave on at
least five occasions, the last attempt being in person in September 2016,´ she eagerl\ kept up text
communication with me throughout October 2016. Here are snippets of text conversations showing that she
initiated the conversation on October 2nd, 8th, 15th, 16th, 18th, 29th, and 31st, including asking me to get
together to pla\ Scrabble on the 18th. This also corroborates that she sent me a birthda\ gift that month.
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The remaining screenshots are from the splenetic.net blog. The\ are just here to save readers the time of
searching through the blog for them.

Figure 37: M\ apolog\ email to Jennifer on September 17, 2018, in response to her email banning me from the
2019 Hood River tournament, the onl\ time I have made a personal communication to her since Januar\ 5th,
2017.

Figure 38: Snippet from previous draft of the September 17, 2018 apolog\ letter. I never sent this to Jennifer,
but onl\ to Chris Lipe and Jerem\ Cahnmann. It is contemporaneous evidence that m\ intention in submitting
the entr\ fee for the 2019 Hood River tournament was onl\ to give Evans and Jennifer an opportunit\ to
express their grievances. (Relevant section highlighted. Full screenshot of email is at
https://splenetic.net/the-fallout/#figure10 )
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Dave Koenig Sep 17, 2018, 5.49 PM * ... 
to Jennifer, Evans • 

Jennifer, 

Ttlank you for taking ll'le lime to wnle lhi:s out - !'Id g· e me tl'lis ,e:IIJ)!anation. To put your mlnd al ease in one way i!MleCliately: I nave no 

desire lo escalate th.is to NASPA, and II respect your decision. 

Let me ,gel rig t to the heart of the matt r. 

I stepped 01,'er the llnie wnen I wrole Iha following two ,sentence$: "So If you do not meet ·1h me before N'ew Oirteans, I will say wh.at I 

nee<! to say 10 y,au directly IO your race across lhe Scrabble board in lihe toumament room wllh all !he olher players able to hear. I am 

almost certain that Ir that happens you, will regret nol lla:vlng l'lacl lhis conversalion In private.· 

I was under a lol of emotional stress at ll'le lime that !lent thal email, and 11s ,often happens in distressed siru11lions, I was mucl'i moce 

focused on my emotional needs than the 11npact of my worns upon you. I know ii may be hard lo reconcile, bul I did not intend to threaten 

you al the time 1hat I wrote that. However. in retrospect ii i.s obvious to me how !hose words come acr,oss as threaten·ng. My menial state 

at Ille time seriously impaired my judgment. I am sa)'ing lhis not to defend my behavior at all, but only lo exp in that lhe words came oul 

of a menial slate tllal I was In a year and tllree quarters ago tha! is not al all wiileflB I am al now. I was wrong, and I am truly sorry. 

S,ioerely, 

Dave 

Jennifer, 

Than you for ta 1119 lhe ime to "Mite lhis 01,11 and gl,ve me this explanalion. I am not eert.rln how much of what you wrote re, you ac111ally 

bellev , and how mucll What you llave wrillen is just 'M'lat you ful you have to sa.y, to t,e conslstent wtth the case you would make to 

NASPA if I were to clla11eilige your d'eci.sion on lh[s. Bul ret me put your mil'KI at ease in one way immediately: I have no desife to escalate 

1flis to NASPA, and I respect your decision. I don'! ,even really care about wlie • er I go to U'lis l.oumamertt or not; whal is much moie 

imli)Or:tant Is resolving lhe tension in thls sltuallon. 

I do not have any problem wilh you or Evans. tis only the two of you wllo llave a problem wilh me. I completely understan<I !law the two 

of you h11ve gotten lo the po·nt of having lhe interprelalions rKI feelings Iha'! you do,, but since neither of you ha.s been willing lo 

communicate 'With me for the last year and lhre-e quaners, you have -given me no oppottun!I)' to COffeCI lhe situation. As such, I ha\18 fe 

that tha be-st I can do Is just conlh ng IMng my life, 1~la ng Scrabble, and Ignoring your oollavlors and Ille .1cl tllal you have been, afraid 

o.f me and Evans hB,s visually and viscerally hated me ever since January of 2017. 

1 igned up for this tou-mamenl. not out of any desire to maKe nre clifflcul tor tn IWO of you, but simply because it Is twhal I would h ve 

done If )'Oil lwO were not behaving the way you W8fll!, and I thought It might pl'Oltide an opportunlly for you to actually address your 

problems with me. I am glad lhat you have done so_ 
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DaYe KReQig

NASPA AdYisor\ Board Decision 

JaVRQ IdaOVki <j FUi, SeS 23, 2022 aW 12:08 PM
TR: DaYid KRenig  ab@VcUabbleSla\eUV.RUg
Cc: SWeYen Pellinen <VWeYenSellinen@gmail.cRm>

GRRd PRUQLQJ, DaYe.

TKe NASPA AdYLVRU\ BRaUd KaV UeYLeZed aQd cRQVLdeUed aOO WKe eYLdeQce UeceLYed LQ \RXU caVe.¬We
KaYe deWeUPLQed, OaUJeO\ WKURXJK \RXU RZQ VXbPLVVLRQV, WKaW aW OeaVW WKUee RI \RXU acWLRQV ZeUe LQ
YLROaWLRQ RI VecWLRQ 2 RI NASPA·V CRde RI CRQdXcW.

MRUe JeQeUaOO\, AB PePbeUV ZeUe cRQceUQed b\ a JeQeUaO SaWWeUQ RI beKaYLRU aQd OacN RI cRQWULWLRQ
WKaW Ze IeeO ZaUUaQWV PeaVXUeV WR SURWecW WKe VaIeW\ RI RXU PePbeUV aQd XSKROd WKe YaOXeV RI RXU
cRPPXQLW\.

We aUe KeUeb\ LPSRVLQJ a WKUee-\eaU VXVSeQVLRQ, WR beJLQ WRda\ (SeSWePbeU 23, 2022).
¬
EIIecWLYe LPPedLaWeO\, VKRXOd Ze UeceLYe aQ\ VXbVeTXeQW, VXbVWaQWLaWed cRPSOaLQW WKaW \RX KaYe
eQJaJed LQ LQWLPLdaWLRQ, WKUeaWV, KaUaVVPeQW RU aQ\ UeOaWed beKaYLRU, \RX ZLOO be VXbMecW WR e[WUePe
VaQcWLRQV, XS WR aQd LQcOXdLQJ a OLIeWLPe baQ IURP NASPA.
¬
TKLV LV a "RQe VWULNe" ZaUQLQJ, aQd Ze adYLVe WKaW \RX be e[WUePeO\ caXWLRXV abRXW \RXU
cRPPXQLcaWLRQV ZLWK RWKeU ScUabbOe SOa\eUV, OeVW \RXU ZRUdV RU acWLRQV be cRQVWUXed aV KaUaVVPeQW.

IQ addLWLRQ WR WKe WKUee-\eaU VXVSeQVLRQ, \RX ZLOO QRW be aOORZed WR UeVXPe NASPA cOXb aQd
WRXUQaPeQW SOa\ XQWLO \RX KaYe VaWLVÀed WKe IROORZLQJ cRQdLWLRQV:

CRPSOeWe aQ aQJeU PaQaJePeQW SURJUaP ² WKe deWaLOV RI ZKLcK PXVW ÀUVW be aSSURYed b\ WKe AB
WULWe a JeQXLQe VWaWePeQW RI \RXU cRPPLWPeQW WR cRPSO\ ZLWK NASPA·V CRde RI CRQdXcW
RePRYe WKe RIIeQdLQJ bORJ SRVWV (PaUWV I aQd II) IURP¬splenetic.net

OQce WKe AB deePV WKeVe cRQdLWLRQV WR be PeW, aQd \RX aUe RQce aJaLQ aOORZed WR aWWeQd WRXUQaPeQWV,
\RX ZLOO Qeed WR IXUWKeU adKeUe WR WKe IROORZLQJ UeTXLUePeQWV XSRQ UeJLVWUaWLRQ:

ReJLVWeU dXULQJ WKe ÀUVW KaOI RI WKe UeJLVWUaWLRQ SeULRd
NRWLI\ WKe WRXUQaPeQW dLUecWRUV RI \RXU dLVcLSOLQaU\ VWaWXV

NASPA·V PLVVLRQ LV WR SURYLde aOO SaUWLcLSaQWV aQd RIÀcLaOV ZLWK a VaIe aQd KaUaVVPeQW-IUee e[SeULeQce
aW RXU cOXbV aQd eYeQWV. TKe AB IeeOV WKaW WKe dLVcLSOLQaU\/SURWecWLYe PeaVXUeV VWaWed KeUeLQ aUe IaLU,
aQd QeceVVaU\ WR IRVWeU a VeQVe RI VaIeW\ aQd ZeOObeLQJ IRU RXU PePbeUV.
¬
OQ beKaOI RI WKe AdYLVRU\ BRaUd, I aQWLcLSaWe \RXU acceSWaQce RI WKeVe cRQdLWLRQV.

000315

Gmail 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

David Koenig
Exhibit 7



10/4/22, 12:50 PM GPaLO - NASPA AdYLVRU\ BRaUd DecLVLRQ

KWWSV://PaLO.JRRJOe.cRP/PaLO/X/0/?LN=9877a02041&YLeZ=SW&VeaUcK=aOO&SeUPPVJLd=PVJ-I%3A1744777296865088334&VLPSO=PVJ-I%3A1744777296865088334 2/2

II \RX dLVaJUee ZLWK WKe decLVLRQ, \RX Pa\ aSSeaO b\ cRQWacWLQJ WKe E[ecXWLYe CRPPLWWee
(info@scrabblepla\ers.org) aQd SURYLdLQJ \RXU UaWLRQaOe.
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September 9, 2022 
 
 
To the NASPA Advisory Board: 
 
 I have read Dave Koenig’s response dated September 6, 2022. In response, I reiterate the 
information in my prior statement dated March 24, 2022. Among the 90+ pages of Dave’s new response 
is extensive, extraneous commentary that distracts from the key elements of the original complaint: 
Dave has been accused of sexual coercion, harassment, stalking, and making threats of physical 
violence. These are serious claims. I urge the Advisory Board to focus on these elements as they 
consider the safety of the Scrabble community and whether Dave is a positive addition to that 
community. 
 

1. Sexual Assault and Reporting 
 
Dave suggests that I fabricated the story of sexual coercion in April 2022. I did not. Nor did I wait until 
2022 to report it for the first time. I reported it in detail to my therapist more than five years ago when I 
still lived in Washington, D.C. Shortly after Dave published his manifesto in July 2020, I contacted my 
former therapist. She confirmed that she still remembers my report, remembers Dave by name, and has 
maintained notes from the many sessions in which we discussed Dave’s sexually aggressive behavior. 
 
Separately, I had previously disclosed that I had been sexually assaulted in a report I submitted to 
NASPA more than four years ago, on August 5, 2018. Jason Idalski was the division director for a 
NASPA tournament I played. Attached is a copy of the email report I submitted to Jason. 
 
Dave writes that he has “zero memory of any kind of sexual coercion.” This is not surprising for a man 
with a pattern of sexually aggressive behavior toward women. When someone routinely acts sexually 
aggressive, he’s not going to remember every encounter that constitutes assault because these 
encounters are not unusual or memorable for him. 
 
Dave describes the time when Sarah’s roommate, Kenny, accused Dave of taking advantage of Sarah 
while she was drunk. Dave told me about this incident in 2014, shortly after it happened. Specifically, he 
told me that it wasn’t rape because both he and Sarah were very drunk when they had sex. When I 
asked how he could have been that drunk given that he had driven her home before having sex with 
her, he dismissed my question. I do not know Sarah, and I do not know what exactly transpired that 
night. I have thought about this incident many times, however, because I was so struck by Dave’s 
inability to see that having sex with someone who may be too drunk to consent would not be okay, even 
if you’re drunk yourself.  
 
Dave writes in his response that I didn’t confront him about his sexual aggression. I remember one 
occasion on which he called me a dirty whore and told me I deserved to punished while he was in the 
act of having rough sex with me. After he finished, I told him to not do that again. 
 
Researchers and social science experts have found that there are many reasons why victims don’t 
confront their assaulters or report their sexual assaults to law enforcement. They may fear further 
violence. They may face death threats, gaslighting, intense misogyny, or be forced to evacuate their 
homes. They may be humiliated, be called sluts, or be blamed for being complicit in their own assaults. 
When they do report, they are often interrogated about wearing suggestive clothing, accused of inviting 
the attack by leading the man on, told that they liked rough sex, asked why they didn’t scream or fight 
back, asked why they didn’t report immediately, or told that they must be mistaken about the identity of 
their assaulter. 
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Like many women (and men), I never wanted to identify as a sexual assault victim or revisit that trauma 
by discussing with anyone what Dave did to me. That’s one reason why I have not publicly named Dave 
before as someone who sexually assaulted me. 
 
It has taken years and a lot of professional trauma counseling for me to understand and process what 
happened with Dave. I did not read books about sexual assault and trauma before I met Dave. Among 
the many books I’ve read since then to help myself recover are the following titles, which I recommend 
to anyone looking to learn more about sexual assault, abusive relationships, and why both reporting 
and leaving those relationships is so hard: 
 

 The Gift of Fear, by Gavin de Becker 
 The Body Keeps the Score, by Bessel van der Kolk 
 Entitled, by Kate Manne 
 Missoula: Rape and the Justice System in a College Town, by Jon Krakauer 
 Nobody's Victim: Fighting psychos, stalkers, pervs, and trolls, by Carrie Goldberg 
 Catch and Kill, by Ronan Farrow 
 She Said, by Jodi Kantor and Megan Twohey 
 Believing, by Anita Hill 
 Consent, by Vanessa Springora 

 
 

2. Verbal Abuse and Rage 
 
Dave cites several examples of me appearing to behave civilly toward him. Asking a player to even the 
field at a Scrabble club session is not an invitation to be in a relationship. I and many victims 
deliberately maintain communication with someone who has harmed us because we believe it’s the 
best way to keep ourselves safe in the future. I hoped that by exchanging occasional friendly messages 
and behaving civilly toward Dave, he would not be angry with me.  
 
Both Lola and I have witnessed Dave’s explosive temper, and we both mention it in our reports. One 
example of Dave’s verbal abuse toward me occurred in Perth, Australia, in November 2015. In his 
manifesto, Dave characterizes me asking Evans questions about where he grew up and what he does 
for work as flirtation. Dave was sitting next to me at the group dinner while I talked to Evans, whom I did 
not know well at the time. Dave then says:  
 

I never spoke up or got upset or showed discomfort or displeasure with the situation at all during 
the dinner, except for the silent gesture to Cecilia that no one else noticed. After dinner I spoke 
to Jennifer while the two of us walked by ourselves. I believe my message got across to her 
about how hurtful her behavior was to me, maybe not right away, but the next day for sure.  

 
Reading Dave’s perception of his own behavior gave me chills. I remember that night very well, and 
Dave’s description is wildly inconsistent with my recollection. He shows no awareness of the sheer rage 
he expressed toward me that night.  
 
As that dinner in Perth progressed, I sensed that Dave was becoming jealous and angry that I was 
talking to Evans instead of paying attention to Dave. Dave claimed to be tired, and was 
uncharacteristically quiet. After the check came, he made it clear that it was time for us to leave. I 
remember thinking, with complete clarity: “He is furious with me. If I go back to our Airbnb with him, he 
is going to kill me.”  
 
I looked desperately at Jesse Day, remembering that during trip planning time, he had asked if I wanted 
to share a group house with several players. I seriously considered asking Jesse if I could crash on 
their couch so that I wouldn’t have to go back to my Airbnb with Dave. In those seconds of panicked 
indecision, I couldn’t see a way out. My stuff was at the Airbnb; Dave was standing and waiting for me 

000234

000234

David Koenig
Exhibit 8



to leave with him. I had been playing Scrabble for only two years at that point. How could I explain to a 
group of people I barely knew that I needed to go home with them because Dave was about to fly into a 
rage? 
 
Seeing no other option, I stepped outside with Dave. We walked in silence for just enough paces away 
from the restaurant door that we were out of earshot. And then he exploded. He unleashed a screaming 
torrent of verbal abuse, condemning my behavior as embarrassing. I tried, unsuccessfully, to calm him 
down. Other players at that event may have observed that after that night, I was subdued and quiet and 
held Dave’s hand in public. I did so because I knew he was enraged at me and I did not want him to yell 
at or hurt me. 
 
Dave and others have asserted that the published texts and emails don’t constitute harassment or 
provide any legitimate basis for me to fear being around Dave or having him at tournaments I direct. 
What these people miss is the historical context of the preceding relationship. Lola dated Dave for two 
months, and that was enough to make her afraid that he might kill her. I dated Dave off and on for two 
years. It is the full history of that time with him, marked by repeated instances of sexual aggression with 
physical pain and unhinged verbal abuse, that made me afraid of him. 
 
It is emotionally exhausting to live in fear. When I told Judy Romann that I didn’t have a problem with 
Dave, I was desperately trying to convince myself that this was true. I didn’t want to continue facing the 
distress, shaking, and fear that I experienced playing him in New Orleans. I thought that facing Dave in 
club–when I’d be free to leave at any time–might condition me to feel comfortable around him at 
tournaments. This type of exposure therapy in short-term, controlled settings can sometimes help 
people overcome specific fears, and that was my hope. 
 
In The Gift of Fear, author Gavin de Becker observes that most women who are killed by partners are 
killed after leaving the relationship. He documents the following common warning signs of intimate 
partners who are likely to kill their former partner: 
 

 Verbally abusive. 
 Resolves conflict with intimidation and bullying. 
 Uses threats and intimidation as instruments of control or abuse. Includes threats to harm 

physically, to defame, to embarrass, or to disclose secrets. 
 Blames alcohol as an excuse for past bad behavior. 
 Minimizes incidents of abuse. 
 Blames others for his problems. 

 
I observed all of these warning signs and more during my time with Dave. And that made ending 
relations with him difficult and terrifying to do. 
 
 

3. Police Report 

 
Lola’s letter reporting that Dave wanted me and Evans dead made me fear for our lives. In particular, I 
was disturbed to hear that Dave expected publishing his manifesto would push me to kill myself. This 
point deserves emphasis. If you expect that taking an action is likely to kill someone, and you choose to 
do it, you have executed an intent to kill. Throughout Dave’s manifesto and response, he claims that his 
goal is to simply share his story and tell the truth. 
 
As I previously stated, it is a crime to post content online that results in the target’s suicide. Some 
harassers point a gun at their victim. Others torment their victims so thoroughly with their words and 
actions that their victims kill themselves or take extreme steps to withdraw from the world and avoid 
their harasser. In my case, I moved across the country and blocked all communications from Dave, 
among many other steps I detailed previously. 
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Alarmed by Dave’s statement that my husband and I deserve to die, I reported Dave’s conduct to the 
Seattle Police Department on March 30, 2022. The police followed up on my initial report by having an 
officer interview me. I provided the police with the same information I provided to NASPA. The officer 
advised me that Dave had broken criminal laws prohibiting stalking, harassment, and sexual assault. As 
examples of Dave’s criminal conduct, the officer cited Dave’s sexual coercion, publication of the 
manifesto, the texts and emails he sent with threatening language, and Dave’s own words describing 
his own conduct and intent. 
 
The officer informed me that he was escalating the case to a detective for further investigation. He 
assured me that given the safety concerns, the police would not contact Dave unless they were sure 
that police contact would decrease the risk of violence, rather than increase it. The officer advised me to 
immediately call the police if I saw Dave, and to purchase a panic alarm to carry at all times.  
 
The officer also asked what I wanted the police to do with my report. I did not ask the police to arrest or 
incarcerate Dave. I told them that I had filed the report because I was concerned he was going to hurt 
someone, and I wanted them to know who to investigate if I turned up dead. 
 
NASPA and any member of the public can request a copy of the police report from the Seattle Police 
Department directly. 
 
 

4. Initiation of Complaint 
 
Evans and I did not initiate the March 2022 complaint to NASPA or any Scrabble organization. When 
Steve Pellinen received Lola’s letter in his capacity as a WGPO director, he advised me that he sought 
to submit the information to Scrabble organizations because he believed Dave was dangerous. Steve is 
the one who initiated the complaint. I expressed great fear to Steve that reporting Dave’s conduct would 
provoke a reaction from him, potentially a violent one. I continue to maintain that fear. Given that Lola’s 
letter directly discussed me and Evans, I reluctantly concluded that I had to submit a statement.  
 
Dave seems to think that I go around voluntarily choosing to talk about him and his harassment. I do 
not. Talking about the person who harassed, assaulted, and traumatized me is incredibly painful. It is 
the last topic I want to discuss, both publicly and privately. I don’t raise his name in the presence of 
others. I walk away when others start talking about him. Given that I routinely work more than 65 hours 
a week, I do not choose to waste what little free time I have to spread rumors or wage a multi-year 
campaign of disparagement against anyone. 
 
The fact that I am making this information public for the first time is evidence itself that I have not spent 
years disparaging Dave. If assassinating Dave’s character was my aim, I could have disseminated this 
information years ago. He has already taken so much from me–my sense of safety, my trust in humans, 
my privacy, control over my body, and huge amounts of time and money spent in therapy and on 
security measures. I want nothing to do with him. I wish someone had warned me about him. I only 
hope that no one in the Scrabble community or anywhere else becomes his next target. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 
Jennifer Clinchy 
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Subject: Incident report for Round 14 forfeited game 

From: Jennifer Lee Sun, Aug 5, 2018 at 2:29 PM 

To: Jason Idalski 

Hi Jason, 

As requested, I am submitting information about why I 
chose to forfeit round 14. My assigned opponent was 
Sam Kantimathi. Multiple women in Scrabble have 
shared their personal stories alleging that Sam 
committed specific acts of sexual misconduct, including 
harassment and assault. I find their detailed accounts 
credible and understand that NASPA has investigated 
some of the claims against Sam. Months ago, I emailed 
Sam directly about the claims of sexual misconduct. He 
responded to my email, but did not address or refute the 
claims. 

I did not forfeit the game lightly. Like so many women, I 
have been sexually assaulted in the past. I forfeited the 
game because I would find it intensely distressful to 
relive that trauma by playing against a man who has 
harassed and behaved disrespectfully towards women. I 
lament that the prior NASPA investigation did not 
conclude that Sam’s character harms the Scrabble 
community and puts its players at risk. Thank you for 
your consideration.  

- Jennifer Lee
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September 9, 2022

As the statements that Steve included in his complaint were not written for this

audience, I would like to take the opportunity to say that everything I said in my

statement to Woogles and letter to Jennifer I believed to be true and correct at that time.

I will correct here where I have learned new information, where I think things are being

misunderstood, possibly willfully, and where I now believe my writing could be clearer

or I had omitted information I deemed irrelevant.

In responding to Dave¶s claim that my statement is almost all lies, I cannot be

completely sure which parts he¶s arguing against, because his chain of events matches

what I have shared, with just a few conflicts and many omissions and

misrepresentations. I will attempt to highlight the omissions and lies in his version, and

clarify where I think I could be being misunderstood.

M\ VXSSRUWLYe aQd/RU URPaQWLc We[WV

The inclusion of romantic texts, kindness and compassion is very confusing to me here.

He seems to be trying to present as proof that I did not feel the way I felt. Cpsar also says

that I am misrepresenting the relationship.

I hope no one is reading what I wrote as if I¶m saying there weren¶t good parts. Of course

there were. If I hadn't dated him I wouldn't have gotten addicted to this game again, and

that has worked out very well for everyone, in my opinion. I'd been able to express my
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wishes for the game and its online presence, which led to him pointing out Cesar's

Facebook group message looking for my skills. Puerto Rico was beautiful and delicious,

and I loved Seattle and Capitol Hill.

It probably looked like a pretty happy normal relationship, given how hard I was

working to keep Dave from getting upset or angry. I have never wanted my partner to be

happy all the time more in my entire life. I feel like I explained this in my statement, but

I¶m willing to try again.

When you believe that the only way to keep yourself safe is to keep someone on your

side, and when you believe that what¶s really wrong with this person is that they are in a

lot of pain, and when you believe that having some friendship and love and compassion

will heal them, that¶s what you offer. Wholeheartedly. And you don¶t get to just pretend

to care. You care. And you don¶t get to stop caring when you reali]e it hasn¶t helped and

can¶t help. I still care. I still do not wish to see him to suffer. He is a human being and he

is in pain. This does not mean he gets to inflict the suffering on others.

You  may not be able to imagine what this was like, and you may feel you'd have behaved

differently. All I can tell you is how I felt and why I behaved as I did.

TKe DecLVLRQ WR LLYe TRgeWKeU

His use of screenshots and mentions of the fact that I had talked to my family and

friends about him driving to Salt Lake is also confusing. I don¶t quite understand how

that¶s different from what I said, but I can say that those conversations were about my
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concerns about whether letting him move in for a while was a really stupid thing to do.

Particularly with Jordan, I was discussing Dave¶s violent rants and my hopes that he was

just a good guy in a dark place, angry, isolated (in the social support system sense, as

well as the pandemic sense), and in pain due to a horrible ex.

And at this point, none of his anger had been directed at me, other than a minor blowup

about me choosing a fro]en pi]]a from the convenience store when the restaurants

closed down that made him sick. Maybe the rage I saw up to this point was temporary

and being heightened by the pandemic stress and he just needed to have someone on his

side. I believed this for a very long time.

DaUUeOO Da\

In reference to the Darrell Day threat, I am attaching the emails that are referred to in

his screenshot. As we both agree, I did not have access to the words of the threat. I am

attaching the emails referenced by those screenshots. Later, Dave and I argued about

this incident repeatedly. I continued to express concern that he would risk everything he

cares about to intimidate a Trump supporter on the internet (while believing the extent

of that threat was a quick ³I'll smash your fucking skull´ comment), that it was alarming

that he couldn't see why he shouldn't, that it was concerning that he wished to inspire

others to murder Trump supporters, and that it seemed like behavior he wouldn¶t

logically arrive at. The original draft in the email shows his point of view. He yelled at

me to stop bringing it up.
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Many months later, when I saw the actual text I¶d help to defend I was horrified, as

already stated, in the emails Dave attached.

The email also shows that his wish for violence is not simply venting in anger. He hopes

to inspire others to commit the violence.

"I Zould consider the act of murdering him « to be completel\ morall\ justified. More

liYes Zould be saYed b\ eliminating those Zho Zould cast Yotes causing so much more

death. That doesn't mean I'm going to do it m\self. I'm not a murderer. I'Ye neYer eYen

hit another human being. But I belieYe it is justified. And I speak Zith the rhetorical

intention of normali]ing this attitude. I Zant more people to be enraged that this

Republican administration is literall\ killing us. And that those Zho continue to

support them are complicit in that Yiolence. And if I can enrage enough other people

that someone else kills people like Darrell Da\, then I Zill consider that a good da\."

TKe MXUdeU FaQWaVLeV

Dave does not deny having murder fantasies.  The difference between his account and

mine is that he purports the revenge fantasies as being ³off the cuff´ and minor. It was

every single night for  hours in which he was in a terrifying, shouting rage, despite any of

my protestations about my needing sleep. There are 52 nights from April 24th through

June 15th. I can concede that the number of hours is an estimate. He has said many

times to me and others that he wouldn't actually hurt anyone. However, he also said that
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if he did kill the Clinchys and ended up in prison, it would be worth it because the world

would be a better place.

I find it strange that he can both express sympathy for how this traumati]ed me,  ³I am

highly sympathetic to Lola¶s situation. I understand why she felt that she needed to lie.

There was a period of time from early 2020 until mid-June when I exposed a lot of my

inner trauma to her. I admitted many angry thoughts to her,´ and then claim that I¶m

lying and that my state of mind was that I was fine.

In reality, I expressed my fear often. The psychopath jokes he includes in the screenshot

originated from me trying to make light when I tried to tell him the impact the fits of

rage had on me.

I even told him that I was afraid of what would happen if someday he became angry with

me and decided I had betrayed him. He said he would never hurt me, because I could

never do anything to him like what he believed they had done. This is seared in my

memory, and part of why I reacted as I did when he said I had betrayed him.

New Orleans

The interaction in New Orleans is very, very different in my version.

1. My statement was shortened for  brevity and that makes it slightly out of order. I

lump all of the things I said to Dave into one sentence: ³I told him that I think

he¶s an actual psychopath, that I¶m terrified of him, that I owe him absolutely
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nothing, and I ask him again to leave me alone.³ These statements were spread

out more than that, as described below.

2. I also want to clarify that he was in a rage from a few sentences into speaking

until he said I'd betrayed him, at which point he relaxed, as I stated to Jennifer

and Woogles.

3. He talks about asking about the "hoax". What he said was, "Have you been

spreading Chel's lies?" I reiterated that I don¶t care about that, and don't

remember having mentioned it. Had it ever come up in conversation with

Conrad, when I told him about the play reading group emails? Possible. I have no

idea.  In his statement, he then says that I said that things I told Conrad may have

been the last straw. Those things are included in my statement: this is when I told

him I had told Conrad I am afraid of him. I also told Dave I think he's a

psychopath, and that I don't want anything to do with him.

4. Dave says, ³She made clear that she still thought Evans and Jennifer were doing

the wrong thing by excluding me, but when I pointed out that she was playing

with their group and implicitly supporting them, she admitted a bit of hypocrisy.

She wanted to get games and that¶s where they were.´ This is not the conversation

and is false. I did not say they were in the wrong or admit any hypocrisy. I said I¶d

been playing the CoCo tournaments and would continue to as they were what was

available in the area, upon which he said that the Clinchy's should be ineligible to

be directors based on what they did. I said ³From your perspective.´ He said

³What?´ and I repeated. ³From your perspective.´ I told him I have never heard

either of them even mention him, or heard anything about the lies he's sure they

told.
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5. This is when he relaxes and says  ³So you know. I feel more betrayed by you than

by anything Jennifer and Evans did.´

After I delivered my statement to the Woogles team, Cpsar Del Solar messaged

me on Slack and said that he had discussed the events I reported to him on

January 20 with Dave, and that the part where Dave¶s story seemed to differ from

mine was on that sentence. Dave told Cesar he meant the opposite, that he did

not feel as betrayed by me. I have tried to imagine how I could have misheard a

sentence with that structure that meant the opposite, and having read his version,

I now struggle to fit the words he says he used (³light betrayal´)  into that

sentence. I heard what I heard.

6. Dave's account says that I didn¶t respond at this point and he just sat there being

sad.

It is completely false that I said nothing.

In the actual  conversation, it¶s after he says I¶ve betrayed him that I am

exasperated and frightened and angry. I tell him that I don¶t owe him anything.

That I have already paid so much for trying to help him. I tell him I¶ve lost my

ability to trust people or date, that I¶ve lost my faith in humanity, that I don't

trust my judgment in people, and that I feel completely destroyed. I tell him all I

want is for him to leave me alone. I tell him he has my sympathies for his pain as

always, that I think they're going to start clocks,  and I walk into the playing

room. He says behind me, ³Thank you. I won¶t bring this up again´ and I say,

"Well, I would certainly appreciate that." with what I felt was very obvious anger.

TKe BORg
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I would also like to address Dave¶s declared perception that I was supportive about the

blog. I was very supportive that he write down his perspective and get his feelings out,

not to the publishing of it. I encouraged him to take some of his more unrelated parts

about his childhood and family and write a memoir from that instead. He said it

wouldn¶t stop them from what they¶re doing. I then encouraged him to write a separate

thing, explaining instead why a third organi]ation was bad for Scrabble, which he also

said missed his point. I expressed concern that he might be sued, and he said that

couldn't happen because it was all true and they're the ones who lied and this proved it.

Just as in what he has said about me in his response, his story left out all of the behavior

that would lead the Clinchy¶s to exclude him from a tournament he wanted to play.  He

had been told he was banned from the other tournaments they direct. I had been

expecting so much worse. His commitment to including irrelevant personal information

that made him look really bad, even after I pointed out people would react, made me

assume he was telling the truth and the whole story.

This is the same thing I tried to express in the message I posted on Facebook, that was

included in Jennifer¶s evidence.
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I still stand by most of that. He did not have the right to subject her to his anger. Being

publicly excluded is better than being privately excluded, and that¶s what a ban is.

Having heard the other side of the story though, after I wrote my statement and talked

to Jennifer about Dave for the first time, my belief is that his situation does not have an

external cause. Dave¶s loneliness and ostracism are caused by Dave¶s continued use of

intimidation, not just against women, but against many players. I wanted to believe then

that the cause and effect were reversed, that his ostracism had caused his anger, and

that if he could just play again it would go away.
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BriAn Mc sen Peter Armstrong I feel I e '{OtJve rrissed 

a lot of the oonsequenr.es ror his behavior in however you 
read Dave's post. He isn't allowed to ptay in any to1n1aments 

mey organize (and has had his en fees returned to nm 

when he's tried), and they organize the only totn1aments in 
his area. He isn't alowed to be invited to any or the dUb I e 

playilg c,pporturvties fn his area, and pla}Tlg is lis wtoe 
world. I Pfe5Uffl8 you haVen't been bl steel from playing 

where you e? 

He behaved lite many people do when 'MJl..lnded. ror a eot...,ie 

of month , stopped behaving that w;q, and has been paying 

vasuy disproportionate consequences for 3 years. He tried to 

as>OIO!iZe. He tried to move on and just assume theY'd lel ·m 
play_ 

He's now faced with the IX)SSibiity that COCO becomes the 
primary COlinS opoortuMy in North America. and ifs their 
org.nization. I know if it were me, I'd be terriied that the only 
thilg I care about is n<M' gone, because I was a dick ror a few 

mcn1hs when I was fem1g hearlbroken. 

I don't know Jennifer a Evans. Dave knows I ú =with 
tiS belief Ula he had a ~t to make her isten to at he had 
to say. It doesnl matter. 

1he fallout has been incredllly i.ijusl and while he's certainly 
pi srig people orr by~ his story out tnere, 1 aoo, knOW 
what elSe he can do. Being publicly excluded is better than 

being secretly ex.elided. 

This, with hill exposing the fuU extent of his behavior and 

flaws seems like the best pattl to "yeah, you're a jel1c. 

sometimes. You're not a monster. Le s play the game: 
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TZLWcK

Twitch randomly assigns subscription gifts to other viewers when you buy a pack, as I

explained when he messaged me about the subscription.. I did not choose for the one

Dave got to go to him.

DaYe'V DLUecW TUeaWPeQW Rf Me

I believed I was the only person who had seen the way Dave gets when he loses his

temper and that he probably wouldn¶t get that way at a Scrabble tournament. His anger

in New Orleans changed my mind.

It is untrue that his anger during the relationship was only at the Clinchys and never at

me. During our relationship, he lost his temper at me about me quite often. As I¶d

mentioned, he yelled at me when I expressed concern about what had happened on

Facebook about Darrel Day. Fairly consistently, me expressing my anxiety about the

relationship caused him rage. After we left for Seattle this increased significantly. He

yelled at me in the car on the way there about my health problems and needing to stop

to move around. He flew into a rage about me trying to tell him about similar terrain

when he¶d wanted me to be focused on seeing the Columbia River Valley. He was also

furious on that trip that I¶d thought he¶d like a band that he was certain he wouldn¶t like,

because I described it as complex when what he liked these days was simple. After

arriving, he yelled at me about where I¶d moved the sharpie that belongs where he¶d left

it on the counter in front of the dish drainer, and about my anxiety when I grew

concerned about a broken microphone on my work computer soon after we got to

Seattle. The last argument I mention was triggered by him screaming at me on the street
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because I had asked if we could stop and grab the things we needed when we walked by

the grocery store, and he said we would on the way back. When I attempted to go in as

we passed back on the way, he started shouting that he¶d already said he didn¶t want to

go and it should have been obvious he said that to appease me since it was ridiculous to

run errands on a walk and I should have understood that. A few hours later, he yelled at

me and called me stupid in front of people online playing Codenames, because I had

guessed Octopus for Wet when it was obviously Fall he intended.

For many hours after, I tried to explain why that wasn¶t okay behavior and that I could

not possibly read his mind.

He argued that this was the same point his family and the Clinchys were wrong about.

He said that if someone makes him angry, they are required to face his anger and listen

to him verbally abuse them. He said one of the main things wrong with the world is that

men aren't allowed to get angry. I could not get him to see that feeling angry doesn't give

you the moral right to take that out on others.

A few weeks after I came home and a few days after he had published his blog, he called

to see if I still thought he did nothing wrong. I asked him, ³based on just the eight weeks

I was dating you, maybe she was just scared of you. Did you ever yell at her?´ He said,

yes, he ³chewed her out all the time´ but that she ³appreciated it because she made

horrible decisions about her personal life.´
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He often says, in his own writing which you¶ve read, in the accounts of his friends, and

in his response to NASPA in the Darrell Day complaint, that he wouldn¶t actually hurt

anyone. I think maybe he believes this. I do not. I do not believe he has control of

himself when he is in a rage, and in New Orleans, it seemed like the rage was still getting

worse, as some of it was now attached to the girl from Maryland. I very much hope I¶m

wrong.

SXPPaU\

I did not have a goal in writing down my trauma for strangers to try to get Dave Koenig

banned from Scrabble. I just wanted a space that was important to me to be somewhere

I could continue to be.

After writing it and talking to Jennifer about her experiences while dating him, many of

which she¶s detailed, and seeing how similar they are to mine, I reali]e it¶s not just about

my safety. While I¶m still unsure that going on the record with this made me any safer,

or whether actually banning him makes anyone safer, I believe this being out in the open

makes it less likely that the next person will feel the fear I feel or the fear other members

of the community feel.

Thank you for your time and attention,

BriAnna Lola McKissen
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I am ZriWing Wo Whe E[ecXWiYe CommiWWee of NASPA Wo reqXeVW a reconVideraWion of Whe
Whree-\ear ban impoVed on me b\ Whe NASPA AdYiVor\ Board in SepWember 2022.

The E[ecXWiYe CommiWWee VhoXld reYerVe iWV deciVion for VeYeral reaVonV. FirVW, Whe allegaWionV
againVW me are compleWel\ falVe. Second, Whe deciVion ZaV Whe reVXlW of a campaign of
diVinformaWion and defamaWion Zaged againVW me b\ oWher memberV of Whe American
WoXrnamenW Scrabble commXniW\. Third, Whe proceVV b\ Zhich Whe Board reached iWV deciVion
ZaV faWall\ flaZed and did noW alloZ me an opporWXniW\ Wo properl\ defend m\Velf.

ThiV VWor\ doeV noW end ZiWh Whe deciVion of NASPA¶V E[ecXWiYe CommiWWee. EYanV Clinch\,
Jennifer Clinch\, and Lola McKiVVen haYe all broken Whe laZ.

I am confidenW WhaW an objecWiYe, XnbiaVed jXr\ Zill accepW ZhaW Whe facWV in m\ caVe proYe in a
Za\ WhaW NorWh American Scrabble leaderVhip hereWofore haV noW. PerhapV dXe Wo emoWional and
poliWical connecWionV or concernV, or perhapV aV an oYerreacWion Wo criWiciVm of iWV handling of
preYioXV miVcondXcW allegaWionV, Whe NASPA AdYiVor\ Board ZaV Xnable or XnZilling Wo folloZ
Whe facWV of WhiV caVe Wo Wheir naWXral conclXVion: WhaW I haYe noW YiolaWed Whe Code of CondXcW in
an\ Za\, and WhaW m\ accXVerV haYe manXfacWXred a falVe narraWiYe ZiWh Whe Vpecific inWenW of
e[commXnicaWing me from WoXrnamenW Scrabble acroVV Whe conWinenW and Whe Zorld.

I Zill VWarW b\ deVcribing Whe VerieV of Xne[pecWed and XnZarranWed acWionV WhaW led Xp Wo Whe
Board¶V miVgXided deciVion. I Zill When oXWline Whe backgroXnd Wo Whe campaign againVW me,
deVcribe Whe procedXral flaZV in Whe AdYiVor\ Board¶V proceVV, and proYide m\ reVponVe Wo
VWaWemenWV made b\ m\ accXVerV Zhich I ZaV noW giYen Whe opporWXniW\ Wo do dXring Whe Board¶V
proceVV. I Zill When oXWline Whe proper reVolXWion of m\ ViWXaWion.

All I e[pecW from Whe memberV of WhiV commiWWee iV WhaW Whe\ WreaW me e[acWl\ aV I ZoXld WreaW
Whem if oXr poViWionV Zere reYerVed.

M\ E[peUience ZiWh ScUabble LeadeUVhip in 2022

On April 14, 2022, I receiYed an email from SWeYen Pellinen, copied Wo Whe WGPO Board ZiWh
Whe VXbjecW heading ³NoWice of PoWenWial DiVciplinar\ AcWion´, inclXding fiYe aWWachmenWV:

(1) A more deWailed leWWer from SWeYen Pellinen
(2) A VWaWemenW from Lola McKiVVen
(3) A VWaWemenW from EYanV Clinch\
(4) A VWaWemenW from Jennifer Clinch\
(5) A collecWion of aWWached docXmenWV (Whe majoriW\ of Zhich iV VcreenVhoWV of m\ blog aW

VpleneWic.neW)

I belieYe WhaW WhiV email ZaV Whe cXlminaWion of an aWWempW Wo deVWro\ m\ repXWaWion ZiWhin Whe
American WoXrnamenW Scrabble commXniW\ b\ Vpreading defamaWor\ falVehoodV. From 2017 Wo
2019, EYanV and Jennifer Clinch\ had done man\ Xnderhanded WhingV Wo keep me oXW of
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NASPA WoXrnamenWV Whe\ organi]ed, and Zhen WhaW ZaVn¶W enoXgh, Whe\ decided Wo creaWe a
Zhole VeparaWe Scrabble organi]aWion, from Zhich I ZaV e[clXded. I VWrongl\ belieYe WhaW Whe\
conYinced SWeYe Pellinen Wo file WhiV complainW in an aWWempW Wo giYe Wheir perVonal grXdge
againVW me an air of bXreaXcraWic legiWimac\. UnVaWiVfied ZiWh e[clXding me from Wheir neZ
organi]aWion, in Zhich I had no inWereVW Wo begin ZiWh, Whe\ e[panded Wheir efforWV Wo geW me
banned from all WoXrnamenW Scrabble. TheVe VWaWemenWV are an aWWempW Wo frame me for
haraVVmenW and oWher miVdeedV b\ creaWing a falVe narraWiYe aboXW me.

IW ZaV abVXrd WhaW I eYen receiYed WhiV email from WGPO on man\ groXndV. FirVW, Whe YaVW
majoriW\ of Whe allegaWionV in Whe docXmenWV Zere aboXW priYaWe relaWionVhipV WhaW VhoXld noW be
Whe bXVineVV of an\ Scrabble organi]aWion Wo caVW jXdgmenW on. Second, Whe feZ allegaWionV WhaW
ma\ haYe been releYanW Zere relaWed Wo NASPA-VancWioned WoXrnamenWV, Zhich are Whe onl\
VancWioned oneV WhaW I pla\ in NorWh America. I am noW a member of WGPO, and I haYe had
]ero inWereVW in pla\ing in an\ WGPO WoXrnamenWV.

LaWer WhaW Vame da\, I receiYed an email from JXd\ Cole, copied Wo Whe AdYiVor\ Board aW
NASPA conWaining Whe Vame fiYe aWWachmenWV, informing me WhaW SWeYen Pellinen had VenW all of
Whe docXmenWV Wo Whe NASPA E[ecXWiYe CommiWWee, and WhaW Whe NASPA AdYiVor\ Board
ZanWed m\ reVponVe ³ZiWhin 10 da\V if poVVible.´

The ne[W morning, April 15Wh, I reVponded Wo NASPA and copied SWeYen Pellinen perVonall\ (bXW
noW WGPO) Va\ing I onl\ recogni]ed NASPA aV haYing aXWhoriW\ oYer Scrabble in NorWh
America, and WhaW I ZoXld onl\ deal ZiWh Whem. I fXrWher VWaWed WhaW I ZoXld need aW leaVW a monWh
Wo reVpond, and WhaW I ZoXld addiWionall\ proYide m\ official reVponVe Wo SWeYen Pellinen aV a
perVonal coXrWeV\ Wo him.

TZo people from NASPA replied in agreeable and helpfXl Za\V. SWeYen Pellinen reVponded,
aVking me Wo reVpond Wo parW of Whe complainW Vooner. I ignored SWeYen¶V meVVage. SWeYen ZaV
Whe plainWiff in Whe caVe againVW me, and iW ZaV compleWel\ inappropriaWe for him Wo circXmYenW
NASPA and aVk for a repl\ Vooner, jXVW aV iW ZaV compleWel\ inappropriaWe for WGPO Wo conWacW
me in an\ Za\ ZhaWVoeYer aboXW WhiV. A feZ da\V laWer, on April 19Wh, NASPA Wold me WhaW I had
aV mXch Wime aV I needed Wo reVpond and Wo refrain from aWWending an\ NASPA clXbV or
WoXrnamenWV and from making conWacW ZiWh Whe complainanWV XnWil Whe\ made Wheir rXling, Zhich I
complied ZiWh.

On April 25Wh, I receiYed an email WhaW ZaV caXghW in m\ Vpam filWer from
condXcW@cocoVcrabble.org Welling me WhaW I had XnWil April 28Wh Wo reVpond Wo Whem becaXVe of
WhiV incidenW reporW. ThiV email inclXded qXoWeV from an April 14Wh email WhaW Whe\ had allegedl\
VenW me, bXW I had neYer receiYed WhaW one.1 I neYer reVponded Wo an\ of CoCo¶V commXnicaWion,

1 IW iV poVVible WhaW Whe April 14Wh email ZaV loVW in m\ Vpam filWer, bXW WhaW VeemV Xnlikel\ Wo me, becaXVe
m\ email proYider Va\V WhaW iW deleWeV WhingV from Vpam afWer 30 da\V. I checked Whe Vpam filWer in laWe
April and VaZ Whe April 25Wh email from CoCo bXW no April 14Wh email.
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and Whe\ VenW me anoWher email on Ma\ 22nd ZiWh Wheir diVciplinar\ deciVion in an aWWachmenW,
Zhich banned me from pla\ing in Wheir WoXrnamenWV for fiYe \earV.

I had hoped Wo geW m\ reVponVe back Wo NASPA b\ laWe Ma\, bXW I ZaV Xnable Wo do Vo. I had
alread\ booked WraYel, long before I receiYed Whe incidenW reporW, Wo go Wo Whe UK and German\
Wo compeWe in WoXrnamenWV in boWh coXnWrieV WhaW Zere VancWioned b\ Whe AVVociaWion of BriWiVh
Scrabble Pla\erV (ABSP) and WESPA. Technicall\, WhiV ZaV noW ZiWhin NASPA¶V pXrYieZ, bXW I
ZaV compleWel\ aboYe board ZiWh NASPA in leWWing Whem knoZ aboXW m\ planned WraYel and
inWenW Wo pla\ in Whe WoXrnamenWV. The NASPA AdYiVor\ Board e[pliciWl\ oka\ed me pla\ing in
Whe EXropean WoXrnamenWV before adjXdicaWion of m\ caVe. TheVe are Whe onl\ WoXrnamenWV I
pla\ed afWer receiYing WhiV incidenW reporW, and I haYe noW aWWended an\ clXbV nor eYen pla\ed
Scrabble ZiWh an\one online in WhaW Wime.

MeanZhile, SWeYen Pellinen emailed me again on Ma\ 27Wh Welling me WhaW WGPO ZaV
proceeding ZiWh a reYieZ of m\ caVe ZiWhoXW m\ VWaWemenW, becaXVe I had noW VXbmiWWed iW on
Wime. I reVponded, reminding SWeYe WhaW I ZoXld cop\ him on m\ reVponVe Wo NASPA and
informing him WhaW NASPA had giYen me no deadline. I fXrWher poinWed oXW WhaW WGPO had no
righW Wo aVk me for an\Whing or Wo haYe a hearing aboXW me, aV I ZaV noW pla\ing in Wheir
WoXrnamenWV and had no inWenWion Wo do Vo, and WhaW Whe onl\ WoXrnamenWV releYanW Wo Whe
incidenW reporW Zere NASPA WoXrnamenWV. On JXne 29Wh, I receiYed an email from KeiWh Hagel,
on behalf of Whe WGPO Board of DirecWorV, noWif\ing me WhaW I had receiYed a fiYe-\ear ban.

I had been regiVWered Wo pla\ in Whe NASPA Scrabble Pla\erV ChampionVhip in BalWimore in laWe
JXl\, bXW becaXVe I ZaV noW able Wo geW m\ reVponVe Wo Whe incidenW reporW ZriWWen in a Wimel\
Za\, I dropped oXW of Whe WoXrnamenW.

On AXgXVW 8Wh, Michael Tang made an annoXncemenW aboXW Whe AlchemiVW CXp 2024, Zhich iV
an inWernaWional eYenW piWWing WeamV of Whe Wop 5 pla\erV from man\ coXnWrieV againVW each oWher.
HiV annoXncemenW inclXded Whe neZV WhaW pla\erV Zho Zere VXVpended b\ WZo oXW of Whree
Scrabble aVVociaWionV in NorWh America ZoXld noW be permiWWed Wo regiVWer for Whe eYenW, and he
Vpecified WhaW he ZaV conVidering NASPA, WGPO, and CoCo Wo all coXnW aV Scrabble
aVVociaWionV for NorWh America. ThiV rXle ZaV clearl\ WargeWing me, aV I ZaV Whe onl\ perVon in
Whe Zorld Zho ZaV VXVpended b\ WZo oXW of Whree NorWh American aVVociaWionV. FXrWhermore, iW
ZaV XnprecedenWed Wo conVider eiWher WGPO or CoCo aV an aVVociaWion for qXalif\ing
pXrpoVeV. Onl\ NASPA had WESPA recogniWion and had eYer been inYolYed in inWernaWional
qXalif\ing before.

(NoWe alVo WhaW Whe e[acW Za\V in Zhich EYanV and Jennifer had broken NASPA rXleV in
2017-2019 had Whe effecW of corrXpWing Whe qXalif\ing proceVV for Whe 2018 and 2020 AlchemiVW
CXp WoXrnamenWV. EYanV and Jennifer had organi]ed Wheir oZn VirWXal World CXp in 2020, Zhich
ZaV billed aV a replacemenW for Whe canceled 2020 AlchemiVW CXp, and Whe\ had alVo cheaWed
me oXW of a VpoW in WhaW eYenW.)
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On AXgXVW 24Wh, I receiYed anoWher email from Whe NASPA AdYiVor\ Board Welling me WhaW m\
name ZaV noZ on Whe VXVpended pla\erV liVW and WhaW I had XnWil WZo ZeekV from WhaW daWe,
SepWember 7Wh, Wo geW a reVponVe Wo NASPA. The ePaLO aOVR PeQWLRQed WhaW SWeYeQ PeOOLQeQ
had cRQWacWed Whe AdYLVRU\ BRaUd aQd ZaV SUeVVXULQg WheP WR acW VRRQeU. I reVponded Whe ne[W
da\ Va\ing WhaW I ZoXld geW m\ reVponVe in b\ SepWember 7Wh.

On SepWember 6Wh, I VenW m\ reVponVe Wo Whe NASPA AdYiVor\ Board, cop\ing iW Wo SWeYen
Pellinen. A da\ laWer, JaVon IdalVki, Zho had been m\ main poinW of conWacW on Whe NASPA
AdYiVor\ Board, informed me WhaW Wheir ne[W meeWing ZoXld be on SepWember 20Wh.

On Whe morning of SepWember 21VW, I We[Wed JaVon IdalVki back Wo inqXire aboXW ZheWher Whe
AdYiVor\ Board had made a deciVion. I did noW hear back for VeYeral hoXrV. I When We[Wed SWefan
RaX, anoWher member of Whe AdYiVor\ Board I knoZ Zell, aVking Whe Vame Whing. JaVon IdalVki
and SWefan RaX goW back Wo me ZiWhin Wen minXWeV of each oWher, each giYing me conWradicWor\
informaWion.

On SepWember 23rd, I receiYed an email from JaVon IdalVki, cop\ing boWh Whe AdYiVor\ Board
and SWeYen Pellinen, informing me WhaW I had been giYen a Whree-\ear ban. The email referred Wo
Whree YiolaWionV b\ me of Whe Code of CondXcW bXW gaYe no VpecificV aV Wo ZhaW I had done Wo
YiolaWe Whe Code or ZhaW parW or parWV of Whe Code I had allegedl\ YiolaWed, oWher Whan a
reference Wo SecWion 2.

On SepWember 25Wh, I ZaV conWacWed Yia Facebook MeVVenger b\ Eric Kinderman, a non-YoWing
member of Whe WESPA board, Welling me WhaW NASPA had Wold Whem WhaW I ZaV VancWioned for
Whree \earV bXW did noW giYe a reaVon. He VXVpecWed foXl pla\. I reVponded,

I dLd VXbPLW a defeQVe, aQd Lf \RX Uead LW, LW cRQcOXVLYeO\ SURYeV WhaW aOO Whe chaUgeV
agaLQVW Pe ZeUe faOVe, aQd aOVR WhaW aOO WhUee SeRSOe ZhR VXbPLWWed VWaWePeQWV
NQRZLQgO\ aQd LQWeQWLRQaOO\ VXbPLWWed faOVe LQfRUPaWLRQ agaLQVW Pe. The UeVSRQVe Whe\
gaYe Pe aOVR dLd QRW VSecLf\ ZhaW I dLd WhaW VXSSRVedO\ PeULWed Whe VXVSeQVLRQ. AOO Rf
P\ cRPPXQLcaWLRQ ZLWh Whe ScUabbOe aVVRcLaWLRQV heQcefRUWh ZLOO be WhURXgh P\ OaZ\eU.

I alVo learned aroXnd WhiV Wime WhaW SXe Trembla\, CommXniW\ AdYocaWe of NASPA, ZaV neYer
informed of Whe incidenW reporW broXghW againVW me or Whe NASPA AdYiVor\ Board¶V deliberaWionV
aboXW iW. She onl\ learned aboXW Whe caVe from me afWer I had alread\ VXbmiWWed m\ reVponVe.
According Wo NASPA¶V ZebViWe, Whe CommXniW\ AdYocaWe¶V ³mandaWe iV Wo proYide a Vafe
enYironmenW for memberV reporWing caVeV of haraVVmenW ZiWhin Whe aVVociaWion.´2 SXe ZaV
alZa\V looped inWo incidenW reporWV like WhiV one Vince her appoinWmenW, and Vhe VeemV Wo haYe
been inWenWionall\ e[clXded from WhiV proceVV.

2 hWWp://ZZZ2.Vcrabblepla\erV.org/Z/CommXniW\_AdYocaWe A PDF prinWoXW of WhaW page iV inclXded in Whe
aWWached maWerialV.
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On NoYember 8Wh, 2022, m\ former aWWorne\ VenW a leWWer Wo Whe NASPA AdYiVor\ Board aVking
for e[planaWion of Whe raWionale behind Wheir deciVion and ZheWher Where Zere an\ addiWional
docXmenWV VXbmiWWed aV parW of Whe caVe WhaW I had noW been VhoZn. The leWWer alVo doXbled aV
a liWigaWion hold leWWer.3

On NoYember 10Wh, John CheZ, Whe PreVidenW of NASPA, Zho VerYeV on boWh Whe AdYiVor\
Board and Whe E[ecXWiYe CommiWWee, ZroWe back noWif\ing me WhaW Whe AdYiVor\ Board ZoXld noW
elaboraWe on Whe rXling.

On NoYember 15Wh, John CheZ ZroWe again, aWWaching addiWional VWaWemenWV from Jennifer
Clinch\, Lola McKiVVen, and SWeYen Pellinen daWed SepWember 9Wh, 2022. TheVe VWaWemenWV
conWained a large amoXnW of addiWional defamaWor\ maWerial from Jennifer and Lola. The
VWaWemenW from SWeYen Pellinen alVo VhoZed WhaW he ZaV Yer\ obYioXVl\ noW an objecWiYe Whird
parW\ and ZaV a fXrWher VcaWhing criWiciVm of me. ThoXgh NASPA¶V AdYiVor\ Board did noW meeW
Wo conVider m\ caVe XnWil 11 da\V laWer, on SepWember 20Wh, I ZaV neYer informed of Whe
addiWional docXmenWV prior Wo NASPA¶V YerdicW. FXrWhermore, I neYer ZoXld haYe foXnd oXW
aboXW Whem if noW for Whe leWWer from m\ former aWWorne\.

The VXbmiVVion of Whe SepWember 9Wh docXmenWV ZaV againVW Whe rXleV of NASPA¶V diVciplinar\
procedXreV aV far aV I XnderVWood. JaVon IdalVki had e[plained Wo me oYer Whe phone WhaW Whe
diVciplinar\ proceVV ZaV jXVW WhaW Whe AdYiVor\ Board ZoXld reYieZ Whe complainanWV¶ original
VWaWemenWV from April 2022 and m\ reVponVe in a priYaWe meeWing. NeiWher I nor Whe
complainanWV ZoXld be aW Whe meeWing. There ZoXld be no croVV-e[aminaWionV or fXrWher roXndV
of VWaWemenWV.

On April 14Wh, 2023, I filed a laZVXiW in MXlWnomah CoXnW\ CircXiW CoXrW againVW EYanV, Jennifer,
and Lola for DefamaWion, ConVpirac\ Wo Defame, InWenWional InWerference ZiWh Economic
RelaWionV, ConVpirac\ Wo TorWioXVl\ InWerfere ZiWh Economic RelaWionV, InWenWional InflicWion of
EmoWional DiVWreVV, and ConVpirac\ Wo InWenWionall\ InflicW EmoWional DiVWreVV. I did WhiV, aW greaW
perVonal financial riVk Wo m\Velf, becaXVe m\ repXWaWion haV been XnlaZfXll\ WarniVhed and I
need Whe Scrabble Zorld Wo Vee Whe WrXWh.

PoliWical BackgUoXnd

AV WhiV CommiWWee iV VXrel\ aZare, Whe emergence of neZ WoXrnamenW Scrabble organi]aWionV in
recenW \earV haV led Wo YarioXV poliWical and financial riYalrieV, and haV WhreaWened Wo fracWXre an
alread\ Vmall commXniW\ of pla\erV.

WGPO VWarWed aV a rebellion from NASPA becaXVe of diVVaWiVfacWion ZiWh ChriV Cree¶V
leaderVhip aroXnd a decade ago, and iW VWrXggled Wo haYe releYance for Whe firVW decade of iWV
e[iVWence. Before Whe pandemic, iW ZaV moVWl\ a regional phenomenon in Whe TZin CiWieV, Reno,

3 On NoYember 11Wh, liWigaWion hold leWWerV alVo ZenW oXW Wo EYanV Clinch\, Jennifer Clinch\, CoCo, SWeYen
Pellinen, WGPO, and Lola McKiVVen.
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and Ari]ona areaV and ZaV ignored b\ mXch of NorWh American compeWiWiYe Scrabble in Whe reVW
of Whe coXnWr\. FXrWhermore, almoVW no one ZaV pla\ing CSW Scrabble Xnder iWV aXVpiceV.

When WGPO receiYed a large caVh infXVion from Jon ShreYe in 2021, Whe\ VXddenl\ became
more releYanW. ShorWl\ WhereafWer, EYanV¶ and Jennifer¶V organi]aWion, Whe CollinV CoaliWion,
began Wo Zork more cloVel\ ZiWh WGPO. WhaW I¶Ye heard from oWher Scrabble pla\erV iV WhaW
WGPO VaZ CoCo aV a naWXral fiW Wo Zork WogeWher, becaXVe WGPO didn¶W haYe mXch of a CSW
preVence, and iW ZaV an opporWXniW\ Wo groZ.

MeanZhile, NASPA ZaV rocked b\ Whe Vcandal VXrroXnding Sam KanWimaWhi, Zho ZaV credibl\
accXVed of mXlWiple incidenWV of Ve[Xal haraVVmenW and aVVaXlW, aV Zell aV cheaWing, oYer a
lengWh\ period of Wime. Man\ memberV of NASPA e[preVVed diVVaWiVfacWion ZiWh Whe Za\ Whe
AdYiVor\ Board handled WhaW ViWXaWion, and I agree ZholehearWedl\ ZiWh Whem WhaW Sam VhoXld
haYe been pXniVhed more VeYerel\, Xp Wo a lifeWime ban from WoXrnamenW Scrabble an\Zhere.

An\ compariVon beWZeen me and Sam iV abVXrd. I haYe neYer cheaWed aW Scrabble, and I haYe
neYer Ve[Xall\ haraVVed or aVVaXlWed Zomen. NoneWheleVV, Zhen Jennifer ZaV on NASPA¶V
AdYiVor\ Board, Vhe pXVhed WhroXgh a change Wo Whe Code of CondXcW making iW e[pliciW WhaW Whe
Code coYered acWionV WhaW occXrred oXWVide Scrabble WoXrnamenWV WhemVelYeV. In Whe opinion of
felloZ Board member SWefan RaX, Jennifer ZaV XVing Whe Sam KanWimaWhi ViWXaWion aV a
VmokeVcreen Wo make WhiV change, hoping iW ZoXld giYe her and EYanV more leYerage Wo keep
me oXW of WoXrnamenW Scrabble.

LaWer, EYanV and Jennifer XVed NASPA¶V poor handling of Whe Sam KanWimaWhi ViWXaWion aV a
main Walking poinW for Zh\ Whe\ VpliW off Wo form Wheir renegade aVVociaWion, CoCo. IW haV
obYioXVl\ been a VenViWiYe iVVXe for NASPA leaderVhip, giYen Whe inYeVWigaWion and Whe fXrWher
diVciplinar\ acWion WhaW ZaV Waken againVW him afWer he had been reinVWaWed from hiV VXVpenVion
for cheaWing aW 2013 NaWionalV.

Prior Wo WhiV, EYanV and Jennifer Wook preempWiYe meaVXreV Wo preYenW me from eYer being aW
Whe Vame Scrabble WoXrnamenW aV Whem. From 2017 Wo 2019 Whe\ did WhiV b\ making all Wheir
eYenWV Vmall ³hoXVe WoXrnamenWV´ and gaming Whe regiVWraWion V\VWemV. BXW Whe\ ZanWed Wo
groZ and VWarW rXnning bigger eYenWV, from Zhich iW ZoXld be more difficXlW Wo e[clXde me, Vo
Whe\ VpliW off from NASPA and VWarWed Wheir oZn organi]aWion Vo Whe\ coXld keep oXW ZhoeYer
Whe\ ZanWed. HoZeYer, once Whe\ decided Wo collaboraWe ZiWh WGPO on Whe 2022 Word CXp,
keeping me oXW ZaV no longer Wheir Vole deciVion. The\ ZoXld haYe Wo geW WGPO Wo agree ZiWh
iW.

EYanV and Jennifer Zere Zorking from an enWirel\ falVe aVVXmpWion WhaW I ZanWed Wo pla\ in an\
WoXrnamenW Whe\ Zere inYolYed in rXnning. So iW apparenWl\ became neceVVar\ Wo conYince
WGPO Wo e[clXde me aV Zell.4

4 I had been Yocal in m\ oppoViWion Wo WGPO before, and m\ principleV cannoW be boXghW off b\ WGPO
VXddenl\ geWWing a caVh infXVion. FXrWhermore, Where iV ]ero chance WhaW I ZoXld haYe Vigned Xp for Whe
2022 Word CXp, Vpecificall\ becaXVe CoCo ZaV alloZed Wo haYe a role in organi]ing and rXnning iW.
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IW iV clear from Whe acWionV of SWeYen Pellinen and Whe WGPO Board WhaW Whe\ compleWel\ boXghW
Whe con WhaW EYanV and Jennifer Vold Whem.5 I don¶W doXbW WhaW Where Zere people on Whe WGPO
Board Zho Vincerel\ belieYed Whe VWaWemenWV of EYanV, Jennifer, and Lola, and Zho neYer
VXVpecWed WhaW Whe\ ZoXld lie aV draVWicall\ aV Whe\ did. HoZeYer, iW ZaV alVo Wo Whe WGPO
Board¶V poliWical adYanWage Wo go along ZiWh iW. B\ VWanding WogeWher ZiWh CoCo in denoXncing
and VXVpending me, WGPO ZoXld boWh cXrr\ faYor ZiWh EYanV and Jennifer Wo VWrengWhen Whe
bond beWZeen Wheir organi]aWionV and giYe boWh organi]aWionV a compeWiWiYe adYanWage oYer
NASPA b\ VhoZing WhaW Whe\ Zere WoXgher on proWecWing Wheir memberV from abXVerV/haraVVerV
(boWh acWXal and merel\ accXVed), an area Zhere NASPA had alread\ VhoZn ZeakneVV.

SWeYen Pellinen¶V laWer behaYior WoZard NASPA VWrongl\ VXpporWV m\ WheViV. FirVW, Zhen I copied
him aV a coXrWeV\ on Whe email WhaW I VenW Wo NASPA on April 15Wh noWif\ing Whem all WhaW I ZoXld
onl\ be Zorking ZiWh NASPA on Whe diVciplinar\ proceVV, he ZroWe back WhaW da\ ZiWh a major
oYerVWep. He acWed aV if he VhoXld haYe an\ role aW all in deciding on a Wimeline for m\ reVponVe
Wo NASPA, and When he aVked me Wo VXbmiW Vome reVponVe Vooner. WhaW he did ZaV
WanWamoXnW Wo a plainWiff Welling a defendanW in a coXrW caVe WhaW Whe\ need Wo proYide Wheir
defenVe direcWl\ Wo Whe plainWiff oXWVide Whe coXrW V\VWem and ahead of Whe VchedXle of Whe coXrW.

Second, SWeYen conWacWed me on Ma\ 27Wh, again peVWering me for a reVponVe and WhreaWening
WhaW WGPO ZoXld haYe a hearing aboXW me ZiWhoXW m\ defenVe. Where ZaV Whe fire? Wh\ ZaV
iW neceVVar\ for WGPO Wo do an\Whing Zhen I had alread\ commXnicaWed WhaW I had no
inWenWionV of pla\ing in an\ of Wheir WoXrnamenWV, and Whe\ kneZ WhaW NASPA ZaV going Wo haYe
a hearing, and WhaW Whe\ Zere going Wo Vee m\ defenVe eYenWXall\? FXrWhermore, Zh\ ZaV WhiV
noW Volel\ NASPA¶V domain, conVidering WhaW I onl\ pla\ed in NASPA WoXrnamenWV and Whe onl\
WoXrnamenWV releYanW Wo Whe VWaWemenWV Zere NASPA WoXrnamenWV?

I belieYe Whe anVZer Wo WheVe qXeVWionV iV WhaW SWeYen and WGPO Zere Wr\ing Wo VWrongarm
NASPA and demonVWraWe WhaW Whe\ Zere noW beholden Wo NASPA¶V WimelineV. The\ ZanWed Wo acW
like Whe onl\ organi]aWion in NorWh American Scrabble WhaW maWWerV.

EYer\Whing I Vaid aboXW WGPO haYing no righW Wo haYe a hearing aboXW me applieV jXVW aV mXch
Wo CoCo, bXW I don¶W Wake an\Whing Whe\ do VerioXVl\. IW had alread\ been apparenW Wo me WhaW
CoCo iV noW in an\ Za\ a profeVVional or XnbiaVed organi]aWion.

In earl\ AXgXVW, Michael Tang made hiV annoXncemenW aboXW Whe qXalificaWion procedXreV for
AlchemiVW CXp, Zhich had a XniqXe proYiVion WhaW ZoXld keep me oXW of Whe eYenW baVed on
CoCo¶V and WGPO¶V jXdgmenWV, regardleVV of ZhaW NASPA did. IW iV highl\ irregXlar WhaW
WGPO or CoCo ZoXld haYe an\ role in deWermining qXalificaWionV for inWernaWional eYenWV, Vince
onl\ NASPA haV preYioXVl\ had an\ role in deWermining American qXalifierV for inWernaWional

5 ThiV ZaV of coXrVe helped b\ Lola¶V inYolYemenW. I Zill deal ZiWh her role in all of WhiV laWer, bXW keep in
mind WhaW Lola did noW become inYolYed in an\ of WhiV XnWil earl\ 2022. EYanV and Jennifer had been la\ing
Whe groXndZork for mXch of ZhaW happened Wo me long before WhaW.

000398

David Koenig
Exhibit 10



eYenWV, and onl\ NASPA iV a WESPA-recogni]ed member aVVociaWion. The rXle makeV eYen
leVV VenVe conVidering WhaW CoCo and WGPO combined haYe feZer pla\erV Whan NASPA.

Then, an AXgXVW 24Wh email I receiYed from JaVon IdalVki of NASPA aWWeVWed WhaW SWeYen
Pellinen had been inWerfering eYen afWer WGPO made iWV deciVion:

SWeYe PeOOLQeQ aOVR e-PaLOed Whe AB WhLV afWeUQRRQ aVNLQg fRU aQ XSdaWe RQ \RXU caVe,
accXVLQg bRWh Whe AB aQd \RX Rf QRW WaNLQg WhLV PaWWeU VeULRXVO\ gLYeQ WhaW Ze'Ye dRQe
QRWhLQg VLQce UeceLYLQg hLV cRPSOaLQW. The AB haV WR cRQVLdeU WhaW SWeYe Pa\ be geWWLQg
Uead\ WR SRLQW RXW WhaW WGPO aQd CRCR haV VXVSeQded a PaQ aOOeged Rf Ve[XaO aVVaXOW
fRU fLYe \eaUV ZhLOe NASPA haV VaW RQ LWV haQdV fRU fRXU PRQWhV, WheUeb\ PaNLQg LWV
cOXbV aQd WRXUQaPeQWV XQVafe fRU ZRPeQ (XQfaLU aV WhaW chaUacWeUL]aWLRQ Pa\ be).

Jennifer made a falVe claim WhaW I aVVaXlWed her Zhile I ZaV in a conVenVXal relaWionVhip ZiWh
her. ThaW claim ZaV noW VXpporWed b\ an\ eYidence ZhaWVoeYer, and Vhe made iW Vi[ \earV afWer
Ze Zere in a relaWionVhip. WGPO and CoCo boWh decided Wo VXVpend me baVed onl\ on her
Zord Zhen I had noW \eW Vaid an\Whing in m\ defenVe. Then WheVe organi]aWionV XVed WhoVe
kangaroo-coXrW deciVionV Wo e[erW preVVXre on NASPA Wo do Whe Vame.

For SWeYen Wo accXVe me of noW Waking Whe maWWer VerioXVl\ ignoreV Whe facW WhaW I had man\
legiWimaWe reaVonV for reqXiring Whe amoXnW of Wime I reqXeVWed (and ZaV granWed) b\ NASPA Wo
prepare m\ iniWial reVponVe. SWeYen ma\ noW haYe knoZn aboXW WheVe reaVonV, becaXVe Whe\
Zere none of hiV bXVineVV. M\ onl\ concern ZaV making VXre WhaW NASPA XnderVWood WhaW I did,
in facW, Wake Whe ViWXaWion VerioXVl\ and ZanWed Wo VXbmiW aV Zell-prepared and comprehenViYe a
reVponVe aV poVVible. I neYer failed Wo meeW a deadline impoVed b\ Whe AdYiVor\ Board ZiWhoXW
reqXeVWing and being granWed an e[WenVion, and Zhen iW ZaV made clear Wo me WhaW I had a final
deadline, I meW iW. AparW from Whe facW WhaW iW ZaV emoWionall\ e[haXVWing and WraXmaWi]ed Wo haYe
Wo ZriWe Whe reVponVe in Whe firVW place, I e[perienced VeYeral perVonal criVeV WhaW preYenWed me
from pXWWing m\ fXll menWal focXV on m\ reVponVe. The Wime I Wook preparing m\ reVponVe ZaV
boWh jXVWified and approYed b\ NASPA.

BXW baVed on ZhaW JaVon ZroWe, SWeYen¶V aWWempW Wo VWrongarm Whe AdYiVor\ Board ZaV
VXcceVVfXl. The\ Zere afraid of SWeYen and WGPO Welling WhiV bogXV VWor\ WhaW Whe\ had been
VofW on me and WhaW neiWher I nor Whe\ Zere Waking WhingV VerioXVl\, Zhich ZoXld make NASPA
look ZorVe and boWh WGPO and CoCo look beWWer. None of WhiV ZaV aboXW fair WreaWmenW of me.
IW ZaV aboXW opWicV and Whe poliWical infighWing beWZeen WheVe organi]aWionV.

The moVW egregioXV deYiaWion from a fair and proper diVciplinar\ proceVV came jXVW afWer I had
VXbmiWWed m\ reVponVe, alWhoXgh I did noW learn aboXW iW XnWil monWhV laWer. SWeYe Pellinen, ZiWh
Zhom I had Vhared m\ reVponVe Wo NASPA, proYided iW ZiWhoXW m\ or, preVXmabl\, Whe AdYiVor\
Board¶V permiVVion, Wo EYanV, Jennifer, and Lola, and Whe Board When alloZed Whem Wo file
rebXWWalV of m\ reVponVe, Zhich Whe\ kepW VecreW from me and Zhich formed Whe baViV of Wheir
deciVion Wo iVVXe m\ VXVpenVion.
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When m\ former laZ\er VenW a leWWer Wo NASPA in NoYember, John CheZ refXVed Wo giYe an\
more deWailed e[planaWion of NASPA¶V raWionale for iWV deciVion. WiWhoXW a clear XnderVWanding
of Whe baViV for m\ VXVpenVion, Whe abiliW\ Wo appeal Whe AdYiVor\ Board¶V deciVion Wo WhiV
CommiWWee becomeV almoVW ZorWhleVV. NoneWheleVV, I belieYe WhaW b\ Waking Whe opporWXniW\ Wo
reVpond Wo Whe SepWember 9Wh VWaWemenWV b\ Jennifer and Lola, I Zill once again demonVWraWe
WhaW Wheir allegaWionV are falVe, WhaW I haYe noW YiolaWed NASPA¶V Code of CondXcW, and WhaW m\
VXVpenVion VhoXld be immediaWel\ lifWed.

JennifeU¶V SepWembeU 9Wh SWaWemenW

All I haYe eYer cared aboXW in WhiV ViWXaWion iV being able Wo haYe fair and eqXal acceVV Wo
Scrabble WoXrnamenWV ZiWh Whe beVW pla\erV and noW leWWing relaWionVhip drama geW in Whe Za\ of
m\ abiliW\ Wo focXV on Scrabble. The onl\ debaWeV I ZoXld like Wo be haYing are aboXW Zho
VhoXld be rXnning oXr WoXrnamenWV and leading oXr organi]aWionV and hoZ Ze enVXre fair
regiVWraWion and qXalificaWion procedXreV.

I did ZriWe aboXW Vome of m\ relaWionVhip hiVWor\ ZiWh Jennifer in Whe VpleneWic.neW blog in JXl\
2020, bXW onl\ inVomXch aV iW perWained Wo oXr inWeracWion aW Whe JanXar\ 2017 NeZ OrleanV
WoXrnamenW. I am addreVVing Whe enWireW\ of ZhaW Jennifer and Lola haYe ZriWWen aboXW oXr paVW
relaWionVhipV here noW becaXVe I feel a need Wo defend m\Velf, bXW becaXVe I ZanW Wo illXVWraWe
Whe fXll e[WenW of Wheir lieV.

When I ZroWe VpleneWic.neW, I VWroYe Wo aYoid ad hominem aWWackV and Wo keep m\ criWiciVmV of
EYanV and Jennifer limiWed Wo ZhaW ZaV poliWicall\ releYanW Wo Whe Scrabble Zorld. I ZaV alVo, aV
alZa\V, an aVVidXoXV VWeZard of WrXWh and corroboraWed eYer\Whing WhaW I Vaid Wo Whe fXlleVW
e[WenW poVVible ZiWh conWemporaneoXV eYidence. The\ and Lola haYe done no VXch Whing. The\
haYe repeaWedl\ made ad hominem aWWackV, YicioXVl\ aWWacked m\ characWer, and made WhingV
Xp. I Whink iW iV Yer\ imporWanW Wo conVider Whe characWer and Whe Wrack record of honeVW\ or
diVhoneVW\ of all parWieV inYolYed, and WhaW iV Zh\ I feel I mXVW noZ VhoZ WhaW Jennifer haV a long
hiVWor\ of diVhoneVW\ and lack of eWhicV WhaW goeV be\ond ZhaW eiWher Vide haV alread\
diVcXVVed. One of Whe reaVonV WhaW I feel I mXVW do WhiV iV WhaW Vome of Whe diVWorWionV Vhe giYeV
in her moVW recenW VWaWemenW relaWe Wo Vome of her paVW Werrible behaYior.

Ɣ Jennifer and I had one conYerVaWion aboXW Whe WhreaWening We[W meVVage I goW from
Kenn\, bXW Vhe kneZ noWhing aboXW Whe ViWXaWion oWher Whan ZhaW I Wold her, and her
YerVion of oXr conYerVaWion iV a lie WhaW iV aW oddV ZiWh all of Whe facWV of WhaW VWor\.
Kenn\¶V WhreaW came monWhV afWer I had an\ Ve[Xal relaWionVhip ZiWh Sarah. He made iW
in reVponVe Wo hiV Zild miVinWerpreWaWion of an appro[imaWel\ fiYe minXWe long inWeracWion
a da\ earlier WhaW Sarah, I, and anoWher male friend of Kenn\¶V had in a pi]]eria, aW a Wime
Zhen Sarah and I Zere boWh drXnk. The oWher man ZaV calling an Uber for Sarah. ThingV
WhaW I Vaid Zhile I ZaV Wr\ing Wo proWecW Sarah, becaXVe I ZaV XnVXre ZheWher Wo WrXVW WhiV
man Zho ZaV aVking for her addreVV, Zere WZiVWed b\ Kenn\, Zho ZaVn¶W eYen preVenW.
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Ɣ Jennifer WellV Whe WrXWh WhaW I did call her a ³dirW\ Zhore´ once dXring Ve[, WhoXgh iW ZaV noW
roXgh Ve[, and Vhe omiWV Whe conWe[W of Zh\ iW happened. On Frida\, Ma\ 1VW, 2015, afWer
I had been aZa\ on Whe ZeVW coaVW for almoVW a Zeek, Jennifer and I WraYeled WogeWher
on a Whree-da\ and WZo-nighW Wrip Wo Whe Niagara FallV WoXrnamenW. AfWer Ze had checked
inWo oXr bed and breakfaVW WhaW Jennifer had arranged, aW dinner WhaW eYening Jennifer
reYealed Wo me WhaW Vhe had VpenW Whe enWire preYioXV Zeek hooking Xp ZiWh anoWher
man, and WhaW afWer Ze reWXrned home Vhe did noW ZanW Wo daWe me an\more. WhaW Vhe
had done ZaV oXWVide Whe boXndV of oXr daWing relaWionVhip aV far aV I XnderVWood iW, bXW
her e[planaWion ZaV WhaW Vhe had changed her mind aboXW ZhaW her limiWaWionV Zere and
had noW felW an\ need Wo Well me WhaW. DeVpiWe Whe conflicW Ze boWh felW aboXW Whe ViWXaWion,
Ze mainWained oXr planV Wo VWa\ WogeWher. The firVW Wime Ze had Ve[ Zhile on Whe Wrip, I
called her a ³dirW\ Zhore´ a Vingle Wime aV a Za\ of Wr\ing Wo channel m\ frXVWraWion ZiWh
her cheaWing inWo Ve[Xal chemiVWr\ beWZeen XV, bXW Vhe did noW like iW and immediaWel\
Wold me noW Wo Va\ VXch WhingV. So I did noW eYer repeaW Whe phraVe Wo her.

Ɣ Jennifer and I broke Xp for a Zhile and Vhe conWinXed Wo Vee WhiV oWher man, bXW in earl\
VXmmer Vhe broke Xp ZiWh him and goW back WogeWher ZiWh me. She Wold me WhaW Vhe
qXoWed Wo him Whe Ta\lor SZifW Vong l\ric, ³Ze are neYer, eYer, eYer geWWing back
WogeWher.´ She menWioned WhaW Vhe had WickeWV WhaW Vhe had boXghW for Whe WZo of Whem Wo
go Wo a Yideo game mXVic concerW in PiWWVbXrgh and Vaid WhaW Vhe ZaV going Wo Vell Whem.
In Whe laVW Zeek of JXl\, Jennifer and I booked flighWV and accommodaWionV for a Whree
Zeek Wrip Wo AXVWralia WogeWher Wo pla\ in Whe World Scrabble ChampionVhip in PerWh,
inclXding man\ nonrefXndable coVWV. A da\ or WZo laWer, Vhe reYealed Wo me WhaW Vhe had
noW Vold Whe concerW WickeWV and ZaV VWill planning Wo go Wo PiWWVbXrgh ZiWh Whe oWher gX\
for Whe concerW, Zhich ZaV happening Whe Yer\ ne[W Zeekend of AXgXVW 1VW and 2nd.

Ɣ Jennifer¶V VWor\ aboXW m\ rage in PerWh, AXVWralia iV a compleWe lie. To deVcribe m\
conYerVaWion ZiWh her WhaW eYening aV ³a Vcreaming WorrenW of Yerbal abXVe´ iV Vimpl\ noW
accXraWe. I haYe alread\ Wold Whe WrXe VWor\ of WhaW inWeracWion in Whe VpleneWic.neW blog.
She iV aWWempWing Wo reZriWe hiVWor\ Vpecificall\ Wo Xndermine Whe eYidence againVW herVelf
WhaW Vhe admiWV Wo, WhaW Vhe poinW-blank Wold JXd\ Romann WhaW Vhe did noW haYe a
problem ZiWh me and WhaW onl\ EYanV did. I am inclXding a phoWo of a hand-ZriWWen loYe
leWWer WhaW Jennifer gaYe me in December 2015, VhorWl\ afWer Ze reWXrned from Whe Wrip Wo
AXVWralia, Zhich illXVWraWeV WhaW Whe d\namic beWZeen XV and her feelingV aboXW me Zere
compleWel\ differenW Whan ZhaW Vhe haV falVel\ porWra\ed. For eaVe of reading, here iV Whe
We[W:
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DeaUeVW DaYe,
The ZLVeVW ScUabbOeU I NQRZ VXggeVWed I ZULWe WR \RX, UaWheU WhaQ fXUWheU aWWePSW WR
e[SUeVV P\VeOf LQ VeOf-cRQWUadLcWRU\ cLUcOeV.

EYeU\WhLQg abRXW \RX, aQd abRXW XV, haV defLed P\ e[SecWaWLRQV. FURP Whe begLQQLQg, I
cRXOd VeQVe WhaW \RX ZRXOd LPSacW Pe LQ VLgQLfLcaQW Za\V. YRX dLVUXSWed P\ OLfe aQd
cRQWLQXe WR VXUSULVe Pe. We haYe VXUYLYed heaUWache aQd heaUWbUeaN, OXVW aQd hXUW,
gUaWLWXde aQd fRUgLYeQeVV. We haYe cRPe WRgeWheU aQd VSOLW aSaUW, aQd aOZa\V I aP
dUaZQ bacN WR \RX.

AfWeU P\ dLYRUce, I had LQ PLQd a ORgLcaO VeTXeQce fRU ZhaW I WhRXghW I Qeeded. IW LQYROYed
Pe daWLQg PaQ\ PeQ WR fLOO ZhaW I SeUceLYed aV a gaS LQ P\ e[SeULeQce aQd
VeOf-XQdeUVWaQdLQg. IQVWead, I fRXQd P\VeOf chRRVLQg WR VSeQd each VSaUe da\ ZLWh \RX.
ThLQNLQg Rf \RX PaNeV Pe VPLOe. WheQ aVNed Lf \RX VSaUN MR\ fRU Pe, I LPPedLaWeO\
aQVZeUed, ³YeV.´. TheUe LV PXch WhaW I ORYe abRXW \RX. YRX aUe fLeUceO\ LQWeOOLgeQW aQd
VWLPXOaWe Pe LQWeOOecWXaOO\. I PeOW XQdeU \RXU NLVVeV aQd WUePbOe ZheQ \RX caUeVV P\
bRd\. I aP aWWUacWed WR \RX QRZ PRUe WhaQ eYeU. YRX heOS aQd eQcRXUage Pe; \RX VhaUe
P\ OaXghWeU aQd WeaUV. I caQ be aOO Rf P\VeOf ZLWh \RX±eOLWLVW aQd VZeeW, eOaWed aQd
deYaVWaWed. YRX haYe dLUecWLRQ aQd PRWLYaWLRQ aQd VWULYe WR LPSURYe \RXUVeOf. I adPLUe
\RXU ePSaWh\, geQeURVLW\, aQd WhRXghWfXOQeVV.

IQ RXU eYROYLQg UeOaWLRQVhLS, \RX haYe beeQ NLQd WR Pe. YRX haYe UeVSRQded WR feedbacN
aQd chaQged hRZ \RX LQWeUacW ZLWh Pe WR beWWeU PeeW P\ QeedV. YRX OLVWeQ aQd
eQdeaYRU QRW WR LQWeUUXSW Pe, aQd I QRWLce aQd aSSUecLaWe \RX dRLQg VR. I feeO heaUd. YRX
SUeVeUYe Whe TXLeW Seace PRUe WhaQ befRUe, aQd PRUe WhaQ SeUhaSV feeOV QaWXUaO WR \RX,
becaXVe \RX NQRZ I Qeed LW. YRX UePLQd Pe WhaW I aP beaXWLfXO. YRX VWaUWed e[eUcLVLQg.
YRX WaNe LQWeUeVW LQ P\ hRbbLeV, fULeQdV, aQd faPLO\. YRXU ZRUdV aQd acWLRQV PaNe Pe
feeO ORYed. YRX VXSSRUWed aQd cRPfRUWed Pe WhURXgh Whe haUdeVW \eaU Rf P\ OLfe, aQd I
ZLOO be fRUeYeU gUaWefXO WR \RX fRU WhaW. YRX aUe VSecLaO WR Pe, aQd aOZa\V ZLOO be.

AW WLPeV, I haYe Pade PLVWaNeV aQd e[SUeVVed cRQfXVed aQd cRQWUadLcWRU\ ePRWLRQV.
ThLV UePaLQV a SeULRd Rf WUaQVLWLRQ aQd gURZWh fRU Pe. I aP VcaUed Rf UeOaWLRQVhLSV, bXW
ZLWh UeVSecW WR \RX, Whe SURVSecW aOVR e[cLWeV Pe. We haYe cXOWLYaWed a cRQQecWLRQ WhaW I
ZaQW WR QXUWXUe, QRW abaQdRQ. OXU UeOaWLRQVhLS haV QeYeU beeQ eaV\, bXW Whe e[SeULeQceV
Ze VhaUe haYe beeQ ZRUWh Whe effRUW. I ZaQW WR cRQWLQXe WR eQYeORSe \RX LQ hXgV aQd
cRYeU \RXU bRd\ ZLWh VRfW NLVVeV. I ZaQW WR cUadOe \RXU head LQ P\ aUPV, WR cRPfRUW \RX
ZheQ OLfe dLVaSSRLQWV, aQd VXSSRUW Whe SXUVXLW Rf \RXU dUeaPV aQd gRaOV.

I dRQ¶W NQRZ ZhaW OLeV ahead fRU XV. FRU WhaW UeaVRQ, I ZaQWed WR ZULWe WR \RX QRZ, afWeU
PXch UefOecWLRQ, ZheQ WLPeV aUe gRRd, VR WhaW \RX NQRZ ZhaW I WhLQN Rf XV aQd hRZ PXch
\RX PeaQ WR Pe. I ORYe \RX, VZeeW\#.

JeQQ
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Ɣ Jennifer¶V reference Wo her leWWer Wo JaVon IdalVki iV a repeaW of Whe Vame inVinXaWion
WacWic WhaW Vhe XVed in her preYioXV VWaWemenW, Zhen Vhe didn¶W oXWrighW Va\ Whe
falVehood WhaW I folloZed Lola Wo PorWland bXW did eYer\Whing poVVible Wo impl\ iW. Earl\ in
oXr relaWionVhip Jennifer reYealed Wo me WhaW, prior Wo marr\ing her firVW hXVband, Vhe had
been raped b\ a man. The Vecond paragraph of VecWion 1 of her VWaWemenW doeV noW
menWion me, bXW Whe placemenW of iW iV inWenWionall\ deVigned Wo deceiYe Whe reader inWo
Whinking Whe leWWer iV aboXW me, aV iV her inclXVion of Whe leWWer ZiWh her VWaWemenW. She
highlighWV WZo VenWenceV in Whe leWWer. The firVW iV aboXW Whe man Zho raped her, and Whe
Vecond iV aboXW Sam KanWimaWhi. NoWhing in Whe paragraph menWioning Jennifer¶V email
Wo JaVon nor in Whe email iWVelf iV aboXW me.

Ɣ Jennifer makeV man\ pXre appealV Wo emoWion ZiWh a loW of deWailV WhaW are noW eYidence
perWaining Wo me in an\ Za\. In her firVW VWaWemenW Vhe ZenW on aboXW inVWalling a home
VecXriW\ V\VWem. I haYe no deVire Wo go an\Zhere near her home or eYer be in her life
again, and if Vhe haV bXilW a falVe VWor\ in her head WhaW I am WhreaWening her, WhaW iV her
prerogaWiYe and noW m\ faXlW. None of WhoVe deWailV VhoXld in an\ Za\ be releYanW Wo a
jXdgmenW aboXW m\ characWer or m\ parWicipaWion in Scrabble WoXrnamenWV. Similarl\, iW
doeVn¶W VXrpriVe me WhaW Vhe haV read bookV aboXW Ve[Xal aVVaXlW, conVidering WhaW Vhe
haV e[perienced VXch a Whing. A liVW of WiWleV and a bXlleW poinW liVW of Zarning VignV of
inWimaWe parWner Yiolence haYe noWhing Wo do ZiWh me, and do noW eYen YagXel\ reVemble
eYidence.

Ɣ Jennifer haV repeaWedl\ miVcharacWeri]ed Whe naWXre of oXr relaWionVhip. IW¶V WrXe WhaW
dXring Whe Wime Ze daWed, Vhe did noW ZanW Wo be in an e[clXViYe relaWionVhip. HoZeYer,
aVide from one man Vhe VaZ in Whe laWe Vpring of 2015, I¶m noW aZare of an\one elVe Vhe
VaZ ZiWh an\ regXlariW\. I belieYe WhaW de facWo Ze Zere boWh each oWher¶V primar\
parWner, eYen if Vhe didn¶W ZanW Wo call iW WhaW, for moVW of a \ear and half. DXring WhiV Wime,
Xnlike ZhaW Jennifer Va\V, I ZaV far from conWrolling. JXVW Whe oppoViWe, I ZaV e[Wremel\
XnderVWanding of hoZ relXcWanW Vhe ZaV Wo commiW, becaXVe I m\Velf had e[perienced
VomeWhing Vimilar in m\ earl\ daWing relaWionVhipV in Whe firVW feZ \earV afWer I had
diYorced. I benW oYer backZardV noW Wo pXW preVVXre on her and jXVW be aV VXpporWiYe a
bo\friend aV I coXld be ZiWh ]ero e[pecWaWionV, eYen aV her ambiYalence aboXW being in
a relaWionVhip VomeWimeV WorWXred me. The leWWer from her aboYe WeVWifieV Wo Whe WrXe
naWXre of oXr relaWionVhip, and Jennifer alVo Yerball\ WeVWified Wo WhiV Zhen Vhe Wold me
WhaW a BriWiVh male friend of herV, Zho neYer meW me and onl\ kneZ aboXW oXr
relaWionVhip from ZhaW Vhe Wold him, adYiVed her WhaW Vhe ZaV acWing cUa]\ and WhaW I
ZaV acWing like a VainW, and WhaW if Vhe did noW Vhape Xp Vhe ZaV going Wo loVe me.
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ThiV iV noW a caVe Zhere Whe WrXWh iV VomeZhere in beWZeen Jennifer¶V VWor\ and mine. The WrXWh
iV e[acWl\ ZhaW I Well \oX, and Whe releYanW parWV of her VWaWemenWV are all falVe. I haYe proYided
eYidence VXpporWing m\ VWaWemenWV and proof of man\ of her lieV, and noW once haV an\Whing I
haYe Vaid eYer been VhoZn Wo be falVe.6 She and EYanV haYe noW eYen aWWempWed Wo defend Whe
XneWhical behaYior I¶Ye accXVed Whem of, preferring Wo crafW a falVe and irreleYanW narraWiYe Wo
diVWracW from Wheir oZn miVdeedV.

An AVide AboXW M\ PoinW of VieZ

I make a Yer\ clear delineaWion beWZeen m\ fanWaVieV and realiW\. I haYe had man\ angr\
WhoXghWV, and Vome of Whem haYe inclXded YiolenW ZordV and imager\, bXW none of WhiV meanV
WhaW I am in an\ Za\ a riVk for ph\Vical Yiolence. I haYe neYer been ph\Vicall\ YiolenW in m\ life.
The YaVW majoriW\ of Whe Wime Zhen m\ ZordV Wo Lola WXrned in WhaW direcWion, I ZaV Walking aboXW
naWional and ZorldZide poliWical iVVXeV, noW aboXW Scrabble WoXrnamenWV or Scrabble pla\erV. I
e[preVVed anger aW Scrabble pla\erV, bXW I did noW XVXall\ e[preVV Yiolence in WhoVe WhoXghWV.
There mighW haYe been a Vmall nXmber of occaVionV in Zhich a feZ ZordV aboXW ZanWing Wo do
Yiolence Wo Scrabble pla\erV croVVed m\ lipV, bXW WhaW¶V all iW ZaV, a momenWar\ Za\ of geWWing
m\ anger oXW Yerball\.

ForgeW aboXW YiolenW ZordV for Whe momenW. LeW¶V jXVW Walk aboXW m\ angr\ ZordV aboXW Scrabble
pla\erV. The YaVW majoriW\ of Whe Wime m\ anger ZaV noW direcWed WoZard EYanV or Jennifer. I
ZaV angr\ aW eYeU\RQe eOVe in Whe Scrabble Zorld Zho ZaV Waking Wheir cra]ineVV VerioXVl\,
WreaWing me ZorVe on accoXnW of Wheir bXll\ing, and being compliciW in cXWWing off m\ opporWXniWieV
Wo geW Scrabble gameV ZiWh Whe oWher beVW pla\erV. M\ angr\ ZordV mighW haYe occaVionall\
e[Wended Wo EYanV and Jennifer aV Zell, bXW iW ZaV noW Whe norm.

The onl\ Whing WhaW boWhered me aboXW EYanV and Jennifer ZaV Wheir inflXence on Whe reVW of m\
friendV. All I ZanWed ZaV Wo Wr\ Wo Zin back and pla\ Scrabble ZiWh Vome of WhoVe friendV and Wo
proWecW Whe VancWiW\ of oXr WoXrnamenWV b\ criWici]ing EYanV, Jennifer, and Wheir organi]aWion
SROLWLcaOO\. Amid Vi[ \earV of abXVe I Vpoke Xp aboXW m\ Vide of Whe VWor\ e[acWl\ once, Zhen I
pXbliVhed m\ blog in JXl\ 2020. AfWerZard, Whe liWWle biW of anger WhaW I had WoZard EYanV and
Jennifer compleWel\ diVappeared for almoVW Whe ne[W WZo \earV.

EYen afWer all of Whe abXVe and laZbreaking from April 14Wh, 2022 onZard, I do noW haWe EYanV
and Jennifer. I did for mXch of Whe laVW \ear, bXW I refXVe Wo VWa\ in a place of permanenW haWred
Whe Za\ Whe\ haYe. I do noW ZanW Wo preYenW Whem from pla\ing Scrabble, onl\ from organi]ing,
rXnning, and direcWing WoXrnamenWV, becaXVe Whe\ haYe proYen WhroXgh Wheir acWionV WhaW Whe\
are compleWel\ XnfiW Wo be leaderV in WhiV commXniW\. I ZanW WhiV commXniW\ Wo be beWWer Whan
Whem.

6 I haYe addiWional eYidence Zhich corroboraWeV VeYeral parWV of Whe VWor\ inYolYing Whe man Jennifer daWed
in Vpring 2015, bXW iW iV m\ jXdgmenW WhaW WhiV iV geWWing Woo far afield of ZhaW a Scrabble aVVociaWion
VhoXld Vpend iWV Wime conVidering. I Zill preVenW WhaW eYidence aW Wrial if m\ laZ\er deemV iW ZorWhZhile.
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Lola¶V SepWembeU 9Wh SWaWemenW

Lola ZriWeV in her SepWember 9Wh VWaWemenW, ³In reVponding Wo DaYe¶V claim WhaW m\ VWaWemenW iV
almoVW all lieV, I cannoW be compleWel\ VXre Zhich parWV he¶V argXing againVW, becaXVe hiV chain
of eYenWV maWcheV ZhaW I haYe Vhared, ZiWh jXVW a feZ conflicWV and man\ omiVVionV and
miVrepreVenWaWionV.´ ThiV iV ZhaW iV called gaVlighWing. The eYidence I proYided from oXr We[W
meVVage hiVWor\ VhoZV WhaW Vhe compleWel\ lied aboXW Whe hiVWor\ of oXr relaWionVhip.

I do noW ZanW Whe narraWiYe of WhiV docXmenW Wo geW Woo bogged doZn in Whe deWailV of eYer\
Vingle lie conWained in Lola¶V VWaWemenWV Wo NASPA. LeW me jXVW draZ aWWenWion Wo a feZ of Whe
more egregioXV lieV from her April 2022 VWaWemenW.

Ɣ AboXW m\ aWWempW Wo YiViW SLC b\ car in JanXar\ 2020, Lola ZroWe: ³He aVked if he coXld
come YiViW me in UWah. I ended Xp cancelling WhaW. I WhoXghW WhaW VoXnded Yer\
XncomforWable and a biW creep\.´ NoWhing in oXr We[W meVVage hiVWor\ indicaWed Whe leaVW
amoXnW of diVcomforW ZiWh Whe idea. NoW onl\ WhaW, bXW VhorWl\ afWer Vhe canceled dXe WR
heU LOOQeVV aQd QR RWheU UeaVRQ, Vhe ZaV Whe firVW one Wo VXggeVW b\ Yoice and When Whe
firVW one Wo VXggeVW b\ We[W meVVage WhaW Ze make a Wrip WogeWher VomeZhere elVe.7

Ɣ AboXW oXr Wime in PXerWo Rico Lola ZroWe, ³OWher Whan Whe obVeVViYe need Wo help him
calm Whe fXck doZn, I foXnd I reall\ didn¶W like him mXch in perVon.´ ConWraVW WhaW ZiWh
ZhaW Vhe We[Wed me immediaWel\ afWer reWXrning home Wo SLC: ³I VhoXld haYe come Wo
SeaWWle« ThankV again for Whe ama]ing Zeek!´8 and When WZo da\V laWer: ³ WiVh I Zere
Where´9 and Whe folloZing monWh: ³YoX haYe made me care Yer\ deepl\ aboXW \oX.´10

Ɣ AboXW Whe Wime beWZeen Whe PXerWo Rico Wrip and XV liYing WogeWher in SLC Lola ZroWe,
³When Ze geW home Wo oXr reVpecWiYe aparWmenWV and a VXdden Xnending lockdoZn, he
doeV noW moYe Whe fXck on. He conWinXeV Wo call me Wo cr\ and Zhine and ranW, and I am
incredibl\ an[ioXV aboXW Whe Zorld and eYer\Whing, and conWinXe Wo We[W him. I become
increaVingl\ VXre iW¶V m\ job Wo help him VWop being WhiV Za\.´ She falVel\ deVcribed oXr
relaWionVhip aV if I ZaV obVeVViYel\ boWhering her and Vhe did noW ZanW Whe inWeracWion.
ThiV iV conWradicWed b\ hXndredV of VcreenVhoWV of oXr inWeracWion oYer WhaW monWh, of
Zhich I haYe Vo far onl\ Vhared a Vmall amoXnW. She ZaV e[Wremel\ romanWic oYer We[W
commXnicaWion ZiWh me for a monWh, and Vhe pracWicall\ begged me Wo come liYe ZiWh
her in SalW Lake CiW\, inclXding menWioning WhaW a perVonal friend, a coZorker, and
memberV of her immediaWe famil\ ZanWed me Wo come.11

11 FigXreV 17-20 from ³ScreenVhoWV of corroboraWing eYidence´
10 FigXre 21 from ³ScreenVhoWV of corroboraWing eYidence´

9 FigXre 15 from ³ScreenVhoWV of corroboraWing eYidence´

8 FigXre 14 from ³ScreenVhoWV of corroboraWing eYidence´

7 FigXreV 6-10 from ³ScreenVhoWV of corroboraWing eYidence.´ Lola¶V commenW in FigXre 10 iV Whe firVW
menWion in oXr enWire We[W hiVWor\ menWioning ZhaW Ze had alread\ agreed Wo Yerball\, WhaW Ze ZoXld make
a Wrip elVeZhere WogeWher. If WhiV iV diVpXWed, I can releaVe Whe enWire prior We[W meVVage hiVWor\ Wo proYe iW.
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PreYioXVl\ I onl\ called oXW her lieV WhaW I had We[WXal eYidence Wo diVproYe. NoZ I¶m going Wo
poinW oXW Vome of Whe oWher lieV Vhe Wold.

Ɣ AboXW oXr Wime aW Whe 2022 NeZ OrleanV WoXrnamenW, Lola ZroWe ³he VWarWed hoYering
ZhereYer I ZaV Walking Wo friendV, like Ze Zere friendV and he ZaV ZaiWing for me.´ ThiV
did noW happen a Vingle Wime. The onl\ Wime Ze Zere near each oWher ZiWh anoWher friend
aroXnd ZaV Zhen I ZaV Walking Wo GX\ Ingram, and Vhe ZaV barel\ inYolYed in Whe
conYerVaWion aW all.

Ɣ Lola ZroWe, ³On SXnda\, I Zon a game Woo faVW and headed oXW Wo Whe hallZa\ Wo ZaWch
Whe TZiWch VWream. He folloZed me oXW, made a liWWle Vmall Walk, and When laXnched inWo a
ranW, accXVing me of all kindV of WhingV, iW ZaV Whe Vame rage ZiWh Whe Vhaking and
bXlging e\eV, bXW he ZaV keeping hiV YolXme loZ.´ The onl\ Wime Ze Zere oXW in Whe
hallZa\ WogeWher on SXnda\ ZaV Zhen Ze boWh VilenWl\ ZaWched Whe end of AXVWin Shin¶V
and PXneeW Sharma¶V dramaWic game. I did noW folloZ her Where. We ended Xp in Whe
Vame place accidenWall\. We had ]ero conYerVaWion. The ranW WhaW Vhe deVcribed neYer
happened.

NoZ leW¶V go oYer all Whe Za\V Lola lied in her neZ VWaWemenW.

Ɣ IW¶V VWXpid and noW eYen all WhaW imporWanW in Whe Vcheme of WhingV, bXW I don¶W belieYe WhiV
conYerVaWion aboXW a fro]en pi]]a eYer happened. ThiV iV jXVW a fabricaWion Wo painW a
falVe picWXre of me VhoZing a loW of rage aboXW VomeWhing WriYial aW home, Zhich neYer
happened. When I did e[preVV anger, iW ZaV onl\ aboXW iVVXeV WhaW Zere Yer\ VerioXV Wo
me, Zhich inclXded poliWicV and Whe miVWreaWmenW I¶d receiYed in m\ Scrabble commXniW\.

Ɣ EYer\Whing WhaW Lola ZriWeV in Whe NeZ OrleanV VecWion of her neZ VWaWemenW iV a lie. I
alread\ Wold Whe WrXe VWor\ of ZhaW ZaV Vpoken beWZeen XV in m\ SepWember 6Wh
VWaWemenW, and I inclXded eYer\Whing. All of her alleged qXoWeV from boWh of XV Zere
neYer Vaid. All of her repreVenWaWionV of oXr conYerVaWionV are compleWel\ inaccXraWe.

Ɣ EYer\Whing Lola ZroWe in Whe ³DaYe¶V DirecW TreaWmenW of Me´ VecWion aboXW oXr WraYel Wo
SeaWWle and liYing in SeaWWle iV a lie. None of WheVe argXmenWV eYer happened. Lola
happil\ WraYeled ZiWh me Wo SeaWWle, and Vhe ZaV VWreVVed Zhile Ze Zere Where becaXVe
iW ZaV difficXlW Wo recreaWe a comforWable Zorking enYironmenW for her in m\ Vmaller
aparWmenW. I Zorked hard Wo accommodaWe her aV long aV Vhe ZaV Where.

IW VhoXldn¶W be neceVVar\, bXW I¶d like Wo addreVV one laVW Wime Whe incidenW in Zhich I XVed YiolenW
imager\ in a poliWical Facebook commenW addreVVed Wo Darrell Da\. A commenW Zhich, for ZhaW
iW¶V ZorWh, ZaV made in Whe earl\ da\V of Whe pandemic lockdoZn, Zhen millionV of AmericanV
Zere Xnder e[Wreme menWal and emoWional VWreVV caXVed b\ Whe failXre of poliWical leaderVhip,
Whe VWXbborn ignorance of Vo man\, and Whe e[iVWenWial WhreaW of Whe pandemic. I ZaV cerWainl\
noW Whe onl\ perVon Wo engage in heaWed rheWoric on Vocial media dXring WhoVe Werrible monWhV.
Lola miVcharacWeri]eV Whe releYance of WhaW incidenW Wo oXr relaWionVhip and Wo m\ characWer.
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Ɣ Lola and I did noW argXe aboXW Whe Darrell Da\ incidenW repeaWedl\, nor eYen once. She
VpenW a VhorW amoXnW of Wime helping me refine m\ defenVe on April 17, 2020, and WhaW
ZaV iW. There Zere a feZ WimeV in Whe ne[W monWh Zhile I ZaV liYing ZiWh her WhaW I WhoXghW
back Wo m\ feelingV aboXW Darrell and WhaW ViWXaWion and Vaid Vome angr\ WhingV aboXW iW
laWe aW nighW, bXW Where ZaV no laWer dialogXe beWZeen XV aboXW iW. WhaW Vhe Va\V aboXW
her conWinXall\ making argXmenWV aboXW Whe Darrell Da\ VWor\ and aboXW me \elling aW
her Wo VWop bringing iW Xp neYer happened.

Ɣ The Darrell Da\ email Whread WhaW Vhe aWWached ZaV a real e[change aboXW m\ reVponVe
Wo NASPA. AW Whe Wop of Whe email, I e[pliciWl\ e[plained WhaW iW ZaV m\ firVW drafW and WhaW I
ZaV noW going Wo Vend iW Wo Whem in WhiV form. I ZaV Vending iW Wo her for Whe e[acW pXrpoVe
of helping me ediW iW inWo a reaVonable reVponVe.12 M\ ZordV in WhaW firVW drafW VoXnded
Vcar\. I alVo had Whe good VenVe noW Wo Vend Whem Wo an\one oWher Whan Whe perVon I ZaV
in a romanWic relaWionVhip ZiWh aW Whe Wime. No one elVe VhoXld haYe eYer Veen Whem, and
Whe onl\ reaVon an\one did iV Vpecificall\ becaXVe Lola iV Wr\ing Wo aVVaVVinaWe m\
characWer. ThaW firVW drafW doeV noW in an\ Za\ indicaWe an inWenW Wo be diVrXpWiYe or YiolenW
aW a Scrabble eYenW.

Ɣ More imporWanWl\, WhiV enWire epiVode had alread\ been liWigaWed b\ NASPA, and a
diVciplinar\ deciVion ZaV enacWed. FXrWhermore, aV I¶Ye poinWed oXW man\ WimeV, WhiV
ZaVn¶W aboXW m\ relaWionVhip ZiWh Lola or Jennifer or EYanV or an\one elVe in WhiV VWor\.
ThiV ZaV onl\ beWZeen me and Darrell Da\. Lola, Jennifer, and EYanV keep Wr\ing Wo geW
NASPA Wo reliWigaWe iW.

Ɣ Finall\, eYen Zhen I WXrned off all m\ inWernal filWerV and jXVW Vpoke m\ gXWV ZiWhoXW
Zorr\ing aboXW ZhaW oWher people ZoXld Whink, I inclXded WhiV VenWence: ³I belieYe WhaW oXr
WoXrnamenWV and clXbV VhoXld remain a VancWXar\ for Whe enjo\menW of Whe game and
WhaW no one VhoXld eYer e[perience ph\Vical endangermenW in WhoVe VXrroXndingV.´ ThiV
XndermineV Whe falVe VWor\ WhaW all Whree of Whem haYe been Wr\ing Wo ZriWe, in Zhich I am
VXppoVedl\ a YiolenW WhreaW Wo Whem or an\one elVe aW a Scrabble WoXrnamenW.

Back in AXgXVW 2021 I ZroWe a long perVonal reflecWion Wo m\Velf aboXW ZhaW ZaV happening Wo
me in m\ Scrabble commXniW\ WhaW I¶Ye neYer \eW Vhared ZiWh an\one, in parWicXlar Walking aboXW
m\ grieYanceV ZiWh a feZ of Whe friendV of EYanV and Jennifer. Lola iVn¶W eYen menWioned in iW. I
jXVW don¶W Whink aboXW her WhaW mXch. I ZaVn¶W Whinking aboXW her mXch in NeZ OrleanV. Her idea
WhaW I ZaV a WhreaW Wo her ZaV noWhing bXW a prodXcW of her oZn mind.

12 FigXre 22 of ³ScreenVhoWV of corroboraWing eYidence´
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SWeYen¶V SepWembeU 9Wh SWaWemenW

SWeYen ZriWeV, ³DaYe¶V approach Wo WhiV iV diVWXrbing.´ The onl\ reaVon he Va\V WhiV iV becaXVe
he belieYeV Whe lieV WhaW EYanV, Jennifer, and Lola haYe Wold him, eYen WhoXgh I haYe proYided
plenW\ of eYidence WhaW Whe\ haYe lied repeaWedl\.

SWeYen doeV noW knoZ an\Whing aboXW m\ ³paWWern of behaYior WoZardV Zomen or [m\ abiliW\] Wo
conWrol m\ rage.´ He barel\ knoZV me. The onl\ ³eYidence´ he haV aboXW WhaW VWXff are Whe
inceVVanW lieV he haV heard. BXW he haV pXW himVelf inWo a ViWXaWion Zhere iW iV in hiV poliWical
inWereVW Wo belieYe and VXpporW Whe lieV.

I alread\ oXWlined Whe role WhaW SWeYen pla\ed in propelling WhiV caVe forZard. LeW me jXVW add a
feZ more obVerYaWionV aboXW hiV behaYior here.

SWeYen ZaV Whe one Zho eVcalaWed WhiV Wo NASPA and had all commXnicaWion ZiWh NASPA on
behalf of EYanV, Jennifer, and Lola. FXrWhermore, SWeYen¶V acWionV of rXVhing a WGPO
jXdgmenW ahead of me preVenWing m\ defenVe and of preVVXring Whe NASPA AdYiVor\ Board
illXVWraWe WhaW SWeYen ZaV aWWempWing Wo XVe Whe fXll ZeighW of WGPO¶V inflXence and hiV
perVonal inflXence aV iWV PreVidenW Wo inWerfere ZiWh m\ abiliW\ Wo pla\ in NASPA WoXrnamenWV.
ThiV alVo poWenWiall\ affecWV m\ abiliW\ Wo pla\ Scrabble all aroXnd Whe reVW of Whe Zorld, becaXVe
NASPA iV a WESPA recogni]ed member aVVociaWion.

I cannoW blame SWeYen enWirel\ for Whe WGPO jXdgmenW, aV Whe email Vaid WhaW he abVWained
from Whe YoWe, and iW iV poVVible WhaW he did noW ZriWe Whe Zording of Whe laVW email I receiYed from
Whem. HoZeYer, aV PreVidenW of Whe organi]aWion, he VWill bearV XlWimaWe reVponVibiliW\ for iWV
acWionV. I haYe alread\ been oYer hoZ inappropriaWe iW ZaV for Whem Wo caVW jXdgmenW on me
before I had VXbmiWWed a Zord in m\ oZn defenVe.

The reaVon WhaW Jennifer and Lola Zere able Wo VXbmiW Wheir SepWember 9Wh reVponVeV Wo m\
SepWember 6Wh VWaWemenW ZaV becaXVe SWeYen Pellinen Vhared m\ docXmenWV ZiWh Whem, afWer I
had copied him on Whe email Wo NASPA. I ZaV WrXe Wo m\ Zord Wo him back in April, and he XVed
WhaW Wo aVViVW Jennifer and Lola in cheaWing NASPA¶V diVciplinar\ procedXreV, adding hiV oZn
poiVonoXV ZordV for good meaVXre.

In earl\ March 2023, m\ cloVe friend ScoWW Appel, Zho ZaV familiar ZiWh Whe ongoing caVe
WhroXgh me, meW ZiWh Will AnderVon, Zho VerYeV on Whe WGPO Board. ScoWW learned WhaW Will
had noW Veen m\ SepWember 6Wh docXmenWV diVproYing all of Whe April chargeV againVW me. ScoWW
paVVed WhoVe docXmenWV along Wo Will himVelf, alloZing Will Wo read Whem for Whe firVW Wime. ThiV
meanV WhaW SWeYen Pellinen immediaWel\ Vhared m\ docXmenWV ZiWh Whe complainanWV in Whe
caVe in SepWember 2022, bXW he neYer Vhared WhoVe docXmenWV ZiWh Whe WGPO Board.

There iV no e[planaWion for WhiV oWher Whan WhaW SWeYen ZanWed Wo help Whe complainanWV Zin an
XnjXVW caVe and did noW ZanW Whe oWher leaderV of Whe organi]aWion of Zhich he iV PreVidenW Wo
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Vee Whe fXll VWor\, boWh becaXVe m\ ZriWing proYeV WhaW Wheir caVe iV a lie and demonVWraWeV Whe
complainanWV¶ oZn Zrongdoing.

NASPA AdYiVoU\ BoaUd¶V DeciVion

Prior Wo SepWember 21VW, 2022, I ZoXld haYe Vaid WhaW NASPA had handled WhiV caVe Zell and
WreaWed me profeVVionall\. Of coXrVe, I did noW knoZ \eW WhaW Whe\ Zere ZiWhholding Whe
SepWember 9Wh docXmenWV from me. M\ onl\ Vmall complainW iV WhaW Whe\ Wold me WhaW I had no
deadline Wo geW Whem a reVponVe, and When Whe\ ZenW ahead and pXW me on Whe VXVpended
pla\erV liVW before Welling me a deadline.

The Board¶V deciVion, Zhen iW did come, made no VenVe. The AdYiVor\ Board Wold me WhaW I had
YiolaWed Whe code of condXcW Whree WimeV bXW ZoXldn¶W Well me ZhaW I did WhaW ZaV a VXppoVed
YiolaWion. The ne[W paragraph ZaV a YagXe VWaWemenW aboXW VafeW\, YalXeV, a general paWWern of
behaYior, and a lack of conWriWion, ZiWh no e[planaWion of ZhaW Whe behaYior ZaV nor ZhaW I ZaV
VXppoVed Wo be conWriWe for.

The Board WhreaWened me ZiWh a lifeWime ban and in Whe ne[W paragraph inVinXaWed WhaW iW Zill
poWenWiall\ WZiVW an\ commXnicaWionV I make ZiWh an\one in Whe Scrabble commXniW\ Wo conVWrXe
Whem aV haraVVmenW.

The Board pXW ridicXloXV and inVXlWing condiWionV on me eYer reWXrning Wo pla\ in iWV
WoXrnamenWV, inclXding a VXppoVed need Wo approYe m\ medical care. I¶Ye been pla\ing in
NASPA WoXrnamenWV for 20 \earV ZiWh no problemV in Whe WoXrnamenW room ZhaWVoeYer. The
onl\ baViV NASPA haV for Whinking WhaW I need anger managemenW claVVeV or an\ oWher menWal
healWh WreaWmenW are Whe ZordV of people ZiWh a grXdge againVW me Zho haYe VpenW no Wime ZiWh
me for VeYeral \earV.

There iV no Vhame in addreVVing menWal healWh iVVXeV, inclXding anger managemenW, and eYen
WhoXgh iW¶V no one¶V bXVineVV, I¶ll menWion WhaW I¶Ye Walked Wo man\ WherapiVWV aboXW anger
managemenW. M\ anger VWemV more from hoZ abXViYel\ Whe leaderVhip of Scrabble
organi]aWionV haYe WreaWed me in 2022 Whan from hoZ EYanV and Jennifer and Wheir friendV haYe
WreaWed me for Whe laVW Vi[ \earV. BXW I am in a far beWWer poViWion Whan an\ Scrabble organi]aWion
Wo make deciVionV aboXW Whe beVW meWhodV of WreaWing m\ menWal healWh.

I haYe neYer YiolaWed NASPA¶V Code of CondXcW in an\ Za\. The Board Va\V I haYe Wo ³ZriWe a
genXine VWaWemenW of [m\] commiWmenW Wo compl\´ Zhen iW can¶W eYen name a Vingle Whing WhaW
I¶Ye done WhaW iV in YiolaWion. DoeV NASPA e[pecW WhaW of all iWV oWher memberV Zho haYe done
noWhing Zrong?

The Board demanded WhaW I pXblicl\ acknoZledge Zrongdoing. ThiV iV likel\ anoWher aWWempW Wo
inVinXaWe a connecWion beWZeen me and Sam KanWimaWhi. When I called for Sam Wo be banned
from Whe game in a Facebook poVW, I Vpecificall\ called oXW hoZ he VhoXld noW haYe been
reinVWaWed Zhen he had noW apologi]ed for and admiWWed Wo cheaWing. The Board iV aWWempWing Wo
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painW me aV a h\pocriWe if I do noW m\Velf make a pXblic admiVVion. I ZoXld WoWall\ admiW and
apologi]e for m\ oZn Zrongdoing, if I had done an\Whing Zrong. BXW I haYen¶W. Sam KanWimaWhi
cheaWed aW Scrabble. ThaW iV WUXe. I did none of Whe WhingV WhaW EYanV, Jennifer, and Lola accXVe
me of. The\ are all falVe.

DeVpiWe Whe Board¶V Zrongheaded deciVion, Whe NASPA E[ecXWiYe CommiWWee VWill haV an
opporWXniW\ Wo VWarW Xndoing Whe damage iW caXVed and righWing Whe Vhip. NASPA can, if iW Vo
chooVeV, perViVW in banning me from an\Whing iW rXnV, bXW if iW doeV, iW doeV noW geW Wo ZriWe an\
narraWiYe oWher Whan Whe WrXe one, Zhich iV WhaW I haYe done noWhing Zrong and WhaW an\one Zho
haV done an\Whing Wo obVWrXcW me from pla\ing WoXrnamenW Scrabble iV behaYing XneWhicall\.

There iV onl\ one paWh oXW of WhiV meVV and back Wo moraliW\, and WhaW iV:

1. A compleWe and WoWal pXblic apolog\ Wo me, inclXding an admiVVion of all of Whe
Zrongdoing b\ NASPA, WGPO, and CoCo WoZard me, an admiVVion WhaW m\ onl\
Zrongdoing ZaV Woo harVh a Zording of WZo emailV and WZo We[W meVVageV VenW beWZeen
December 19, 2016 and JanXar\ 5, 2017, commXnicaWionV Zhich Zere a
Zell-inWenWioned aWWempW Wo aYoid all of WhiV meVV and pain WhaW haV been going on for
oYer Vi[ \earV noZ.

2. VacaWing all pXniVhmenWV of me and reVWoring m\ VWaWXV aV a fXll-fledged member of an\
Scrabble aVVociaWion I chooVe Wo pla\ in, ZiWh ]ero condiWionV on m\ reinVWaWemenW.

3. RemoYing from an\ Scrabble leaderVhip or direcWorVhip poViWion an\ perVon Zho haV
been inYolYed in an\ of Whe diVciplinar\ deciVionV againVW me Zho iV noW Zilling Wo aWWach
Wheir name Wo a fXll pXblic apolog\ Wo me and a fXll admiVVion of Wheir Zrongdoing and m\
lack of Zrongdoing, aVide from ZhaW I noWed aW Whe beginning of WhiV liVW.

4. Banning EYanV Clinch\, Jennifer Clinch\, SWeYen Pellinen, and Lola McKiVVen from eYer
being in a leaderVhip poViWion in an\ Scrabble organi]aWion and from eYer direcWing a
Scrabble WoXrnamenW again.

UnleVV and XnWil all of WhoVe condiWionV are meW, Whe cXrrenW poVWingV on Whe VpleneWic.neW blog
Zill VWa\ Xp foreYer, and I reVerYe Whe righW Wo poVW more informaWion aboXW WhiV VWor\ on WhaW
ZebViWe in Whe fXWXre.

I appreciaWe \oXr conVideraWion of WhiV reqXeVW for reconVideraWion. I look forZard Wo rejoining a
commXniW\ WhaW haV meanW Vo mXch Wo me for Vo man\ \earV.
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The ScapegoaW
JUNE 15, 2023 / SPLENETIC

AV membeUV Rf Whe WRXUnamenW ScUabble cRmmXniW\ aUe aZaUe, bRWh Whe naWiRnal and

ZRUld chamSiRnVhiSV aUe being held ne[W mRnWh in LaV VegaV. I haYe SaUWiciSaWed in Whe

ZRUld chamSiRnVhiS WRXUnamenW in eYeU\ \eaU WhaW iW haV haSSened Vince 2011, and

WhiV iV Whe ØUVW Wime Vince 2001 WhaW Whe WRXUnamenW iV being held Rn AmeUican VRil.

AfWeU Whe diVUXSWiRn caXVed b\ Whe Sandemic, WheVe WZR eYenWV aUe a gUeaW RSSRUWXniW\

fRU me and RWheU ScUabble Sla\eUV WR Uegain VRme Rf ZhaW Ze miVVed RYeU Whe laVW feZ

\eaUV.

UnfRUWXnaWel\, I Zill nRW be able WR SaUWiciSaWe in eiWheU WRXUnamenW. LaVW SeSWembeU, I

ZaV handed a WhUee-\eaU ban fURm NASPA. ThiV ban ZaV Whe cXlminaWiRn Rf a VmeaU

camSaign againVW me b\ RWheU membeUV Rf Whe ScUabble cRmmXniW\, VSeciØcall\ EYanV

Clinch\, JennifeU Clinch\, and LRla McKiVVen, aided and abeWWed b\ SWeYen Pellinen. I

haYe Waken legal acWiRn againVW WhRVe indiYidXalV, ZiWh Whe e[ceSWiRn Rf SWeYen Pellinen.

I dR nRW ZanW WR aiU m\ gUieYanceV againVW Whem heUe, bXW I dR ZanW WR dUaZ Whe

ScUabble cRmmXniW\ËV aWWenWiRn WR Whe iUUeVSRnVible and XnfaiU Za\ WhaW NASPA (and

WESPA) haYe handled WhiV ViWXaWiRn.

WhaW fRllRZV iV a VXmmaU\ Rf m\ inWeUacWiRnV ZiWh Whe YaUiRXV ScUabble aVVRciaWiRnV in

2022 and 2023. All Rf Whe belRZ e[ceSW fRU Whe laVW feZ SaUagUaShV haV alUead\ been

cRmmXnicaWed WR NASPA, WESPA, and ABSP.

StandÖinÖyourÖtruth,ÖfortizedÖbyÖkindness,ÖandÖtellÖyourÖstory.

S P L E N E T I C

000411 000411

David Koenig
Exhibit 11



6/27/23, 11:23 A0 6SOHQHWLF

KWWSV://VSOHQHWLF.QHW 2/85

— KACY DUKE

On ASUil 14, 2022, I UeceiYed an email fURm SWeYen Pellinen, cRSied WR Whe WGPO

BRaUd ZiWh Whe VXbjecW heading ÍNRWice Rf PRWenWial DiVciSlinaU\ AcWiRnÎ, inclXding ØYe

aWWachmenWV:

1. A mRUe deWailed leWWeU fURm SWeYen Pellinen

2. A VWaWemenW fURm LRla McKiVVen

3. A VWaWemenW fURm EYanV Clinch\

4. A VWaWemenW fURm JennifeU Clinch\

5. A cRllecWiRn Rf aWWached dRcXmenWV (Whe majRUiW\ Rf Zhich iV VcUeenVhRWV Rf m\

blRg aW VSleneWic.neW)

I belieYe WhaW WhiV email ZaV Whe cXlminaWiRn Rf an aWWemSW WR deVWUR\ m\ UeSXWaWiRn

ZiWhin Whe AmeUican WRXUnamenW ScUabble cRmmXniW\ b\ VSUeading defamaWRU\

falVehRRdV. FURm 2017 WR 2019, EYanV and JennifeU Clinch\ had dRne man\

XndeUhanded WhingV WR keeS me RXW Rf NASPA WRXUnamenWV Whe\ RUgani]ed, and Zhen

WhaW ZaVnËW enRXgh, Whe\ decided WR cUeaWe a ZhRle VeSaUaWe ScUabble RUgani]aWiRn,

fURm Zhich I ZaV e[clXded. I VWURngl\ belieYe WhaW Whe\ cRnYinced SWeYen Pellinen WR

Øle WhiV cRmSlainW in an aWWemSW WR giYe WheiU SeUVRnal gUXdge againVW me an aiU Rf

bXUeaXcUaWic legiWimac\. UnVaWiVØed ZiWh e[clXding me fURm WheiU neZ RUgani]aWiRn, in

Zhich I had nR inWeUeVW WR begin ZiWh, Whe\ e[Sanded WheiU effRUWV WR geW me banned

fURm all WRXUnamenW ScUabble. TheVe VWaWemenWV aUe an aWWemSW WR fUame me fRU

haUaVVmenW and RWheU miVdeedV b\ cUeaWing a falVe naUUaWiYe abRXW me.

IW ZaV abVXUd WhaW I eYen UeceiYed WhiV email fURm WGPO Rn man\ gURXndV. FiUVW, Whe

YaVW majRUiW\ Rf Whe allegaWiRnV in Whe dRcXmenWV ZeUe abRXW SUiYaWe UelaWiRnVhiSV WhaW

VhRXld nRW be Whe bXVineVV Rf an\ ScUabble RUgani]aWiRn WR caVW jXdgmenW Rn. SecRnd,

Whe feZ allegaWiRnV WhaW ma\ haYe been UeleYanW ZeUe UelaWed WR NASPA-VancWiRned

WRXUnamenWV, Zhich aUe Whe Rnl\ VancWiRned RneV WhaW I Sla\ in NRUWh AmeUica. I am nRW

a membeU Rf WGPO, and I haYe had ]eUR inWeUeVW in Sla\ing in an\ WGPO

WRXUnamenWV.

LaWeU WhaW Vame da\, I UeceiYed an email fURm JXd\ CRle, cRSied WR Whe AdYiVRU\ BRaUd

aW NASPA cRnWaining Whe Vame ØYe aWWachmenWV, infRUming me WhaW SWeYen Pellinen

had VenW all Rf Whe dRcXmenWV WR Whe NASPA E[ecXWiYe CRmmiWWee, and WhaW Whe NASPA

AdYiVRU\ BRaUd ZanWed m\ UeVSRnVe ÍZiWhin 10 da\V if SRVVible.Î
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The ne[W mRUning, ASUil 15Wh, I UeVSRnded WR NASPA and cRSied SWeYen Pellinen

SeUVRnall\ (bXW nRW WGPO) Va\ing I Rnl\ UecRgni]ed NASPA aV haYing aXWhRUiW\ RYeU

ScUabble in NRUWh AmeUica, and WhaW I ZRXld Rnl\ deal ZiWh Whem. I fXUWheU VWaWed WhaW I

ZRXld need aW leaVW a mRnWh WR UeVSRnd, and WhaW I ZRXld addiWiRnall\ SURYide m\

RfØcial UeVSRnVe WR SWeYen Pellinen aV a SeUVRnal cRXUWeV\ WR him.

TZR SeRSle fURm NASPA UeSlied in agUeeable and helSfXl Za\V. SWeYen Pellinen

UeVSRnded, aVking me WR UeVSRnd WR SaUW Rf Whe cRmSlainW VRRneU. I ignRUed SWeYenËV

meVVage. SWeYen ZaV Whe SlainWiff in Whe caVe againVW me, and iW ZaV cRmSleWel\

inaSSURSUiaWe fRU him WR ciUcXmYenW NASPA and aVk fRU a UeSl\ VRRneU, jXVW aV iW ZaV

cRmSleWel\ inaSSURSUiaWe fRU WGPO WR cRnWacW me in an\ Za\ ZhaWVReYeU abRXW WhiV.

A feZ da\V laWeU, Rn ASUil 19Wh, NASPA WRld me WhaW I had aV mXch Wime aV I needed WR

UeVSRnd and WR UefUain fURm aWWending an\ NASPA clXbV RU WRXUnamenWV and fURm

making cRnWacW ZiWh Whe cRmSlainanWV XnWil Whe\ made WheiU UXling, Zhich I cRmSlied

ZiWh.

On ASUil 25Wh, I UeceiYed an email WhaW ZaV caXghW in m\ VSam ØlWeU fURm

cRndXcW@cRcRVcUabble.RUg Welling me WhaW I had XnWil ASUil 28Wh WR UeVSRnd WR Whem

becaXVe Rf WhiV incidenW UeSRUW. ThiV email inclXded TXRWeV fURm an ASUil 14Wh email

WhaW Whe\ had allegedl\ VenW me, bXW I had neYeU UeceiYed WhaW Rne. I neYeU UeVSRnded

WR an\ Rf CRCRËV cRmmXnicaWiRn, and Whe\ VenW me anRWheU email Rn Ma\ 22nd ZiWh

WheiU diVciSlinaU\ deciViRn in an aWWachmenW, Zhich banned me fURm Sla\ing in WheiU

WRXUnamenWV fRU ØYe \eaUV.

I had hRSed WR geW m\ UeVSRnVe back WR NASPA b\ laWe Ma\, bXW I ZaV Xnable WR dR VR. I

had alUead\ bRRked WUaYel, lRng befRUe I UeceiYed Whe incidenW UeSRUW, WR gR WR Whe UK

and GeUman\ WR cRmSeWe in WRXUnamenWV in bRWh cRXnWUieV WhaW ZeUe VancWiRned b\

Whe AVVRciaWiRn Rf BUiWiVh ScUabble Pla\eUV (ABSP) and WESPA. Technicall\, WhiV ZaV

nRW ZiWhin NASPAËV SXUYieZ, bXW I ZaV cRmSleWel\ abRYe bRaUd ZiWh NASPA in leWWing

Whem knRZ abRXW m\ Slanned WUaYel and inWenW WR Sla\ in Whe WRXUnamenWV. The NASPA

AdYiVRU\ BRaUd e[SliciWl\ Rka\ed me Sla\ing in Whe EXURSean WRXUnamenWV befRUe

adjXdicaWiRn Rf m\ caVe. TheVe aUe Whe Rnl\ WRXUnamenWV I Sla\ed afWeU UeceiYing WhiV

incidenW UeSRUW, and I haYe nRW aWWended an\ clXbV nRU eYen Sla\ed ScUabble ZiWh

an\Rne Rnline in WhaW Wime.

MeanZhile, SWeYen Pellinen emailed me again Rn Ma\ 27Wh Welling me WhaW WGPO ZaV

SURceeding ZiWh a UeYieZ Rf m\ caVe ZiWhRXW m\ VWaWemenW, becaXVe I had nRW

VXbmiWWed iW Rn Wime. I UeVSRnded, Ueminding SWeYen WhaW I ZRXld cRS\ him Rn m\

UeVSRnVe WR NASPA and infRUming him WhaW NASPA had giYen me nR deadline. I fXUWheU

1 
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SRinWed RXW WhaW WGPO had nR UighW WR aVk me fRU an\Whing RU WR haYe a heaUing abRXW

me, aV I ZaV nRW Sla\ing in WheiU WRXUnamenWV and had nR inWenWiRn WR dR VR, and WhaW

Whe Rnl\ WRXUnamenWV UeleYanW WR Whe incidenW UeSRUW ZeUe NASPA WRXUnamenWV. On

JXne 29Wh, I UeceiYed an email fURm KeiWh Hagel, Rn behalf Rf Whe WGPO BRaUd Rf

DiUecWRUV, nRWif\ing me WhaW I had UeceiYed a ØYe-\eaU ban.

I had been UegiVWeUed WR Sla\ in Whe NASPA ScUabble Pla\eUV ChamSiRnVhiS in

BalWimRUe in laWe JXl\, bXW becaXVe I ZaV nRW able WR geW m\ UeVSRnVe WR Whe incidenW

UeSRUW ZUiWWen in a Wimel\ Za\, I dURSSed RXW Rf Whe WRXUnamenW.

On AXgXVW 8Wh, Michael Tang made an annRXncemenW abRXW Whe AlchemiVW CXS 2024,

Zhich iV an inWeUnaWiRnal eYenW SiWWing WeamV Rf Whe WRS 5 Sla\eUV fURm man\ cRXnWUieV

againVW each RWheU. HiV annRXncemenW inclXded Whe neZV WhaW Sla\eUV ZhR ZeUe

VXVSended b\ WZR RXW Rf WhUee ScUabble aVVRciaWiRnV in NRUWh AmeUica ZRXld nRW be

SeUmiWWed WR UegiVWeU fRU Whe eYenW, and he VSeciØed WhaW he ZaV cRnVideUing NASPA,

WGPO, and CRCR WR all cRXnW aV ScUabble aVVRciaWiRnV fRU NRUWh AmeUica. ThiV UXle

ZaV cleaUl\ WaUgeWing me, aV I ZaV Whe Rnl\ SeUVRn in Whe ZRUld ZhR ZaV VXVSended b\

WZR RXW Rf WhUee NRUWh AmeUican aVVRciaWiRnV. FXUWheUmRUe, iW ZaV XnSUecedenWed WR

cRnVideU eiWheU WGPO RU CRCR aV an aVVRciaWiRn fRU TXalif\ing SXUSRVeV. Onl\ NASPA

had WESPA UecRgniWiRn and had eYeU been inYRlYed in inWeUnaWiRnal TXalif\ing befRUe.

(NRWe alVR WhaW Whe e[acW Za\V in Zhich EYanV and JennifeU had bURken NASPA UXleV in

2017-2019 had Whe effecW Rf cRUUXSWing Whe TXalif\ing SURceVV fRU Whe 2018 and 2020

AlchemiVW CXS WRXUnamenWV. EYanV and JennifeU had RUgani]ed WheiU RZn ViUWXal

WRUld CXS in 2020, Zhich ZaV billed aV a UeSlacemenW fRU Whe canceled 2020

AlchemiVW CXS, and Whe\ had alVR cheaWed me RXW Rf a VSRW in WhaW eYenW.)

On AXgXVW 24Wh, I UeceiYed anRWheU email fURm Whe NASPA AdYiVRU\ BRaUd Welling me

WhaW m\ name ZaV nRZ Rn Whe VXVSended Sla\eUV liVW and WhaW I had XnWil WZR ZeekV

fURm WhaW daWe, SeSWembeU 7Wh, WR geW a UeVSRnVe WR NASPA. The ePaLO aOVR PeQWLRQed

WhaW SWeYeQ PeOOLQeQ had cRQWacWed Whe AdYLVRU\ BRaUd aQd ZaV SUeVVXULQg WheP WR acW

VRRQeU. I UeVSRnded Whe ne[W da\ Va\ing WhaW I ZRXld geW m\ UeVSRnVe in b\ SeSWembeU

7Wh.

On SeSWembeU 6Wh, I VenW m\ UeVSRnVe WR Whe NASPA AdYiVRU\ BRaUd, cRS\ing iW WR

SWeYen Pellinen. A da\ laWeU, JaVRn IdalVki, ZhR had been m\ main SRinW Rf cRnWacW Rn

Whe NASPA AdYiVRU\ BRaUd, infRUmed me WhaW WheiU ne[W meeWing ZRXld be Rn

SeSWembeU 20Wh.
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On Whe mRUning Rf SeSWembeU 21VW, I We[Wed JaVRn IdalVki back WR inTXiUe abRXW

ZheWheU Whe AdYiVRU\ BRaUd had made a deciViRn. I did nRW heaU back fRU VeYeUal hRXUV.

I When We[Wed SWefan RaX, anRWheU membeU Rf Whe AdYiVRU\ BRaUd I knRZ Zell, aVking

Whe Vame Whing. JaVRn IdalVki and SWefan RaX gRW back WR me ZiWhin Wen minXWeV Rf each

RWheU, each giYing me cRnWUadicWRU\ infRUmaWiRn.

On SeSWembeU 23Ud, I UeceiYed an email fURm JaVRn IdalVki, cRS\ing bRWh Whe AdYiVRU\

BRaUd and SWeYen Pellinen, infRUming me WhaW I had been giYen a WhUee-\eaU ban. The

email UefeUUed WR WhUee YiRlaWiRnV b\ me Rf Whe CRde Rf CRndXcW bXW gaYe nR VSeciØcV

aV WR ZhaW I had dRne WR YiRlaWe Whe CRde RU ZhaW SaUW RU SaUWV Rf Whe CRde I had

allegedl\ YiRlaWed, RWheU Whan a UefeUence WR SecWiRn 2.

On SeSWembeU 25Wh, I ZaV cRnWacWed Yia FacebRRk MeVVengeU b\ EUic KindeUman, a

nRn-YRWing membeU Rf Whe WESPA bRaUd, Welling me WhaW NASPA had WRld Whem WhaW I

ZaV VancWiRned fRU WhUee \eaUV bXW did nRW giYe a UeaVRn. He VXVSecWed fRXl Sla\. I

UeVSRnded,

IÖdidÖsubmitÖaÖdefense,ÖandÖifÖyouÖreadÖit,ÖitÖconclusivelyÖprovesÖthatÖallÖthe
chargesÖagainstÖmeÖwereÖfalse,ÖandÖalsoÖthatÖallÖthreeÖpeopleÖwhoÖsubmitted
statementsÖknowinglyÖandÖintentionallyÖsubmittedÖfalseÖinformationÖagainst
me.ÖTheÖresponseÖtheyÖgaveÖmeÖalsoÖdidÖnotÖspecifyÖwhatÖIÖdidÖthat
supposedlyÖmeritedÖtheÖsuspension.ÖAllÖofÖmyÖcommunicationÖwithÖthe
ScrabbleÖassociationsÖhenceforthÖwillÖbeÖthroughÖmyÖlawyer.

I alVR leaUned aURXnd WhiV Wime WhaW SXe TUembla\, CRmmXniW\ AdYRcaWe Rf NASPA,

ZaV neYeU infRUmed Rf Whe incidenW UeSRUW bURXghW againVW me RU Whe NASPA AdYiVRU\

BRaUdËV delibeUaWiRnV abRXW iW. She Rnl\ leaUned abRXW Whe caVe fURm me afWeU I had

alUead\ VXbmiWWed m\ UeVSRnVe. AccRUding WR NASPAËV ZebViWe, Whe CRmmXniW\

AdYRcaWeËV ÍmandaWe iV WR SURYide a Vafe enYiURnmenW fRU membeUV UeSRUWing caVeV Rf

haUaVVmenW ZiWhin Whe aVVRciaWiRn.Î SXe ZaV alZa\V lRRSed inWR incidenW UeSRUWV like

WhiV Rne Vince heU aSSRinWmenW, and Vhe VeemV WR haYe been inWenWiRnall\ e[clXded

fURm WhiV SURceVV.

On NRYembeU 8Wh, 2022, m\ fRUmeU aWWRUne\ VenW a leWWeU WR Whe NASPA AdYiVRU\

BRaUd aVking fRU e[SlanaWiRn Rf Whe UaWiRnale behind WheiU deciViRn and ZheWheU WheUe

ZeUe an\ addiWiRnal dRcXmenWV VXbmiWWed aV SaUW Rf Whe caVe WhaW I had nRW been

VhRZn. The leWWeU alVR dRXbled aV a liWigaWiRn hRld leWWeU.

 

2
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On NRYembeU 10Wh, JRhn CheZ, Whe PUeVidenW Rf NASPA, ZhR VeUYeV Rn bRWh Whe

AdYiVRU\ BRaUd and Whe E[ecXWiYe CRmmiWWee, ZURWe back nRWif\ing me WhaW Whe

AdYiVRU\ BRaUd ZRXld nRW elabRUaWe Rn Whe UXling.

On NRYembeU 15Wh, JRhn CheZ ZURWe again, aWWaching addiWiRnal VWaWemenWV fURm

JennifeU Clinch\, LRla McKiVVen, and SWeYen Pellinen daWed SeSWembeU 9Wh, 2022.

TheVe VWaWemenWV cRnWained a laUge amRXnW Rf addiWiRnal defamaWRU\ maWeUial fURm

JennifeU and LRla. The VWaWemenW fURm SWeYen Pellinen alVR VhRZed WhaW he ZaV YeU\

RbYiRXVl\ nRW an RbjecWiYe WhiUd SaUW\ and ZaV a fXUWheU VcaWhing cUiWiciVm Rf me.

ThRXgh NASPAËV AdYiVRU\ BRaUd did nRW meeW WR cRnVideU m\ caVe XnWil 11 da\V laWeU,

Rn SeSWembeU 20Wh, I ZaV neYeU infRUmed Rf Whe addiWiRnal dRcXmenWV SUiRU WR

NASPAËV YeUdicW. FXUWheUmRUe, I neYeU ZRXld haYe fRXnd RXW abRXW Whem if nRW fRU Whe

leWWeU fURm m\ fRUmeU aWWRUne\.

The VXbmiVViRn Rf Whe SeSWembeU 9Wh dRcXmenWV ZaV againVW Whe UXleV Rf NASPAËV

diVciSlinaU\ SURcedXUeV aV faU aV I XndeUVWRRd. JaVRn IdalVki had e[Slained WR me RYeU

Whe ShRne WhaW Whe diVciSlinaU\ SURceVV ZaV jXVW WhaW Whe AdYiVRU\ BRaUd ZRXld UeYieZ

Whe cRmSlainanWVË RUiginal VWaWemenWV fURm ASUil 2022 and m\ UeVSRnVe in a SUiYaWe

meeWing. NeiWheU I nRU Whe cRmSlainanWV ZRXld be aW Whe meeWing. TheUe ZRXld be nR

cURVV-e[aminaWiRnV RU fXUWheU URXndV Rf VWaWemenWV.

On ASUil 14Wh, 2023, I Øled a laZVXiW in MXlWnRmah CRXnW\ CiUcXiW CRXUW againVW

EYanV, JennifeU, and LRla fRU DefamaWiRn, CRnVSiUac\ WR Defame, InWenWiRnal

InWeUfeUence ZiWh EcRnRmic RelaWiRnV, CRnVSiUac\ WR TRUWiRXVl\ InWeUfeUe ZiWh

EcRnRmic RelaWiRnV, InWenWiRnal InÙicWiRn Rf EmRWiRnal DiVWUeVV, and CRnVSiUac\ WR

InWenWiRnall\ InÙicW EmRWiRnal DiVWUeVV. I did WhiV, aW gUeaW SeUVRnal Ønancial UiVk WR

m\Velf, becaXVe m\ UeSXWaWiRn haV been XnlaZfXll\ WaUniVhed and I need Whe ScUabble

ZRUld WR Vee Whe WUXWh.

On Ma\ 26Wh, I emailed an aSSeal WR Whe NASPA E[ecXWiYe CRmmiWWee in Zhich I

WhRURXghl\ diVSURYed all Rf Whe accXVaWiRnV fURm Whe SeSWembeU 9Wh VWaWemenWV, jXVW aV

m\ SeSWembeU 6Wh UeVSRnVe diVSURYed all Rf Whe accXVaWiRnV fURm Whe eaUlieU

VWaWemenWV. WiWhin a feZ minXWeV, JRhn CheZ emailed me back cRnØUming UeceiSW Rf

Whe email and Va\ing iW ZRXld be Slaced Rn Whe ne[W ZeekËV agenda.

On Ma\ 30Wh, JXd\ CRle emailed me Va\ing WhaW Whe E[ecXWiYe CRmmiWWee haV agUeed

WR heaU Whe aSSeal bXW haV nRW \eW VeW a daWe Zhen WR dR VR.
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On JXne 1VW, m\ aWWRUne\ emailed bRWh JXd\ and JRhn, ZhR aUe SUeVenWl\ Whe enWiUeW\

Rf Whe E[ecXWiYe CRmmiWWee, aVking fRU Whe WimeWable fRU Zhen a deciViRn can be

e[SecWed and leWWing Whem knRZ WhaW I ZanW WR Sla\ in Whe 2023 ScUabble Pla\eUV

ChamSiRnVhiS and 2023 WESPA ChamSiRnVhiS in JXl\.

On JXne 4Wh, JRhn CheZ ZURWe back WR m\ aWWRUne\, ÍDXe WR DaYidËV eighW-mRnWh dela\

in VXbmiWWing hiV aSSeal, Whe E[ecXWiYe CRmmiWWeeËV RngRing Slanning Rf RXU annXal

chamSiRnVhiS ne[W mRnWh, and Whe need WR SeUfRUm a WhRURXgh and de nRYR UeYieZ Rf

Whe caVe, Ze cannRW SURYide a daWe b\ Zhich RXU delibeUaWiRnV Zill be cRmSleWe.Î JRhn

ZaV cRXnWing eighW mRnWhV fURm SeSWembeU 23Ud, 2022 WR Ma\ 26Wh, 2023, eYen

WhRXgh I did nRW UeceiYe Whe laWWeU VWaWemenWV made againVW me XnWil NRYembeU 15Wh,

2022. The Rnl\ SaUW\ ZhR haV made an eighW-mRnWh dela\ iV NASPA, ZhR haV VWill giYen

neiWheU me nRU WESPA an\ e[SlanaWiRn Rf ZhaW I did WhaW meUiWed a VXVSenViRn.

On JXne 8Wh, I emailed m\ aSSeal and all SUeYiRXV cRmmXnicaWiRn Rn Whe caVe WR Mina

Le and Wa\ne Kell\, ZhR SXW iW befRUe Whe WESPA E[ecXWiYe CRmmiWWee and ABSP

CRmmiWWee UeVSecWiYel\.

On JXne 11Wh, Mina nRWiØed me WhaW Whe WESPA E[ecXWiYe CRmmiWWee iV UefXVing WR

inWeUYene and leWWing NASPA addUeVV iW.

On WhaW Vame da\, Wa\ne Kell\ nRWiØed me WhaW ABSP Zill nRW UeciSURcaWe NASPAËV

VXVSenViRn Rf me. He menWiRned WhaW m\ VWanding in Whe UK iV Íbe\Rnd TXeVWiRn.Î

I hRSe WhaW WhiV ViWXaWiRn Zill be cRUUecWed VRRn, VR WhaW I can ViW dRZn acURVV Whe Wable

and Sla\ ScUabble again ZiWh all Rf Whe ZRndeUfXl SeRSle I haYe enjR\ed WRXUnamenW

gameV ZiWh fRU RYeU WZenW\ \eaUV nRZ.

FooWnoWeV
1. IW iV SRVVible WhaW Whe ASUil 14Wh email ZaV lRVW in m\ VSam ØlWeU, bXW WhaW VeemV

Xnlikel\ WR me, becaXVe m\ email SURYideU Va\V WhaW iW deleWeV WhingV fURm VSam

afWeU 30 da\V. I checked Whe VSam ØlWeU in laWe ASUil and VaZ Whe ASUil 25Wh email

fURm CRCR bXW nR ASUil 14Wh email.

2. On NRYembeU 11Wh, 2022, liWigaWiRn hRld leWWeUV alVR ZenW RXW WR EYanV Clinch\,

JennifeU Clinch\, CRCR, SWeYen Pellinen, WGPO, and LRla McKiVVen.
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10/4/22, 1:00 PM GPaLO - NRWLce Rf PRWeQWLaO DLVcLSOLQaU\ AcWLRQ

KWWSV://PaLO.gRRgOe.cRP/PaLO/X/0/?LN=9877a02041&YLeZ=SW&VeaUcK=aOO&SeUPPVgLd=PVg-f%3A1730117156138701044&VLPSO=PVg-f%3A1730117156138701044 1/1

DaYe KReQig

NoWice of PoWenWial Disciplinar\ AcWion 

SWeYeQ PelliQeQ Q@JPaLO.FRP> TKX, ASU 14, 2022 aW 4:31 PM
TR: GaYLG
CF: ZJSR bRaUG <ZJSR_bRaUG@ZRUGJaPHSOa\HUV.RUJ>

DaYH,

SHH WKH aWWaFKHG, bHJLQQLQJ ZLWK WKH NRWLILFaWLRQ. POHaVH UHVSRQG  ZLWKLQ WHQ Ga\V RI WKH GaWH RI WKLV QRWLFH ZLWK aQ\WKLQJ
\RX ZRXOG OLNH WR bH FRQVLGHUHG b\ WKH WGPO BRaUG  bHIRUH LW GHWHUPLQHV ZKaW aFWLRQ LW ZLOO WaNH.

SWHYH PHOOLQHQ

5 aWWachmeQWV

SWaWemeQW fURm EYaQV CliQch\.Sdf 
39K

LRlaTRWRRgleVaQdWGPO.Sdf 
56K

KReQigNRWificaWiRQ.Sdf 
49K

J. CliQch\ - SWaWemeQW.Sdf 
198K

J. CliQch\ - AWWachmeQWV.Sdf 
9668K
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10/4/22, 1:04 PM GPaLO - ReTXeVW fRU ReVSRQVe WR IQcLdeQW ReSRUW

hWWSV://PaLO.gRRgOe.cRP/PaLO/X/0/?LN=9877a02041&YLeZ=SW&VeaUch=aOO&SeUPPVgLd=PVg-a%3AU-6603014620147787987&VLPSO=PVg-a%3AU-6603014620147787« 1/1

DaYe KReQig

Request for Response to Incident Report 

DaYe KReQig FUL, ASU 15, 2022 DW 12:08 PM
7R: LQIR@VFUDEEOHSOD\HUV.RUJ
CF: VWHYHQSHOOLQHQ@JPDLO.FRP

DHDU JXG\ DQG SWHYH,

I ZDV VR XSVHW ZKHQ I ILUVW UHFHLYHG WKH HPDLO WKDW I FRXOG QRW HYHQ EULQJ P\VHOI WR UHDG WKH DWWDFKPHQWV DQG DVNHG D FORVH
IULHQG WR UHDG LW ILUVW. 7KH IDFW WKDW I HYHQ UHFHLYHG WKLV LQLWLDOO\ DV D PDWWHU RI :GPO EXVLQHVV LV LQDSSURSULDWH DQG WHOOLQJ, I
WKLQN. I KDYH QHYHU UHFRJQL]HG :GPO DV DQ RIILFLDO SFUDEEOH RUJDQL]DWLRQ, DQG I KDYH QHYHU LQWHQWLRQDOO\ HQWHUHG D
:GPO WRXUQDPHQW QRU H[SUHVVHG DQ LQWHUHVW LQ GRLQJ VR. (I EHOLHYH WKDW :LQWHU DWWHPSWHG WR JHW :GPO WR UDWH D FDVXDO
WRXUQDPHQW WKDW D JURXS RI XV KDG DURXQG WKH KROLGD\V LQ NHZ JHUVH\ VHYHUDO \HDUV DJR, EXW WKDW ZDV HQWLUHO\ KLV GRLQJ.) I
KDG QR LQWHQWLRQ WR HQWHU WKH :RUG CXS QRU WR ERWKHU DQ\ RI WKHVH SHRSOH LQ DQ\ ZD\. I KDYH QRW FRQWDFWHG DQ\ RI WKHP LQ
D ORQJ WLPH DQG DP QRW LQ WKHLU OLYHV DW DOO. IW IHHOV OLNH WKH\ DUH JRLQJ RXW RI WKHLU ZD\ WR WDUJHW PH.

HRZHYHU, VLQFH NASPA KDV GHFLGHG WR JHW LQYROYHG, I IHHO I PXVW DGGUHVV LW. AQG I ZLOO GR VR WKURXJK NASPA. SWHYH, DV D
FRXUWHV\ WR \RX, I ZLOO SDVV DORQJ WKH FRPPXQLFDWLRQV I PDNH WR NASPA DERXW WKLV PDWWHU WR \RX DV ZHOO, EXW I RQO\
UHFRJQL]H NASPA DV KDYLQJ DQ\ DXWKRULW\ ZKHQ LW FRPHV WR FRPSHWLWLYH SFUDEEOH LQ NRUWK APHULFD.

I KDYH GRQH QRWKLQJ ZURQJ, DQG I YHU\ PXFK ZHOFRPH WKH RSSRUWXQLW\ WR WHOO P\ VLGH RI WKH VWRU\ DQG FOHDU P\ QDPH. AW
WKH KHDUW RI WKLV ZDV D KXJH PLVXQGHUVWDQGLQJ RQ LROD'V SDUW DERXW RXU EULHI LQWHUDFWLRQV DW WKH 2022 NHZ OUOHDQV
WRXUQDPHQW. II WKDW ZDV DOO I KDG WR FODULI\, I FRXOG GR VR IDLUO\ VRRQ. HRZHYHU, VKH DQG JHQQLIHU ERWK GHFLGHG WR EULQJ ODUJH
SDUWV RI RXU URPDQWLF UHODWLRQVKLSV LQWR WKHLU UHSRUWV DQG LQ VR GRLQJ KDYH JUHDWO\ ZLGHQHG WKH VFRSH RI DOOHJDWLRQV DJDLQVW
PH. I FDQQRW SRVVLEO\ DGGUHVV HYHU\WKLQJ KHUH DGHTXDWHO\ ZLWKLQ WHQ GD\V WLPH. NRW RQO\ LV WKHUH D ORW RI VWRU\ WR WHOO, LW LV
DOVR YHU\ HPRWLRQDOO\ GLIILFXOW IRU PH WR WHOO LW. FXUWKHUPRUH, ZKDW WKH\ KDYH ZULWWHQ JLYHV PH FRQFHUQ DERXW WKH OHJDO
LPSOLFDWLRQV RI DOO RI WKLV, DQG I IHHO I PXVW FRQVXOW ZLWK D ODZ\HU EHIRUH I VXEPLW DQ\ RIILFLDO VWDWHPHQWV.

I'P JRLQJ WR QHHG DW OHDVW D PRQWK WR GHDO ZLWK WKLV, DQG I LQWHQG WR JHW EDFN WR \RX ZLWK P\ VWDWHPHQW GXULQJ WKH ZHHN RI
MD\ 16WK-20WK. I ZLOO QRW EH SOD\LQJ LQ DQ\ SFUDEEOH WRXUQDPHQWV RU FOXEV XQWLO ZHOO DIWHU WKDW WLPH, VR I VHH QR QHHG WR UXVK
WKLV.

SLQFHUHO\,
DDYH KRHQLJ 
[QXRWed We[W hiddeQ]
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 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE STATE OF OREGON 

 FOR MULTNOMAH COUNTY 

 DAVID KOENIG 

 Plaintiff 

 vs 

 EVANS CLINCHY 

 JENNIFER CLINCHY  and 

 BRIANNA (LOLA) McKISSEN 

 Defendants 

 Case No.: 23CV15424 

 PLAINTIFF’S FOURTH 

 SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE TO 

 JENNIFER CLINCHY’S 

 REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION 

 Plaintiff responds to Defendant’s Initial Request for Production as follows: 

 GENERAL OBJECTIONS 

 1.  Plaintiff objects to all requests to the extent plaintiff seeks information protected by the 

 attorney–client privilege, work-product doctrine, or any other applicable privilege. 

 2.  Plaintiff objects to any portion of these requests that contain instructions, directions, 

 provisions, or definitions that are inconsistent with or more onerous than the 

 requirements of the Oregon Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 3.  Plaintiff objects to any request to the extent it seeks the production of documents that are 

 not currently in its possession, custody, or control. 

 4.  Plaintiff’s investigation and discovery are continuing. Plaintiff therefore reserves the right 

 to supplement its responses after additional discovery has taken place. 
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 5.  Plaintiff is responding in good faith to these requests as plaintiff interprets and 

 understands them. If defendant subsequently asserts an interpretation of any request that 

 differs from plaintiff’s understanding, plaintiff reserves the right to supplement responses 

 or objections herein. 

 Each of these general objections is incorporated into each of plaintiff’s specific responses as if 

 set forth in full below. 

 REQUESTS 

 121. Please produce any statement by Evans Clinchy which, according to plaintiff, constitutes 

 libel per se, as alleged in plaintiff’s complaint. 

 RESPONSE: Responsive documents are attached at Bates #011-012: 

 ●  Plaintiff is “a man who abuses women.” 

 ●  “[H]e has spent hours and hours discussing his intent to kill me” 

 ●  “[T]his man is now openly discussing how to murder me in cold blood” 

 ●  “I’ve seen countless examples of him turning nasty, threatening, or downright horrifying 

 in confrontations with other Scrabble players” 

 ●  “[H]e’s expressed his urge to shoot up a Scrabble tournament.” 

 ●  “If this man continues to be allowed anywhere near Scrabble, he is a clear threat not only 

 to my wife and to myself, but to everyone else in the game as well.” 

 122. Please produce any statement by Jennifer Clinchy which, according to plaintiff, 

 constitutes libel per se, as alleged in plaintiff’s complaint. 

 RESPONSE: Responsive documents are attached at Bates #021-028, 233-237: 

 ●  “David Koenig has 

 1. Coerced me to have sex with him after I repeatedly told him No. 

 RESPONSE TO REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION  - Page  2  of  14 

 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

David Koenig
Exhibit 15



 2. Harassed, threatened, and stalked multiple women. 

 3. Orally expressed homicidal intent, including a desire to kill my husband and commit a 

 mass shooting at a Scrabble tournament.” 

 ●  Plaintiff is “a man with a pattern of sexually aggressive behavior toward women” 

 ●  Plaintiff “state[d] that my husband and I deserved to die.” 

 ●  “Dave has explicitly stated that he wants me dead, wants to kill my husband, and wants to 

 shoot up a Scrabble tournament.” 

 ●  “I am particularly concerned about the safety risk to all members of the Scrabble 

 community if Dave commits a mass shooting at a tournament.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “is threatening the lives of other people.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “was controlling.” 

 ●  “On more than one occasion, however, he coerced me to have sex with him after I had 

 explicitly told him that I did not want to have sex.” 

 ●  “On one occasion that I remember vividly, I repeatedly and unambiguously told him that 

 I did not want to have sex because I knew it would hurt. He responded by trying to pull 

 my clothing off and fondle me. He didn’t stop his advances despite me repeatedly saying 

 I didn’t want to have sex. After fighting his advances for thirty minutes, I got exhausted 

 of telling him No and concluded that he would not stop until he got what he wanted. I 

 stopped saying No and lay down defeated while he penetrated me. It hurt. I dissociated 

 from my body and lay like a dead fish staring blankly up at the ceiling until he was 

 done.” 

 ●  “Dave sent me an email demanding that I meet with him (alone) in person.” 

 ●  “I moved across the country, in part to get away from Dave.” 
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 ●  “Dave communicated threats to me via third parties.” 

 ●  “For years, I have… feared that Dave will try to hurt or kill me or my husband.” 

 ●  “A mass shooting of the kind that Dave has envisioned would be relatively simple to 

 execute and difficult to prevent.” 

 ●  “Dave had consistently told her that he wanted to kill my husband by hitting him in the 

 head with a cast iron frying pan.” 

 ●  The entire recounting of the conversation about Sarah, “Specifically, he told me that it 

 wasn’t rape because both he and Sarah were very drunk when they had sex…” 

 ●  “Lola dated Dave for two months, and that was enough to make her afraid that he might 

 kill her.” 

 ●  “I dated Dave off and on for two years. It is the full history of that time with him, marked 

 by repeated instances of sexual aggression with physical pain and unhinged verbal abuse, 

 that made me afraid of him.” 

 123. Please produce any statement by Brianna McKissen which, according to plaintiff, 

 constitutes libel per se, as alleged in plaintiff’s complaint. 

 RESPONSE: Responsive documents are attached at Bates #013-20, 30-34, 244-255 

 ●  Plaintiff is “an actual psychopath” 

 ●  Plaintiff is a threat to “shoot down” “a whole random tournament of Scrabble players.” 

 ●  Plaintiff is “going to kill someone someday.” 

 ●  Plaintiff is “incredibly delusional.” 

 ●  “I have listened to at least a hundred hours of insane murder fantasies.” 
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 ●  “I’d have to lie there listening for hours and hours while he shouted about how much this 

 woman and her husband deserved to die and how he would want to carry that out.” 

 ●  “He forced me to listen to all of the ways and how badly he wanted the deaths of Jennifer 

 and Evans for over a hundred hours.” 

 ●  “I’ve been afraid for my life for 2 years, over and over certain I’m going to die at his 

 hands.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “was stalking” “this other married girl.” 

 ●  “Dave’s loneliness and ostracism are caused by Dave’s continued use of intimidation, not 

 just against women, but against many players.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “said that if someone makes him angry, they are required to face his anger and 

 listen to him verbally abuse them.” 

 124. Please produce any statements to third parties by Evans Clinchy which, according to 

 plaintiff, Evans Clinchy knew were false, as alleged in plaintiff’s complaint. 

 RESPONSE: Responsive documents are attached at Bates #011-012: 

 ●  “I’ve seen countless examples of him turning nasty, threatening, or downright horrifying 

 in confrontations with other Scrabble players” 

 ●  “I understand that there's a narrative out there in the Scrabble community that I have 

 somehow turned other players against David Koenig - that because of some deep-seated 

 anger or hatred that I feel, I've led some sort of campaign of ostracism to keep him out of 

 the Scrabble community. That narrative is false.” 

 ●  “I have tried very hard to avoid doing anything at all to antagonize DK.” 
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 ●  Plaintiff “attempted to register for a house tournament that Jennifer and I were hosting” 

 in 2018. 

 ●  “But rather than malign him for this behavior, publicly or privately, I have held back for 

 five years. I’ve avoided attacking his character.” 

 ●  “The most hostile thing I’ve done to DK, if you could even call it that, is remain silent.” 

 ●  The insinuation that Evans Clinchy and Jennifer Clinchy were directors of the online club 

 is false: “He tried to play in our online club, even though he knows he is not welcome to 

 play Scrabble events we direct.” 

 ●  “I have worked hard to avoid provocation.” 

 ●  “I have been around this man for 14 years now.” 

 125. Please produce any statements to third parties by Jennifer Clinchy which, according to 

 plaintiff, Jennifer Clinchy knew were false, as alleged in plaintiff’s complaint. 

 RESPONSE: Responsive documents are attached at Bates #021-028, 233-237 

 ●  “David Koenig has 

 1. Coerced me to have sex with him after I repeatedly told him No. 

 2. Harassed, threatened, and stalked multiple women.” 

 ●  Plaintiff is “a man with a pattern of sexually aggressive behavior toward women” 

 ●  “I attempted to end my informal relationship with Dave on at least five occasions.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “communicated threats to me via third parties.” 

 ●  Plaintiff moved to Portland at a time when Brianna McKissen already lived there. 

 ●  Plaintiff subjected defendant to "a screaming torrent of verbal abuse" following a dinner 

 in Perth, Australia in November 2015. 

 RESPONSE TO REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION  - Page  6  of  14 

 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

David Koenig
Exhibit 15



 ●  Plaintiff “was controlling.” 

 ●  “On more than one occasion, however, he coerced me to have sex with him after I had 

 explicitly told him that I did not want to have sex.” 

 ●  “On one occasion that I remember vividly, I repeatedly and unambiguously told him that 

 I did not want to have sex because I knew it would hurt. He responded by trying to pull 

 my clothing off and fondle me. He didn’t stop his advances despite me repeatedly saying 

 I didn’t want to have sex. After fighting his advances for thirty minutes, I got exhausted 

 of telling him No and concluded that he would not stop until he got what he wanted. I 

 stopped saying No and lay down defeated while he penetrated me. It hurt. I dissociated 

 from my body and lay like a dead fish staring blankly up at the ceiling until he was 

 done.” 

 ●  “Dave sent me an email demanding that I meet with him (alone) in person.” 

 ●  “I moved across the country, in part to get away from Dave.” 

 ●  “Dave communicated threats to me via third parties.” 

 ●  “For years, I have… feared that Dave will try to hurt or kill me or my husband.” 

 ●  The entire recounting of the conversation about Sarah, “Specifically, he told me that it 

 wasn’t rape because both he and Sarah were very drunk when they had sex…” 

 ●  “I hoped that by exchanging occasional friendly messages and behaving civilly toward 

 Dave, he would not be angry with me.” 

 ●  The insinuation that her 2018 letter to Jason Idalski was about me. 

 126. Please produce any statements by Brianna McKissen which, according to plaintiff, Brianna 

 McKissen knew were false, as alleged in plaintiff’s complaint. 
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 RESPONSE: Responsive documents are attached at Bates #011-020, 233-236: 

 ●  Plaintiff said, “I’m writing a book proving it, and what I really want is for [Jennifer 

 Clinchy] to be so humiliated that she kills herself.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “showed zero interest in me as a human being.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “is going to kill someone someday.” 

 ●  Plaintiff is “incredibly delusional.” 

 ●  “I have listened to at least a hundred hours of insane murder fantasies.” 

 ●  “I’d have to lie there listening for hours and hours while he shouted about how much this 

 woman and her husband deserved to die and how he would want to carry that out.” 

 ●  “He forced me to listen to all of the ways and how badly he wanted the deaths of Jennifer 

 and Evans for over a hundred hours.” 

 ●  “He continues to call me to cry and whine and rant.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “was stalking” “this other married girl.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “was sure [Conrad and he] were such great friends.” 

 ●  Plaintiff said Defendant was “responsible for Woogles allowing CoCo club to exist.” 

 ●  Plaintiff said Defendant let CoCo ban him from their online club. 

 ●  Defendant told Plaintiff “that I believe Conrad is protecting me.” 

 ●  Defendant told Plaintiff “that I do think he’s an actual psychopath.” 

 ●  Defendant told Plaintiff “that I’m terrified of him.” 

 ●  Defendant told Plaintiff “that I owe him absolutely nothing.” 

 ●  Defendant asked Plaintiff “to leave me alone” at the January 2022 New Orleans 

 tournament. 

 ●  Plaintiff said “I feel more betrayed by you than by anything Jennifer and Evans did.” 
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 ●  Plaintiff is a threat to “shoot down” “a whole random tournament of Scrabble players.” 

 ●  Plaintiff hovered around Defendant and her friends during the January 2022 New Orleans 

 Scrabble tournament. 

 ●  Plaintiff followed Defendant into a hallway during the January 2022 New Orleans 

 Scrabble tournament. 

 ●  Plaintiff ranted at Defendant during the January 2022 New Orleans Scrabble tournament. 

 ●  “I’ve been afraid for my life for 2 years, over and over certain I’m going to die at his 

 hands.” 

 ●  Plaintiff submitted pull requests to Woogles. 

 ●  Plaintiff “WILL try to get you to make me let him have access to me.” 

 ●  Plaintiff and Defendant argued about the Darrell Day incident repeatedly. 

 ●  The psychopath jokes that plaintiff made in a screenshot of a text conversation 

 “originated from me trying to make light when I tried to tell him the impact the fits of 

 rage had on me.” 

 ●  “I even told him that I was afraid of what would happen if someday he became angry 

 with me and decided I had betrayed him. He said he would never hurt me, because I 

 could never do anything to him like what he believed they had done.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “was in a rage from a few sentences into speaking.” 

 ●  Plaintiff said, “Have you been spreading Chel’s lies?” 

 ●  Plaintiff showed any “anger in New Orleans.” 

 ●  Defendant told Plaintiff, “I think he’s a psychopath, and that I don’t want anything to do 

 with him.” 
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 ●  “This is not the conversation and is false.” in response to Plaintiff’s true account of a 

 conversation. 

 ●  Defendant said “From your perspective” to Plaintiff at January 2022 New Orleans 

 tournament. 

 ●  Defendant repeated “From your perspective” to Plaintiff at January 2022 New Orleans 

 tournament. 

 ●  “It is completely false that I said nothing.” 

 ●  “I tell him that I don’t owe him anything. That I have already paid so much for trying to 

 help him. I tell him I’ve lost my ability to trust people or date, that I’ve lost my faith in 

 humanity, that I don't trust my judgment in people, and that I feel completely destroyed. I 

 tell him all I want is for him to leave me alone. I tell him he has my sympathies for his 

 pain as always, that I think they're going to start clocks, and I walk into the playing room. 

 He says behind me, ‘Thank you. I won’t bring this up again’ and I say, ‘Well, I would 

 certainly appreciate that.’ with what I felt was very obvious anger.” 

 ●  Defendant was not supportive to the publishing of the blog. 

 ●  “I then encouraged him to write a separate thing, explaining instead why a third 

 organization was bad for Scrabble, which he also said missed his point.” 

 ●  “Dave’s loneliness and ostracism are caused by Dave’s continued use of intimidation, not 

 just against women, but against many players.” 

 ●  “During our relationship, he lost his temper at me about me quite often. As I’d 

 mentioned, he yelled at me when I expressed concern about what had happened on 

 Facebook about Darrel Day. Fairly consistently, me expressing my anxiety about the 

 relationship caused him rage. After we left for Seattle this increased significantly. He 
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 yelled at me in the car on the way there about my health problems and needing to stop to 

 move around. He flew into a rage about me trying to tell him about similar terrain when 

 he’d wanted me to be focused on seeing the Columbia River Valley. He was also furious 

 on that trip that I’d thought he’d like a band that he was certain he wouldn’t like, because 

 I described it as complex when what he liked these days was simple. After arriving, he 

 yelled at me about where I’d moved the sharpie that belongs where he’d left it on the 

 counter in front of the dish drainer, and about my anxiety when I grew concerned about a 

 broken microphone on my work computer soon after we got to Seattle. The last argument 

 I mention was triggered by him screaming at me on the street because I had asked if we 

 could stop and grab the things we needed when we walked by the grocery store, and he 

 said we would on the way back. When I attempted to go in as we passed back on the way, 

 he started shouting that he’d already said he didn’t want to go and it should have been 

 obvious he said that to appease me since it was ridiculous to run errands on a walk and I 

 should have understood that. A few hours later, he yelled at me and called me stupid in 

 front of people online playing Codenames, because I had guessed Octopus for Wet when 

 it was obviously Fall he intended. For many hours after, I tried to explain why that wasn’t 

 okay behavior and that I could not possibly read his mind.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “said that if someone makes him angry, they are required to face his anger and 

 listen to him verbally abuse them.” 

 ●  Defendant “asked [Plaintiff,] ‘based on just the eight weeks I was dating you, maybe 

 [Jennifer Clinchy] was just scared of you. Did you ever yell at her?’ He said, yes, he 

 ‘chewed her out all the time’ but that she ‘appreciated it because she made horrible 

 decisions about her personal life.’” 
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 ●  “In New Orleans, it seemed like the rage was still getting worse, as some of it was now 

 attached to the girl from Maryland.” 

 127. Please produce any statement to third parties by Evans Clinchy which, according to 

 plaintiff, Evans Clinchy made with reckless disregard for the truth of the statements, as alleged in 

 plaintiff’s complaint. 

 RESPONSE: Responsive documents are attached at Bates #011-012: 

 ●  Plaintiff “deliberately and maliciously sought to harass and threaten my once-partner, 

 now-wife Jennifer.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “has spent hours and hours discussing his intent to kill me, including specific 

 details about the weapon he’d use and the method he’d employ.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “is a clear threat not only to my wife and myself, but to everyone else in the 

 game as well.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “has expressed his urge to shoot up a Scrabble tournament.” 

 ●  “I’m repaid with the knowledge that he may kill me.” 

 128. Please produce any statement to third parties by Jennifer Clinchy which, according to 

 plaintiff, Jennifer Clinchy made with reckless disregard for the truth of the statements, as alleged 

 in plaintiff’s complaint. 

 RESPONSE: Responsive documents are attached at Bates #021-028, 233-237 

 ●  Plaintiff “[o]rally expressed homicidal intent, including a desire to kill my husband and 

 commit a mass shooting at a Scrabble tournament.” 

 RESPONSE TO REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION  - Page  12  of  14 
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 ●  Plaintiff “has explicitly stated that he wants me dead, wants to kill my husband, and 

 wants to shoot up a Scrabble tournament.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “is threatening the lives of other people.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “wants me and my husband dead and wants to shoot up a tournament.” 

 ●  Plaintiff “wanted to kill my husband by hitting him in the head with a cast iron frying 

 pan.” 

 ●  Plaintiff’s “intent in publishing his manifesto was...that I would kill myself.” 

 ●  “Lola dated Dave for two months, and that was enough to make her afraid that he might 

 kill her.” 

 August 14th, 2023. 

 /s/ David Koenig 

 Plaintiff, representing  pro se 

 RESPONSE TO REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION  - Page  13  of  14 
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 PROOF OF SERVICE 
 I certify that I caused this document to be served via e-mail on: 

 Defendants Jennifer and Evans Clinchy 
 ℅ Atty: Michael Fuller 
 Olsen Daines 
 US Bancorp Tower 
 111 SW 5th Ave., Suite 3150 
 Portland, Oregon 97204 
 michael@underdoglawyer.com 

 Defendant BriAnna (Lola) McKissen 
 ℅ Atty: Ashley L. Vaughn 
 Dumas & Vaughn 
 3835 NE Hancock St., Suite GLB 
 Portland, Oregon 97212 
 Ashley@DumasandVaughn.com 

 August 14th, 2023. 
 /s/ David Koenig 

 Plaintiff, representing  pro se 

 RESPONSE TO REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION  - Page  14  of  14 

 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

mailto:michael@underdoglawyer.com
mailto:Ashley@DumasandVaughn.com
David Koenig
Exhibit 15



Exhibit H

David Koenig

David Koenig
Exhibit 16

David Koenig



000486

David Koenig
Exhibit 17

David Koenig
Comments on Facebook post in Exhibit 6, Bates #180

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig

David Koenig



000487

David Koenig
Exhibit 18

David Koenig
(from 2022)



000488

David Koenig
Exhibit 18

David Koenig
Expansion of comment on previous page



8/15/23, 10:09 AM Gmail - Re: Part II: The Fallout - Invitation to view

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=9877a02041&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f:1671970003867176635&simpl=msg-f:1671970003867176635 1/2

Dave Koenig

Re: Part II: The Fallout - Invitation to view

Brian Bowman Sat, Jul 11, 2020 at 5:47 PM
To: Dave Koenig

Hey.  This isn't a proper set of notes or anything, I barely skimmed the second section because my mind was just reeling
with my own personal experiences with some of the principals.

If you think there was a whisper campaign to blacklist you, I can offer some confirmation that there probably was. 
Between 2012 and 2015 I was part of a secret Facebook group that contained several members of your story.  It started
as a mean-gossip/ bawdy-humor group and evolved into a kind of support group where people shared very intimate
details of their lives-- I learned about people's hookups, breakups and confrontations in close to real time.  In retrospect,
there were probably some things I said there that I would not be proud of.  At the time the group had 10 members; they
were very much NASPA power users, including Evans, Jason B., Chris L., and Kate F-C (so I'm not surprised that New
Orleans and Niagara Falls turned out to be eventful venues).  Ironically, I left the group because there was NASPA drama
going on at the time, and I was trying to convince them that we *should* use our clout in the community to start a separate
Scrabble organization.  I don't remember exactly what I said, but I left the group in a pique.  After cooling off for a few
weeks, I requested to be let back into the group (such requests had been accomodated before).  I later found out from
Jason B. that Evans had vetoed my return.  I wasn't totally sure if it was something I said, or if he had just decided that I
wasn't cool enough to talk to anymore-- I had fairly recently shared a post about my *lack* of sexual experience, and
wondered if that was the deciding factor.  Evans does seem like the kind of person to decide firmly and finally that a
person is totally worthless.  After my expulsion from the group, my relationship with all the people in the group cooled.  I
think this probably had a lot to do with my leaving Scrabble.  I remember the feeling at Fort Wayne Nationals of being
surrounded by people yet being totally alone: the friends I had come up with in the game had quit, or at least weren't there
in a playing capacity, and this new group of close friends I had made had shunned me.

All of this is to say that it's a safe bet that Jason was talking to Jennifer and Evans about this in New Orleans, he probably
was (before, during, and after the encounter), and furthermore, the conversation was probably kicking around amongst
other people inclined to view you disfavorably.  I don't know what's happened to the membership of the group since I left,
but I've clicked on the URL a couple of times and it still looks active (the group description has changed).  I do suspect
that Jennifer is in the group now and perhaps some of the other people in that CoCo sphere.  I feel a little bit sheepish
about supporting CoCo and tossing them a small donation as an olive branch to Evans for finally doing what I had
suggested years before.

Anyway, I will give this closer reading and toss some notes your way.

Brian

I

On Sat, Jul 11, 2020 at 5:14 PM Dave Koenig (via Google Docs) wrote:
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Date: 14 April 2022       

 

To: David Koenig 

 

Subj: Notification of Potential Disciplinary Action 

 

From: Steve Pellinen, President WGPO, Board Member CoCo, member NASPA 

 

I recently became aware of some alleged disturbing behavior on your part. In following up I 

discovered two matters that alarmed me and brought me to the point of deciding to file complainant  

reports with three of our North American Scrabble® organizations (CoCo, WGPO, NASPA) and one 

international organization (WESPA). 

 

You have apparently threatened violence against three persons in particular, and also against 

unspecified persons and members of the larger Scrabble® community. These could be characterized 

as terroristic threats and may be deserving of more serious charges. 

 

My second concern is your alleged behavior towards Lola (BriAnna) McKissen, Jennifer Clinchy and 

Evans Clinchy. The accounts of your treatment of these three over a number of years are very 

credible and disturbing. It appears that you have committed a number of organizational code of 

conduct violations as well as predatory behavior towards the two women. 

 

Each organization will follow its own process in reviewing my complaint and requiring any response. 

Please note that during this process there will be no contact or communication between you and Lola, 

Jennifer or Evans. As complainant I am your point of contact with respect to any questions or 

clarifications you may have with respect to the WGPO complaint. If appropriate, I will forward any 

communications you make with me. I will also recuse myself from relevant decisions or votes to be 

made by boards or committees of which I am a part.  

 

 

Attached:  Materials and letters submitted to each organization by Steve Pellinen as complainant 
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Paul Wood
U.S. Midwest representative
2023-08-01~2025-07-31

Portia Zwicker
U.S. Northeast representative
2023-08-01~2025-07-31

Lila Crotty
U.S. South representative
2023-08-01~2025-07-31

Heidi Robertson
Canadian representative
2023-08-01~2025-07-31

Josh Greenway
2022-08-01~2024-07-31
Andy Hoang (EX)
2022-08-01~2024-07-31

Jason Idalski (EX)
2022-08-01~2024-07-31

Stefan Rau (SM)
2022-08-01~2024-07-31

Peter Sargious
2022-08-01~2024-07-31

Composition
The members of the Executive Committee sit on the AB as ex officio members, and its chair is the AB's chair.

When you connect to this website, you send your IP address and sometimes some cookies. You may also give us personal
identifying information, such as your name and contact information. All this data is used to securely provide you with the
services that you request. We encourage you to review our privacy policy to make sure that you understand how your data is
managed, and to contact us if you have any questions.  View Privacy Policy
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Sue Tremblay
Canadian representative
2016-08-06~2018-07-31
Mina Le
U.S. South representative
2016-08-06~2018-07-31
Rich Baker
ex officio
2016-11-29~2019-07-20
Rich Baker
cochair
2019-07-20~2019-12-19
Rich Baker
ex officio
2019-12-19~2021-06-30
Rich Baker
U.S. West representative
2021-07-01~2023-07-31
Peter Sargious
Canadian representative
2017-07-22~2019-07-31
Peter Sargious
Canadian representative
2019-08-01~2022-07-31
Stefan Rau (SM)
U.S. Northeast representative
2017-07-22~2019-07-31
Stefan Rau (SM)
U.S. Northeast representative
2019-08-01~2022-07-31
Bruce D Ambrosio
U.S. West representative
2017-07-22~2019-07-31
Jennifer M Lee
U.S. West representative
2018-08-01~2019-06-19
Lila Crotty
U.S. South representative
2018-08-01~2020-07-31
Lila Crotty
U.S. South representative
2020-08-01~2023-07-31

When you connect to this website, you send your IP address and sometimes some cookies. You may also give us personal
identifying information, such as your name and contact information. All this data is used to securely provide you with the
services that you request. We encourage you to review our privacy policy to make sure that you understand how your data is
managed, and to contact us if you have any questions.  View Privacy Policy
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César Del Solar

September 5, 2022

To whom it may concern,

I have known Dave Koenig since around 2006 or 2007, shortly after I started playing Scrabble, and 

have considered him a friend since then. I have hosted him a few times in the various cities I lived in, I 

have met his friends, we’ve played Scrabble, gotten drinks, etc. for years. He was a guest at my 

wedding. We’ve even had a couple of disagreements that were quickly patched up.

I believe that he has been very wronged by the CoCo leadership, who have reacted far in excess to the 

admitted mistakes he made in communicating with Jennifer Clinchy back around 2016-2017 or so. As a

result, he has been increasingly ostracized by the Scrabble community. He has documented all of this 

saga in a blog around then, replete with full conversations with all the relevant parties, and having read 

all of it, I still believe that it was a severe overreaction. I would also like to state that this appears to be 

a pattern with the CoCo leadership, and because my example is not directly related to this matter, I 

have attached it as an addendum to this letter.

As a result of this increasing ostracism and his anger to it, I understand that he expressed violent 

fantasies to Lola McKissen. I would like to posit that there is no one who wouldn’t have violent 

fantasies after being subjected to this mistreatment, and that furthermore, there is a very large 

difference between “venting” in anger and actually making a plan and acting on these angry fantasies. 

There are jokes around going “postal” in major tv shows, movies, and throughout all media, and I 

strongly believe that Dave is not a violent person and would not do anything close to the fantasies he 

expressed to a trusted person in a moment of anger.

I would also like to state for the record that Lola is a good friend of mine and a team member of 

Woogles, and I have gotten to know her over the last couple of years of working in this capacity. She 

has expressed privately to me her misgivings about Dave, and the trauma she feels from their 

relationship, and I do believe that she feels traumatized and afraid of him. However, I don’t believe that

this merits Dave receiving a suspension from any major Scrabble organization in the country, and I also

believe that he has enough documentation to make his point that Lola, perhaps unwittingly, 

misrepresented some aspects of their relationship. There have to be other solutions. At any given time a

Scrabble gathering contains plenty of people who cannot stand each other, and we cannot ban people 

based on a popularity contest.

Finally, I’d like to state that all matters concerning myself or my application (Woogles.io) in Dave’s 

“The Defense” document are accurate.

Sincerely,

César Del Solar
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Addendum: Re: CoCo leadership’s pattern of ostracism

My wife Mina Le and I have been subject to attempted ostracism ourselves from the CoCo leadership. I

have been friends with Evans since 2007, and we have roomed together at tournaments, eaten together, 

etc. I have also been friendly with Jenn for years and have worked with her on Aerolith features for her 

tournaments, setting up their CoCo club and various tournaments on Woogles, and even building an 

entire new feature (WordSmog) for their Clabbers tournament. But during the time of Sam 

Kantimathi’s suspension saga (around 2018-2019 or so), Evans and Jenn largely stopped 

communicating with my wife and me, despite the fact that we were all friends and had gone out to 

meals together in the past at tournaments. Jenn had taken umbrage to a private NASPA Advisory Board

message that Mina had sent in support of not increasing Sam K’s suspension further (which, by the 

way, was sent with her having incomplete information about his transgressions), and thus this means 

that we must both be unfriended.1

One of our mutual friends spread this private AB message on a public forum (Facebook) in response to 

Mina’s Rose Award win; it could only have come from a member of the advisory board at the time, and

thus I know they have been spreading rumors about my wife. Several of our mutual friends barely 

speak to us anymore. Furthermore, we tried to have a video chat with Evans and Jenn to patch this up, 

in which Mina cried her heart out to them, apologizing for the message she had sent; but they still 

expressed in no uncertain terms that they (paraphrasing here) don’t really want to be friends with 

people who don’t have the exact same values that they do. I assume this means we must not be friends 

with Dave K if we want to be friends with Evans/Jenn. Additionally, when they started moving their 

online clubs/tournaments to using Woogles, they expressed to Conrad that they were uneasy with 

“César and Mina’s involvement with Woogles” (Note that she is not at all involved with the platform 

other than being my wife, and I have only repeatedly helped them out with whatever they wanted in the

past). Even despite all of this, we still played several of their online CoCo tournaments during the 

pandemic, and I built the above mentioned features for them. My wife and I repeatedly streamed 

ourselves playing their tournaments while they continued to avoid acknowledging us. I remember on at 

least two occasions we “raided” their stream with a couple of dozen watchers, to zero 

acknowledgement from them, when this is a standard courtesy.

I don’t feel any anger about this – in fact, I feel sadness, hurt, and exclusion from not only the CoCo 

leadership, but from several of our mutual friends, due to their rumor spreading. The pandemic was 

already isolating enough, but it does not feel good to know that there are a number of people, including 

friends that I was very close to, that are spreading rumors about myself and my wife. I wish this could 

be patched up and the rift disappear, but I am merely writing it in support of my assertion that I have 

noticed a pattern of ostracism from the CoCo leadership with people that they do not like, and I believe 

this is happening again.

1 Evans unfriended both of us on Facebook and he completely ignored a messages that my wife had sent to him about it. 

Evans and Jenn no longer speak to us nor do they even acknowledge my existence on forums like Twitch. Evans 

recently (within the last week) rudely insulted my wife, by saying, on a private Facebook Messenger thread, that all of 

the WESPA executive committee, with the exception of Chris Lipe, “sucks” and have their “heads permanently up their 

asses”, for not granting them WESPAC 2023; this is despite the fact that, as I understand, they submitted their proposal 

several months after the deadline.
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Snell & Wilmer 
1455 SW BROADWAY, SUITE 1750 

PORTLAND, OR  97201 

503.624.6800 P 

503.624.6888 F 

 

 

ALBUQUERQUE     BOISE     DALLAS     DENVER     LAS VEGAS     LOS ANGELES     LOS CABOS     ORANGE COUNTY 

PHOENIX     PORTLAND     RENO     SALT LAKE CITY     SAN DIEGO     SEATTLE     TUCSON     WASHINGTON, D.C. 

 

 

 

Clifford S. Davidson 
(503) 443-6099 

csdavidson@swlaw.com 

 

  
 

November 8, 2022  

 

BY FIRST CLASS MAIL AND EMAIL 

NASPA Advisory Board 

NASPA 

PO Box 12115 

Dallas, TX 75225-0115 

ab@scrabbleplayers.org 

To The NASPA Advisory Board: 

 

My name is Cliff Davidson. David Koenig has engaged me in connection with the three-year 

suspension you have imposed based on false accusations by a group of players who have 

intentionally excluded and maligned David. 

 

The Board informed David of his right to appeal the suspension. The problem is that in order to 

appeal we need to understand more about the basis for the Board’s decision. To that end, I write 

with the following questions: 

 

1. What are the specific things that David did that constituted Code of Conduct violations? 

To the extent you are citing violations of provisions that are unavailable through the 

NASPA website, please send a copy of such provisions. 

 

2. You have requested that David display contrition. Contrition for having done what? 

 

3. What is the “general pattern of behavior” referenced in your notification to David of the 

suspension, and what specific acts evidence that alleged pattern? 

 

4. Were there any other documents submitted, or statements made, to the Board that have 

not been shared with David? If so, why, and may we please see those documents or 

statements? 

 

Additionally, David reserves all rights with respect to the false statements that appear to have led 

to his suspension. Unfortunately, he might have no choice but to clear his name and pursue 
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Snell & Wilmer  

NASPA Advisory Board 

November 8, 2022 

Page 2 

 

damages through legal action—not necessarily against NASPA, but possibly. Accordingly, you 

are hereby notified that you should preserve all documents relating to David, complaints about 

him, and your suspension of him. This includes both hardcopy and electronically stored 

information such as emails, SMS/text messages, and public or private communications through 

social media platforms. Please deactivate any auto-delete functions that might delete or overwrite 

relevant information. Failure to preserve evidence may result in legal sanctions. 

 

Thank you very much for your attention. I look forward to your response by November 14, 2022. 

 

 Very truly yours, 

Snell & Wilmer 

Clifford S. Davidson  
 

 

 

 4871-4251-8589 
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A HIT OF SCHADENFREUDE

Don’t Panic: Proper Nouns Will Not Be Allowed in
Scrabble
BY JOSH LEVIN

APRIL 06, 2010 • 2:36 PM

A guest post from Slate contributor Stefan Fatsis:

No, world, the rules of Scrabble are not changing.

Despite what you may have heard this morning on NPR or read on Kotaku or CBS or learned
from the BBC or the Telegraph , the companies that own Scrabble — the word game to
which I have devoted thousands of hours of my adult life — have not decided to allow proper
nouns to desecrate the 15-by-15 board. But it sure makes for a good story. “Mattel changes
the rules of Scrabble for the �irst time since 1948,” the London Times trumpeted. “Beyonce
on a triple-word score?” asked the Daily Mail . 

Put a sock in it. Here’s what’s actually happening. Mattel, which owns the rights to Scrabble
outside of North America, is introducing a game this summer called Scrabble Trickster. The
game will include cards that allow players to spell words backward, use proper nouns, and
steal letters from opponents, among other nontraditional moves. The game will not be
available in North America, where rival toy company Hasbro owns Scrabble. Hasbro, I’m
told, has no plans for a similar variation.

Trickster will enter a pantheon of Scrabble spino�s. A round of Scrabble Sentence Cube
Game , anyone? No? How about Scrabble Overturn ? Or Super Scrabble ? Or Scrabble Up ?
These games were all attempts to get a public that loves something classic to buy
something else that resembles the classic — or at least includes its name — and they all
pretty much failed. (I won’t even bother linking to Simpsons, Shrek, National Parks, Chicago
Cubs, and other Scrabble novelty editions.) 

That’s the problem with brilliant inventions: A lame knocko� looks like a lame knocko�.
New York architect Alfred Butts invented Scrabble in the 1930s and 1940s and it exploded
in popularity in the early 1950s. There was a reason: Scrabble is just about perfect. It
balances luck and skill, risk and reward. It’s knuckle-chucking competitive. And it exploits
something fundamental to us all: language. For Hasbro and Mattel, Scrabble is an annuity.
But there isn’t much room for growth. Spino�s are a cheap way to gin up some extra sales,
especially when you don’t need to pull a board game out of the closet, or even rely on the
rights-holder, in order to play it online .

BROW BEAT
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So how did this latest games marketing gimmick turn into a global foofaraw? A
combination of deceptive corporate shilling and media incompetence. The news of the
game, I’m told, �irst appeared as four lines in a toy industry trade magazine. Then the British
media started calling Mattel, and the company appears to have done nothing to disabuse
gullible reporters of the idea that a Major Change is occurring. In the Daily Mail , a Mattel
spokesman implied that the rules of the game had of�icially been changed. Mattel would
still sell a Scrabble with the “old rules,” but this new and improved game would help “level
the playing �ield” between “experienced players with a vast vocabulary” and “players with a
love of celebrity or football.” Reporters didn’t bother calling the Mattel executive in London
who oversees competitive Scrabble play outside North America. In the United States and
Canada, reporters mostly didn’t even make the distinction between Mattel and Hasbro, the
game’s dueling corporate overlords.

As for the notion of permitting “proper nouns” in Scrabble, well, let’s take a peek inside the
Of�icial Word List , the rulebook for club and tournament play in North America. JAPAN is in
there! Can’t be! Well, it’s de�ined in the Of�icial Scrabble Players Dictionary as “to coat with a
glossy, black lacquer.” What about TEXAS? It’s the uppermost structure on a steamboat.
“Are they going to start allowing words like FRISBEE, KLEENEX, XEROX, FEDEX, and
BENADRYL?” my expert-level Scrabble-playing friend David Koenig asked in mock horror
on Facebook this afternoon. 

He was kidding. They’re all acceptable words in Scrabble, too.

Stefan Fatsis is the author of Word Freak: Heartbreak, Triumph, Genius, and Obsession in
the World of Competitive Scrabble Players .
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A HIT OF SCHADENFREUDE

Geocache?!
The word that won Scrabble’s new-word contest is totally useless in Scrabble.

BY STEFAN FATSIS

APRIL 10, 2014 • 6:50 PM

GAMING
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There’s a new word in town.
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Photo by William B. Plowman/Getty Images

When Hasbro last week revealed the 16 �inalists in its add-a-word-to-Scrabble contest,
devotees of geocaching—the game in which people hunt for hidden treasures using GPS-
enabled devices—noticed that geocache was among the contenders. Word spread quickly in
the geocaching community. Shortly after �irst-round voting began, the Geocaching.com
Twitter feed asked its 56,000 followers: “Should ‘geocache’ count in Scrabble? Say heck
yeah! Comment ‘Geocache’ on Hasbro’s FB page.”

Bitcoin didn’t stand a chance. And, thanks to a steady get-out-the-vote campaign by
geocachers on Twitter and Facebook and in news groups, neither did the Scrabble-friendly
words ew in the semi�inals and zen in the �inals. Like the undefeated Connecticut women’s
basketball team, geocache barely broke a sweat. “We didn’t push the gas pedal all the way
to the �loor,” Eric Schudiske, social media and public-relations manager for the geocaching
website, told me. “But we wanted to make sure our community was aware of a moment in
time that we could be part of something larger.”

As much as I and other lexicographical diehards wanted this contest to be about words, the
outcome con�irmed it was about publicity. Hasbro reaped millions of dollars worth of media
exposure—the winning word was revealed on Good Morning America on Thursday—for a
classic brand that’s hard to market. Merriam-Webster, which publishes the Of�icial Scrabble
Players Dictionary, got free advertising for a new, �ifth edition to be released this summer.
And the geocaching community—bigger and better organized than cosplay a�icionados or
bitcoin hoarders—got itself in a dictionary and onto national television.

And Scrabble? “We’ve been so punked,” expert-level player Chris Lipe wrote on the
Facebook page of the North American Scrabble Players Association, or NASPA, a player-run
group licensed by Hasbro that oversees Scrabble clubs and tournaments. 

Many serious Scrabble players opposed the contest from the start. Scrabble has a formal
process for updating its lexicon: adding words found in the standard college dictionaries
that the game uses as lexical source books. None of the 16 words in the contest met that
criterion. But the contest was endorsed by NASPA and the words were vetted by Merriam-
Webster as on their way to inclusion someday. Scrabble players grudgingly recognize that
Hasbro owns the game, even if its interest in the competitive culture has declined
drastically, so most players were willing to go along with the contest. And once they did,
many—including me—rooted for a word that actually would make a di�erence in how the
game is played. 
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GEOCACHE isn’t that word. According to NASPA co-president John Chew, the probability of
drawing GEOCACHE from a full bag of 100 tiles (98 letters and two blanks) is about 1 in
563,033. “This places it between LITTLEST and STATUTES (1�562,961) and
IODOFORM�IODOPHOR�OILPROOF�OOSPORIC (1�563,275) in the 76th percentile of eight-
letter words,” Chew wrote. By comparison, the probability of drawing the most common
eight-letters words—NOTARIES�SENORITA, ORIENTAL�RELATION, and others—is about 1
in 6,992

Put another way, there are 29,766 eight-letter words currently acceptable in Scrabble.
GEOCACHE would rank 22,684th in terms of probability. Expert player Matt Canik noted
that words such as CAZIQUES, XANTHOMA, and ZIGGURAT are about as likely to be drawn
as GEOCACHE. (Scrabble players write words from the game in uppercase; a lowercase
letter denotes a blank.)

In GEOCACHE’s defense, the word is a potential extension for ACHE and CACHE. If a player
were to open a game with CACHE, with the �irst C on the double-letter score square, a G�E-
O front-extension to the triple-word score square would net 48 points. Earlier this week, an
expert named David Koenig was playing a game on Facebook when he held the letters A, C,Koenig
E, G, O, and both blanks. He slotted GEOCAChe through the second C and took a screenshot
(and then played COAGEnCy in the same place).

000483

Remove


Watermark
Wondershare
PDFelement

http://www.torontoscrabbleclub.com/lists/prob08.html
https://www.facebook.com/groups/scrbblplyrs/permalink/10152701111013368/?stream_ref=2
http://cbs.wondershare.com/go.php?pid=5258&m=db
David Koenig
Exhibit 30



8/13/23, 9:41 PM Geocache in Scrabble: The word that won Hasbro’s new-word contest is useless.

https://slate.com/human-interest/2014/04/geocache-in-scrabble-the-word-that-won-hasbros-new-word-contest-is-useless.html 5/6

David KoenigKoenig

But in terms of how Scrabble is played, either of the losing short words would have been a
better choice.* A lowercase zen—which is to be added to Merriam-Webster’s unabridged
online dictionary later this year—would have been just the 25  three-letter word containing
a Z in tournament Scrabble (but only the 24  in the OSPD; LEZ is excluded because it’s
de�ined as an o�ensive term). Ew would have been even more dramatic. While any new
two-letter word expands hooking and scoring possibilities, ew also would have severely
reduced the defensive value of the W, the front side of which no longer could have blocked
words starting or ending with an E.

With the new word made permissible for the �ive-day, 31-game National Scrabble
Championship in August, players would have had just four months to adjust their brains to
playing and defending against ew. Not an insurmountable challenge but, believe it or not, a
signi�icant one; when you play as much Scrabble as competitive players do, incorporating
major changes—like the addition of QI and ZA in 2005—takes time. So some experts were
relieved when GEOCACHE won.

“On one hand, I’m disappointed that EW—which I’ve long felt should be in the list of two-
letter interjections along with AH, AW, EH, ER, HM, MM, OH, OI, OW, OY, SH, UH, UM—didn’t
make it,” expert Brian Galebach wrote on the NASPA Facebook page. “But on the other
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hand, I’m glad that a word which will have pretty much zero impact on the game was
chosen, given the way that Hasbro is forcing the acceptability of this one word at Nationals
on us.” NASPA’s other copresident, Chris Cree, was concerned about the short turnaround
time for ew to be playable at the championship. He voted for GEOCACHE over both short
words.

I would have preferred ew or zen; more short words equals more dynamic play. I also think
GEOCACHE was a weak choice for the contest because the nouns GEOCACHING and
GEOCACHERS were already slated to join the Scrabble list this summer (they were added
to Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary in 2012). But I’m willing to extend a hand to the
verb GEOCACHE, along with its -CACHES, -CACHED, and -CACHING forms, and invite
geocachers to use their GPS devices to �ind a Scrabble tournament. Despite its limited
utility in Scrabble, GEOCACHE is a worthy word, with citations dating to 2000 and a robust
subculture with undeniable social media pull. 

*Correction, April 18, 2014: This piece originally misstated that the word zen lost in the
semi�inals of the add-a-Scrabble-word contest. It lost in the �inals. (Return.)
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